Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients

A practical approach Oriol Manuel Michael G Ison *Editors*



Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients Oriol Manuel • Michael G Ison Editors

Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients

A practical approach



Editors Oriol Manuel Infectious Diseases Service and Transplantation Center University Hospital of Lausanne Lausanne Switzerland

Michael G Ison Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine Chicago IL USA

ISBN 978-3-030-15393-9 ISBN 978-3-030-15394-6 (eBook) https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

This work is subject to copyright. All rights are reserved by the Publisher, whether the whole or part of the material is concerned, specifically the rights of translation, reprinting, reuse of illustrations, recitation, broadcasting, reproduction on microfilms or in any other physical way, and transmission or information storage and retrieval, electronic adaptation, computer software, or by similar or dissimilar methodology now known or hereafter developed.

The use of general descriptive names, registered names, trademarks, service marks, etc. in this publication does not imply, even in the absence of a specific statement, that such names are exempt from the relevant protective laws and regulations and therefore free for general use.

The publisher, the authors, and the editors are safe to assume that the advice and information in this book are believed to be true and accurate at the date of publication. Neither the publisher nor the authors or the editors give a warranty, express or implied, with respect to the material contained herein or for any errors or omissions that may have been made. The publisher remains neutral with regard to jurisdictional claims in published maps and institutional affiliations.

This Springer imprint is published by the registered company Springer Nature Switzerland AG The registered company address is: Gewerbestrasse 11, 6330 Cham, Switzerland

Contents

Part I General Transplant Infectious Diseases

1	The Epidemiology of Infection in Solid OrganTransplant Recipients: A Practical TimelineNicolas J. Mueller and Jay A. Fishman	3
2	Risk Assessment of Infections in SOT RecipientsMario Fernández-Ruiz and Nicole M. Theodoropoulos	13
3	Pre- and Peri-transplant Period: Screeningand Treatment of Infections in the Pretransplant Period,Donor-Derived Infection.Christian Garzoni and Daniel R. Kaul	25
4	Prevention of Bacterial, Viral, Fungal, and Parasitic Infections During the Early Post-transplant Period Camille Nelson Kotton and Christian van Delden	39
5	Late Posttransplant Period: Posttransplant Vaccination, Travel Advice, Foodborne Infections. Deepali Kumar and Elisa Cordero	51
Par	t II Specific Pathogens	
6	Prevention and Treatment of CMV Infection (and Other Herpes Viruses)	65
7	Prevention and Treatment of EBV-Related Complications Sophie Caillard and Michael Green	81
8	Prevention and Treatment of Polyomavirus-Associated Diseases Joanna Schaenman and Chen Sabrina Tan	93
9	Prevention and Treatment of Respiratory Virus Infection	107

10	Prevention and Treatment of Viral Hepatitis		
11	Multidrug-Resistant Organisms in Solid Organ Transplantation 145 Meenakshi M. Rana, Paolo Grossi, and Shirish Huprikar		
12	Prevention and Treatment of Mold Infections		
13	Prevention and Treatment of Yeast and Endemic Fungal Infections . 179 Ahmed Al Hammadi, Luis Ostrosky-Zeichner, and John W. Baddley		
14	Prevention and Treatment of Mycobacterial Infections		
15	Prevention and Treatment of Other Opportunistic Infections: Nocardiosis, Toxoplasmosis, Chagas and Pneumocystis Disease 219 Peter Chin-Hong and Marcelo Radisic		
Par	t III Management of Specific Syndromes		
16	Pneumonia in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients		
17	Management of CNS Infections.245Patricia Muñoz and Tina Stosor		
18	Management of Urinary Tract Infection. 269 Carlos Cervera and Francisco López-Medrano		
19	Management of Infections of Devices: Catheter-Related Infections, Pretransplant VAD Infections, Infections of ECMO Devices 279 Cameron R. Wolfe and Martha L. Mooney		
20	Management and Prevention of Skin Infections		

Part I

General Transplant Infectious Diseases

Check for updates

The Epidemiology of Infection in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients: A Practical Timeline

Nicolas J. Mueller and Jay A. Fishman

Abbreviation

CMV Cytomegalovirus

1.1 Definitions and Concepts

The *net state of immunosuppression* is the sum of all factors relevant for the individual risk (Table 1.1) [1, 2]. Attempts to measure the "overall" level of immunosuppression have yielded conflicting results, notably when relying on commercially available assays. Thus, the clinician will need to consider the contribution of various risk factors on an individual patient basis. The most important factor is usually the immunosuppressive therapy. Table 1.2 shows the common associations of immunosuppressive agents and infectious syndromes.

The *environmental or epidemiologic exposures* include the infections present in the donor or recipient at time of transplantation (usually latent infections) and transmittable pathogens found in a health-care setting (nosocomial) or in the community (Table 1.3).

Nosocomial infections are acquired at a health-care institution and are often the result of necessary posttransplant interventions, such as mechanical ventilation,

N. J. Mueller

Division of Infectious Diseases and Hospital Epidemiology, University Hospital Zürich, Zürich, Switzerland e-mail: Nicolas.Mueller@usz.ch

J. A. Fishman (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Transplant Infectious Disease and Compromised Host Program, Infectious Disease Division, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: jfishman@mgh.harvard.edu

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_1

Table 1.1 Factors contributing to the "net state of immunosuppression"^a

- · Immunosuppressive therapy: type, temporal sequence, and intensity
- Prior therapies (chemotherapy or antimicrobials)
- Mucocutaneous barrier integrity (catheters, lines, drains)
- Neutropenia, lymphopenia, and hypogammaglobulinemia (often drug-induced)
- · Technical complications (graft injury, fluid collections, wounds)
- Underlying immune defects (e.g., genetic polymorphisms, autoimmune disease)
- Metabolic conditions: uremia, malnutrition, diabetes, alcoholism/cirrhosis, and advanced age
- Viral infection (herpesviruses, hepatitis B and C, HIV, RSV, influenza)

^aFrom Ref. [3], with permission

Table 1.2 Common associations of immunosuppression and infectious syndromes^a

Antilymphocyte globulins (lytic depletion):

· T-lymphocytes: activation of latent viruses, fever, and cytokines

· B-lymphocytes: encapsulated bacteria

Plasmapheresis: encapsulated bacteria and line infections

Co-stimulatory blockade: unknown; possible increased risk for EBV/PTLD

Corticosteroids: bacteria, fungi (PCP), hepatitis B, and wound healing

Azathioprine: neutropenia and possibly papillomavirus

Mycophenolate mofetil: early bacterial infection, B-cells, and late CMV

Calcineurin inhibitors: enhanced herpesviral replication, gingival infection, and intracellular pathogens

mTOR inhibitors: wound healing, excess infections in combination with other agents, and idiosyncratic interstitial pneumonitis

^aFrom Ref. [3], with permission

Table 1.3 Epidemiologic exposures relevant to transplantation^{a,b}

٠	Virus
	– Herpes group (CMV, EBV, HHV6, 7, 8, HSV, VZV)
	- Hepatitis viruses (HAV, HBV, HCV, HEV)

- Retroviruses (HIV, HTLV-1 and 2)
- Others: West Nile (WNV), chikungunya, Zika, dengue, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus, and rabies
- Bacteria

 Gram positive and Gram negative bacteria (*Staphylococcus* species, *Pseudomonas* spp., Enterobacteriaceae, antimicrobial-resistant organisms), *Legionella* spp.

- Mycobacteria (tuberculosis and nontuberculous)
- Nocardia species

• Fungus

- Candida species

- Aspergillus species

- Cryptococcus species

Geographic fungi (*Histoplasma capsulatum*, *Coccidioides immitis*, *Blastomyces dermatitidis*, *Paracoccidioides* species) and opportunistic molds (*Scedosporium*, *agents of* mucormycosis, phaeohyphomycoses)

Tab	le 1	.3	(continued)	
			\[

• Parasites
– Toxoplasma gondii
– Trypanosoma cruzi
- Strongyloides stercoralis
- Leishmania species
- Balamuthia species
Nosocomial exposures
 Methicillin-resistant staphylococci
- Antimicrobial-resistant enterococci (vancomycin, linezolid, daptomycin
quinupristin-dalfopristin)
 Multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacilli
– Clostridium difficile
- Aspergillus species
- Candida non-albicans strains
Community exposures
 Food and water-borne (<i>Listeria monocytogenes</i>, <i>Salmonella</i> spp., <i>Cryptosporidium</i> spp., hepatitis A, <i>Campylobacter</i> spp.)
- Respiratory viruses (RSV, influenza, parainfluenza, adenovirus, metapneumovirus)
- Common viruses, often with exposure to children (Coxsackie, Parvovirus)
- Polyomavirus, Papillomavirus
- Atypical respiratory pathogens (Legionella spp., Mycoplasma spp., Chlamydia)
- Geographic fungi and Cryptococcus, Pneumocystis jirovecii
Parasites (often distant)
– Strongyloides stercoralis
- Leishmania species
– Toxoplasma gondii
– Trypanosoma cruzi
– Naegleria spp.
^a Both known and unrecognized infections from organ and in recipient

^aBoth known and unrecognized infections from organ and in recipient ^bFrom Ref. [3], with permission

intravenous lines, or urinary catheters. The spectrum is similar to those infections observed in critically ill patients undergoing major surgical procedures other than transplantation. Community-acquired respiratory viral infections and *C. difficile* colitis may also be nosocomially acquired. *Postoperative infections* are related to the surgical procedure and are included in the nosocomial infections. However, given the vulnerability of anastomoses between the donor organ and the recipient (e.g., vascular, biliary, tracheal, ureteric) to ischemia or leaks with fluid collections, such infections are common.

Donor-derived infections have a likely or confirmed source in the organ donor and are discussed in detail in Chap. 3 [4, 5].

Opportunistic infections are otherwise uncommon infections in a immunocompetent host. They are responsible for the wide spectrum of unusual pathogens observed in the transplant recipient; the most common may be targeted by antimicrobial prophylaxis. *Fever* is considered the hallmark of an infectious process. In immunocompromised patients, fever can be absent in up to 40% of documented infections, while 20% of patients with fever have noninfectious causes (e.g., graft rejection). Clinical presentations are often subtle, despite the presence of advanced infection [6, 7].

1.2 Timetable of Infections

Infections follow a pattern after transplantation based on the immunosuppressive regimen and local epidemiology (Figs. 1.1 and 1.2) [1, 3]. The timetable serves as an instrument to develop a differential diagnosis for a patient suspected of having infection can be used to establish protocols for preventative measures and helps with recognition of unusual patterns of infection related to over-immunosuppression, environmental pressures, or failures of preventive strategies. When applying the timetable to any given patient, it is paramount that individual risk factors be considered. Prophylactic strategies, the net state of immunosuppression, and epidemiologic exposures will all have a great impact and may change the approach considerably. Three periods can be distinguished: the immediate postoperative period from the day of transplantation to 30 days after transplantation, the period from 1 month to approximately 12 months, and the time beyond 1 year after transplantation.

1.3 Period 1: Transplantation to 30 Days

This period is dominated by nosocomial infections, especially surgical site infections. The spectrum of pathogens is similar to that of major surgical procedures in similar anatomic areas and in other critically ill patients. Bacterial infections dominate followed by *Candida* species. A smaller but increasingly recognized group are those suffering donor-derived infection, which generally cause clinical symptoms early after transplantation, often dominated by graft dysfunction or cryptic fevers. Viral infections must be considered among donor-derived infections and unusual pathogens based on the epidemiology of the donor.

Superficial and deep surgical site infections, in some instances caused by anastomotic leaks or organ injury, are responsible for the surgical nosocomial infections, while pneumonia, line infections, and urinary tract infections are common as for other surgical patients. Recognition of nosocomial microbial resistance patterns and unusual hazards (e.g., construction) will guide empiric antimicrobial therapies. Hospital infection prevention measures (e.g., early extubation, decontamination) play a key role in this period.

1.4 Period 2: 1 Month Posttransplant to 12 Months Posttransplant

This phase is the most challenging in terms of spectrum of infections. While some infections are still related to the surgical procedure, pharmacologic immunosuppression is the main determinant of infectious risk and results in opportunistic infections

Г	Time of Transplanation		•
•	< 4 Weeks	1-12 Months	> 12 Months
Source	Nosocomial, technical, donor / recipient	Activation of latent infections, relapsed, residual, opportunistic infections	Community acquired
		Adenovirus	
		BK polyomavirus	
			Community-acquired respiratory viruses
		Cyte	omegalovirus
		Epstein-Barr virus	3
Virus		Hepatitis B	
		Hepatitis C	
		Herpes simplex virus	
		Human herpesvirus 6, 7	
			Human Papillomavirus
			JC polyomavirus and PML
			PTLD
		Varicella zoster virus	3
	Donor derived viruses		
		Asperaillus	Aspergillus
	Candida species (non-albica	ns)	
S			Cryptococcus peoformans
snɓu		Endomia funci	oryprococcus neoronnans
Ρu		Endernic lungi	
		Mucor. Scedosporium	Mucor. Scedosporium
		Pneumocystis jirovecii	
_			
	Anastomotic leaks		
	Clostridium difficile		
	Line infection		
eria		Listeria monocy	togenes
acte		Nocardia specie	S
B		Мус	obacterium tuberculosis, non-TB mycobacteria
	Wound infection		
	Nosocomial pneumonia		
	Urinary tract infections		
D		Leishmania speci	es
asite		Strongyloides st	ercoraiis
Par		Irypanosoma cru.	21
		Toxoplasma gon	

Timeline of Common Post-Transplant Infections

Key

 Bold type indicates infections potentially preventable by prophylaxis. May be delayed until prophylaxis is discontinued.

indicates relative

risk.

Fig. 1.1 The timeline of infections following organ transplantation. The pattern of common infections following organ transplantation varies with the net state of immunosuppression and the epidemiology of infectious exposures. Development of disease is delayed, but not eliminated by prophylaxis including vaccinations and antimicrobial agents. Individual risk modified by events including treatment for graft rejection or malignancy. Thickness of line indicates relative risk. Bold type indicates infections potentially preventable by prophylaxis. *PML* progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy, *PTLD* posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder. From: Fishman JA. Infection in Organ Transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(4):856–79



Fig. 1.2 Management of common infections requires continuous assessment of immune function and epidemiologic challenges for each organ recipient. From: Fishman J. N Engl J Med 2007;357:2601–2614

rarely observed in a normal host. Viral infections, resulting from reactivation of latent infections or primary infection through transmission by the graft into a naïve recipient, are an important contributor. Fungal infections include molds, endemic yeasts (e.g., histoplasmosis, paracoccidioidomycosis), and *Cryptococcus*, as well as *Pneumocystis jirovecii* and bacterial, opportunistic infections such as nocardiosis, or tuberculosis, must be included in the differential diagnosis. Parasitic infections, including toxoplasmosis and endemic pathogens (e.g., leishmaniasis, Chagas disease), must be considered.

The pattern observed in terms of involved sites and specific pathogens differs by the organ transplanted: clinically relevant viral respiratory infections will be found most often in lung transplant recipients, while BK virus reactivation is rare outside kidney transplantation. In the pioneering days of transplantations, these infections resulted in a very high morbidity and mortality. The implementation of preventive strategies has changed the patterns of infection considerably. Prevention of herpesviral infections has reduced the incidence not only of cytomegalovirus infections but of other herpesviruses as well. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole-based prophylaxis has made *Pneumocystis* pneumonia and toxoplasmosis uncommon and protect against many additional bacterial infections such as listeriosis and nocardiosis.

1.5 Period 3: Beyond 12 Months

In patients with a satisfactory or good allograft function, immunosuppression can be lowered, and while an increased risk for infections persists compared to a normal host, the spectrum and severity of infection are driven by the community-derived epidemiologic exposure; a careful clinical history is often the clue. Travel, gardening, or cleaning dusty rooms (barns) may hint to a source of infection and guide the differential diagnosis. Knowledge of the local circulating respiratory viruses including influenza helps in choosing diagnostic tests and empirical therapy, if indicated. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder can mimic an infectious process.

The patients posing the greatest challenge in this period are those in need of a higher- maintenance immunosuppression. Often, acute and chronic rejection results in reduced graft function and necessitates more intense immunosuppression, enhancing the risk for infection. In terms of the differential diagnosis, this subgroup never progresses from the second to the third period. Consequently, the expected spectrum of potential pathogens remains large. Most guidelines limit prevention strategies to the first 6 months to 1 year. In these high-risk patients, however, prolonged prevention, including for herpesviruses, may be beneficial [8].

1.6 Assessment and Management of a Recipient with Suspected Infection

The differential diagnosis of a recipient with a suspected infection will vary according to the time elapsed since transplantation and involves the consideration of the net state of immunosuppression combined with the local epidemiology. A structured approach can never replace experience and intuition but ensures that no relevant aspects are missed. Some principles outlined below may be useful in the daily clinical work:

- In severely ill patients: Start with broader-spectrum empiric therapy based on the individual's known infectious risks (e.g., cytomegalovirus or colonization with antimicrobial-resistant organisms)—de-escalate as soon as possible.
- Consider ongoing prophylactic strategies in the differential diagnosis.
- Invasive means to achieve a specific microbiological diagnosis are often warranted and reduce therapy-related toxicities.
- Always ask: Can immunosuppression be reduced and balanced against the risk for immune reconstitution?
- Consider noninfectious causes (PTLD, rejection).
- Be aware of drug interactions.

1.7 Recent Changes in the Timeline

Since the first description of the timetable, the basic concepts have held up with a high reliability. Three changes merit consideration. First, the implementation of preventive strategies has resulted in a shift of observed infections most notably in period 2, as outlined in Fig. 1.2. Thus, when developing a differential diagnosis, active prophylactic measures need to be considered. Whether prevention has resulted in fewer opportunistic infections remains unclear, but the reduction of cytomegalovirus and *Pneumocystis jirovecii* infections was a major milestone in the care of these patients. Second, one new infection has emerged on a larger

scale: BK virus reactivation or primary infection in the kidney recipient, resulting in the development of new diagnostic tools and prevention measures. Third, donorderived infections are increasingly recognized, in part due to the development of molecular diagnostic tools.

1.8 Current Challenges and Future Developments

Individualized Risk Assessment Most prevention guidelines will list some individual factors informing the clinician about pathogen-specific risks in defined patient populations. The donor-recipient CMV serological status is such an example. While helpful on an epidemiological level, it does not predict on an individual level which recipient will experience viral reactivation or primary infection. An individualized, reliable risk assessment will likely be a combination of factors, including genetic polymorphisms and pathogen-specific cellular immunity. The goal is to tailor prevention for common pathogens for each individual recipient [9, 10].

Microbiota The interplay between the microbiota, its role as a regulator of the immune system, and the impact of infections, their treatment, and prevention is being intensely explored. In the future, the benefit of any pharmacologic antimicrobial prevention will be weighed against its potential role on microbiota homeostasis, not only its ecologic impact on increasing resistance [11].

Antimicrobial Resistance After the relative success at preventing opportunistic infections, one of the major challenges is the worldwide emergence of antibiotic resistance. Not all geographical areas have been affected similarly, but the pressure affects all transplant programs. Some programs have started to routinely screen donors for the presence of multidrug- resistant organisms and have adapted the perioperative prophylaxis accordingly. The best approach is not known, specifically the nature of colonization of the donor that would constitute a relative or absolute contraindication for transplantation [12, 13].

Emerging Infections Increasing world travel has facilitated the spread of local endemic and epidemic infections, and the shift in vectors, such as mosquitos, will result in some tropical infections becoming endemic in temperate zones. Transplant infectious disease specialists need to track these changes, as the vulnerable transplant population could be affected disproportionally [14].

Microbiological Diagnosis Development of molecular assays has changed the diagnosis and management of viral infections including PTLD. The need for invasive diagnosis (e.g., biopsies to differentiate BK nephropathy from graft rejection or for fungal pneumonia) may be reduced, and the demonstration of antimicrobial resistance documented with further advances in next-generation sequencing technologies.

1.9 Conclusion

The prevention and treatment of infection remains a key component of successful organ transplantation. Infection often occurs without common signs or symptoms of infection. Specific microbiological diagnosis is required to optimize antimicrobial therapy and to avoid drug toxicities. The timeline for infectious risk incorporates considerations of the recipient's epidemiologic exposures and immunosuppression. However, management of transplant recipients will increasingly depend on molecular diagnostic tools, assays of pathogen-specific immune function, and risk stratification based on genetic polymorphisms controlling immune function. Emerging infections continue to challenge the transplant practitioner. New approaches will support the individualization of transplant care.

References

- 1. Fishman JA. Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(25):2601–14.
- Fishman JA, Rubin RH. Infection in organ-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 1998;338(24):1741–51.
- 3. Fishman JA. Infection in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(4):856-79.
- Fishman JA, Grossi PA. Donor-derived infection--the challenge for transplant safety. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2014;10(11):663–72.
- Garzoni C, Ison MG. Uniform definitions for donor-derived infectious disease transmissions in solid organ transplantation. Transplantation. 2011;92(12):1297–300.
- Chang FY, Singh N, Gayowski T, Wagener MM, Marino IR. Fever in liver transplant recipients: changing spectrum of etiologic agents. Clin Infect Dis. 1998;26(1):59–65.
- Sawyer RG, Crabtree TD, Gleason TG, Antevil JL, Pruett TL. Impact of solid organ transplantation and immunosuppression on fever, leukocytosis, and physiologic response during bacterial and fungal infections. Clin Transpl. 1999;13(3):260–5.
- Blumberg EA, Danziger-Isakov L, Kumar D, Michaels MG, Razonable RR. American Society of Transplantation: infectious disease guidelines 3rd edition. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):1–371.
- Wojtowicz A, Gresnigt MS, Lecompte T, Bibert S, Manuel O, Joosten LA, et al. IL1B and DEFB1 polymorphisms increase susceptibility to invasive mold infection after solid-organ transplantation. J Infect Dis. 2015;211(10):1646–57.
- Wojtowicz A, Lecompte TD, Bibert S, Manuel O, Rueger S, Berger C, et al. PTX3 polymorphisms and invasive mold infections after solid organ transplant. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;61(4):619–22.
- Nellore A, Fishman JA. The microbiome, systemic immune function, and allotransplantation. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2016;29(1):191–9.
- Aguado JM, Silva JT, Fernandez-Ruiz M, Cordero E, Fortun J, Gudiol C, et al. Management of multidrug resistant gram-negative bacilli infections in solid organ transplant recipients: SET/ GESITRA-SEIMC/REIPI recommendations. Transplant Rev. 2017;32(1):36–57.
- Oriol I, Sabe N, Simonetti AF, Llado L, Manonelles A, Gonzalez J, et al. Changing trends in the aetiology, treatment and outcomes of bloodstream infection occurring in the first year after solid organ transplantation: a single-centre prospective cohort study. Transpl Int. 2017;30(9):903–13.
- Blumberg EA, Fishman JA. Zika virus in transplantation: emerging infection and opportunities. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(3):599–600.



Risk Assessment of Infections in SOT Recipients

Mario Fernández-Ruiz and Nicole M. Theodoropoulos

2.1 Introduction

When evaluating a solid organ transplant (SOT) recipient for infection, there are a large number of factors that should be considered. Since these patients are immunosuppressed, they often do not express the same signs and symptoms as a fully immune competent host. For instance, pulmonary infections may not present with cough or shortness of breath. Often, patients may not have fever or leukocytosis with infection. Skin and soft tissue infections may not have all the typical signs of erythema, induration, tenderness, and warmth.

On the other hand, the occurrence of certain opportunistic infections, especially those due to polyomaviruses or herpesviruses, may act as an indicator that the patient is over immunosuppressed. The functional impact on the host's response of the most commonly used immunosuppressive drugs is quite heterogeneous across patients. Unfortunately, there is no gold standard to assessing how immunosuppressed a given patient is. The amount of time that has elapsed since the transplant surgery is also critical in assessing the types of infections a patient is most at risk for. Usually, the longer the time from transplant, the less immunosuppressed a SOT recipient is, but this is not the case in patients suffering from graft rejection episodes requiring enhanced immunosuppression. Surgical complications and anatomical alterations from surgery need to be considered. Making a diagnosis, instead of empirically treating, is

N. M. Theodoropoulos

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

M. Fernández-Ruiz (🖂)

Unit of Infectious Diseases, Hospital Universitario "12 de Octubre", Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital "12 de Octubre" (imas12), School of Medicine, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain

Division of Infectious Diseases and Immunology, University of Massachusetts Medical School, UMass Memorial Medical Center, Worcester, MA, USA

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), *Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_2

critically important in post-transplant patients, as the differential diagnoses may be broad. Invasive procedures and biopsies are often necessary to narrow on a definitive diagnosis.

2.2 Time from Transplant

Since many organ transplant recipients receive induction therapy at the time of transplant, their immunosuppression is often at its peak within a month from transplant. The deleterious effects of these induction therapies—specifically those including T-cell-depleting agents (e.g., polyclonal antithymocyte globulins or the anti-CD52 monoclonal antibody alemtuzumab)—on the cell-mediated immunity have been reported to last up to 1–2 years post-transplant [1, 2]. The more time that passes from transplant, the lower the risk for rejection and often maintenance immunosuppression medications are tapered.

As discussed in Chap. 1, early infections (i.e., those occurring within the first posttransplant month) are typically related to surgery or are donor-derived. Sometimes these events are related to an infection already active before the transplant procedure. The intermediate period (i.e., months 1 through 6 post-transplant) tends to be the time of highest immunosuppression when most opportunistic infections are seen. The typical timeline of infections is altered by the use of antimicrobial prophylaxis and by periods of augmented immunosuppression [3, 4]. Donor-derived infections usually present early after transplant but can be detected up to 1 or more years post-transplant in some cases. Any unknown infection within 6-month post-transplant should involve a look at donor factors and a review of the other recipients of organs from the donor.

2.3 Pre-transplant Recipient Factors

When evaluating a post-transplant patient for infection early after transplant, a review of their pre-transplant history is important, especially noting any history of infections or colonization with fungi or drug-resistant organisms, their pre-transplant serologies, vaccination status, and history of comorbidities. Patients with a history of uncontrolled diabetes mellitus, autoimmune disease or splenectomy, or chronic malnutrition have a unique increased risk for infection [3]. Special evaluation of issues with previous infection or colonization of the system requiring transplant is important. For example, many lung transplant recipients will have prior respiratory infections or colonization and will, therefore, be at risk for recurrence of these infections post-transplant, especially in the case of cystic fibrosis patients.

2.3.1 Donor Factors

Donor infectious disease screening test results need to be reviewed. Most providers understand that recipients that are seronegative for cytomegalovirus (CMV) or Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) who receive a seropositive donor organ are at high risk for infectious complications from these viruses. However, the impact of donor/recipient serological mismatch for other pathogens such as *Toxoplasma gondii* or the remaining herpesviruses is less characterized. For instance, toxoplasmosis has been reported to be transmitted from donor to recipient after heart transplantation but also occasionally in other transplant populations [5–7].

Additionally, some organ procurement organizations screen deceased donors for West Nile virus, human T-lymphotropic virus-1/2, *Strongyloides stercoralis*, and Chagas (*Trypanosoma cruzi*) antibodies [8]. These test results need to be interpreted and acted on by the recipient transplant teams when appropriate. Donor blood, urine, and sputum are sent for culture at the time of procurement, and results of these cultures are reported several days later. These should be checked as a routine but also in the case of evaluation of a recipient for an early post-transplant infection. Detailed discussion about donor-derived infections will be included in Chap. 3.

2.3.2 Surgical Factors

With the transplant surgery, many details need to be understood by the physicians taking care of the transplant recipient as they can increase risk of infection. The type of anastomosis is essential to understand [9]. Anastomoses that involve bowel place the patient at risk for leakage and peritonitis. Some centers perform pancreas transplants with vesicular anastomoses, and this increases the risk of cystitis. Lung transplant patients are at risk for ischemia at the site of their tracheal anastomosis, and this can increase the risk of fungal and bacterial infections at this site.

Intra-abdominal surgeries are sometimes complicated by splenic injury and subsequent splenectomies. This will increase the risk of severe infections with encapsulated bacteria in the recipient. Other factors that will increase the risk of infection, especially fungal infection in liver transplant recipients, are return to the operating room, need for renal replacement therapy, and large intraoperational volume blood loss [10, 11].

Stents are sometimes placed in the ureter or biliary system in kidney and liver transplant operations, respectively. These foreign bodies need to be assessed and possibly removed earlier than planned when infections arise in these areas post-transplant.

2.4 Post-transplant Factors

In addition to pre-transplant and surgery-related factors, the susceptibility to infection among SOT recipients is modulated by a number of post-transplant variables that must be taken into account in the risk assessment process. Of note, most of them have a dynamic behavior that justifies continuous monitoring throughout the post-transplant period (in particular during the first 12 months).

2.4.1 Community and Healthcare-Associated Exposures

Causative agents of post-transplant infection may be endogenous in nature (posing the risk of reactivation of a latent infection), derived from the donor or the preservation fluid and transmitted through the graft itself or acquired from an exogenous source (through environmental, vector, or human-to-human exposure). Overall, the latter group represents the most usual mechanism of infection during the entire life span of SOT recipients.

Environmental pathogens to which these patients are particularly susceptible comprise of bacteria (Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Legionella spp.) and both ubiquitous (e.g., Aspergillus spp., Cryptococcus spp.) and geographically restricted fungi (e.g., Histoplasma capsulatum, Blastomyces dermatitidis, or Coccidioides immitis) [12, 13]. Gardening activities and exposure to potting mixes and compost-derived products are associated with infections due to L. longbeachae and dematiaceous (dark-pigmented) fungi [14, 15]. Listeria monocytogenes constitutes the most relevant foodborne pathogen in the SOT population [16], although Salmonella spp., Vibrio spp., or Cryptosporidium spp. must be also borne in mind [17]. The incidence of vector-borne infection may be theoretically considered comparable to that of the immunocompetent host. Nevertheless, it has been reported that post-transplant immunosuppression contributes to increase the severity of certain diseases such as babesiosis, ehrlichiosis, or rickettsiosis. Human-to-human transmission can result from direct contact with an infected person or indirectly through an intermediate object. Mycobacterium tuberculosis and respiratory viruses (e.g., influenza virus, adenoviruses, or respiratory syncytial virus) are relevant pathogens transmitted from infected individuals, usually but not exclusively in the community setting. Varicella-zoster virus (VZV) is also transmitted by direct contact, droplets or aerosols from vesicular lesions, or respiratory tract secretions.

Healthcare-associated exposure deserves particular attention, since SOT recipients usually have longer hospital and ICU stays, have more requirements for invasive diagnostic and therapeutic procedures, and are more commonly exposed to broadspectrum antibiotics than other patient groups. Thus, the incidence of healthcareassociated and nosocomial bacterial infection is increased, as is the causative role of multidrug (MDR) Gram-negative bacilli (such as extended-spectrum β -lactamases [ESBL]-producing or carbapenem-resistant *Enterobacteriaceae*), methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, or vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus*. The frequent use of indwelling devices (e.g., intravascular or urinary catheters or biliary stents) poses an additional risk of biofilm-associated infections. Antibiotic exposure and other factors (e.g., use of proton pump inhibitors or post-transplant hypogammaglobulinemia) explain the particular susceptibility of SOT recipients to *Clostridium difficile* infection, which may entail particularly deleterious effects on graft outcome [17].

2.4.2 Net State of Immunosuppression

Coined by Fishman, the concept of "net state of immunosuppression" refers to the additive measure of factors contributing to the individual susceptibility to infection

Table 2.1 Factors contributing to the "net state of immunosuppression" in SOT recipients (modified from Fishman [18])

Induction therapy (use of T-cell-depleting agents, cumulative dose)

Maintenance immunosuppressive therapy (regimen type, temporal sequence, dose, duration)

Prior immunosuppressive (e.g., chemotherapy) or antimicrobial therapies

Pre-transplant underlying immunodeficiency (e.g., adrenal insufficiency, systemic lupus, complement deficiencies)

Peri-transplant life-support procedures (e.g., vasoactive drugs, renal replacement therapy, invasive mechanical ventilation, ECMO)

Administration of blood-derived products

Disruption of mucocutaneous barrier (e.g., intravenous and urinary catheters, surgical procedures)

Metabolic conditions (e.g., uremia, malnutrition, diabetes, alcoholism, cirrhosis, vitamin D deficiency)

Cytopenias (drug-induced neutropenia or lymphopenia)^a

Post-transplant de novo hypogammaglobulinemia

Chronic or latent viral infections (CMV, hepatitis B and C, EBV)

CMV cytomegalovirus, *EBV* Epstein-Barr virus, *ECMO* extracorporeal membrane oxygenation ^aTypically due to mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine, (val)ganciclovir, or trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole

in each SOT recipient [18]. It results from the combination of a number of factors, including the nature, dose, and duration of immunosuppressive therapy, the use of invasive life-support techniques, the evolution of graft function, or the deleterious effect on the host's immune response of chronic or latent viral infections, among others (Table 2.1). In addition, the surgical issues related to the transplant procedure contribute to fluid leaks (blood, lymph, urine) and collections, as well as devitalized tissues at the surgical site.

Due to its multifaceted nature and dynamic course, the measurement of the net state of immunosuppression constitutes a clinical and methodological challenge, and it is unlikely that a single biomarker could accurately account for the multiplicity of immune and nonimmune factors involved. The ultimate would be to define a quantitative measure conceptually similar to the area under the curve, which would encompass the multiple contributing variables at a given point. At the present time, therapeutic drug monitoring (TDM) of immunosuppressive agents constitutes the most widely used approach to the immune status in SOT recipients. However, TDM is limited by its unidimensional nature, which does not take into account the synergistic effect of multidrug regimens or the impact of induction therapies with monoclonal or polyclonal antibodies, resulting in a relatively poor correlation with clinical events.

2.4.3 Strategies for Immune Monitoring

From a clinical perspective, the strategies for the immune monitoring in the setting of SOT may be categorized into nonpathogen-specific or pathogen-specific [19]. The first of these approaches evaluates the functionality of a given arm of the immune system by means of assays (or biological parameters) with no antigen specificity. The nature of the biomarker used, in turn, may be quantitative (e.g., concentration of serum immunoglobulins or complement factors) or provide a functional assessment (e.g., intra-lymphocytic release of adenosine triphosphate [ATP] upon stimulation with phytohemagglutinin [PHA]) (Table 2.2). On the contrary, the pathogen-specific immune monitoring strategies are based on antigen-specific assays that estimate the magnitude and functionality of adaptive immune responses generated by T-cells or B-cells against a defined pathogen. Most of them measure the production of Th₁ effector cytokines (usually interferon [IFN]- γ) after stimulation with a known viral antigen (individual peptide, peptide library, whole virus lysate, or infected dendritic cells). Although there have been progresses in the assessment of specific immunity against VZV, EBV, or polyomavirus BK, the only currently approved assays for clinical use are aimed at measuring CMV-specific cell-mediated immune responses (Table 2.3) [20]. There are different clinical scenarios in which this approach has been clinically explored and that would constitute preferential applications of CMV-specific immune monitoring (Table 2.4) [21]. However, interventional studies based on these nonpathogen-specific or pathogenspecific immune assays are still scarce [22].

2.4.4 Antimicrobial Prophylaxis

As expected, the administration of antimicrobial prophylaxis modulates the incidence and timing of infectious complications in SOT recipients and must be taken into account in the risk assessment. The high efficacy exhibited by certain regimens, such as trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole for Pneumocystis jiroveci pneumonia (PCP) or (val)ganciclovir for CMV, renders very unlikely the occurrence of breakthrough infection while on prophylaxis and modifies the conventional scheme proposed for infection according to the post-transplant period (early, intermediate, and late). Therefore, the period at risk would be displaced to a later phase, once prophylaxis has been discontinued, posing the potential for delayed diagnosis due to low clinical suspicion or diminished awareness [23]. It should be also noted that the impact of some prophylactic strategies is not limited to the primarily targeted pathogen. For instance, anti-CMV prophylaxis with (val)ganciclovir has been proven to be effective in preventing herpes simplex virus (HSV) and VZV reactivation [24], whereas the use of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole prophylaxis reduces, in addition to PCP, the incidence of listeriosis, urinary tract infection (UTI), or staphylococcal infection (although appears to have minor effect on the risk of nocardiosis). On the other hand, caveats of current prophylaxis practices include the development of atypical forms of disease (e.g., extrapulmonary Pneumocystis infection in patients receiving inhaled pentamidine) or the emergence of antimicrobial resistance (e.g., quinolone-resistant uropathogens or azole-resistant Aspergillus calidoustus associated with the widespread use of ciprofloxacin and voriconazole prophylaxis, respectively [25, 26]).

						(F 1 .	
	Seriim	Serum complement	Peripheral blood lymnhocyte		EBV or TTV	iATP in CD4+	OnantiFERON-
Characteristic	immunoglobulins	factors	subpopulations	Soluble CD30	viremia	T-cells	monitor
Required sample	Serum	Serum	Whole blood	Serum	Whole blood, PBMCs, or serum	Whole blood	Whole blood
Assay	Nephelometry	Nephelometry or ELISA (C3, C4, MBL)	Flow cytometry	ELISA	Quantitative PCR	Quantification of iATP release in PHA-stimulated CD4+ T-cells	Quantification of IFN-y release upon stimulation with anti-CD3 and R848
Functional analysis	No	No	No	Yes	Yes	Yes	Yes
Advantages	Economical and easy to perform. Potential for replacement therapy with IVIG	Economical and easy to perform. Potential for genotyping of <i>mbl2</i> gene variants	Easy to perform (automatized methods)	Easy to perform. Commercial assay. Low volume (25 µL) of serum required	Comprehensive assessment of the T-cell response	Only FDA- approved commercial assay (ImmuKnow [®] assay, Cylex, Columbia, MD). Highly standardized. Large volume of studies	Joint assessment of both innate and adaptive immunity. Commercial test (QuantiFERON- Monitor®; Qiagen, Hilden, Germany)
Disadvantages	Lack of standardized cutoff values. No information on the functionality of the humoral response	Lack of standardized cutoff values. No information on the functionality of the complement system	Lack of standardized cutoff values. No information on the functionality of the cellular response	Only few studies on predicting infection with discordant findings	Only preliminary studies. Lack of technical standardization. Potentially biased by antiviral prophylaxis (EBV)	Only modest PPV and NPV in studies to date. Relatively high cost. Potentially biased by sample storage time	Only preliminary studies
<i>EBV</i> Epstein-Bai interferon γ , <i>IVI</i>	rr virus, <i>ELISA</i> enzyme <i>G</i> intravenous immuno	e-linked immunoso globulins, MBL ma	rbent assay, FDA Formunose-binding lectin	ood and Drug Ad n, NPV negative	ministration, <i>iATP</i> in predictive value, <i>PB</i> /	tracellular adenosine <i>UCs</i> peripheral bloo	e triphosphate, IFN - γ d mononuclear cells,

 Table 2.2
 Summary of methods for nonnathogen-specific immune monitoring (modified from Fernández-Ruiz et al. [19])

PCR polymerase chain reaction, PHA phytohemagglutinin, PPV positive predictive value, TTV Torque Teno virus

	MHC-tetramer	Intracellular		QuantiFERON
Characteristic	staining	staining	ELISpot	CMV
Required sample (volume)	PBMCs (0.5–1 mL)	PBMCs or whole blood (1–2 mL)	PBMCs (10 mL)	Whole blood (3–5 mL)
Turnaround time	1–2 h	8–10 h	24–48 h	24 h
Antigen	Individual peptide (pp65, IE-1, pp50)	Individual peptide/peptide library/whole virus lysate/ CMV (VR-1814)- infected immature dendritic cells	Individual peptide/peptide library/whole virus lysate/ CMV (VR-1814)- infected immature dendritic cells	Pool of 22 different peptides mapped within pp65, pp50, IE-1, IE-2, and gB
Functional analysis	No (unless associated with intracellular cytokine staining)	Yes	Yes	Yes
Phenotypic characterization	Yes	Yes	No	No
Differentiation between CD8 ⁺ and CD4 ⁺ responses	Yes	Yes	No	No (detects mostly CD8 ⁺ T-cells)
Required knowledge on epitope	Yes	No	No	No
Required knowledge on individual HLA-type	Yes	No	No	No
Commercially available test	CE-approved test recently commercialized (Dextramer CMV [®] Kit; Immudex ApS, Copenhagen, Denmark)	No	CE-approved commercialized (T-Track CMV [®] ; Lophius Biosciences, Regensburg, Germany)	CE-approved test with increasing clinical experience (QuantiFERON- CMV®; Qiagen, Hilden, Germany)

 Table 2.3 Summary of methods for monitoring of CMV-specific T-cell-mediated immune response (modified from Fernández-Ruiz et al. [19])

Characteristic	MHC-tetramer staining	Intracellular cytokine staining	ELISpot	QuantiFERON- CMV
Advantages	High specificity. Short turnaround time	Gold standard. Most existing literature based on this technique. Potential for freeze PBMCs and ship to reference laboratory for testing	Potential for freeze PBMCs and ship to reference laboratory for testing	Simple to perform and highly standardized
Limitations	Labor intensive. Lack of technical standardization. Need for purified PBMCs and access to a flow cytometer	Labor intensive. Lack of technical standardization. No commercial test. Need for access to flow cytometer	Lack of technical standardization. No defined cutoff values. Need for purified PBMCs and access to an ELISpot reader. No differentiation between CD8 ⁺ and CD4 ⁺ responses	Not differentiation between CD8 ⁺ and CD4 ⁺ T-cells. Sensitive to lymphopenia (high rate of indeterminate results in patients treated with ATG). Limited to widespread HLA types

Table 2.3	(continued)
-----------	-------------

ATG antithymocyte globulin, CE Conformité Européenne, CMV cytomegalovirus, ELISpot enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay, HLA human leukocyte antigen, MHC major histocompatibility complex, PBMCs peripheral blood mononuclear cells

2.4.5 Antirejection Therapy

The treatment for acute graft rejection may substantially modify the expected timetable of post-transplant infection, since it augments the overall amount of immunosuppression over a short period of time. In addition to the increase in the daily dose of those drugs contained in the maintenance immunosuppression regimen, antirejection therapy usually comprises the administration of steroid boluses, T-celldepleting agents (e.g., polyclonal antithymocyte globulins) or, in the case of antibody-mediated rejection, agents targeting the B-cell (rituximab). These therapies are frequently associated with the development of lymphopenia (mostly affecting CD4⁺ T-cell counts) and hypogammaglobulinemia. Recent developments in the approach to steroid-resistant forms of antibody-mediated rejection also include the use of eculizumab (a recombinant humanized monoclonal antibody that targets complement protein C5 and prevents the formation of the terminal membrane attack complex)

-	-		
Clinical scenario	Predicted event	Monitoring method	Proposed intervention
High-risk patients (D ⁺ /R ⁻ , T-cell-depleting antibodies, lung transplantation) during antiviral prophylaxis	Late-onset disease ^a	QuantiFERON-CMV, ELISpot	Prolong antiviral prophylaxis or close monitoring for viremia if inadequate response
High-risk patients (D ⁺ /R ⁻) after discontinuing antiviral prophylaxis	Late-onset disease ^a	QuantiFERON-CMV	Prolong antiviral prophylaxis or close monitoring for viremia if inadequate response
Pre-transplant assessment in intermediate-risk patients (R ⁺ with no other factors)	Post-transplant viremia and/or disease	QuantiFERON-CMV, ELISpot	Initiate antiviral prophylaxis in patients with inadequate response
Intermediate-risk patients (R ⁺) on preemptive therapy with no concurrent viremia	Subsequent viremia and/or disease	ICS, QuantiFERON- CMV, ELISpot, MHC-tetramer staining	Reduce the frequency and/or discontinue monitoring of viremia if adequate response
Intermediate-risk patients (R ⁺) on preemptive therapy with asymptomatic viremia	Spontaneous clearance	QuantiFERON-CMV	Withhold antiviral therapy if adequate response
Active CMV infection or disease after discontinuation of antiviral treatment	Post-treatment relapse	ICS	Initiate secondary prophylaxis if inadequate response

Table 2.4 Scenarios with available clinical information supporting the monitoring of CMV-specific T-cell-mediated immune response after SOT (modified from Fernández-Ruiz et al. [19])

CMV cytomegalovirus, *ELISpot* enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay, *ICS* intracellular cytokine staining, *MHC* major histocompatibility complex

^aRefers to the occurrence of CMV disease after discontinuing antiviral prophylaxis with (val) ganciclovir

and bortezomib (a proteasome inhibitor), which increase the risk of neisserial infection and HSV and VZV reactivation, respectively. It should be noted the late-onset rejection usually takes place once antimicrobial prophylaxis has been discontinued, thus rendering the patient particularly susceptible to opportunistic infection [27].

References

- Peleg AY, Husain S, Kwak EJ, Silveira FP, Ndirangu M, Tran J, et al. Opportunistic infections in 547 organ transplant recipients receiving alemtuzumab, a humanized monoclonal CD-52 antibody. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44(2):204–12.
- Issa NC, Fishman JA. Infectious complications of antilymphocyte therapies in solid organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(6):772–86.
- 3. Green M. Introduction: infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):3–8.
- Fishman JA, Practice ASTIDCo. Introduction: infection in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(Suppl 4):S3–6.

- Morris MI, Fischer SA, Ison MG. Infections transmitted by transplantation. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 2010;24(2):497–514.
- Ison MG, Nalesnik MA. An update on donor-derived disease transmission in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(6):1123–30.
- Wolfe C, Wilk A, Tlusty S, Sifri C, Morris M, Mehta A, et al. Donor-derived toxoplasmosis in solid organ transplant 2008–2015: Opportunities for improvement [Abstract]. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(Suppl 3):736.
- Fischer SA, Lu K, Practice ASTIDCo. Screening of donor and recipient in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):9–21.
- 9. Kumar D, Humar A. The AST handbook of transplant infections. Chichester: Blackwell Publishing; 2011.
- Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes D, Benjamin DK Jr, Calandra TF, Edwards JE Jr, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of candidiasis: 2009 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(5):503–35.
- Silveira FP, Kusne S, Practice ASTIDCo. Candida infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):220–7.
- Assi M, Martin S, Wheat LJ, Hage C, Freifeld A, Avery R, et al. Histoplasmosis after solid organ transplant. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57(11):1542–9.
- Pappas PG, Alexander BD, Andes DR, Hadley S, Kauffman CA, Freifeld A, et al. Invasive fungal infections among organ transplant recipients: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(8):1101–11.
- 14. Singh N, Chang FY, Gayowski T, Marino IR. Infections due to dematiaceous fungi in organ transplant recipients: case report and review. Clin Infect Dis. 1997;24(3):369–74.
- 15. Wright AJ, Humar A, Gourishankar S, Bernard K, Kumar D. Severe Legionnaire's disease caused by Legionella longbeachae in a long-term renal transplant patient: the importance of safe living strategies after transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14(4):E30–3.
- Kruszyna T, Walsh M, Peltekian K, Molinari M. Early invasive Listeria monocytogenes infection after orthotopic liver transplantation: case report and review of the literature. Liver Transpl. 2008;14(1):88–91.
- 17. Aulagnon F, Scemla A, DeWolf S, Legendre C, Zuber J. Diarrhea after kidney transplantation: a new look at a frequent symptom. Transplantation. 2014;98(8):806–16.
- Fishman JA. Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(25): 2601–14.
- Fernandez-Ruiz M, Kumar D, Humar A. Clinical immune-monitoring strategies for predicting infection risk in solid organ transplantation. Clin Transl Immunology. 2014;3(2):e12.
- Egli A, Humar A, Kumar D. State-of-the-art monitoring of cytomegalovirus-specific cellmediated immunity after organ transplant: a primer for the clinician. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55(12):1678–89.
- Torre-Cisneros J, Aguado JM, Caston JJ, Almenar L, Alonso A, Cantisan S, et al. Management of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplant recipients: SET/GESITRA-SEIMC/ REIPI recommendations. Transplant Rev. 2016;30(3):119–43.
- Ravaioli M, Neri F, Lazzarotto T, Bertuzzo VR, Di Gioia P, Stacchini G, et al. Immunosuppression modifications based on an immune response assay: results of a randomized, controlled trial. Transplantation. 2015;99(8):1625–32.
- 23. Iriart X, Challan Belval T, Fillaux J, Esposito L, Lavergne RA, Cardeau-Desangles I, et al. Risk factors of pneumocystis pneumonia in solid organ recipients in the era of the common use of posttransplantation prophylaxis. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(1):190–9.
- 24. Martin-Gandul C, Stampf S, Hequet D, Mueller NJ, Cusini A, van Delden C, et al. Preventive strategies against cytomegalovirus and incidence of alpha-herpesvirus infections in solid organ transplant recipients: a nationwide cohort study. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(7):1813–22.
- Egli A, Fuller J, Humar A, Lien D, Weinkauf J, Nador R, et al. Emergence of Aspergillus calidoustus infection in the era of posttransplantation azole prophylaxis. Transplantation. 2012;94(4):403–10.

- 26. Origuen J, Fernandez-Ruiz M, Lopez-Medrano F, Ruiz-Merlo T, Gonzalez E, Morales JM, et al. Progressive increase of resistance in Enterobacteriaceae urinary isolates from kidney transplant recipients over the past decade: narrowing of the therapeutic options. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18(4):575–84.
- 27. Perez-Ordono L, Hoyo I, Sanclemente G, Ricart MJ, Cofan F, Perez-Villa F, et al. Late-onset Pneumocystis jirovecii pneumonia in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2014;16(2):324–8.



3

Pre- and Peri-transplant Period: Screening and Treatment of Infections in the Pretransplant Period, Donor-Derived Infection

Christian Garzoni and Daniel R. Kaul

3.1 Introduction

Optimal donor and recipient screening and selection must minimize the risk of disease transmission from donor to recipient and avoid unnecessary rejection of uninfected donors due to false-positive testing. False-positive tests become more likely when applied universally to a population at low risk of the tested infection. Risk mitigation relies on more than laboratory testing, and a comprehensive strategy is ideally based on three aspects:

- · Donor medical, social, and epidemiological history
- Physical and radiological donor examination
- Microbiological testing

A previously proposed risk grading system for both donor and potential recipient factors classified the risk of donor-derived infection into one of five categories globally [1] (modified from Len and Garzoni, with permission [2]:

• Unacceptable risk includes absolute contraindication, with the exception of some lifesaving transplantation procedures in the absence of other therapeutic options on a case-by-case basis.

C. Garzoni

D. R. Kaul (🖂)

Department of Internal Medicine and Infectious Diseases, Clinica Luganese Moncucco, Lugano, Switzerland

Department of Infectious Diseases, Inselspital, Bern University Hospital and University of Bern, Bern, Switzerland

Department of Internal Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Michigan Medical School, Ann Arbor, MI, USA e-mail: kauld@med.umich.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), *Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_3

- Increased but acceptable risk includes cases where transmissible microorganisms or diseases are identified during the evaluation process of the donor, but organ utilization is justified by the specific health situation of the recipient or the severity of its clinical condition.
- Calculated risk includes all cases where, even in the presence of transmissible diseases, transplantation is allowed for recipients with the same disease or with a protective serological status, in cases with broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy of a minimum duration (24 h) and those with documented bacteremia who have started targeted antibiotic therapy.
- Not assessable risk includes cases where the evaluation process does not allow an appropriate risk assessment for transmissible diseases.
- Standard risk includes cases where the evaluation process did not identify a transmissible disease.

Recently, both the European and the US approaches are abandoning this "grading system," and donors are classified using a dichotomous system:

- Standard risk donor: donor with no evidence of increased disease transmission risk beyond the average population-adjusted risk for undetectable disease.
- Nonstandard or increased risk donor: donor presents an increased risk for disease transmission beyond the average population-adjusted risk for undetectable diseases.

In the case of the nonstandard risk donor, an individualized risk-benefit analysis is needed to decide if transplantation of a given organ into a given recipient is justifiable. In this circumstance, informed consent of the recipient is mandatory, and all reasonable strategies for risk reduction should be employed.

This chapter will discuss mandated screening protocols for donor-derived infection in both the USA and Europe, as well as discuss potential screening for geographically and seasonally limited diseases in both deceased and living donors. Further, we will discuss important selected potential donor findings (either on screening or clinically) and discuss treatment intended to mitigate risk and help readers classify into the categories described above.

3.2 Definitions and Epidemiology

Expected donor-derived disease occurs frequently, with Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) and cytomegalovirus (CMV) being the most common pathogens, and defined management strategies are employed. Unexpected donor-derived disease transmission, the focus of this chapter, is rare complicating less than 1% of transplants [3]. Outcomes can be poor, with mortality rates of up to 25% in affected recipients [3]. In a 10-year review of donor-derived infections reported to the US Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network (OPTN) and Disease Transmission Advisory Committee (DTAC), which manages a required but passive reporting system, viral infections accounted for 24% of infected recipients, bacteria 19%, mycobacteria 2.4%, fungus 16%, and parasites 12%. The remaining donor-transmitted diseases malignancies and other non-infectious conditions—accounted for 34% of infected recipients [3]. Epidemiology will vary from region to region based on screening practices and the prevalence in the donor population of transmissible infection. For example, the transmission of intermediate stage Chagas disease would be much more likely in South America than in Europe, and cases of donor-derived infection with West Nile virus (WNV) would be seasonally limited. Most disease transmissions are caused by infections that may be difficult to screen for or recognized in the infected donor, including rabies virus, WNV, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus, tick-borne encephalitis, as well as parasitic pathogens such as *Balamuthia mandrillaris*.

3.3 Timelines

In general, most donor-derived infections cause symptoms early after transplantation. In one report, 67% developed symptoms within 30 days of transplantation and 88% within 90 days [4]. Bacterial infections are almost always recognized within 30 days and rarely become apparent after 45 days. Nonetheless, some pathogens, particularly those with a long clinical latency, may present months after transplantation, including *M. tuberculosis, Strongyloides, Toxoplasma, Balamuthia, Histoplasma,* human immunodeficiency virus (HIV), viral hepatitis, *Microsporidium*, and rabies [5]. Early recognition and notification is critical to allow preventative measures to be instituted to protect other recipients of the source donor.

3.4 Diagnosis and Screening

3.4.1 Clinical Screening

In addition to the required and targeted screening tests discussed above, careful clinical screening is essential to identify donor risk factors for infection with a transmissible pathogen. For deceased donors, the cause of death should be reviewed to determine if an unidentified but transmissible pathogen may be present. For example, a number or clusters of potentially fatal donor-derived disease have involved donors with meningoencephalitis of unknown etiology. Transmitted pathogens have included *Balamuthia mandrillaris*, *Cryptococcus neoformans*, and lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus [6]. Generally, a potential donor with meningoencephalitis of unknown cause should be rejected. In addition to reviewing the cause of death, other clinical information should be considered. For example, the presence of multidrug-resistant organism in certain circumstances (e.g., sputum of a lung transplant donor, blood of any organ donor, urine of a kidney donor) may be transmitted to the recipient, and careful management strategies are required to mitigate risk.

3.4.2 Required Donor Laboratory Screening

Required screening strategies differ slightly between the USA and different European countries. In the USA, the OPTN sets required minimum standards for screening (Table 3.1). Further, the Public Health Service (PHS) classifies some donors as increased risk for undetected infection with HIV, hepatitis B, or hepatitis C based on behaviors or other exposures that put the patient at risk for recent or "window period" infection with the aforementioned blood-borne viruses (Table 3.2) [7]. In addition to the required serologic and nucleic acid testing (NAT) for hepatitis C, these donors must undergo NAT or antigen-antibody combination testing for HIV. As a practical matter, nearly all donors in the USA are tested by NAT for HIV, hepatitis C, and hepatitis B. The NAT window, or "eclipse," period, where tests may be negative but transmission of virus possible, is about 5-10 days for HIV, 6-9 days for HCV, and 20-26 days for HBV. Up to 25% of donors in the USA are identified as increased risk donors, but the risk of window period infection is likely less than 1%, and a thoughtful informed consent process is necessary to ensure that potential recipients understand the meaning of increased risk donor and of the generally low risk associated with these donors [8, 9].

Condition	Test	Comment
Human immunodeficiency virus	Antibody p24 or NAT	HIV+ donors may be eligible for donation to HIV + recipients NAT reduces window period to 5–10 days
Hepatitis C	Antibody and NAT	HCV+ may be used in HCV + recipients and investigational use in HCV– NAT reduces window period to 6–9 days
Hepatitis B [1]	Surface antigen Core antibody HBV NAT	NAT-negative core antibody-positive non-hepatic organs at low risk for transmission
CMV	IgG antibody	Needed to plan preventative strategy
EBV	IgG antibody	Needed to plan preventative strategy
Bacteremia	Blood cultures	Bacteremia typically not a contraindication, treat recipient
Urinary tract infection	Urine culture	UTI not a contraindication, treat kidney recipients
Pulmonary infection	Sputum culture BAL with culture Chest radiograph	Most relevant for lung recipients
Syphilis	Treponemal or non-treponemal test	No contraindication to transplant, treat recipient
Toxoplasmosis	IgG antibody	Prophylaxis in heart D+R–

Table 3.1 Routine donor screening tests (living and deceased)

HIV human immunodeficiency virus, *NAT* nucleic acid test, *HCV* hepatitis C virus, *HBV* hepatitis B virus, *CMV* cytomegalovirus, *EBV* Epstein-Barr virus, *UTI* urinary tract infection, *BAL* bronchoalveolar lavage, D+R- donor positive-recipient negative

Table 3.2 Public Health Service criteria defining donors at increased risk for recent infection with HIV, HBV, and HCV

• Any of the following behaviors in the preceding 12 months
 Men who have had sex with men
- Drug injection by intravenous, intramuscular, or subcutaneous route for nonmedical
reasons
 Sex in exchange for money or drugs
- People who have had sex with partners meeting any of the above criteria
- People who have had sex with persons known or suspected to have HIV, HBV, or HCV
infection
- New diagnosis with or treatment for syphilis, gonorrhea, chlamydia, or genital ulcers
(with the exception of known recurrent HSV)
 People who have been on hemodialysis
- Child 18 months or younger born to a mother known to be infected with or at increased
risk for HIV, HBV, and HCV
- Child who breastfed from a mother known to be infected with or at increased for HIV
infection

3.4.3 Geographically or Seasonally Limited Infections

In addition to required testing for routine infections (e.g., blood and urine cultures) and blood-borne viruses, screening for geographically or seasonally limited infections may be appropriate in certain circumstances [10]. For example, during an outbreak of WNV, screening deceased donors with NAT may be reasonable. Such testing optimally would utilize highly specific assays to avoid false-positive tests which could lead to wastage of uninfected organs since confirmatory testing generally cannot be performed routinely given the time constrains of organ donation. Further, application of screening tests that have not been tested or approved in deceased donors, such as interferon-gamma release assay testing for TB, may provide tests with unexpected high false-positive or false-negative results. Even when the results of testing performed on deceased donors cannot reliably be obtained prior to the decision to procure the organ, the test may still be useful. For example, a positive donor serology for Strongyloides would prompt recipient treatment even if the result is learned after the transplant procedure has occurred. For living donors, there is a much greater opportunity to obtain a careful history of geographic risk, occupational risk, hobbies, and exposures to zoonotic infections. Appropriate testing can then be obtained including confirmatory tests if required. Table 3.3, adapted from an OPTN guidance document, lists some of agents for which testing could be considered in living donors [11].

3.5 General Approach

The following sections will discuss considerations for use and risk mitigation strategies for various categories of organisms and associated clinical situations.

s	, ,			
				Use in deceased
Disease	Signs/symptoms in potential donor	Known risk factors	Potential testing	donors
Human T-cell	Most asymptomatic, T-cell	Residence in Asia	Serology	False-positives
lymphotropic virus (HTLV-1)	leukemia, or myelopathy	(particularly Japan), Caribbean, South America,	 Confirmatory testing required 	common
		West Africa		
Histoplasmosis	Fever, night sweats,	Residence in Midwestern	Serology	Consider if evidence
	lymphadenopathy, cough,	states, Mississippi, or Ohio	- Complement fixation	of histoplasmosis
	noncalcified pulmonary nodules or	river valleys	- Immunodiffusion	(lung nodule with
	cavities		– EIA	organism)
			- Urine or serum antigen testing	
Coccidioidomycosis	Fever, joint pains, cough, neck	Residence in desert areas of	Serology	Universal testing
	stiffness, headaches, pulmonary	the southwestern USA	- Enzyme immunoassay	may be appropriate
	nodules or cavities, reticulonodular		- Complement fixation	in endemic areas
	infiltrates		- Immunodiffusion	
			- Urine or serum antigen testing	
Chagas	Most asymptomatic; symptomatic	Born or resided in endemic	Serology testing	Consider if risk
	chronic infection may present with	areas of South and Central		factors
	cardiomyopathy, cardiac	America, child of woman who		
	conduction abnormalities,	lived in endemic area,		
	megaesophagus, megacolon	received blood transfusion in		
		endemic area		
Strongyloides	Donors may have chronic	Soil exposure in tropical/	Donors could be tested by serology	Consider if
	abdominal pain, intestinal	warm climates. Walking	(preferable) and/or stool	epidemiological risk
	symptoms, and/or eosinophilia, or	barefoot, contact with human	examination, specifically looking	factors
	could be entirely asymptomatic	sewage, or contaminated soil.	for Strongyloides	
		Exposure risk may persist for		
		decades		

 Table 3.3
 Screening for seasonally and geographically limited diseases

Tuberculosis	Fever, night sweats, weight loss,	Born outside USA/Europe,	Positive tuberculin skin test (TST)	Performance of latent
	cough, recurrent pneumonia,	prolonged residence outside	or interferon-gamma release assay	TB testing in
	exudative pleural effusion of	USA/Europe, homeless,	(IGRA); sputum/BAL AFB smear,	deceased donors
	unknown etiology,	alcohol or other substance	culture, nucleic acid amplification,	unknown
	lymphadenopathy, noncalcified	abuse, jail/prison time,	TB PCR; AFB smear, culture, PCR	
	pulmonary nodules or cavities	healthcare worker, known TB	on tissue	
		exposure		
West Nile virus	Often asymptomatic; 20% develop	Mosquito exposure, blood	Nucleic acid test (NAT) and IgM	Consider during
	acute febrile illness; <1 $\%$	transfusion; risk varies by	serology	outbreak
	encephalitis, myelitis	season and location		
- - - -		(

Adapted from Recognizing Seasonal and Geographically Endemic Infections in Organ Donors: Considerations during Living Donor Evaluation, OPTN Guidance Document) https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/media/1138/seasonal_disease_guidance.pdf

3.5.1 Bacterial Organisms

3.5.1.1 Routine Bacterial Infections

Bacterial infection or colonization is commonly detected in potential donors. While bacterial infections can be transmitted to recipients, most routine donor infections are not considered to be contraindications to transplantation. For example, kidney recipients of donors with bacteria isolated in the urine can generally be treated with 5–7 days of antibiotics based on resistance testing with no clinically significant transmission of infection. Similarly, most lung transplant centers treat recipients with 7–14 days of antibiotics guided by donor sputum or bronchoalveolar lavage culture results. In the case of donors with bacterial meningitis, organ procurement is considered safe after at least 48 h of effective antibiotic therapy, and recipients should receive 7 days of treatment posttransplantation. Donors with bacteremia due to *Staphylococcus aureus*, coagulase-negative *Staphylococcus*, and gram-negative organisms can often be used with donor and recipient treatment.

3.5.1.2 Multidrug-Resistant Bacteria

Colonization or infection of donors with gram-negative or gram-positive multidrugresistant bacteria (MDR) presents a unique challenge. In one report, a donor with methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) receiving appropriate antibiotics and with resolution of bacteremia transmitted recurrent and difficult to treat MRSA to two recipients despite prophylactic antibiotics [12]. In that case, however, the donor had endocarditis, and the extensive seeding of the organs likely played a role in the recalcitrant nature of the infection. Major complications may occur when donors infected or colonized with vancomycin-resistant enterococci (VRE), carbapenemase-producing bacteria, pan-resistant P. aeruginosa, and other pan-resistant gram-negative bacteria are used, and reports described poor outcomes in this circumstance [13]. In some cases, abdominal organs can be soiled with MDR organisms in donors with trauma and open abdomens. Knowledge of potential MDR colonization is highly relevant to target peri-transplant antibiotic prophylaxis, and one report does describe successful use of donors with MDR gram-negative organisms with careful application of active antibiotics after transplant [14]. In general, these donors should be used very cautiously in conjunction with transplant infectious disease consultation.

3.5.2 Fungal Organisms

3.5.2.1 Candida

As is the case for routine bacterial organisms, colonization of donors with *Candida* is common. Donor urinary colonization with *Candida* is typically treated with 7–14 days with an antifungal drug (typically fluconazole if sensitive) for kidney recipients. While no consensus exists on the need to routinely culture
preservation fluid, if cultures are done and *Candida* has grown, 7–14 days of antifungal treatment would be reasonable. There have been few reports describing recipients outcomes in donors with candidemia. These donor should be used with caution, and the recipient should be treated with an appropriate antifungal for 7–14 days. *Candida* can occasionally infect the bronchial anastomotic site of lung transplant recipients, and *Candida* is a frequent colonizer of sputum in potential donors. Many lung transplant centers routinely use antifungal prophylaxis after lung transplantation.

3.5.2.2 Endemic Fungi and Cryptococcus

Except in extreme cases of recipient need, active infection with endemic fungi should be considered a contraindication to organ donation [15]. Occult and asymptomatic donor infection, however, may be unrecognized with resultant transmission to recipients. Among the endemic fungi, coccidioidomycosis has been the most frequently reported. In the largest available report which included 6 donors, 9 of 21 exposed recipient developed active infection, and 6 of these recipients died. Notably, no recipient receiving preventative or early treatment died of coccidioidomycosis [16]. In endemic areas, prophylaxis is commonly given to recipients of donors with suspected or proven coccidioidomycosis, and many centers practice universal prophylaxis to reduce the risk of both donor-derived and environmentally acquired infection. Histoplasmosis had been less commonly reported, although in endemic areas granulomatous lesions in the lung or mediastinal lymph nodes are common and generally do not require any recipient treatment. When possible, however, serological and antigen testing of the donor can be used to guide therapy with management options including itraconazole treatment or antigen monitoring of the recipient [17]. As is true of donors with active endemic fungi, organ from donors with active infection with Cryptococcus should rarely if ever be transplanted. If donor-derived cryptococcal disease is discovered after transplant, all recipients should be tested for cryptococcosis using both antigen testing and culture. In the absence of detection of Cryptococcus in the recipient, a minimum 6-month course of fluconazole would be a reasonable course. If recipient disease is detected, guidelines for treatment should be followed [18].

3.5.3 Environmental Molds

Reports of rapid fatal dissemination of *Aspergillus* from colonized or infected donors suggest that potential donors known to be infected with *Aspergillus* or other pathogenic environmental methods should not be used [19]. Sources of these molds may include preservative fluids, environmental contamination during the procurement process, and drowning/submersion victims. Extended treatment with a moldactive antifungal is recommended if donor-derived mold infection (perhaps with the exception of lung colonization) is discovered posttransplant.

3.5.4 Mycobacteria

Medical and epidemiological history and chest imaging are mandatory to determine the risk for tuberculosis. Active disseminated tuberculosis is a contraindication for organ donation. Organs, with the exception of the lung in case of residual visible changes, can be used in cases of past tuberculosis treated for at least 6 months. History of latent TB or positive IGRA test without a sign of active infection is not a contraindication, but preventive therapy for all recipients should be considered (see Chap. 20).

3.5.5 Viral Infections

This chapter will not address *Cytomegalovirus* or EBV as these are expected donorderived diseases with specific management strategies addressed in Chaps. 6 and 7.

3.5.5.1 Human Immunodeficiency Virus

Since widespread donor HIV testing became available, in the USA only two instances of donor-derived HIV infection have been reported. In one case a living donor contracted HIV between his initial testing and transplant. In the second case, a donor with a history of intravenous drug use in the serological window period transmitted HIV and hepatitis C to multiple recipients [20, 21]. Outside of the USA, a living donor in India likely in the window period transmitted HIV to her recipient, and human error in transcription of a positive HIV donor test result in Italy led to a cluster of donor-derived cases [22, 23]. Early diagnosis of donor-derived HIV is critical as early treatment may be lifesaving; recipients of donors with risk factors for window period HIV infection should undergo NAT testing 1 to 2 months posttransplant. Currently, in several European countries and since the passage of the HOPE Act in the USA, organs from HIV-infected donors who meet certain criteria can be transplanted into HIV-positive recipients, in some countries as part of research protocols. Several guidelines have been published for transplantation in HIV-positive recipients, and generally the following requirement for the recipient should be met: CD4 > 200 ul, efficacious HAART, documented aviremia, and absence of active opportunistic infections. Please refer to national guidelines and legal rules for more details [24].

3.5.5.2 Hepatitis B and Hepatitis C

Donor-derived hepatitis C has occurred from donors in both the serological and NAT window period [25]. While the hepatitis C NAT window period is only 6–9 days, the increase in the number of donors with active intravenous drug results in a larger donor pool with negative screening antibody and NAT tests at risk for recent and transmissible infection with hepatitis C. Modeling studies and limited data from DTAC suggest that the risk of NAT window period donor hepatitis C infection in an intravenous drug user is likely less than 3% [8, 25]. This risk may increase significantly in the setting of a local outbreak of hepatitis C. Similar to HIV, early

diagnosis of donor-derived hepatitis C is critical to avoid fibrosing hepatitis; NAT testing at 1–2 months after treatment will detect virtually all cases, and new antiviral therapy is highly effective. In immunosuppressed patients posttransplant, seroconversion may not occur and thus serologic testing is not reliable.

Window period hepatitis B transmission has occurred as well, and screening of recipients of donors at increased risk for recent hepatitis B is reasonable; a second test at 6-12 months is recommended. For HBV NAT-negative donors who are core antibody positive, the risk of transmission from non-hepatic organs is low, particularly if recipients are hepatitis B surface antibody positive. Hepatitis C seropositive donors can be divided into two categories based on NAT status. Those who are NAT positive are likely to transmit hepatitis C to the recipient of hepatic and nonhepatic organs. NAT-negative donors may have naturally cleared hepatitis C virus or received successful medical treatment for hepatitis C. While these donors would generally not be expected to transmit hepatitis C to seronegative recipients, one report describes that 4 of 25 recipients of hepatitis C seropositive/NAT-negative liver donors developed probable donor-derived hepatitis C. All four donors died from drug overdose, and it is unclear whether the hepatitis C transmission was due to occult hepatitis C infection or new donor eclipse period infection [26]. Chapter 10 provides further details on the treatment and prevention of viral hepatitis after transplant.

3.5.5.3 Other Viruses

Human T-cell lymphotropic virus 1 (HTLV-1) is endemic in the Caribbean, parts of South America, West Africa, and parts of Asia particularly Japan. Prevalence is very low in the USA and Europe, and universal screening is not required as false-positive tests resulted in significant organ wastage [27]. Donor-derived cases with the rapid development of HTLV-1-associated disease have been reported, and screening of donors from endemic areas is reasonable [28]. The effect of immunosuppression on the natural history of HTLV-1 remains unclear, and while HTLV-1-positive recipient status is not an absolute contraindication to transplantation, HTLV-1 disease has been reported after transplantation, and no effective antiviral treatment is available [29]. Other viruses associated with encephalitis and without effective treatment with described donor transmission and fatal outcomes in recipients have included WNV, lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus, tick-borne encephalitis virus, and rabies virus, and donors with suspected active infection with these pathogens should not be used [30].

3.5.6 Selected Parasitic Infections

Strongyloides is endemic throughout the world, but more common in tropical regions and the Mediterranean basin. Asymptomatic infection may persist for years, and donor-derived infection often with fatal outcomes has been well described [31]. Recipients with suspected infection or receiving organs from potentially infected donors should receive treatment with ivermectin, and with the exception

of hyperinfection in the donor concern for *Strongyloides*, infection should not delay transplantation or exclude infected donors or recipients.

Prevalence of infection with *Toxoplasma gondii* varies throughout the world but exceeds 70% in some regions. Since the parasite encysts in the heart muscle, the major concern has been transmission from positive heart donors to negative heart recipients, and prophylaxis is recommended in that setting. As disease development has been reported in seronegative non-cardiac recipients not receiving TMP/SMX prophylaxis, awareness of the potential for donor-derived disease in that circumstance is prudent.

Infection with *Trypanosoma cruzi*, the cause of Chagas disease, is endemic in parts of Mexico and much of Latin and South America. Intermediate stage Chagas disease is typically asymptomatic, and transmission to recipients may occur. Recipients of donors seropositive for Chagas disease should receive periodic blood microscopy and if possible, NAT testing available at the CDC (consultation with Division of Parasitic Diseases, CDC 770-488-7775) or local tropical disease reference centers. A suggested protocol for testing and treatment if transmission occurs is available [32].

3.5.7 Selected Relevant Guideline References

Guidelines advising on donor screening and recipient and donor management have been published and serve as an excellent reference [7, 10, 33].

References

- Nanni Costa A, Grossi P, Gianelli Castiglione A, Grigioni WF, Italian Transplant Research N. Quality and safety in the Italian donor evaluation process. Transplantation. 2008;85(8 Suppl):S52–6.
- Len O, Garzoni C, Lumbreras C, Molina I, Meije Y, Pahissa A, et al. Recommendations for screening of donor and recipient prior to solid organ transplantation and to minimize transmission of donor-derived infections. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):10–8.
- Kaul DR, Wilk AR, Wolfe CA. Decade of donor-derived disease: a report of the OPTN ad hoc disease transmission advisory committee (DTAC). In: American Transplant Congress. Philadelphia, PA; 2016.
- Kaul DR, Dominguez E, Siparsky N, Wolfe C, Taranto S, Covington S. Time to presentation of donor-derived infection. In: American Transplant Congress. Seattle; 2013.
- Vora NM, Basavaraju SV, Feldman KA, Paddock CD, Orciari L, Gitterman S, et al. Raccoon rabies virus variant transmission through solid organ transplantation. JAMA. 2013;310(4):398–407.
- Basavaraju SV, Kuehnert MJ, Zaki SR, Sejvar JJ. Encephalitis caused by pathogens transmitted through organ transplants, United States, 2002–2013. Emerg Infect Dis. 2014;20(9):1443–51.
- Seem DL, Lee I, Umscheid CA, Kuehnert MJ, United States Public Health S. PHS guideline for reducing human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus transmission through organ transplantation. Public Health Rep. 2013;128(4):247–343.
- Kucirka LM, Sarathy H, Govindan P, Wolf JH, Ellison TA, Hart LJ, et al. Risk of window period hepatitis-C infection in high infectious risk donors: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(6):1188–200.

- Kucirka LM, Sarathy H, Govindan P, Wolf JH, Ellison TA, Hart LJ, et al. Risk of window period HIV infection in high infectious risk donors: systematic review and meta-analysis. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(6):1176–87.
- Fischer SA, Lu K, Practice AIDCo. Screening of donor and recipient in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):9–21.
- Recognizing seasonal and geographically endemic infections in organ donors: considerations during living donor evaluation. 2014. Available from: https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/ media/1138/seasonal_disease_guidance.pdf
- Wendt JM, Kaul D, Limbago BM, Ramesh M, Cohle S, Denison AM, et al. Transmission of methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* infection through solid organ transplantation: confirmation via whole genome sequencing. Am J Transplant. 2014;14(11):2633–9.
- 13. Sifri CD, Ison MG. Highly resistant bacteria and donor-derived infections: treading in uncharted territory. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14(3):223-8.
- Mularoni A, Bertani A, Vizzini G, Gona F, Campanella M, Spada M, et al. Outcome of transplantation using organs from donors infected or colonized with Carbapenem-resistant gramnegative bacteria. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(10):2674–82.
- Ison MG, Grossi P, Practice ASTIDCo. Donor-derived infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):22–30.
- Kusne S, Taranto S, Covington S, Kaul DR, Blumberg EA, Wolfe C, et al. Coccidioidomycosis transmission through organ transplantation: a report of the OPTN Ad Hoc Disease Transmission Advisory Committee. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(12):3562–7.
- Singh N, Huprikar S, Burdette SD, Morris MI, Blair JE, Wheat LJ, et al. Donor-derived fungal infections in organ transplant recipients: guidelines of the American Society of Transplantation, infectious diseases community of practice. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(9):2414–28.
- Perfect JR, Dismukes WE, Dromer F, Goldman DL, Graybill JR, Hamill RJ, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of cryptococcal disease: 2010 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(3):291–322.
- Mueller NJ, Weisser M, Fehr T, Wuthrich RP, Mullhaupt B, Lehmann R, et al. Donor-derived Aspergillosis from use of a solid organ recipient as a multiorgan donor. Transpl Infect Dis. 2010;12(1):54–9.
- Ison MG, Llata E, Conover CS, Friedewald JJ, Gerber SI, Grigoryan A, et al. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus and hepatitis C virus from an organ donor to four transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(6):1218–25.
- Centers for Disease C. Prevention. HIV transmitted from a living organ donor New York City, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2011;60(10):297–301.
- 22. Bellandi T, Albolino S, Tartaglia R, Filipponi F. Unintended transplantation of three organs from an HIV-positive donor: report of the analysis of an adverse event in a regional health care service in Italy. Transplant Proc. 2010;42(6):2187–9.
- Mukhopadhyay P, Kumar V, Rathi M, Kohli HS, Jha V, Sakhuja V. Transmission of human immunodeficiency virus infection by renal transplantation. Indian J Nephrol. 2012;22(2):133–5.
- Blumberg EA, Rogers CC, Practice ASTIDCo. Human immunodeficiency virus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):169–78.
- 25. Kaul DR, Clark MA, Michaels M, Tlusty S, Wolfe C. Deceased donors with a history of intravenous drug use and donor derived Hepatitis C virus. In. American Transplant Congress. Chicago; 2017.
- 26. Bari K, Luckett K, Kaiser T, Diwan T, Cuffy M, Schoech MR, et al. Hepatitis C transmission from seropositive, nonviremic donors to non-hepatitis C liver transplant recipients. Hepatology. 2018;67(5):1673–82.
- Kaul DR, Taranto S, Alexander C, Covington S, Marvin M, Nowicki M, et al. Donor screening for human T-cell lymphotropic virus 1/2: changing paradigms for changing testing capacity. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(2):207–13.
- Toro C, Rodes B, Poveda E, Soriano V. Rapid development of subacute myelopathy in three organ transplant recipients after transmission of human T-cell lymphotropic virus type I from a single donor. Transplantation. 2003;75(1):102–4.

- Yoshizumi T, Shirabe K, Ikegami T, Kayashima H, Yamashita N, Morita K, et al. Impact of human T cell leukemia virus type 1 in living donor liver transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(6):1479–85.
- 30. Kaul DR, Covington S, Taranto S, Green M, Lyon GM, Kusne S, et al. Solid organ transplant donors with central nervous system infection. Transplantation. 2014;98(6):666–70.
- Hamilton KW, Abt PL, Rosenbach MA, Bleicher MB, Levine MS, Mehta J, et al. Donorderived Strongyloides stercoralis infections in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2011;91(9):1019–24.
- 32. Chin-Hong PV, Schwartz BS, Bern C, Montgomery SP, Kontak S, Kubak B, et al. Screening and treatment of chagas disease in organ transplant recipients in the United States: recommendations from the chagas in transplant working group. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(4):672–80.
- 33. Guide to the quality and safety of organs for transplantation. Available from: https://www. researchgate.net/publication/318795875_Guide_to_the_quality_and_safety_of_organs_for_ transplantation_7th_Edition_2016



4

Prevention of Bacterial, Viral, Fungal, and Parasitic Infections During the Early Post-transplant Period

Camille Nelson Kotton and Christian van Delden

4.1 Evaluating the Pre-transplant Risk of Post-transplant Infections

The risk of infections in the first month post-SOT depends on the type of transplant, potential colonization of donor and recipient with multidrug resistant (MDR) bacteria, and the prolonged maintenance of indwelling vascular lines, chest or abdominal drainage tubes, and intubation devices [1]. Pre-transplant recipient conditions that impact the risk of infection include the underlying illnesses causing organ failure, their severity, and potential immunosuppressive role before transplant. For example, high MELD score (>30) liver transplant candidates have a significantly higher risk for post-transplant infections as compared to low MELD score liver transplant candidates. Chronic malnutrition predisposes to early post-SOT infections, and all efforts should be taken to correct nutritional defects before SOT. Pre-transplant use of steroids or occupational or recreational exposure to fungal pathogens (i.e., farming, gardening) might increase the risk for pre-transplant respiratory tract colonization by filamentous fungi. Similarly, the pre-transplant exposure of both donor and recipient to antibiotic therapies might lead to colonization by multidrug resistant (MDR) bacteria and yeasts and increase the subsequent risk of infection by these pathogens. In recent years, donor-derived infections with MDR bacteria have led to reports of devastating early post-SOT infections in the absence of specific prophylaxis [2]. As a consequence, both donor and recipient evaluation and screening for colonization by MDR pathogens may be indicated in order to tailor specific

C. N. Kotton (🖂)

C. van Delden

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Transplant and Immunocompromised Host Infectious Diseases, Infectious Diseases Division, Massachusetts General Hospital, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: ckotton@mgh.harvard.edu

Transplant Infectious Diseases Unit, University Hospitals Geneva, Geneva, Switzerland e-mail: Christian.vandelden@hcuge.ch

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_4

prophylactic measures for the recipient. This includes serologies for latent infections (i.e., *Treponema pallidum*, CMV, EBV, HSV, HIV, and, when indicated, *Toxoplasma gondii*, *Coccidioides*, *Trypanosoma cruzi*, *Strongyloides*); interferon gamma release assay (i.e., T-SPOT.TB or QuantiFERON-TB) testing for *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*; rectal, nares, and skin swabs to detect colonization with MDR bacteria; and transplant-specific cultures such as bronchial cultures for lung and urine cultures for kidney transplants. A careful travel history should be obtained whenever feasible to identify risks for infections with endemic pathogens. Table 4.1 summarizes the most frequent risk factors.

Pre-transplant evaluation should provide the opportunity to give vaccines (especially those live vaccines that can't be given after transplant, such as MMR or varicella), prophylaxis (i.e., latent tuberculosis), and treatment (i.e., latent syphilis, hepatitis B or C) when indicated.

	-	
Donor and recipient	Recipient per-transplant risk	Recipient early post-
pre-transplant risk factors	factors	transplant risk factors
 Colonization: MDR bacteria (ESBL, CRAB, MRSA, VRE, etc.) Yeasts (resistant <i>Candida</i> species) Filamentous fungi (<i>Aspergillus, Mucor</i>, etc.) Endemic fungi (<i>Histoplasma</i>, etc.) Pneumocystis jirovecii Respiratory viruses (influenza, RSV, etc.) Latent infections: Mycobacterium tuberculosis Mycobacterium abscessus Viruses (CMV, HSV, EBV, HBV, HCV, West Nile virus, HIV, etc.) Toxoplasma gondii Recipient specific: Chronic malnutrition Advanced organ failure (high MELD score) Exposure to immunosuppressive agents (steroids, anti-TNF agents, etc.) Palliative surgery Mechanical ventilation, indwelling catheters, and drainage tubes 	 Prolonged surgery Extensive bleeding and high number of blood transfusions Choice of surgical technique (Roux-en-Y biliary anastomosis for liver transplantation) Technical problems affecting the transplant's functional integrity and vascular supply Liver: hepatic artery thrombosis Pancreas: duodenal leaks, splenic artery thrombosis Kidney: vesicoureteral reflux Heart: mediastinal bleeding Lung: bronchial anastomotic leaks, etc.) 	 Prolonged intubation and mechanical ventilation Indwelling vascular catheters (central line catheters) Abdominal and chest drainage tubes Ureteral catheters Persistent hematomas Undrained collections Persistent leaks (biliary, urinary, bronchial, etc.) Prolonged renal replacement therapies (hemodialysis) Repeated open surgery Intense immunosuppression Prolonged broad-spectrum antibiotic therapy Nosocomial exposure (respiratory viruses, MDR pathogens, filamentous fungi, etc.)

Table 4.1 Risk factors for early post-transplant infections

The risk for reactivation of latent pathogens and infections with opportunistic infections diminishes gradually after transplant, with recovery from induction and gradual tapering of immunosuppression toward maintenance therapy. Treatment of rejection with increased immunosuppression augments the risk of infection, however, and prophylaxis against such infections may need to be reinitiated in such instances for some period of time, according to the type and intensity of immunosuppression.

4.2 Prevention of Bacterial Infections

Prophylaxis of bacterial infections is provided during the first days after transplant to prevent infections linked to the surgical act, amplified by the immunosuppression (Table 4.2). Usually antibiotic prophylaxis is kept as short as possible (24-72 h post-transplant) to avoid selection of resistant pathogens and only continued further in the case of patient-specific risks. This prophylaxis is targeted on the recipient's local flora and also potentially based on donor colonization by specific pathogens (MDR) [3]. Carbapenems should only be used in prophylaxis with documented colonization by ESBL-producing Enterobacteriaceae [4]. Some centers use organ transport fluid cultures as a means to target antibiotic prophylaxis. This should probably not apply for cultures growing potential contaminants (i.e., coagulase-negative Staphylococci). The common use of trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) to prevent Pneumocystis jirovecii infections may provide sufficient antibacterial prophylaxis to kidney transplant recipients against urinary tract infections; some centers add 24 h of prophylaxis with either a quinolone or a second-generation cephalosporin. For liver, heart, and lung transplants, reasonably broad Gram-positive and Gram-negative coverage (such as that provided by a second-generation cephalosporin or a penicillin with a beta-lactamase inhibitor) for 72 h might be sufficient in the absence of colonization by MRSA, VRE, or resistant Gram-negative bacilli. In case of pretransplant colonization of kidney and liver recipients by carbapenem-producing Enterobacteriaceae (CPE), data about the benefit-risk of tailored prophylaxis is

Transplant	24–96 h post-transplant ^a
Kidney	Ciprofloxacin or cefuroxime or cefazolin
Pancreas	Piperacillin-tazobactam + metronidazole for 5–7 days
Intestinal	Piperacillin-tazobactam or cefepime + metronidazole for 4 weeks
Liver	Cefuroxime or piperacillin-tazobactam
Lung	Cefuroxime
	Adapt to recipient/donor bronchial cultures
Heart	Cefuroxime or cefazolin

Table 4.2 Prevention of early post-transplant bacterial infections

^aAlways adapt to local epidemiology, as well as pre- and per-transplant culture results of recipient to target patient-specific colonization. Keep duration of prophylaxis as short as possible

lacking. Therefore recent guidelines did not recommend targeted prophylaxis, except in centers with high incidence of surgical site infections [3]. For lung transplant recipients, the prophylaxis should be based on recipient pre-transplant cultures and adapted as soon as cultures of both donor and recipient main bronchi are available [5]. This is of particular importance in the case of cystic fibrosis (CF) recipients, frequently colonized pre-transplant by Pseudomonas aeruginosa, Staphylococcus aureus (MSSA and MRSA), Burkholderia cepacia, non-tuberculous Mycobacterium (NTM), and other potential pathogens. After transplant, these pathogens tend to seed the allograft from the recipient sinuses and lead to early severe infections in the absence of aggressive preemptive therapy [6]. Frequently patient-specific antibiotic therapy has to be provided for a few days post-transplant to such patients. In the case of NTM such as Mycobacterium abscessus, specific therapy is recommended for up to 12 months [7]. For liver transplant recipients in case of pre-transplant intra-abdominal infections, the prophylaxis should cover the previously identified pathogens. In the case of recurrent pre-transplant biliary infections (i.e., primary sclerosing cholangitis), the risk of peri-surgical intra-abdominal bacterial seeding is substantial and might require a targeted antibiotic prophylaxis for a few days post-transplant. In institutions with a high rate of VRE infections, specific prophylaxis might be used. For pancreas transplant recipients, most programs provide prophylaxis covering both Gram-positive and Gram-negative bacteria, as well as anaerobes for a few days. Intestinal transplant recipients have an extremely high risk of bacterial translocation due to the extensive mucositis during the first month following transplant. Broad-spectrum antibiotic prophylaxis (such as piperacillintazobactam or cefepime with metronidazole) is routine in these patients for 4 weeks post-transplant.

During the first few weeks after transplant, bacterial infections occur essentially as consequence of surgical wound infections and technical problems such as anastomotic leaks, urethral reflux, and biliary, bronchial, or urethral stenosis. Source control, including drainage of all accessible sites, is essential. Secondary prophylaxis might be required in the case of recurrent infections but should always be targeted and timely restricted to its minimum to avoid selection of resistant pathogens.

4.3 Prevention of Viral Infections

Prevention of viral infection after SOT may involve either routine monitoring of viral loads by periodic blood testing or prophylaxis with an antiviral agent or immunoglobulin (i.e., hepatitis B virus (HBV) immunoglobulin, cytomegalovirus (CMV) immunoglobulin; these are used less frequently in the era of directly acting antiviral therapy). For those recipients with donors at increased risk of transmission of HBV, hepatitis C virus (HCV), and HIV, routine post-transplant testing by both serology and nucleic acid testing in the first year is recommended [8].

Vaccination prior to transplant can help prevent many viral infections, including hepatitis A virus (HAV) and HBV, measles, mumps, rubella, varicella/zoster virus

(VZV), polio, human papilloma virus, and, for travelers and those with risk for certain exposures, rabies, yellow fever, and Japanese encephalitis. After transplant, non-live vaccines may be given, although they generally have less immunogenicity. The live viral vaccines that should generally be avoided after transplant include measles, mumps, rubella, varicella, zoster (live; recombinant may be safe), polio (oral), rotavirus, and yellow fever.

The human herpes viruses (HHV) are the most common viral infections after transplant and are the predominant preventable viral pathogens, primarily herpes simplex virus (HSV), VZV, and CMV; Table 4.3 summarizes details of routine prophylaxis. For CMV, some groups use preemptive therapy for prevention, with frequent (often weekly) blood checks for several months and initiation of treatment-dose antivirals when a certain threshold is reached [9]; to prevent varicella zoster

Induction agent	Donor CMV antibody	Recipient CMV antibody	Prophylaxis	Monitoring with CMV viral load
Antithymocyte	Positive	Positive	Valganciclovir × 3	Monitoring while on
globulin	Negative	Positive	months	prophylaxis only if clinically indicated by symptoms; consider weekly monitoring after prophylaxis × 8–12 weeks in higher-risk patients and those on more potent immunosuppression
	Positive	Negative	Valganciclovir × 6 months (plus consider weekly monitoring afterward × 8–12 weeks in higher risk D+R– on more potent IS)	
	Negative	Negative	Acyclovir, famciclovir, or valacyclovir × 3 months ^a	
Basiliximab	Positive	Positive	Valganciclovir \times 3	
None	Negative	Positive	months	
	Positive	Negative		
	Negative	Negative	Acyclovir, famciclovir, or valacyclovir × 3 months ^a	

 Table 4.3
 Human herpes virus prophylaxis after kidney, liver, heart, or pancreas transplant [9]

Notes on viral prophylaxis:

- Dosages of all antiviral agents need to be adjusted for renal function. The eGFR or creatinine clearance should be used (not simply the serum creatinine)
- For prophylaxis, the first doses may be oral valganciclovir or intravenous ganciclovir, converting IV to oral as soon as patient tolerating oral medications There is recent data supporting the safety and efficacy of either approach in the treatment (not prophylaxis) setting [23, 24]
- While most kidney transplant recipients (given lower GFR) will need valganciclovir 450 mg a day (or less), some may have GFR > 60 and need valganciclovir 900 mg a day. Minidosing not recommended
- Lung transplant prophylaxis would be similar, although generally with longer courses of prophylaxis

aIn case of either HSV or VZV, D+ or R+; if all are negative, no need for prophylaxis

and herpes simplex viruses, clinicians may wish to add acyclovir, valacyclovir, or famciclovir. Other HHV, such as Epstein-Barr virus (EBV), HHV-6, and HHV-8, are less amenable to prophylaxis. Vaccination with varicella and live viral zoster vaccines should be done before the onset of immunosuppression [10]; the recombinant zoster vaccine may be useful after transplantation.

EBV infection augments the risk of EBV-positive post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease (PTLD), especially in those who are EBV D+R– and those who undergo multivisceral/small bowel and thoracic transplants. In these EBV D+R– recipients, post-transplant monitoring periodically for the first 1–2 years can identify those at higher risk for PTLD; when possible, reduction of immunosuppression may sometimes help diminish the viremia [11]. Antiviral medication has not been found to be effective in either preventing or decreasing EBV viremia.

HBV can be prevented by pre-transplant diagnostic testing, including HBV core and surface antibody (both IgG), surface antigen, and sometimes viral load (to detect the rare cases when the surface antigen is negative but viral load positive). If any of those are positive, additional studies can be sent (HBVe antigen and antibody, hepatitis D antibody and antigen). Pre-transplant vaccination is recommended for all nonimmune organ transplant recipients; higher doses of vaccine are more likely to provide protection in those with chronic organ disease. Antiviral treatment can be given for acute or chronic active infection or when there is a risk of reactivation or transmission from the donor (i.e., HBV core antibody positive) [12].

HCV management has changed rapidly in recent times, given the advent of highly active therapies. Although some recipients are treated prior to transplant, some are now treated after transplant, in part to allow them to undergo transplant from donors with HCV, which may shorten the waiting time for organs and provide access to organs from younger donors with fewer comorbidities [13]. Numerous programs are now using HCV-positive donors in recipients without HCV and treating after transplant (often initiating therapy immediately, and primarily in research settings); early work demonstrates acceptable outcomes [14]. Prevention approaches for HCV involve both monitoring by viral load and serology and use of various treatment methods when indicated.

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) causes acute and chronic hepatitis in SOT recipients, especially in endemic regions, where pre-transplant screening of donors and recipients may be useful.

BK polyomavirus (BKPyV) causes nephropathy primarily in kidney transplant recipients and often reflects relative over-immunosuppression. Over 85% of adults have prior exposure and latent viral infection. Prevention is best done through periodic (every several months) urine and/or blood viral load testing during the first 2 years after transplant [15, 16]. Urine viral loads are often positive before blood. When a certain threshold has been achieved, clinicians may wish to reduce immunosuppression, as the best method to help clear BKPyV infection. With extensive, unremitting infection, some programs use antiviral therapy [16].

4.4 Prevention of Fungal Infections

In recent years, efforts have been made to identify risk factors for post-transplant fungal infections allowing risk stratification and to tailor antifungal prophylaxis individually to each recipient [17]. This takes into account center-specific epidemiologic data, potential pre-transplant and post-transplant environmental exposure to filamentous or endemic fungi, and pre-transplant colonization (Table 4.4).

		D.1.6	D 1 1 1	Suggested
Transplant	Fungus	Risk factors	Prophylaxis	duration ^a
Kidney	Pneumocystis	All patients	TMP-SMX	6 months
	Candida	Candiduria	Fluconazole	10–14 days
	Aspergillus	Proven colonization,	Aerosolized	4–6 weeks
		high-dose steroids, acute	amphotericin B,	
		rejection, CMV infection	voriconazole	
Pancreas	Pneumocystis	All patients	TMP-SMX	12 months
	Candida	All patients	Fluconazole,	14 days
	Aspergillus	Proven colonization,	echinocandin	4–6 weeks
		high-dose steroids, acute	Aerosolized	
		rejection, CMV infection	amphotericin B,	
			voriconazole	
Intestinal	Pneumocystis	All patients	TMP-SMX	12 months
	Candida	All patients	Fluconazole,	4 weeks
	Aspergillus	Proven colonization,	echinocandin	4–6 weeks
		high-dose steroids, acute	Aerosolized	
		rejection, CMV infection	amphotericin B,	
			voriconazole	
Liver	Pneumocystis	High MELD score (>30),	TMP-SMX	6–12 months
	Candida	ATG, CMV disease, second	Echinocandin	2–4 weeks
	Aspergillus	transplant	followed by	4–6 weeks
		>2 risk factors: broad-	fluconazole	
		spectrum antibiotics >5	IV or	
		days, yeast colonization >3	Aerosolized	
		body sites, ICU >5 days,	amphotericin B,	
		post-transplant	mold-active	
		hemodialysis,	azoles	
		retransplantation or need for	(voriconazole,	
		second surgery,	posaconazole, or	
		choledocojejunostomy, high	isavuconazole)	
		transfusion requirement,		
		and pancreatitis		
		Proven colonization,		
		high-dose steroids, primary		
		allograft failure or severe		
		dysfunction, hemodialysis,		
		retransplantation, acute		
		rejection, CMV infection		

Table 4.4 Prevention of fungal infections

(continued)

				Suggested
Transplant	Fungus	Risk factors	Prophylaxis	duration ^a
Lung	Pneumocystis	All patients	TMP-SMX	12 months,
	Candida	None	-	lifelong
	Aspergillus	All patients or according to	Aerosolized	-
		risk factors: proven	amphotericin B,	4–6 weeks,
		colonization, high-dose	voriconazole	lifelong
		steroids, retransplantation,		
		acute rejection, CMV		
		infection		
Heart	Pneumocystis	All patients	TMP-SMX	12 months,
	Candida	None	-	lifelong
	Aspergillus	Proven colonization,	Aerosolized	(depending
		high-dose steroids, primary	amphotericin B,	on
		allograft failure or severe	voriconazole	toxoplasma
		dysfunction, hemodialysis,		status)
		retransplantation, acute		-
		rejection, CMV infection		4–6 weeks

lable 4.4 (con	ntinued
----------------	---------

^aSuggested durations from the University Hospitals Geneva, Switzerland

Except for low-risk liver transplant recipients, prophylaxis against *P. jirovecii* is recommended for all SOT recipients for 6–12 months, and some centers provide livelong prophylaxis for lung transplant recipients. Most centers use TMP-SMX (also providing protection against *Toxoplasma*, *Nocardia*, and urinary tract infections). In case of intolerance, oral atovaquone, dapsone, and aerosolized pentamidine are alternatives.

Candida sp. infections mainly occur as nosocomial infections during the first month post-transplant. Lung, heart, and kidney transplant recipients do not generally require systemic yeast prophylaxis; oral amphotericin B or nystatin is frequently provided to prevent thrush. Liver transplant recipients should be evaluated in a risk stratification to decide whether systemic anti-yeast prophylaxis is justified. Prophylaxis is given in the presence of more than two of the following risk factors: broad-spectrum antibiotics for more than 5 days, yeast colonization of more than three body sites, ICU for more than 5 days, post-transplant hemodialysis, retransplantation or need for second surgery, choledocojejunostomy, high transfusion requirement, and pancreatitis [17]. Early after liver transplant, an echinocandin might be preferred, once the liver function has recovered, and taking into account local epidemiology, a switch toward fluconazole might be considered. The duration should take into account the persistence of the risk factors. Pancreas and intestinal transplant recipients are at highest risk and should receive systemic anti-yeast prophylaxis for 2 and 4 weeks, respectively, post-transplant.

Aspergillus and *Mucor* infections are a serious concern following SOT because of their high-associated mortality. Given the toxicity, side effects, and drug interactions of antifungal prophylaxis, efforts should be made to identify SOT recipients at increased risk for invasive fungal infections. Recipients colonized at the time of transplant should receive prophylaxis for at least 4–6 weeks. Risk factors common

to all transplants include proven colonization, high-dose steroids, primary allograft failure or severe dysfunction, hemodialysis, retransplantation, acute rejection, and CMV infection. Lung transplant recipients, especially CF patients, are at high risk for *Aspergillus* infections. Some centers provide universal prophylaxis with either aerosolized amphotericin B or mold-active azoles (voriconazole, posaconazole, or isavuconazole); others prefer to give prophylaxis only in the presence of documented colonization or other risk factors. Voriconazole has been associated with a higher incidence of skin cancer in lung transplant recipients [18]. The strategy should be adapted according to local epidemiology.

Cryptococcus neoformans infections may occur before (especially with liver disease) or after transplant; prophylaxis with fluconazole is only recommended in the presence of positive cryptococcal antigen detection or with a documented history of disease. Similarly, those at risk for *Coccidioides* after transplant should be given prophylaxis with fluconazole.

4.5 Prevention of Parasitic Infections

Parasitic infections are less common after transplant and may be more challenging to diagnose. Acknowledging the risk of reactivation and donor-to-recipient transmission, based on donor and recipient exposures, may be the first step in preventing these infections. While most transplant recipients would be given *Toxoplasma* prevention, prevention of *Trypanosoma cruzi*, *Schistosoma*, *Leishmania*, malaria, *Babesia*, and others would only occur when risk was identified.

Symptomatic toxoplasmosis has been well described, primarily after heart transplant, and may present with myocarditis, brain abscess, pneumonitis, or disseminated disease. Without prophylaxis, those who are D+/R- have a 50% to 75% risk of symptomatic infection within the first few months. While rates of positivity are low in the United States, they can be much higher in Europe, Brazil, and elsewhere [19]. TMP-SMX is the most common prophylaxis. While pyrimethamine with sulfadiazine is effective and has been used for high-risk cardiac recipients, it does not seem to be essential based on clinical data and experience, as TMP-SMX alone has been sufficient and better tolerated; Table 4.5 outlines further details.

Strongyloides infections can be latent for decades, due to the autoinfection loop, and develop into clinically significant disease, from gastrointestinal to disseminated [20]. Both donors and recipients from endemic regions should be screened, with a plan to initiate treatment with ivermectin, thiabendazole, or albendazole if needed. In deceased donors, screening usually involves serology; there have been numerous cases of donor-derived infection [21]. Living donors and recipients may be screened by serology or by several stool specimens, as the sensitivity of an individual stool study is low. Those who have concomitant microfilarial disease and who are given ivermectin may experience the Mazzotti reaction, with fever, adenopathy, pruritus, abdominal pain, and even angioedema; it is best to screen those from endemic regions within the past 5–7 years (primarily Africa and Asia) for microfilaria by

Serologic	D'-1-		
combination (donor/	RISK		
recipient)	group	Treatment and dosing	Duration of therapy
D+R-	Highest risk	TMP-SMX DS ^a (some centers use SS) every day (if DS dose reduce to Bactrim SS q day if GFR < 30) × 12 months and then TMP-SMX SS every day (no need for dose reduction with renal insufficiency even ESRD/ dialysis) ^b	Lifetime, if possible (otherwise discuss with infectious disease)
R+ (D+ or D–)	Moderate risk	TMP-SMX SS ^a every day (no need for dose reduction with renal insufficiency even ESRD/dialysis)	Can stop at 1 year, or when on low-dose immunosuppression (i.e., prednisone 5 mg a day), whichever is <i>later/longer</i>
D-R-	Lowest risk	Same as for R+ for <i>Pneumocystis</i> and other preventions, although not needed for toxoplasmosis	Restart during intensification of immunosuppression (i.e., pulse-dose steroids, ATG, or Rx of AMR) for same period as after transplant

Table 4.5 Duration of toxoplasmosis prophylaxis after heart transplant based on serologic combinations (Massachusetts General Hospital)

^aTrimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) DS (double strength) is sulfamethoxazole 800 mg and trimethoprim 160 mg, while TMP-SMX SS (single strength) is half that dose ^bIf true TMP-SMX allergy documented, second-line prophylaxis would be with atovaquone1500 mg a day or dapsone 100 mg a day. With dapsone, breakthrough toxoplasmosis infection could occur, as could methemoglobinemia, and G6PD should be checked before starting treatment to avoid hemolysis if deficient

blood smear. For latent *Strongyloides* infection, ivermectin is often given as one or two daily doses, with a repeat series 2 weeks later, due to the autoinfection cycle and the efficacy of ivermectin at only certain stages in the parasite lifecycle; the optimal regimen has not been defined [20]. Those who are seropositive for HTLV are at risk for recurrent *Strongyloides*, sometimes necessitating repeat treatment; HTLV serology should be checked when positive *Strongyloides* serology is found.

Chagas disease is caused by *Trypanosoma cruzi* and generally occurs in those from Central and South America or who have received organs or blood products from infected people. Pre-transplant serologic testing of donors and recipients from endemic regions is recommended [22]. Rates of transmission from positive donors to recipients are significant; acceptance of hearts from positive donors is not recommended, and recipients of other organs from positive donors should undergo transplant only after informed consent. If either are positive, post-transplant screening by blood PCR or smear weekly for the first few months may detect early infection, at which point preemptive treatment with benznidazole (or nifurtimox) would be indicated [22]. Prophylaxis with these agents is not generally done, due to lack of efficacy data and significant toxicity.

References

- 1. Fishman JA. Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(25): 2601–14.
- Mularoni A, Bertani A, Vizzini G, et al. Outcome of transplantation using organs from donors infected or colonized with carbapenem-resistant gram-negative bacteria. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(10):2674–82.
- Aguado JM, Silva JT, Fernandez-Ruiz M, et al. Management of multidrug resistant gramnegative bacilli infections in solid organ transplant recipients: SET/GESITRA-SEIMC/REIPI recommendations. Transplant Rev. 2018;32(1):36–57.
- Cervera C, van Delden C, Gavalda J, et al. Multidrug-resistant bacteria in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):49–73.
- 5. van Duin D, van Delden C, Practice ASTIDCo. Multidrug-resistant gram-negative bacteria infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):31–41.
- Beaume M, Kohler T, Greub G, et al. Rapid adaptation drives invasion of airway donor microbiota by Pseudomonas after lung transplantation. Sci Rep. 2017;7:40309.
- Smibert O, Snell GI, Bills H, Westall GP, Morrissey CO. Mycobacterium abscessus complex – a particular challenge in the setting of lung transplantation. Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther. 2016;14(3):325–33.
- Seem DL, Lee I, Umscheid CA, Kuehnert MJ, United States Public Health S. PHS guideline for reducing human immunodeficiency virus, hepatitis B virus, and hepatitis C virus transmission through organ transplantation. Public Health Rep. 2013;128(4):247–343.
- Kotton CN, Kumar D, Caliendo AM, et al. The third international consensus guidelines on the management of cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplantation. Transplantation. 2018;102(6):900–31.
- 10. Rubin LG, Levin MJ, Ljungman P, et al. 2013 IDSA clinical practice guideline for vaccination of the immunocompromised host. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58(3):e44–e100.
- 11. Peters AC, Akinwumi MS, Cervera C, et al. The changing epidemiology of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in adult solid organ transplant recipients over 30 years: a single center experience. Transplantation. 2018;102(9):1553–62.
- Huprikar S, Danziger-Isakov L, Ahn J, et al. Solid organ transplantation from hepatitis B virus-positive donors: consensus guidelines for recipient management. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(5):1162–72.
- Levitsky J, Formica RN, Bloom RD, et al. The American Society of Transplantation consensus conference on the use of hepatitis C viremic donors in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(11):2790–802.
- Durand CM, Bowring MG, Brown DM, et al. Direct-acting antiviral prophylaxis in kidney transplantation from hepatitis C virus-infected donors to noninfected recipients: an open-label nonrandomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2018;168(8):533–40.
- Hirsch HH, Randhawa P, Practice ASTIDCo. BK polyomavirus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):179–88.
- Hirsch HH, Babel N, Comoli P, et al. European perspective on human polyomavirus infection, replication and disease in solid organ transplantation. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):74–88.
- Hogen R, Dhanireddy KK. Invasive fungal infections following liver transplantation. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2017;22(4):356–63.
- Hamandi B, Fegbeutel C, Silveira FP, et al. Voriconazole and squamous cell carcinoma after lung transplantation: a multicenter study. Am J Transplant. 2018;18(1):113–24.
- Robert-Gangneux F, Meroni V, Dupont D, et al. Toxoplasmosis in transplant recipients, Europe, 2010–2014. Emerg Infect Dis. 2018;24(8):1497–504.
- Roxby AC, Gottlieb GS, Limaye AP. Strongyloidiasis in transplant patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;49(9):1411–23.

- Abanyie FA, Gray EB, Delli Carpini KW, et al. Donor-derived Strongyloides stercoralis infection in solid organ transplant recipients in the United States, 2009–2013. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(5):1369–75.
- 22. Chin-Hong PV, Schwartz BS, Bern C, et al. Screening and treatment of chagas disease in organ transplant recipients in the United States: recommendations from the chagas in transplant working group. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(4):672–80.
- Asberg A, Humar A, Rollag H, et al. Oral valganciclovir is noninferior to intravenous ganciclovir for the treatment of cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2007;7(9):2106–13.
- 24. Len O, Gavalda J, Aguado JM, et al. Valganciclovir as treatment for cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(1):20–7.



5

Late Posttransplant Period: Posttransplant Vaccination, Travel Advice, Foodborne Infections

Deepali Kumar and Elisa Cordero

5.1 Foodborne Diseases

5.1.1 Definitions and Epidemiology

Foodborne diseases are diseases caused by ingestion of food contaminated with microorganisms or chemicals at any stage in the process from food production to consumption.

Immunosuppressed patients are more susceptible to foodborne diseases and have a greater risk of severe illness [1, 2]. Besides immunosuppression, SOT recipients have other predisposing factors such as liver or kidney dysfunction, use of antacids and antimicrobials, and nutrition deficiencies. The inoculum of organisms needed to cause symptomatic disease is likely lower in this population [3].

The causes of foodborne diseases can be classified mainly in two categories: Chemical hazards, including chemical contaminants as well as natural toxins and infectious agents, the most frequent cause of foodborne diseases. Pathogens can cause different types of foodborne illness: (a) foodborne infections, when the pathogen causes disease directly when ingested; (b) foodborne intoxication, when the illness is caused by toxins produced in the food by pathogens; and (c) foodborne toxin-mediated infection, when the pathogens produce toxins in the body after being ingested.

The top five infections that cause foodborne illness in Western countries are norovirus, *Salmonella* spp., *Clostridium perfringens*, *Campylobacter* spp., and *Staphylococcus aureus*. Other microorganisms, such as *Clostridium botulinum*,

D. Kumar (🖂)

E. Cordero

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Transplant Infectious Diseases, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: deepali.kumar@uhn.ca

Division of Infectious Diseases, Hospital Universitario Virgen del Rocío and Biomedicine Research Institute, Seville, Spain

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), *Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients*, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_5

Listeria, and Shiga toxin-producing *Escherichia coli* O157, seldom cause illnesses, although they usually are life-threatening.

Noroviruses are highly resistant to harsh environmental conditions, with an infectious oral dose <20 viral particles. Infected food workers are frequently the source of the outbreaks. Other sources of infection are foods (oysters, fruits, and vegetables) or touching the mouth after contact with contaminated objects or persons infected with norovirus [4].

Campylobacter spp. is the most common bacterial cause of human gastroenteritis in the world. It is generally associated with the consumption and handling of chicken and, less commonly, with the consumption of raw milk, red meat, contaminated water, or transmission from household pets or farm animals.

Salmonella spp. are a major cause of foodborne illness throughout the world. The bacteria are generally transmitted to humans through consumption of contaminated food of animal origin, mainly meat, poultry, eggs, and milk. Person-to-person transmission can also occur through the fecal-oral route.

Although *C. perfringens* may be normal intestinal flora, illness is caused by ingestion of food contaminated with large numbers of bacteria that produce enough toxins in the intestines to cause illness. Beef, poultry, and dried or precooked foods are common sources of *C. perfringens* infections [5].

Escherichia coli infection is usually transmitted through the consumption of contaminated water or food, such as undercooked meat products, raw milk, and fecal contamination of vegetables. Some strains such as the Shiga toxin-producing *E. coli* (STEC) can cause severe foodborne disease. *E. coli* STEC is heat-sensitive; therefore cooking food thoroughly can avoid transmission.

Staphylococcal food poisoning occurs when eating uncooked foods contaminated with toxins produced by *Staphylococcus aureus*.

The main source of hepatitis E virus transmission is the consumption of raw or undercooked, infected meat or direct contact with infected animals. For SOT patients exposed to HEV, infection can become chronic, with rapidly progressing liver disease.

5.1.2 Diagnosis

History is very important when evaluating a patient with a suspicion of foodborne disease. The clinician must consider the history, epidemiologic features, the symptoms, and signs. The most common clinical presentation of foodborne disease is diarrhea. However, such diseases can have other serious consequences such as kidney and liver failure, neural disorders, reactive arthritis, and death. None of the symptoms of foodborne illness are specific, although they may vary depending on the etiology (Table 5.1).

Contrary to immunocompetent adults, norovirus gastroenteritis in SOT recipients frequently results in chronic symptoms that persist weeks to months [6, 7]. In these patients, norovirus infection is accompanied by weight loss, dehydration, and renal insufficiency; symptoms last considerably longer than most other etiologies [8].

Etiology	Incubation period	Symptoms	Food sources
Bacillus cereus	10–16 h	Nausea, abdominal pain watery diarrhea, vomiting	Cereal products, rice, vanilla sauces, eat
Campylobacter jejuni	2–5 days	Diarrhea (bloody sometimes), severe abdominal pain, fever, bacteremia	Poultry, beef lever, raw seafood, contaminated water, raw milk
Clostridium botulinum	12–72 h	Bulbar palsy, descending paralysis, lack of fever	Home-canned low-acid food, fermented fish
Clostridium perfringens	8–16 h	Abdominal pain, watery diarrhea	Undercooked foods, meat, poultry, gravy sauces, soups
<i>E. coli</i> O157:h7	24–72 h	Severe abdominal pain, diarrhea (bloody), nausea, vomiting, HUS	Soft unpasteurized cheese, contaminated water, undercooked foods
<i>E. coli</i> (traveler's diarrhea)	1–3 days	Abdominal cramps, vomiting, watery diarrhea	Food or water contaminated with human feces
Listeria monocytogenes	9–48 h for gastrointestinal symptoms, 2–6 weeks for invasive disease	Nausea, vomiting, stomach cramps, diarrhea, bacteremia, meningitis constipation, fever	Raw milk or milk products, undercooked poultry, unwashed raw vegetables
Salmonella spp.	12–36 h (up to 72 h)	Abdominal pain, diarrhea, chills, fever, nausea, vomiting, bacteremia	Poultry, meat products, eggs and eggs products, fecal-contaminated food
Shigella spp.	4–7 days	Abdominal pain, diarrhea (sometimes bloody), chills, fever	Moist prepared foods, salads, raw fruits and vegetables, raw milk, poultry
Staphylococcus aureus	2-4 h	Nausea, vomiting, abdominal pain, diarrhea	Ham, meat, poultry, cream-filled pastry, food mixtures, leftover foods
Vibrio parahaemolyticus	4–96 h	Abdominal cramps, fever, nausea, vomiting, watery diarrhea	Undercooked or raw seafood
Vibrio vulnificus	1–7 days	Abdominal pain, bleeding, diarrhea, ulcers, vomiting, death	Undercooked or raw seafood
Yersinia spp.	24–48 h	Watery diarrhea, vomiting, abdominal pain, fever, sore throat	Meats, oysters, tofu, fish, unpasteurized milk, soy products

Table 5.1Foodborne diseases

(continued)

Etiology	Incubation period	Symptoms	Food sources
Hepatitis A	15–50 days	Abdominal pain, diarrhea, fever, headache, jaundice, nausea	Shellfish, fecal- contaminated water or food
Norovirus	12–48 h	Abdominal cramps, diarrhea, fever, headache, nausea, vomiting, chronic diarrhea	Contaminated water, food or food contact surfaces
Anisakis simplex	12 h-days	Abdominal pain, vomiting, coughing	Saltwater fish
Giardiasis	1 week	Abdominal pain, diarrhea, fever, cramps	Water, raw vegetables and fruits
Cryptosporidium	1–12 days	Abdominal cramps, watery diarrhea, mild fever	Contaminated food or water
Cyclospora cayetanensis	1–14 days	Abdominal cramps, watery diarrhea, fatigue, loss of appetite, nausea, weight loss, vomiting	Contaminated raw products (berries, basil, lettuce)

Table 5.1 (continued)

The most common clinical symptoms of *Campylobacter* infections include diarrhea (frequently bloody), abdominal pain, fever, headache, nausea, and/or vomiting. In transplant recipients, bacteremia is more frequent in the general population, with a mortality rate >20% [9, 10].

The symptoms of *Salmonella enteritidis* infection usually appear 12–72 h after infection and include fever, abdominal pain, diarrhea, nausea, and sometimes vomiting. In SOT recipients, bacteremia is common (20–30% of cases vs. 3–4% in non-transplant recipients) [3].

Escherichia coli foodborne disease is generally self-limiting, but it may lead to a life-threatening disease including hemolytic uremic syndrome (HUS). Symptoms of disease include abdominal cramps and diarrhea, which may be bloody. Fever and vomiting may also occur.

Symptoms of staphylococcal food poisoning usually develop within 30 min to 6 h of ingestion. Commonly patients suffer from vomiting, nausea, stomach cramps, and diarrhea. The illness cannot be transmitted to other persons and usually lasts for only 1 day.

Clostridium perfringens infection usually begins suddenly 6–24 h after ingestion and lasts for less than 24 h. Patients have diarrhea and abdominal cramps but usually no fever or vomiting.

Cryptosporidiosis is usually self-limited but in SOT recipients can be chronic with weight loss, electrolyte imbalances, and extraintestinal complications. It causes up to 20% of diarrhea episodes in SOT recipients in developing countries [11].

5.1.3 Microbiological Studies

In SOT recipient, microbiological studies should be performed, especially in cases where the illness persists [12]. In SOT patients with diarrhea, testing for *C. difficile*, norovirus by PCR, bacteria by stool culture, and *Giardia* and *Cryptosporidium* by EIA are recommended as first-line testing; supplemental testing with ova and parasites if at risk for parasite exposures, such as modified acid-fast stain, is useful for the identification of oocysts of the coccidian species (*Cryptosporidium*, *Cystoisospora*, and *Cyclospora*), which may be difficult to detect with routine stains such as trichrome. Multiplex PCR for viral, bacterial, and parasitic pathogens are now available and may have increased sensitivity with respect to the standard tests. Fresh stool samples for culture and analysis provide the highest yield. Stool examination for parasites generally is indicated for patients with suggestive travel histories, chronic diarrhea, and unresponsiveness to antimicrobials.

5.1.4 General Approach

Oral rehydration and symptomatic treatment are the cornerstone of the treatment of foodborne diseases. Unlike immunocompetent patients, transplant recipients frequently need antimicrobials. This is the case for Salmonella and Campylobacter infections. The empiric antimicrobial therapy in adults should be either a fluoroquinolone such as ciprofloxacin, or azithromycin, depending on the local susceptibility patterns and travel history. Giardiasis can be treated either with tinidazole or nitazoxanide; this last one is the first choice to treat cryptosporidiosis. Cyclosporiasis and yersiniosis are treated with trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole. Antibiotics should be avoided in cases of STEC, as they may increase the risk of HUS. Antibiotics are also not indicated in toxin-mediated disease. Caution should be made to possible interactions of antimicrobial agents and immunosuppressants. There is no specific therapy for norovirus infection beyond hydration and antimotility; variable success has been seen with the use of immunoglobulin, breast milk, and nitazoxanide [13]. Immunosuppression therapy should be reduced as much as it is safe. However, there is no evidence of beneficial effects of immunosuppression reduction for norovirus infection. Antimotility agents may delay clearance of toxins; therefore, they should be used with caution in SOT recipients. Bismuth subsalicylate should be avoided for decreased renal function.

5.1.5 Prevention of Foodborne Diseases

Prevention is essential in reducing the cases of foodborne illness [14]. Some foods are more associated with illnesses than others (see Table 5.1). Transplant recipients and caregivers should pay particular attention to local recommendations when outbreaks occur to avoid exposure to contaminated foods.

According to the World Health Organization, there are five key rules for food safety [15]:

- 1. Hands should be washed before and often during food preparation and after going to the toilet. Surfaces and equipment used for food preparation should be washed and sanitized and protected from insects, pests, and other animals.
- 2. Raw and cooked food and the equipment and utensils used to prepare them need to be separated.
- 3. Food should be cooked thoroughly, especially meat, poultry, eggs, and seafood. Soups and stews should come to a boil, making sure that they have reached 70 °C. Cooking meat and poultry with a thermometer is advisable.
- 4. Food needs to be kept at safe temperatures (<5 °C or >60 °C). Cooked food should not be left at room temperature >2 h. Frozen food should not be thawed at room temperature.
- 5. Only safe water and raw materials should be eaten. Milk must be always pasteurized or boiled, and fruits and vegetables need to be washed if eaten raw and if possible peeled.

5.2 Travel Advice

Travel to tropical or developing countries poses substantial risk to transplant recipients, particularly during periods of maximal immunosuppression [16]. Plans to travel should be discussed at least 2 months before the travel, ideally in a Travel Medicine Clinic with specific transplant protocols. In this visit several issues need to be addressed:

1. Net State of Immunosuppression

Time since transplantation is the first issue to consider. Most authorities recommend avoid traveling to high-risk destinations during the first year of the transplant [17]. The net state of immunosuppression needs also to be considered. Recent episodes of rejection, changes in the immunosuppressive regime, and comorbidities increase the risk and severity of travel-related infections.

2. Graft Function and Medication

It is important that a SOT recipient who is planning to travel is in a stable situation. Patients should take a summary of his/her medical history, a signed copy of their medication list, and sufficient supply of medication as hand luggage. It is advisable to investigate healthcare facilities abroad in the event of an emergency in the area visited.

3. Travel Itinerary

Updated travel advisories should be obtained, as disease risks are not stable over time. The travel itinerary and specific travel plans need to be assessed, considering the specific areas of travel within the country, the activities planned (business vs. leisure), travel's length, and the type of accommodation [18]. Patients should be counseled about cancelation and travel insurance as well.

4. Advice on Minimizing the Risk of Illness

Insect-transmitted infections can be life-threatening in SOT recipients. The application several times a day of an insect repellent containing diethyltoluamide (DEET) is advised. It is also recommended clothing to cover the arms, ankles, and legs despite temperature conditions and the use of mosquito netting [19].

Walking barefoot and swimming in freshwater should be avoided, to reduce the risk of some parasitic infections such as strongyloidiasis, schistosomiasis, or hook-worm infection. Leptospirosis may be transmitted through contact with water contaminated with rodent's urine.

Sunscreen lotions and avoidance measures are advised as SOT recipients are at increased risk of skin cancer and photosensitivity [20].

Patients should practice strict hand hygiene and maintain good food safety practices to avoid infections transmission (see foodborne diseases prevention).

To decrease the risks of endemic fungi, the SOT recipients traveler should minimize exposure to outdoor dust, travel in enclosed air-conditioned vehicles, and avoid buildings with active construction. Activities with high risk of aerosolization of spores such as caving or dirt biking must also be avoided.

Travelers to malarial areas should take malaria chemoprophylaxis based on antimalarial drug resistance at the destination and the potential drug interactions [17]. Mefloquine and chloroquine may increase calcineurin inhibitor levels and the risk of arrhythmias when given with TMP/SMX or tacrolimus. Atovaquone-proguanil has less interactions [19]. It must be noted that no antimalarial drug is 100% protective and must be combined with the use of personal protective measures.

Evidence supporting prophylaxis against leptospirosis is ambiguous; however, the CDC recommends doxycycline if high-risk exposures (i.e., floods, heavy rainfall, and recreational water activities [17]).

Traveler's diarrhea in a SOT recipient may lead to renal failure, drug toxicity, and graft dysfunction. Although prophylactic antibiotics can be employed, especially in short travels, the potential of breakthrough diarrhea and side effects usually outweigh the potential benefits. SOT recipients should travel with azithromycin or a fluoroquinolone to be used in cases of traveler's diarrhea.

5.3 Posttransplant Vaccines

Vaccine-preventable diseases are important causes of morbidity and mortality after SOT. Vaccines should generally be given pretransplant where possible [21]. Posttransplant patients can receive inactivated vaccines (Table 5.2). Live-attenuated vaccines are generally avoided with some exception.

Inactivated vaccine	Risk/condition	Dosing schedule
TdaP (tetanus, diphtheria, acellular pertussis)	A11	One dose—if not received in the last 10 years
Pneumococcal vaccines:Prevnar13 (PCV13)Pneumovax (PPV23)	All	Persons who have never had pneumococcal vaccine: Give one dose of Prevnar13 and Pneumovax at least 8 weeks later Persons who have previously had Pneumovax: Wait a minimum of 1 year from the last Pneumovax and give Prevnar13. Then give one dose of Pneumovax 5 years from previous dose and a minimum of 8 weeks from Prevnar13 dose. No further Pneumovax boosters are recommended
Hepatitis B	All (if anti-HBs negative)	Check anti-HBs, and if negative, start three-dose series 0, 1, 6 months Use high-dose hepatitis B vaccine (40 µg Recombivax)
Influenza	All	Annually—use injectable vaccine High-dose vaccines or two standard doses 5 weeks apart may have greater immunogenicity
HPV	Men \leq 26 years and MSM of any age,Women \leq 45 years of age	Three doses at 0, 2, 6 months
HiB (Hemophilus influenzae)	Asplenia or hyposplenia;lung transplantation	One dose
Hepatitis A	All	Two doses at 0, 6 months
Shingles (inactivated)	Age ≥50 years and VZV IgG positive	Two doses at 0, 2–6 months
Meningococcal A, C, Y, W-135	Asplenia or hyposplenia, travel to meningitis- endemic area,complement deficiencyEculizumab use	Two doses of quadrivalent vaccine 8 weeks apart (Menactra or Menveo)
Meningococcal B	Eculizumab use	Two doses of vaccine 8 weeks apart
Rabies	Extensive ongoing close contact with animals	Three doses intramuscular at 1, 7, 21–28 days

Table 5.2 Routine and travel vaccination (highlighted) for the posttransplant patient

Inactivated vaccine	Risk/condition	Dosing schedule
Typhoid (Salmonella	Travel to areas of typhoid	One dose
typhi)	transmission	Use inactivated parenteral vaccine
Dukoral	For prevention of	Two oral doses 6 weeks apart
	traveler's diarrhea	Available in some countries only
Live vaccine		
Varicella	VZV IgG negative	Two doses 6 weeks apart
		Select posttransplant patients on minimal
		immunosuppression, normal lymphocyte
		count, close follow-up
MMR	Contraindicated	
Shingles	Contraindicated	
(live-attenuated)		
Yellow fever	Contraindicated	Small series post-SOT suggests it is safe
		although data are limited

Table 5.2 (continued)

Vaccine responses are generally reduced compared to healthy controls especially early posttransplant or rejection treatment, particularly if lymphocyte-depleting therapies or rituximab is utilized. In general, vaccination can be started any time after 1 month posttransplant; however, immunogenicity may be diminished with higher doses of immunosuppression. Vaccinations may be routine (e.g., pneumococcal, influenza, hepatitis B) or given in specific circumstances (e.g., meningococcal, rabies). Pneumococcal conjugate vaccine contains protein-conjugated polysaccharides from 13 common serotypes of pneumococcus and is immunogenic in SOT recipients [22, 23] polysaccharide pneumococcal vaccine covers an additional 10 serotypes and is also recommended for SOT recipients. Appropriate intervals are required between the vaccines (Table 5.2). Posttransplant, high-dose hepatitis B vaccine containing 40 µg antigen per dose should be used for optimal seroconversion. Anti-HBs should be determined after 2-4 weeks after vaccination. Combined hepatitis A and hepatitis B vaccines could be used but generally contain $<40 \ \mu g$ of hepatitis B antigen and may be less effective. If response is inadequate, an additional three-dose series can be attempted. Influenza vaccine should be provided annually; recent studies have shown that either high-dose vaccine or two doses of standard doses of inactivated influenza vaccine 5 weeks apart may have greater immunogenicity in SOT recipients compared to standard regime [24, 25]. Recently a new inactivated shingles vaccine has been authorized for persons \geq 50 years of age who have immunity to varicella. There are currently no published data in SOT recipients with this vaccine.

Meningococcal vaccines should be given to those with risk factors only. In transplantation, specific situations warranting meningococcal vaccine include splenectomy and the use of eculizumab. In patients who undergo planned splenectomy, two doses of meningococcal quadrivalent vaccine should be given with the last one being at least 2 weeks prior to surgery. For unplanned splenectomy, vaccination can be started after postoperative recovery. Response rates may be better if vaccines are given prior to splenectomy. In some parts of the world, there is an increased incidence of meningococcal B disease [26]. A separate vaccine for the B strain is available and can also be given in cases of splenectomy. Meningococcal vaccine has an approximately 50% seroresponse rate in transplant recipients although data in this population post-splenectomy are lacking [27, 28].

Use of the terminal complement inhibitor eculizumab is shown to predispose to fatal meningococcal sepsis. Therefore, two doses of meningococcal quadrivalent vaccine should be given prior to initiating eculizumab. Similar to splenectomy, meningococcal B vaccine can also be given. Meningococcal disease has occurred despite vaccination, and therefore for additional protection, antibiotic prophylaxis is recommended. Agents for chemoprophylaxis include amoxicillin or ciprofloxacin given for the duration of eculizumab and continuing for 3 months after the last dose of eculizumab.

Inactivated travel vaccines include injectable typhoid and oral cholera vaccine. Live vaccines should be avoided in the posttransplant period although published literature in pediatric patients suggests that select posttransplant patients could safely receive live varicella vaccine [29]. Not enough data are available to recommend other live vaccines. A yellow fever vaccine waiver is generally required for SOT recipients traveling to yellow fever-endemic areas. Serology is only routinely available for certain vaccine-preventable diseases and includes hepatitis A and B, rabies, varicella, measles, mumps, and rubella.

Close contacts of transplant patients can receive the most necessary vaccines including live vaccines. Live vaccines contraindicated in close contacts are oral polio and smallpox vaccines due to the risk of transmission. For other live vaccines, the risk of transmission of attenuated pathogens is minimal. Frequent handwashing should be practiced after contact with infants and children who have received live vaccines including rotavirus, varicella, and MMR vaccines. Healthcare workers who work with SOT patients should be up-to-date on all vaccines.

References

- Fernandez-Sabe N, Cervera C, Lopez-Medrano F, Llano M, Saez E, Len O, et al. Risk factors, clinical features, and outcomes of listeriosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;49(8):1153–9.
- Goulet V, Hebert M, Hedberg C, Laurent E, Vaillant V, De Valk H, et al. Incidence of listeriosis and related mortality among groups at risk of acquiring listeriosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54(5):652–60.
- Lund BM, O'Brien SJ. The occurrence and prevention of foodborne disease in vulnerable people. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2011;8(9):961–73.
- Glass RI, Parashar UD, Estes MK. Norovirus gastroenteritis. N Engl J Med. 2009;361(18):1776–85.
- Grass JE, Gould LH, Mahon BE. Epidemiology of foodborne disease outbreaks caused by *Clostridium perfringens*, United States, 1998-2010. Foodborne Pathog Dis. 2013;10(2):131–6.
- Brakemeier S, Taxeidi SI, Durr M, Hofmann J, Schmidt D, Bachmann F, et al. Clinical outcome of norovirus infection in renal transplant patients. Clin Transpl. 2016;30(10):1283–93.
- Schorn R, Hohne M, Meerbach A, Bossart W, Wuthrich RP, Schreier E, et al. Chronic norovirus infection after kidney transplantation: molecular evidence for immune-driven viral evolution. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51(3):307–14.

- Roos-Weil D, Ambert-Balay K, Lanternier F, Mamzer-Bruneel MF, Nochy D, Pothier P, et al. Impact of norovirus/sapovirus-related diarrhea in renal transplant recipients hospitalized for diarrhea. Transplantation. 2011;92(1):61–9.
- Fernandez-Cruz A, Munoz P, Mohedano R, Valerio M, Marin M, Alcala L, et al. Campylobacter bacteremia: clinical characteristics, incidence, and outcome over 23 years. Medicine. 2010;89(5):319–30.
- Pereira L, Sampaio S, Tavares I, Bustorff M, Pestana M. Bacteremia due to *Campylobacter* in renal transplantation: a case report and review of literature. Transpl Infect Dis. 2014;16(6):1007–11.
- Udgiri N, Minz M, Kashyap R, Heer M, Gupta CS, Mohandas K, et al. Intestinal cryptosporidiosis in living related renal transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2004;36(7):2128–9.
- 12. American Medical Association, American Nurses Association-American Nurses Foundation, Centers for Disease C Control and Prevention, Center for Food Safety and Applied Nutrition, Food and Drug Administration, et al. Diagnosis and management of foodborne illnesses: a primer for physicians and other health care professionals. MMWR recommendations and reports: morbidity and mortality weekly report recommendations and reports. 2004;53(RR-4):1–33.
- 13. Florescu DF, Hermsen ED, Kwon JY, Gumeel D, Grant WJ, Mercer DF, et al. Is there a role for oral human immunoglobulin in the treatment for norovirus enteritis in immunocompromised patients? Pediatr Transplant. 2011;15(7):718–21.
- Fagiuoli S, Colli A, Bruno R, Craxi A, Gaeta GB, Grossi P, et al. Management of infections pre- and post-liver transplantation: report of an AISF consensus conference. J Hepatol. 2014;60(5):1075–89.
- 15. World Health Organization. The five keys to safer food programme. Available from: http:// www.who.int/foodsafety/areas_work/food-hygiene/5keys/en/.
- Dekkiche S, de Valliere S, D'Acremont V, Genton B. Travel-related health risks in moderately and severely immunocompromised patients: a case-control study. J Travel Med. 2016;23(3):taw001.
- 17. Prevention CfDCa. CDC yellow book 2018: health information for international travel. New York: Oxford University Press; 2017.
- Boggild AK, Castelli F, Gautret P, Torresi J, von Sonnenburg F, Barnett ED, et al. Vaccine preventable diseases in returned international travelers: results from the GeoSentinel Surveillance Network. Vaccine. 2010;28(46):7389–95.
- Patel RR, Liang SY, Koolwal P, Kuhlmann FM. Travel advice for the immunocompromised traveler: prophylaxis, vaccination, and other preventive measures. Ther Clin Risk Manag. 2015;11:217–28.
- Rosen J. Travel medicine and the solid-organ transplant recipient. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 2013;27(2):429–57.
- Danziger-Isakov L, Kumar D, Practice ASTIDCo. Vaccination in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):311–7.
- 22. Kumar D, Chen MH, Wong G, Cobos I, Welsh B, Siegal D, et al. A randomized, double-blind, placebo-controlled trial to evaluate the prime-boost strategy for pneumococcal vaccination in adult liver transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47(7):885–92.
- Kumar D, Rotstein C, Miyata G, Arlen D, Humar A. Randomized, double-blind, controlled trial of pneumococcal vaccination in renal transplant recipients. J Infect Dis. 2003;187(10):1639–45.
- Cordero E, Roca-Oporto C, Bulnes-Ramos A, Aydillo T, Gavalda J, Moreno A, et al. Two doses of inactivated influenza vaccine improve immune response in solid organ transplant recipients: results of TRANSGRIPE 1-2, a randomized controlled clinical trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64(7):829–38.
- Natori Y, Shiotsuka M, Slomovic J, Hoschler K, Ferreira V, Ashton P, et al. A double blind randomized trial of high dose vs. standard dose influenza vaccine in adult solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;66(11):1698–704.

- Villena R, Safadi MAP, Valenzuela MT, Torres JP, Finn A, O"Ryan M. Global epidemiology of serogroup B meningococcal disease and opportunities for prevention with novel recombinant protein vaccines. Hum Vaccin Immunother. 2018;14(5):1042–57.
- 27. Wyplosz B, Derradji O, Hong E, Francois H, Durrbach A, Duclos-Vallee JC, et al. Low immunogenicity of quadrivalent meningococcal vaccines in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2015;17(2):322–7.
- Nelson DR, Fadrowski J, Neu A. Immunogenicity of the meningococcal polysaccharide conjugate vaccine in pediatric kidney transplant patients. Pediatr Nephrol. 2018;33(6):1037–43.
- Posfay-Barbe KM, Pittet LF, Sottas C, Grillet S, Wildhaber BE, Rodriguez M, et al. Varicellazoster immunization in pediatric liver transplant recipients: safe and immunogenic. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(11):2974–85.

Part II

Specific Pathogens



Prevention and Treatment of CMV Infection (and Other Herpes Viruses)

6

Julian Torre-Cisneros and Atul Humar

6.1 Prevention and Treatment of Cytomegalovirus (CMV) Infection

6.1.1 Description of the Pathogen

CMV is a double-stranded DNA virus of the *Herpesviridae* family that has the capacity to produce primary infection or reactivation in SOT recipients.

6.1.2 Definitions

- *Infection or replication*: Isolation of the virus or the detection of viral proteins (antigenemia) or CMV DNA/mRNA in any body liquid or tissue. In SOT recipients, latent infection (i.e., seropositivity for CMV) is generally considered to be a separate entity.
- *Antigenemia*: Direct detection of the CMV pp65 antigen in peripheral blood leukocytes, mainly neutrophils.
- DNAemia: Detection of CMV DNA in plasma or whole blood.
- *CMV disease*: Evidence of symptoms or signs together with the detection of CMV infection in blood or tissue. CMV disease can be classified as a viral syndrome (see below) or tissue-invasive disease (in case of end organ disease such as CMV gastrointestinal disease or pneumonitis). Proven CMV disease requires

A. Humar

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

J. Torre-Cisneros (⊠)

Maimonides Institute for Biomedical Research (IMIBIC), Reina Sofia University Hospital, University of Córdoba, Córdoba, Spain e-mail: julian.torre.sspa@juntadeandalucia.es

Transplant Program, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: Atul.humar@uhn.ca

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_6

the presence of CMV in tissue. A new category of probable CMV disease has been proposed in case of compatible symptoms of end-organ disease, but without confirmation by biopsy.

- *Viral syndrome*: Presence of fever and/or malaise associated with the presence of leukopenia and thrombocytopenia or an increase in transaminases. This is considered a type of CMV disease.
- *Universal prophylaxis*: Administration of an effective antiviral drug to prevent the development of CMV replication and/or disease in at-risk patients.
- *Preemptive therapy*: Regular monitoring for CMV replication followed by initiation of antiviral treatment in patients displaying asymptomatic CMV replication in order to prevent progression to CMV disease.

6.1.3 Diagnosis

Although antigenemia is still used, a quantitative real-time nucleic acid amplificationbased assay or polymerase chain reaction (PCR) is recommended for the diagnosis and monitoring of CMV infection after transplantation. Viral loads can be determined in both plasma and whole blood samples, but the same type of sample should be used when comparing viral loads or following a given patient. There are also differences between viral loads obtained in different centers, thus making an international standard reference necessary. Of note, an improvement on the agreement between viral load values has been obtained with the calibration of tests using the World Health Organization (WHO) international standard. There is a direct association between viral load values and the likelihood that an individual will develop active disease. Moreover, the rate of increase of viral loads is also a predictor of developing disease. Due to the variability of the results among laboratories, a single test should be used for monitoring patients over time. Laboratories should establish their own cutoffs and audit clinical outcomes to verify the trigger points used for treatment.

Viral resistance depends on the existence of mutations in the CMV genome. Plasma or whole blood is the sample of choice. Genotypic assays (PCR amplification) are available for clinical use. Two genomic regions must be studied: UL97 kinase gene involved in the initial phosphorylation of ganciclovir (codons 400–670) and the UL54 polymerase gene (codons 300–1000). Common UL97 and UL54 mutations are shown in Table 6.1. A web-based search tool, www.informatik.

	Ganciclovir IC ₅₀ mutant strain/	
Mutations or deletions	wild type	Interpretation
M460V/I/T, H520Q, A594V/G, L595S/W, C603W	5-15	High-grade resistance
C592G	2–5	Low-grade resistance

Table 6.1 Levels of ganciclovir resistance with the most common UL97 mutations

For other less frequent mutations, search the web-based tool, www.informatik.uni-ulm.de/ni/staff/ HKestler/hcmv/ uni-ulm.de/ni/staff/HKestler/hcmv/, has been developed that links the sequence to a database containing all published UL97 and UL54 mutations and corresponding antiviral drug susceptibility phenotypes. If mutations only appear in the UL97 gene, viruses are resistant only to ganciclovir. UL54 mutations typically added to preexisting UL97 mutations, increasing the level of ganciclovir resistance and commonly conferring different levels of cross-resistance to other CMV antivirals such as foscarnet or cidofovir. In the future, next-generation sequencing (NGS) technologies may enable the detection of far smaller viral subpopulations and may therefore improve the detection of drug resistance emergence.

6.1.4 Immunological Monitoring

Testing for anti-CMV IgG antibodies should be performed before transplantation in donors and recipients for the purposes of risk stratification. In recipient CMV negative (R-) patients, testing should be repeated at the time of transplantation. Donor serostatus should also be performed to stratify the subsequent risk of CMV infection and disease.

The use of CMV specific cell-mediated assays may also be clinically useful. The characteristics of different technics available for immunological monitoring are reviewed in Table 6.2. If available, pretransplant CMV-specific cell-mediated

	Intracellular		QuantiFERON-	MHC-tetramer
Characteristic	cytokine staining	ELISpot	CMV	staining
Turnaround	8–10 h	24–48 h	24 h	1–2 h
time				
Functional analysis	Yes	Yes	Yes	No (unless associated to intracellular cytokine staining)
Differentiation between CD8 ⁺ and CD4 ⁺ T cells	Yes	No	No (detects mostly CD8 ⁺ T cells)	Yes
Commercially available test	No	Yes	Yes	Yes
Advantages	Gold standard. Potential for freezing PBMCs	Potential for freezing PBMCs, can be used in presence of lymphopenia	Standardized	Specificity
Limitations	Lack of technical standardization. Expert laboratory is needed	Lack of technical standardization. Expert laboratory is needed	Limitations in patients with lymphopenia	Lack of technical standardization. Expert laboratory is needed

Table 6.2 Available methods for monitoring of CMV-specific T-cell-mediated immune response

CMV cytomegalovirus, *ELISpot* enzyme-linked immunosorbent spot assay, *PBMCs* peripheral blood mononuclear cells

immunity may better stratify the risk of CMV infection after transplantation as compared to serology, particularly in R+ recipients. After transplantation, the potential utility of monitoring CMV-specific cell-mediated immunity has been investigated in various clinical scenarios. Overall, a reactive test has a high negative predictive value for detecting risk of CMV replication, supporting the safety of discontinuing prophylaxis in high-risk patients above the protective threshold. Alternatively, patients with no evidence of protective response at the end of the prophylaxis period could benefit from the so-called hybrid approach (in which preemptive monitoring is initiated after completing prophylaxis). On the other hand, immune monitoring in intermediate-risk patients managed preemptively may be useful in guiding the frequency for surveillance of CMV infection and the thresholds for initiating antiviral therapy, or in case of treatment failure after appropriate antiviral therapy. However, interventional clinical trials are required to evaluate protocolized interventions based on the posttransplant kinetics of CMV-specific responses before including these assays in the routine clinical practice.

6.1.5 Prevention

Two major strategies have been used to prevent CMV infection: universal prophylaxis and preemptive therapy. Both are effective in the prevention of CMV disease.

Universal prophylaxis may be preferable in scenarios of rapid viral dynamics (lymphocyte-depleting therapy, potent immunosuppression, D+/R- setting). Oral valganciclovir is currently the preferred antiviral drug for the prevention of CMV infection, although intravenous ganciclovir can be used early after transplant if oral absorption is compromised. High-dose valacyclovir is an alternative option in renal transplantation. Letermovir is a promise drug that is currently under clinical development.

Late-onset CMV disease, defined as disease occurring after discontinuation of prophylaxis, is a common finding when using universal prophylaxis in D+/R- transplant recipients, developing in 20–36% of patients, depending on the type of organ transplant. A 200-day prophylaxis regimen has been shown to reduce the incidence of late-onset CMV disease, and it is recommended in D+/R- kidney transplant patients and, by extension, in other high-risk transplant recipients (e.g., heart, pancreas). In R+ patients, 3-month regimens are preferred. In lung and intestinal transplant recipients, the majority of the clinicians extend prophylaxis over 6 to 12 months after transplantation for both D+/R- and R+ patients. In recipients receiving alemtuzumab as induction therapy, monitoring of CD4⁺ T lymphocytes has been used to continue prophylaxis (for at least 6 months) until CD4 T lymphocytes are over 200 cell/mm³, although the efficacy of this strategy has not been tested on clinical trials.

In a preemptive strategy, viral load is typically monitored weekly for the first 12–14 weeks posttransplant. There are no evidence-based recommendations regarding the viral load cutoff for initiating antivirals and the optimal duration of preemptive therapy. It may be preferable to initiate preemptive therapy in any high-risk

patients with a positive viral load at any level. In lower-risk patients, it is possible to establish local cutoff points and eventually delay therapy, consider reducing the levels of immunosuppressive therapy, and repeat a second viral load after a short interval, since small blips may resolve spontaneously. Treatment should be administered for a minimum of 2 weeks. Monitoring of CMV viral load should direct the duration of treatment. At least one negative viral load determination (or viral load below a specific threshold) in plasma specimens is required in order to withdraw treatment. Relapse of CMV infection is frequent after a therapy course, although it is generally resolved after a new course of treatment or even spontaneously.

There is no available data supporting the use of a combined preemptive therapy strategy after prophylaxis in low-risk transplant recipients. Nevertheless, this strategy, which is known as a "hybrid strategy," is commonly used in certain high-risk transplant recipients (D+/R-, lung, pancreas, and small bowel recipients and/or those receiving lymphocyte-depleting treatments). The duration of a preemptive approach post-prophylaxis has not been determined.

Taking into account the low risk of CMV disease reported in the subgroup of D-/R- recipients, the use of prophylaxis or preemptive therapy have not been recommended. Other measures, such as the use of leuko-depleted or CMV-seronegative blood products, directed at preventing CMV infection acquisition, are recommended.

Hypogammaglobulinemia (IgG <500 mg/dL) has been proposed as being a risk factor for CMV disease after SOT transplantation. In heart transplant recipients, the administration of non-specific intravenous immunoglobulins (IVIGs) with the goal of maintaining normal IgG levels was associated with a lower risk of CMV infection. In heart, lung, and intestinal transplant recipients at high risk for CMV disease (D+R–), some centers add specific anti-CMV IVIG to prevent CMV infection. The best dosing regimen has not been established.

A recommendation regarding the use of CMV vaccine in SOT recipients cannot be made as no vaccine has been approved for use in a clinical setting.

6.1.6 Treatment

Intravenous ganciclovir and oral valganciclovir are the antiviral drugs of choice for treating CMV infection and disease. Intravenous ganciclovir (5 mg/kg/12 h) should be used in patients with severe CMV disease or when valganciclovir is poorly tolerated or not well absorbed. It is important to administer the appropriate doses of intravenous ganciclovir or oral valganciclovir adjusted for renal function, as inadequate dosing can cause clinical failure or viral resistance. Oral valganciclovir (900 mg/12 h) is effective in patients with mild to moderate CMV disease. It can also be used in sequential therapy in patients treated with intravenous ganciclovir, once clinical improvement is documented.

The optimal duration of treatment should be guided by weekly virological monitoring (treat until viral load negative or below a certain threshold) and clinical response. The minimum duration of treatment is 2 weeks. Following initial treatment secondary prophylaxis is commonly used for a period of 1–3 months although
evidence for this is lacking and it is currently not recommended. The treatment of a recurrence should generally be the same used during the first episode.

The evidence to support the use of specific anti-CMV immunoglobulins in cases of life-threatening CMV disease, particularly severe pneumonitis, is lacking, although it is often used.

Resistance to antiviral drugs should be suspected in the presence of progressive or stable viral loads or if clinical symptoms persist despite adequate antiviral treatment for 2 weeks, particularly in case of risk factors (D+/R– serostatus, lung transplantation, serious invasive disease and/or high viral load, intermittent low-level viral replication during therapy or suboptimal drug levels, and prolonged antiviral drug exposure). If genotypic tests demonstrate the existence of a high-level resistance mutation in the UL97 gene or the UL54 gene (Table 6.1), foscarnet is indicated. Increasing the dose of ganciclovir up to 10 mg/kg/12 h might be useful for other mutations in the UL97 gene and can be considered for patients with non-severe CMV disease or in those whom the use of foscarnet should be avoided (nephrotoxicity).

Maribavir has been successfully used in salvage therapy in patients with refractory/resistant CMV infection and is currently in phase 3 trial for this indication. Brincidofovir and letermovir are also promising drugs that need clinical development in this indication. Switching immunosuppression from calcineurin inhibitors to an mTOR inhibitor-based regimen has been proposed as an adjunctive therapy, although most data on the effect of mTOR inhibitors on resistant CMV are provided from uncontrolled studies. There is no enough evidence to recommend leflunomide as a therapeutic agent for treating antiviral-resistant CMV infection.

Adoptive immunotherapy can be useful for the rescue of case refractory to conventional treatment and who do not develop a satisfactory immune response. However, clinical experience in the solid organ transplant setting is very limited.

General Approach The key recommendations for the management of CMV infection are provided in Table 6.3.

6.2 Prevention and Treatment of Other Herpes Viruses

6.2.1 Description of the Pathogens

Herpes simplex virus (HSV), varicella-zoster virus (VZV), and human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6) and human herpesvirus 8 (HHV-8) belong to the *Herpesviridae* family and have the capacity to produce primary infection or reactivation in the recipients of a solid organ transplant. Clinical manifestations of VZV and HSV include mucocutaneous disease, although a higher rate of disseminated disease (gastrointestinal disease, CNS infection, respiratory tract infection) is seen in SOT recipients. Epstein-Barr virus is reviewed in a specific chapter. Human herpesvirus 7 is generally not of significant clinical impact. HHV-8 is associated with Kaposi's sarcoma (with cutaneous and disseminated manifestations), multicentric Castleman disease, and primary effusion lymphoma.

Area of interest	Recommendations		
Diagnosis	Methods based on quantitative CMV DNA amplification are the methods		
	of choice		
	Genotypic testing has become the usual means for detecting drug		
	resistance		
Immunological	Testing for anti-CMV IgG antibodies should be performed before		
monitoring	transplantation in donors and recipients		
	with corological testing to stratify the risk of CMV infaction often		
	transplantation		
	Posttransplant monitoring of CMV-specific cell-mediated immunity can be		
	useful in:		
	- High-risk patients (D+/R-, prior use of T-cell-depleting antibodies) on		
	antiviral prophylaxis can be used to predict the risk of late CMV infection		
	 R+ patients under preemptive therapy to predict the occurrence of CMV 		
	infection or the spontaneous clearance of viremia without the need of		
	antiviral prophylaxis		
Durantin	- Lack of response to antiviral therapy		
(strategy)	For $D+/R$ – kidney and liver recipients, universal prophylaxis is preferable		
(strategy)	For $D+/R$ – heart and lung recipients, the use of prophylaxis is preferable		
	to preemptive therapy		
	Prophylaxis is preferable to preemptive therapy in lung, pancreas, and		
	intestinal transplantation until more data are available		
	For seropositive recipients after kidney, liver, and heart transplantation,		
	either strategy is acceptable		
	Prophylaxis is preferred in other high-risk patients (lymphocyte-depleting		
D (1	therapy, potent immunosuppression, and HIV infection)		
Prevention (drug	Ural valganciclovir is the preferred antiviral		
of choice)	alternative to valganciclovir in kidney transplant recipients		
Prevention	Six months is recommended for D //P kidney heart and paperoes		
(duration)	transplant recipients		
(duration)	For $D+/R-$ liver transplant recipients, the duration of prophylaxis should		
	generally be between 3 and 6 months		
	When a prophylaxis strategy is used for the prevention of CMV in R+		
	patients (with either D+ or D-), 3 months of antiviral medication should		
	be used for kidney, pancreas, liver, and heart transplant recipients		
	Between 6 and 12 months of prophylaxis is recommended for lung and		
	intestinal transplant recipients		
Prevention	Preemptive therapy must be initiated with any viral replication in high-risk patients $(D \mid D)$ where here the depleting tractments)		
(preemptive	Program tive thereave in P + recipients must be initiated in base of a sutoff		
(nerapy)	viral load established in each center or increasing kinetics		
	Maintain therapy for at least 2 weeks and/or at least one negative viral		
	load determination		
Prevention	Preemptive therapy after finishing CMV prophylaxis can be recommended		
(hybrid strategy)	in high-risk transplant recipients, including D+/R-, lung, pancreas, and		
	small bowel recipients, and/or those receiving lymphocyte-depleting		
	treatments (the duration has not been determined)		

Table 6.3 Key recommendations for the management of cytomegalovirus infection after solid organ transplantation

(continued)

Area of interest	Recommendations			
Prevention (D–/ R– patients)	The routine use of prophylaxis or preemptive therapy against CMV is not recommended			
	Use leuko-depleted or CMV-seronegative blood products			
Prevention (IgG deficit)	Non-specific or anti-CMV-specific IVIG is indicated in heart transplant recipients with IgG level <500 mg/dL			
Treatment	CMV disease should be treated with oral valganciclovir (900 mg/12 h, for mild-moderate disease) or intravenous ganciclovir (5 mg/kg/12 h, for severe disease) corrected by renal function Intravenous ganciclovir can be followed by oral valganciclovir when clinical and virological improvement has been achieved (sequential therapy) Maintain treatment until resolution of symptoms and viral replication in			
	plasma Combined use of immunoglobulins can be considered in patients with hypogammaglobulinemia of life-threatening CMV disease (pneumonitis)			
Treatment (resistance)	This is a complicated situation that should be managed by an expert transplant ID CMV resistance must be suspected in cases of progressive or stable viral replication or persistence of symptoms despite adequate antiviral treatment for 2 weeks A genotypic analysis of the UL97 and UL54 genes must be performed Foscarnet is the alternative treatment of choice High-dose ganciclovir (up to 10 mg/kg/12 h with normal renal function) can be used in non-severe patients without neutropenia, for whom the use of foscarnet should be avoided An mTOR inhibitor-based regimen of immunosuppression should be used The experience of salvage therapy with alternative regimens is limited (maribavir, leflunomide, artesunate, letermovir, or brincidofovir)			

Table 6.3 (continued)

6.2.2 Herpes Simplex Virus

6.2.2.1 Diagnosis

Although pretransplant IgG serostatus of recipients may be helpful for posttransplant risk stratification, serology is not useful for diagnosing acute disease. Transplant patients can have atypical mucocutaneous lesions and visceral or disseminated disease; therefore laboratory confirmation may be necessary. PCR testing of mucocutaneous lesions, and other clinical samples (plasma, cerebrospinal fluid, bronchoalveolar lavage), is the diagnostic test of choice. The clinical significance of finding HSV DNA in the blood of patients without disseminated disease has not been well established and therefore is not recommended to be tested routinely. Also, a positive PCR in the BAL may be either due to mucocutaneous contamination during sampling or due to HSV pneumonitis. Tissue histopathology with immunohistochemistry for HSV can be helpful in diagnosing invasive HSV disease.

6.2.2.2 Prevention

HSV prophylaxis is generally indicated for HSV-1- or HSV-2-seropositive recipients not receiving CMV prophylaxis ((val)ganciclovir prevents HSV replication). Some experts also recommend prophylaxis in HSV seronegative to prevent the infection transmitted from organs or blood transfusions; however, this is a rare occurrence. A low-dose acyclovir regimen (< 1gr/day) is effective (200 mg three or four times a day, 400 mg two times a day) for prophylaxis. Valacyclovir (two times a day) or famciclovir can also be used.

Antiviral prophylaxis should continue for at least 1 month. Resumption of prophylaxis may be considered for CMV-seronegative patients being treated with T-cell-depleting agents. In patients with severe clinical recurrences (\geq 2), suppressive antiviral therapy may be indicated and may occasionally be required for very prolonged durations.

All recipients (not only seronegative) should avoid contact with persons with active lesions. Condoms do not completely protect against HSV transmission. HSV-2-seronegative transplant recipients should consider having their partner tested for HSV-2. In serodiscordant couples, daily antiviral therapy taken by the seropositive partner can prevent HSV-2 transmission to the seronegative partner. The efficacy of postexposure prophylaxis is unknown.

6.2.2.3 Treatment

Disseminated, visceral, or extensive mucocutaneous HSV disease should be treated with intravenous acyclovir at a dose of 5–10 mg/kg every 8 h for a minimum of 2 weeks (3 weeks in case of encephalitis). Non-severe mucocutaneous disease can be treated with oral acyclovir, valacyclovir, or famciclovir for a minimum of 1 week. Overall treatment durations are determined by clinical response. HSV keratitis can be treated with systemic or topical agents (trifluridine solution, vidarabine ointment, or topical ganciclovir gel).

Resistance must be considered in patients whose lesions are not responding clinically to appropriate doses of systemic therapy. Genotypic testing for known resistance mutations is available in some settings. Intravenous foscarnet or cidofovir are recommended, but both are associated with significant renal toxicity. Topical agents (imiquimod, cidofovir, trifluridine) can be used for resistant anogenital disease.

General Approach The main recommendations for the management of HSV infection are provided in Table 6.4.

6.2.3 Varicella-Zoster Virus

6.2.3.1 Diagnosis

All transplant candidates should undergo serologic testing for VZV to determine the need for vaccination in case of seronegativity and to assess posttransplant risk. In general, both primary varicella and herpes zoster have typical clinical presentations

Area of			
interest	Recommendations		
Diagnosis	Pretransplant IgG serostatus of donor and recipient is necessary to determin		
	preventive strategies		
	Polymerase chain reaction is the diagnostic test of choice		
	Tissue histopathology with immunocytochemistry can be helpful		
Prevention	Prophylaxis is indicated only for seropositive recipients not receiving CMV prophylaxis		
	Low-dose acyclovir (< 1gr/day) is indicated (200 mg three or four times a day, 400 mg two times a day)		
	Valacyclovir (500 mg two times a day) or famciclovir can also be used		
	Antiviral prophylaxis should continue for at least a month		
	Suppressive antiviral therapy can be indicated even during years or lifelong in		
	cases of frequent severe recurrences		
	Avoid contact with persons with active lesions		
	Condoms do not completely protect against HSV transmission		
	Seronegative HSV-2 recipients: consider having their partner tested for HSV-2		
	Serodiscordant couples: daily antiviral therapy taken by the seropositive partner can be considered in individual basis		
Treatment	Disseminated, visceral, or extensive mucocutaneous disease: intravenous acyclovir (5–10 mg/kg every 8 h during a minimum of 2–3 weeks)		
	Not severe mucocutaneous disease: oral treatment during a minimum of 1 week		
	(acyclovir, valacyclovir, or famciclovir)		
	Keratitis: systemic or topical agents (trifluridine solution, vidarabine ointment,		
	or topical ganciclovir gel)		
Resistance	Genotypic testing can be available		
	Intravenous foscarnet or cidofovir (renal toxicity) is indicated		
	Topical agents (imiquimod, cidofovir, trifluridine) can be used for resistant anogenital disease		

Table 6.4 Key recommendations for the management of herpes simplex virus infection after solid organ transplantation

that allow for a presumptive clinical diagnosis. Nevertheless, transplant recipients can have atypical presentations or multi-organ involvement with delayed or absent rash. Also, in some instances, VZV Infection may be difficult to differentiate from HSV infection. Therefore a definitive laboratory testing is indicated for atypical cases and visceral disease. PCR is the method of choice (vesicle fluid, serum, spinal fluid, and other tissues).

6.2.3.2 Prevention

Antiviral Therapy Antiviral prophylaxis for VZV is not needed during periods of CMV prophylaxis with valganciclovir. In CMV-seronegative patients followed by a preemptive approach, (val)acyclovir is efficacious for preventing both HSV and VZV during the early posttransplant period.

Pretransplant Vaccination Seronegative potential transplant patients should receive varicella vaccination with the live attenuated vaccine at least 4 weeks before transplant.

Posttransplant Vaccination The live vaccine poses a risk of disseminated infection in immunosuppressed patients and therefore is contraindicated for posttransplant recipients. Recently, an inactivated zoster vaccine has become available for prevention of singles, but there are limited published data on its use in transplant patients.

Postexposure Prophylaxis Options for postexposure prophylaxis include passive immunoprophylaxis and/or antiviral therapy. VZV immunoglobulins are recommended in susceptible (seronegative) patients exposed to VZV and should be given as soon as possible but within at least 10 days of exposure. Antiviral therapy should be considered as adjunctive therapy or in patients who were unable to receive immunoprophylaxis before 10 days after their exposure. Acyclovir or valacyclovir or famciclovir can be used for a 7–14-day course.

6.2.3.3 Treatment

Varicella Patients should be treated with acyclovir, initiated early, especially within 24 h of rash onset.

Herpes Zoster Patients with disseminated or organ invasive disease should be treated with IV acyclovir. Localized non-severe HZ can be treated with oral valacy-clovir or famciclovir, with the exception of herpes zoster ophthalmicus or herpes zoster oticus, for which intravenous administration is recommended.

General Approach The main recommendations for the management of HZV infection are provided in Table 6.5.

Area of		
interest	Recommendations	
Diagnosis	Pretransplant IgG serostatus of donor and recipient is necessary	
	Polymerase chain reaction is the diagnostic test of choice	
Prevention	Prophylaxis is not indicated for seropositive recipients receiving CMV or HSV prophylaxis	
	Transplant candidates should receive varicella vaccination at least 4 weeks before transplant Posttransplant vaccination with the live VZV vaccine (Zostavax [®]) is contraindicated. Experience with the new inactivated vaccine (Shingrix [®]) is lacking but can be a very effective strategy to prevent zoster in transplant recipients	
	Options for postexposure prophylaxis include passive immunoprophylaxis and/or antiviral therapy (as soon as possible but within at least 10 days of exposure)	
Treatment	Patients with varicella or invasive disease should be treated with intravenous acyclovir	
	Localized non-severe herpes zoster can be treated with oral drugs (with exception for herpes zoster ophthalmicus or oticus)	

Table 6.5 Key recommendations for the management of herpes zoster virus infection after solid organ transplantation

6.2.4 Human Herpesvirus 6

6.2.4.1 Diagnosis

Routine monitoring for HHV-6 is not recommended based on the current evidence or low rate of disease and subclinical infections. Diagnostic testing should be limited to symptomatic HHV-6 disease, in order to guide treatment.

Quantitative real-time PCR is preferred for the detection of HHV-6 viremia. It can distinguish between HHV-6A and HHV-6B, but they may not always differentiate active from latent infection depending on the sample type or assay used. HHV-6 has the characteristic of being capable of integrating into the human genome (ciHHV-6), specifically in the telomeric area of all chromosomes. ciHHV-6 is characterized by persistent HHV-6 viral loads typically of over a million copies per mL of whole blood, which may be misinterpreted as active infection leading to unnecessary treatment. It is not known whether patients with ciHHV-6 may develop active infection. Qualitative or quantitative HHV-6 PCR of the cerebrospinal fluid is useful to diagnose HHV-6 encephalitis in patients with the appropriate clinical signs. Immunohistochemistry to detect viral antigens in biopsy specimens is appropriate in cases of organ disease, although it can be detected in the absence of symptoms.

6.2.4.2 Prevention

Specific antiviral prophylaxis or preemptive therapy for HHV-6 infection is not recommended. Antiviral prophylaxis for CMV does appear to reduce the incidence of HHV-6 viremia.

6.2.4.3 Treatment

Treatment of asymptomatic viral reactivation is not recommended. Ganciclovir, foscarnet, and cidofovir can be active against HHV-6. Ganciclovir is the drug of choice although some experts prefer to give foscarnet in case of CNS infection. HHV6-A can be resistant to ganciclovir though mutations in U69 and U28 genes. Foscarnet can be used in resistant HHV-6. Reduction in immunosuppression is important for severe disease.

General Approach The main recommendations for the management of HHV-6 infection are provided in Table 6.6.

6.2.5 Human Herpesvirus 8

6.2.5.1 Diagnosis

Pretransplant serological screening is not routinely indicated due to a low specificity for screening, although it may be considered in geographic regions with high rates of infection. Quantitative PCR is the method of choice to detect viremia, which is associated with the development of Kaposi's sarcoma. PCR may be an option

Area of	
interest	Recommendations
Diagnosis	Pretransplant IgG serostatus of donor and recipient is not recommended Polymerase chain reaction is the diagnostic test of choice. In case of persistent high viral loads (>10 ⁶), chromosomal integrated HHV-6 should be suspected Routine monitoring for HHV-6 is not recommended Diagnostic testing should be limited to symptomatic HHV-6 disease, in order to
	PCR of the cerebrospinal fluid is useful to diagnose HHV-6 encephalitis
Prevention	Specific antiviral prophylaxis or preemptive therapy for HHV-6 infection is not recommended
Treatment	Treatment of asymptomatic viral reactivation is not recommended Ganciclovir is the drug of choice HHV6-A can be resistant to ganciclovir Foscarnet can be used in resistant HHV-6

Table 6.6 Key recommendations for the management of human herpesvirus 6 infection after solid organ transplantation

to monitor for risk of disease as a part of a preemptive strategy in selected highrisk individuals. In addition, HHV-8 viral load measurements can be used to assess response to therapy. Testing for the presence of HHV-8 in biopsy or fluid samples using immunohistochemistry, in situ hybridization, or PCR is also valuable.

6.2.5.2 Prevention

The efficacy of antiviral prophylaxis in HHV-8-seropositive recipients or in patients receiving an organ from a seropositive donor is unknown. Avoidance of overimmunosuppression in high-risk individuals and in those with detectable HHV-8 viremia is advisable. Use of immunosuppression regimens containing sirolimus rather than calcineurin inhibitors may be indicated.

In high-risk patients, monitoring of HHV-8 viral load after transplantation may be a useful to determine the risk of disease. However, the frequency and duration of monitoring or the level of clinically relevant HHV-8 replication has yet to be determined. Moreover, once HHV-8 is detected, current data are insufficient to define a beneficial preemptive strategy with antivirals (ganciclovir, foscarnet, cidofovir),

6.2.5.3 Treatment

An individualized reduction or cessation of immunosuppression (kidney transplant) is the first-line therapy for the treatment of Kaposi's sarcoma. Patients receiving a calcineurin inhibitor-based regimen should be switched to an mTOR inhibitor-based regimen. Sirolimus has antitumor properties and can block HHV-8 replication. Patients whose tumor lesions do not regress may require intralesional chemotherapy, surgical excision or radiation therapy or other local treatment for isolated lesions, or systemic chemotherapy for visceral or severe disease, using liposomal doxorubicin, paclitaxel, or other agents. The benefits of antiviral therapy with (ganciclovir, foscarnet, cidofovir) have been suggested but are unproven.

Area of			
interest	Recommendations		
Diagnosis	Pretransplant IgG serostatus of donor and recipient can be necessary in geographic areas with high rate of infection Polymerase chain reaction is the diagnostic test of choice Routine monitoring for HHV-8 is recommended in high-risk patients (seropositive donor or recipient)		
Prevention	Antiviral prophylaxis with ganciclovir can be indicated in high-risk patient with an undetermined duration Preemptive therapy can be indicated in high-risk patients		
Treatment	 First line: Reduction or cessation of immunosuppression (kidney transplant) Conversion to an mTOR inhibitor-based regimen of immunosuppression Second line: Intralesional chemotherapy Surgical excision Radiation therapy or other local treatment for isolated lesions Systemic chemotherapy for visceral or severe disease (liposomal doxorubicin, paclitaxel, or other agents) The benefits of antiviral therapy with ganciclovir, foscarnet, and cidofovir have been suggested 		

Table 6.7 Key recommendations for the management of human herpesvirus 8 infection after solid organ transplantation

General Approach The main recommendations for the management of HHV-8 infection are provided in Table 6.7.

Acknowledgments This is supported by Plan Nacional de I+D+i 2013–2016, Instituto de Salud Carlos III, Subdirección General de Redes y Centros de Investigación Cooperativa, Ministerio de Economía, Industria y Competitividad, and Spanish Network for Research in Infectious Diseases (RD16/0016/0008) and co-financed by the European Development Regional Fund "A way to achieve Europe," Operative Program Intelligent Growth 2014–2020.

Conflict of Interest JTC has received unrestricted grants and has served as scientific advisor and speaker of Roche Pharma, MSD, Astellas, and Qiagen. AH has received grant support and/or speaker honoraria from Roche, Astellas, Merck, and Qiagen.

Suggested Reading

- Asberg A, Humar A, Rollag H, Jardine AG, Mouas H, Pescovitz MD, Sgarabotto D, Tuncer M, Noronha IL, Hartmann A. Oral valganciclovir is noninferior to intravenous ganciclovir for the treatment of cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2007;7:2106–13.
- Asberg A, Humar A, Jardine AG, Rollag H, Pescovitz MD, Mouas H, Bignamini A, Toz H, Dittmer I, Montejo M, Hartmann A, V.S. Group. Long-term outcomes of CMV disease treatment with valganciclovir versus IV ganciclovir in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9:1205–13.

- Asberg A, Jardine AG, Bignamini AA, Rollag H, Pescovitz MD, Gahlemann CC, Humar A, Hartmann A, V.S. Group. Effects of the intensity of immunosuppressive therapy on outcome of treatment for CMV disease in organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2010;10:1881–8.
- Cantisan S, Torre-Cisneros J, Lara R, Rodriguez-Benot A, Santos F, Gutierrez-Aroca J, Gayoso I, Gonzalez-Padilla M, Casal M, Rivero A, Solana R. Age-dependent association between low frequency of CD27/CD28 expression on pp65 CD8+ T cells and cytomegalovirus replication after transplantation. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2009;16:1429–38.
- Cantisan S, Lara R, Montejo M, Redel J, Rodriguez-Benot A, Gutierrez-Aroca J, Gonzalez-Padilla M, Bueno L, Rivero A, Solana R, Torre-Cisneros J. Pretransplant interferon-gamma secretion by CMV-specific CD8+ T cells informs the risk of CMV replication after transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:738–45.
- Cantisán S, Torre-Cisneros J, Lara R, Zarraga S, Montejo M, Solana R. Impact of citomegalovirus on early immunosenescence of CD8+T lymphocytes alter solid organ transplantation. J Gerontol Biol. 2013;68:1–5.
- Cantisán S, Rodelo-Haad C, Páez-Vega A, Nieto A, Vaquero JM, Poyato A, Montejo M, Fariñas C, Rivero A, Solana R, Martín-Malo A, Torre-Cisneros J. Factors related to the development of CMV-specific CD8fl T cell response in CMV-seropositive solid organ transplant candidates. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:715–22.
- Cantisán S, Páez-Vega A, Santos F, Rodríguez-Benot A, Aguado R, Rivero A, Montejo M, Torre-Cisneros J, Solana R, Spanish Network for Research in Infectious Diseases (REIPI). Impact of age and cytomegalovirus on CD8+ T-cell compartment remodeling after solid organ transplantation: a one-year follow-up study. Exp Gerontol. 2017;95:98–106. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. exger.2017.04.011.
- Castón JJ, Castells L, Varo E, Gómez MA, de la Mata M, Campos-Varela I, Lumbreras C, González-Dieguez L, Fabregat J, Herrero I, Salcedo M, Sánchez-Antolín G, de la Torre-Cisneros J. Impact of cytomegalovirus infection on severe hepatitis C recurrence in patients undergoing liver transplantation. Transplantation. 2016;100(3):593–9.
- Chou S. Approach to drug-resistant cytomegalovirus in transplant recipients. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2015;28:293–9.
- Gracia-Ahufinger I, Gutierrez-Aroca J, Cordero E, Vidal E, Cantisan S, del Castillo D, Martin-Gandul C, Rivero A, Torre-Cisneros J. Use of high-dose ganciclovir for the treatment of cytomegalovirus replication in solid organ transplant patients with ganciclovir resistance-inducing mutations. Transplantation. 2013;95:1015–20.
- Humar A, Snydman D. Cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(Suppl 4):S78–86.
- Humar A, Gregson D, Caliendo AM, McGeer A, Malkan G, Krajden M, Corey P, Greig P, Walmsley S, Levy G, Mazzulli T. Clinical utility of quantitative cytomegalovirus viral load determination for predicting cytomegalovirus disease in liver transplant recipients. Transplantation. 1999;68:1305–11.
- Humar A, Kumar D, Boivin G, Caliendo AM. Cytomegalovirus (CMV) virus load kinetics to predict recurrent disease in solid-organ transplant patients with CMV disease. J Infect Dis. 2002;186:829–33.
- Humar A, Lebranchu Y, Vincenti F, Blumberg E, Punch JD, Limaye AP, Abramowicz D, Jardine AG, Voulgari AT, Ives J, Hauser IA, Peeters P. The efficacy and safety of 200 days valganciclovir cytomegalovirus prophylaxis in high-risk kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2010a;10:1228–37.
- Humar A, Limaye AP, Blumberg EA, Hauser IA, Vincenti F, Jardine AG, Abramowicz D, Ives JA, Farhan M, Peeters P. Extended valganciclovir prophylaxis in D+/R- kidney transplant recipients is associated with long-term reduction in cytomegalovirus disease: two-year results of the IMPACT study. Transplantation. 2010b;90:1427–31.
- Kotton CN, Kumar D, Caliendo AM, Huprikar S, Chou S, Danziger-Isakov L, Humar A, The Transplantation Society International CMV Consensus Group. The third international consensus guidelines on the management of cytomegalovirus in solid-organ transplantation. Transplantation. 2018;102:900–31.

- Le J, Gantt S. Human herpesvirus 6, 7 and 8 in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):S128–37.
- Len O, Gavalda J, Aguado JM, Borrell N, Cervera C, Cisneros JM, Cuervas-Mons V, Gurgui M, Martin-Davila P, Montejo M, Muñoz P, Bou G, Carratala J, Torre-Cisneros J, Pahissa A. Valganciclovir as treatment for cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46:20–7.
- Manuel O. Clinical experience with immune monitoring for cytomegalovirus in solid-organ transplant recipients. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2013;15:491–6.
- Manuel O, Husain S, Kumar D, Zayas C, Mawhorter S, Levi ME, Kalpoe J, Lisboa L, Ely L, Kaul DR, Schwartz BS, Morris MI, Ison MG, Yen-Lieberman B, Sebastian A, Assi M, Humar A. Assessment of cytomegalovirus-specific cell-mediated immunity for the prediction of cytomegalovirus disease in high-risk solid-organ transplant recipients: a multicenter cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;56:817–24.
- Martin-Gandul C, Stampf S, Héquet D, Mueller NJ, Cusini A, van Delden C, Khanna N, Boggian K, Hirzel C, Soccal P, Hirsch HH, Pascual M, Meylan P, Manuel O, Swiss Transplant Cohort Study (STCS). Preventive strategies against cytomegalovirus and incidence of α-Herpesvirus infections in solid organ transplant recipients: a nationwide cohort study. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(7):1813–22.
- Paya C, Humar A, Dominguez E, Washburn K, Blumberg E, Alexander B, Freeman R, Heaton N, Pescovitz MD. Efficacy and safety of valganciclovir vs. oral ganciclovir for prevention of cytomegalovirus disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2004;4:611–20.
- Pergam SA, Limaye AP. Varicella zoster virus infection in solid organ trnsplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):S138–46.
- Potena L, Grigioni F, Magnani G, Lazzarotto T, Musuraca AC, Ortolani P, Coccolo F, Fallani F, Russo A, Branzi A. Prophylaxis versus preemptive anti-cytomegalovirus approach for prevention of allograft vasculopathy in heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2009;28:461–7.
- Razonable RR, Humar A. Cytomegalovirus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):S93–106.
- Sagedal S, Hartmann A, Nordal KP, Osnes K, Leivestad T, Foss A, Degre M, Fauchald P, Rollag H. Impact of early cytomegalovirus infection and disease on long-term recipient and kidney graft survival. Kidney Int. 2004;66:329–37.
- Torre-Cisneros J, Aguado JM, Castón JJ, Almenar L, Alonso A, Cantisán S, Carratalá J, Cervera C, Cordero E, Fariñas MC, Fernández-Ruiz M, Fortún J, Frauca E, Gavaldá J, Hernández D, Herrero I, Len O, López-Medrano F, Manito N, Marcos MA, Martín-Dávila P, Monforte V, Montejo M, Moreno A, Muñoz P, Navarro D, Pérez-Romero P, Rodriguez-Bernot A, Rumbao J, San Juan R, Vaquero JM, Vidal E, Spanish Society of Transplantation (SET); Group for Study of Infection in Transplantation of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology (GESITRA-SEIMC); Spanish Network for Research in Infectious Diseases (REIPI). Management of cytomegalovirus infection in solid organ transplant recipients: SET/ GESITRA-SEIMC/REIPI recommendations. Transplant Rev. 2016;30:119–43.
- Wilck MB, Zuckerman RA. Herpes simplex virus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):S121–7.



Prevention and Treatment of EBV-Related Complications

Sophie Caillard and Michael Green

7.1 Description of Pathogen

Epstein–Barr Virus (EBV) is a ubiquitous human γ -herpesvirus (HHV4) notable for its tropism for B-cell lymphocytes and its ability to establish lifelong infection through latency. Infection typically spreads via saliva, with the virus initially targeting oropharyngeal epithelial cells and subsequently mucosal B lymphocytes leading to dissemination throughout the body. Of note, EBV can also be transmitted from organ donors, serving as perhaps the most important source of EBV infection in individuals undergoing solid organ transplantation (SOT).

7.2 Definitions and Epidemiology

EBV infection occurs worldwide, with seropositivity rates exceeding 90% of the adult population. Data identifies an EBV seroprevalence rate of 83% by the age of 19 in the United States [1] and 95% by the age of 20 in a French population [2]. In seronegative transplant recipients, primary EBV infection is frequently acquired from the donor via passenger leucocytes accompanying the transplant organ. EBV infection can lead to various outcomes after SOT ranging from asymptomatic infection to severe lymphoproliferative disorders including true malignancies. Primary infections are typically associated with more significant clinical syndromes, while

S. Caillard

M. Green (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Nephrology Transplantation Department, INSERM UMR_S 1109, Strasbourg University Hospital, Strasbourg, France

Department of Pediatrics and Surgery, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Pittsburgh School of Medicine, UPMC Children's Hospital of Pittsburgh, Pittsburgh, PA, USA e-mail: Michael.green@chp.edu

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_7

reactivation of the recipient strain present prior to transplant or reinfection with a new strain of EBV from the donor tends to be mild or even asymptomatic in SOT recipients. Since most adults are already EBV seropositive prior to transplant, primary infection and its associated more prominent disease states occur much more frequently in the pediatric SOT population [3].

Definitions developed to describe the range of EBV infection and diseases are shown in Table 7.1 [4]. Unfortunately, only limited data quantifying the relative frequencies of the full range of EBV disease has been published. Smets and colleagues reported that only 15% of pediatric liver transplant recipients presented with a symptomatic primary EBV infection [5]. Observed symptoms varied from isolated fever or a non-specific viral syndrome to presentation with classical infectious mononucleosis. Not uncommonly, transplant recipients manifest organ-specific symptoms associated with hepatitis, enteritis, pneumonitis, and, rarely, meningoencephalitis. On exceptional occasions, a primary infection can progress toward a life-threatening disease with acidosis, intravascular disseminated coagulopathy, and multi-organ failure.

Symptomatic EBV infection was defined as either seroconversion, development of a positive viral load \geq 200 genome copies per 100,000 PBL [12], or histologic evidence of EBV infection (by EBER) in the presence of typical symptoms or laboratory findings (e.g., fever, leukopenia, atypical lymphocytosis, exudative tonsillitis, and/or adenopathy). EBV disease was further characterized as either "proven," "probable," or "possible." "Proven" EBV disease required histologic confirmation using the EBER stain. "Probable" symptomatic EBV infection was diagnosed if there was evidence of EBV infection in the presence of typical symptoms and in the absence of alternate explanation. "Possible" symptomatic EBV infection was made if there was evidence of EBV, the presence of typical symptoms, and an inability to exclude the diagnosis despite the presence of alternate explanation. Episodes of "probable" and "possible"

EBV infections	
and diseases	Characteristics
Symptomatic infection	Seroconversion, or more likely the presence of a positive viral load in the range that EBV disease is seen on the assay used to perform the measurement, histological evidence of EBV infection (by EBER) in the presence of typical symptoms or laboratory findings. For probable or possible cases, this could be further classified as viral syndrome, mononucleosis, adenopathy, or adenitis. For proven disease, where biopsy identifies the presence of EBV but does not demonstrate the presence of PTLD, this could be classified by affected organ (e.g., EBV hepatitis, enteritis, adenitis, etc.)
Proven EBV disease	Histological evidence of EBV staining using EBER probe in the presence of signs and symptoms of disease
Probable EBV disease	Presence of typical symptoms, in the absence of alternate explanation
Possible EBV disease	Presence of typical symptoms and inability to exclude alternate explanation

Table 7.1 EBV infection and disease definitions

EBV disease were further classified as viral syndrome, mononucleosis, or adenitis/ adenopathy.

Patients experiencing primary EBV infection may experience neoplastic transformation of B lymphocytes leading to the development of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD). PTLD represent a continuous spectrum of abnormal lymphoid proliferations, ranging from lymphoid hyperplasia to polyclonal proliferations to frank malignant monoclonal proliferations, including Hodgkin lymphomas and myelomas [6] (see Table 7.2). Rarely, EBV has also been associated with T- or NK-cell lymphomas, hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis, gastric carcinoma, and smooth cells tumors.

7.2.1 PTLD Incidence After SOT

PTLD incidence varies according to the transplanted organ, recipient's age at the time of transplantation, and EBV serostatus [7]. Data from the 2010 OPTN/SRTR annual report revealing the cumulative 1- and 5-year incidence of PTLD in pediatric and adult SOT recipients by transplanted organ is shown in Table 7.3. Results from additional published studies are consistent with these data (reviewed in [8]). For all organ types, PTLD incidence is higher in pediatric compared to adult transplant recipients due to the differential risk of being EBV seronegative at the time of

Table 7.2PTLDhistological classification,World Health Organization2016 (Ref. [5])	Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD)
	Plasmacytic hyperplasia PTLD
	Infectious mononucleosis PTLD
	Florid follicular hyperplasia PTLD ^a
	Polymorphic PTLD
	Monomorphic PTLD (B and T/NK cell types)
	Classical Hodgkin lymphoma PTLD

^aChanges from the 2008 classification

Table 7.3 Cumulative 1- and 5-year incidence of PTLD in pediatric and adult SOT recipients by transplanted organ as reported in the 2010 OPTN/SRTR annual report [7]^a

	Pediatric	Pediatric	Adult	Adult
Organ	1 year (%)	5 year(%)	1 year(%)	5 year(%)
Lung/heart-lung	4.0	16	1.0	1.5
Liver	2.1	4.7	0.25	1.1
Pancreas (isolated)	N/A	N/A	2.3	2.3
Heart	1.6	5.7	0.3	0.7
Kidney	1.3	2.4	<0.2	0.6

^aData for intestinal transplant recipients not broken down by pediatric versus adult and therefore not included

transplantation.

7.2.2 Risk Factors for PTLD

EBV seronegativity and the development of primary infection after transplant are the most important risk factors for PTLD [9, 10]. While primary infection usually occurs in the setting of an EBV-seronegative recipient receiving an organ from an EBV-seropositive donor, viral acquisition via usual transmission routes also occurs. Immunosuppression is another important risk factor impacting the development of EBV/PTLD. The impact of immunosuppression likely is dependent both on the "net state of immunosuppression" and exposure to specific agents. T-cell-depleting agents like OKT3 and polyclonal anti-thymocyte globulins have been associated with PTLD after SOT in most studies [11, 12]. An association between tacrolimus and PTLD was reported in adults and pediatric populations [12]. To date, MMF has not been found to impact PTLD [12]. Effects of mTOR inhibitors are unclear with experimental data suggesting inhibition of the lymphoblastoid cell proliferation, whereas clinical registry data showed an increased risk of PTLD in patients receiving these agents [13]. Finally, recent studies indicate that EBV-seronegative patients treated with belatacept, a drug inhibiting the costimulation pathway, are at higher risk of PTLD, especially CNS PTLD.

7.3 Diagnosis of EBV

The ability to quantify the EBV viral load (VL) in the peripheral blood using nucleic acid amplification testing (NAT) (e.g., PCR) has markedly enhanced the ability to monitor for and diagnose EBV infection and disease including PTLD (EBV/ PTLD). EBV VL monitoring is routinely used to both identify those at risk of progression to and to diagnose patients presenting with EBV/PTLD. Data derived from multiple studies support the use of EBV VL to predict progression to EBV/PTLD, and published guidelines support the routine use of the viral load to guide therapeutic choices for EBV infection and disease [8]. Despite its widespread use, several areas of controversy around EBV load testing deserve discussion. The optimal component of peripheral blood to test is not fully defined with conflicting results for assays using peripheral blood lymphocytes, whole blood, or plasma [8, 14]. In fact, it is not completely clear exactly what is being measured within these different compartments. While is it presumed that one is measuring EBV-infected B lymphocytes when one measures the EBV load in peripheral blood lymphocytes, less is known about measurement of whole blood or plasma. For these compartments one may be amplifying EBV DNA fragments or lytic virions though at least some evidence argues against the latter. Another major limitation has been the fact that EBV load monitoring is not standardized between laboratories. While individual centers demonstrate a high level of internal reproducibility, substantial variability has been demonstrated between laboratories. This poor interlaboratory reproducibility contributes to a lack of consensus on threshold EBV VL which should trigger diagnostic and therapeutic interventions. It is hoped that the recently released WHO International Standard for EBV for Nucleic Acid Amplification Techniques will help to overcome these issues.

Viral load testing alone cannot be used to diagnose EBV/PTLD as the test can lack sensitivity and frequently lacks specificity. Rarely, the viral load will remain low in patients with EBV/PTLD, while patients with elevated EBV VL do not always have or develop EBV disease. Accordingly, aggressive use of imaging and performance of biopsies should be used when the diagnosis of EBV/PTLD is suspected. CT scanning of the neck, chest, and abdomen may identify lesions not apparent from symptoms or examination. Many if not most experts will now also use 18-FDG PET/ CT in this scenario. Imaging of the brain is paramount if central nervous system symptoms are present. Biopsy of lesions or sites of disease is needed to definitively diagnose PTLD and rule out other opportunistic infections. Because the bowel can frequently be involved in PTLD, early endoscopic evaluation should be considered in patients with unexplained abdominal pain and diarrhea. Biopsy specimens should be evaluated by pathologists familiar with PTLD, and specific assays should be performed to characterize the involved cell including evaluating cell markers such as CD20 which may influence therapeutic options and in situ hybridization for EBER, a marker of EBV-infected cells.

7.4 Prevention of EBV Disease and PTLD

Increasing interest has focused on the prevention of EBV/PTLD in SOT recipients. Potential prevention strategies can be further categorized as immunoprophylaxis, chemoprophylaxis, and preemptive therapy.

Immunoprophylaxis Immunoprophylaxis can be categorized as active or passive. Active immunoprophylaxis would be accomplished through the use of an EBV vaccine. Unfortunately, no vaccine is currently available. Passive immunoprophylaxis is accomplished by providing anti-EBV antibody through the infusion of intravenous immune globulin (IVIG). Opelz showed in a retrospective analysis that SOT recipients receiving anti-CMV immunoglobulins for CMV prophylaxis did not develop PTLD during the first year (during the time of prophylaxis) [15]. These data were not confirmed in a randomized controlled trial using anti-CMV immunoglobulin prophylaxis vs. placebo in pediatric liver transplant recipients although a trend toward less EBV disease and PTLD was observed in patients receiving immunoglobulins [4]. Finally, the use of EBV-specific cytotoxic T lymphocytes (CTLs) as adoptive immunotherapy could serve as a third potential immunoprophylactic strategy. Unfortunately, although this approach has been proven to be efficacious in stem cell transplant recipients, efforts to translate these benefits to the prevention of EBV/PTLD in SOT recipients have not succeeded as of this time (reviewed in [6]).

Chemoprophylaxis Chemoprophylaxis using antiviral agents, such as acyclovir and ganciclovir, represents another possible approach to preventing EBV/PTLD. Ganciclovir or its prodrug valganciclovir may be the preferred drug for EBV prophylaxis because of its higher in vitro antiviral activity. Nevertheless, these drugs are only effective against the lytic forms of EBV which explains their

inefficiency when the virus is in latent phase. Despite a US case-controlled study suggesting a potential role of ganciclovir given for CMV prophylaxis to reduce the PTLD incidence in kidney transplant recipients [16], other studies have not confirmed the efficacy of ganciclovir, valganciclovir, or acyclovir against EBV/PTLD in SOT recipients. A randomized prospective trial of 2 weeks of ganciclovir compared to 2 weeks of ganciclovir followed by 50 weeks of oral acyclovir in EBV-seronegative pediatric liver transplant patients did not establish any benefit to the extended use of antiviral therapy to prevent EBV disease [17]. A 2016 meta-analysis showed that the use of antiviral drugs (ganciclovir, valganciclovir, acyclovir, and valacyclovir) in mismatched EBV transplant recipients (D+/R) had no effect on PTLD incidence [18]. No significant differences were seen across all types of solid organ transplants, age groups, or antiviral use as prophylaxis or preemptive strategy.

Viral Load Monitoring and Preemptive Strategies of Prevention Surveillance monitoring of EBV loads to inform preemptive reductions in immunosuppression has resulted in a decreased incidence of EBV/PTLD compared to historical controls. McDiarmid reported a decreased incidence of PTLD from 10 to 5% using EBV viral load monitoring to guide the combined use of reduced immunosuppression and intravenous ganciclovir in pediatric liver transplant recipients with rising EBV loads [19]. Two other studies demonstrated decreased incidences of PTLD using decreased immunosuppression alone without ganciclovir in response to elevated EBV loads [20, 21]. Some centers have considered the preemptive use of the anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody rituximab for those with elevated EBV load though little published data is available. Martin reported encouraging results using EBV load monitoring to inform the preemptive use of rituximab in EBV D+/R- adult kidney transplant recipients [22]. However, the majority of treated patients actually had clinical evidence of EBV disease at the time of treatment. Accordingly, these data speak more to use rituximab for early treatment and not prevention of EBV disease. Additional experience is needed to confirm efficacy and long-term safety of rituximab in a prevention/preemption model against EBV.

Based upon available data, it appears that the strategy of using EBV load monitoring to inform preemptive reduction in immunosuppression to prevent EBV/PTLD is the optimal currently available preventive strategy, while more data evaluating the comparative safety and efficacy of rituximab with reduced immunosuppression alone in response to rising or elevated EBV loads are needed.

7.5 Treatment of EBV Disease and PTLD

The optimal treatment of the spectrum of EBV disease has not been well established. While reduction of immunosuppression is widely accepted, the role of additional therapies remains controversial. Therapeutic interventions encompass different tools depending on histological features, disease stages, localization of the tumor, and comorbid conditions.

7.5.1 Immunosuppression (IS) Reduction

IS reduction is the first and most important treatment strategy since it allows for the development of EBV-specific cytotoxic immunity. IS reduction should be considered in patients, particularly in children, at the time of diagnosis of EBV/PTLD. In many cases, including those with polymorphic lymphoproliferations, restoration of cytotoxicity is sufficient to control the transformed B-cell population [23]. IS reduction is more effective if the tumor expresses LMP1 and EBNA2, two viral proteins which facilitate the interaction between transformed B cells and recipient cytotoxic T cells. Nevertheless, the precise IS drug blood concentrations which allow a sufficient antiviral activity while still protecting against graft rejection are not known. In practice, calcineurin inhibitors (CNI) are reduced or withdrawn; steroids may be reintroduced or increased. The role of reduction of other classes of immunosuppression is less well established and may vary by organ. Using this approach, alone or in combination with other strategies, successful regression of both polyclonal and monoclonal EBV/PTLD lesions was reported to occur in 45% of patients [23]. Response rates of IS reduction among adults are highly variable, with excellent results reported in some series and very poor results in others. A progressive stepwise reduction schedule, maintaining the lower therapeutic ranges of immunosuppressive drugs and adjusting dosage depending upon blood level monitoring, may avoid onset of acute rejection. While reduction of IS clearly carries the risk of rejection, graft function is preserved without development of rejection in some patients despite completely stopping IS suggesting the presence of acquired graft tolerance.

7.5.2 Antiviral Therapy

There is no evidence that antiviral inhibition of lytic EBV replication by intravenous ganciclovir or oral valganciclovir is beneficial to SOT recipients with high EBV loads in the presence or absence of EBV disease. The vast majority of EBV-infected cells within PTLD lesions have been shown to be transformed B cells that are not undergoing lytic infection. Nevertheless, some experts use these antivirals as an adjunct to the reduction of immunosuppression in order to lower de novo infection and recruitment of B cells into lymphoproliferation.

7.5.3 AntiCD20: Rituximab

Rituximab targets CD20-positive B lymphocytes including those infected with and transformed by EBV. Rituximab has become a standard element in the treatment of CD20-positive EBV/PTLD, alone or in combination with chemotherapy.

While some centers opt for the early use of rituximab even before a trial of reduced immunosuppression, most experts consider this to be a second-line treatment for patients who fail to respond to, or develop rejection during periods of, reduced immunosuppression. Despite its widespread use, published data defining the optimal timing and use of rituximab remains limited. The use of rituximab alone (without additional chemotherapeutic agents) appears to be effective for non-specific EBV disease and polyclonal proliferations. In aggressive PTLD forms, response rate after rituximab therapy alone was only 45%, and patient survival fell to 30% at 2 years [24]. Accordingly, the use of rituximab in combination with additional chemotherapy should be considered for patients with monomorphic PTLD, especially those with late-onset disease. Unfortunately, the optimal combination of chemotherapy and rituximab has not been established. In the randomized multicenter phase 2 prospective trial PTLD-1, patients who received four infusions of rituximab followed by four cycles of cyclophosphamide, doxorubicin, vincristine, and prednisone had a 67% rate of complete remission [25].

7.5.4 Chemotherapy

Chemotherapy represents the preferred strategy in the cases of monomorphic proliferations, myeloma, and Hodgkin diseases. Current protocols combine cyclophosphamide, adriamycine, vincristine, and steroids ("CHOP" or "ACVPB") with overall response rates of 60–75%, though the use of chemotherapy is associated with important toxicities in SOT recipients. Indeed, 15–30% of patient deaths were related to a toxic complication in the French Registry and PTLD-1 series. The use of dose-adjusted regimen, the systematic use of G-CSF, and the cures spacing are strongly recommended. Stopping IS during chemotherapy is also strongly encouraged [26]. In children, adapted protocols with low doses of cyclophosphamide and rituximab have been proposed in cases of malignant tumors [27]. Of note, none of the chemotherapy regimens have been directly compared to each other in controlled trials in the setting of PTLD.

7.5.5 Adoptive Cellular Therapy

Since the presence of EBV-specific CD8 CTL effectively controls EBV transformed B-cell proliferation in immunocompetent patients, the use of adoptive cellular therapy has been considered as a potential strategy in PTLD management in SOT. While the generation and use of EBV-specific CTL therapy have been well established for stem cell transplant recipients, this strategy has not translated easily to the SOT arena, where most PTLD are of host origin requiring the presence of host EBV-specific CTLs to control the EBV-driven proliferation. Unfortunately, strategies using recipient cells have been tried, but the highest-risk recipients are EBV naïve prior to SOT and have dysfunctional T cells after transplantation due to iatrogenic immunosuppression. Of interest, the use of third party class 1 matched generated allogenic T cells coming from a donor bank for treatment of PTLD in SOT demonstrated a response rate greater than 50% in patients with refractory PTLD [28]. These procedures demonstrated an excellent safety profile but are currently restricted to few specialized teams.

In conclusion, treatment of PTLD remains challenging, and randomized controlled trials are still lacking. Immunosuppression lowering, rituximab, and chemotherapy are the cornerstones of transplant recipient's management, but the precise administration of these therapies should be adapted to each patient depending on its particular tumor and graft conditions.

General Approach Figure 7.1 provides an algorithmic approach to the diagnosis of EBV disease including PTLD. Figure 7.2 provides an algorithmic approach to the treatment of EBV disease including PTLD.

Patient with compatible clinical syndrome concerning for EBV disease including PTLD

- Unexplained fever
- Presence of mononucleosis like syndrome
- Organ specific symptoms concerning for hepatitis, enteritis or pneumonitis
- Unexplained lymphadenopathy

ł

- Measurement of EBV load in the peripheral blood by PCR
- Laboratory screening including: CBC, Differential, Platelet count (looking for leukopenia, thrombocytopenia and/or atypical lymphocytosis) and ALT, AST, GGTP, Uric Acid

ł

- Imaging screening in those with positive test including CT scan of neck, chest and abdomen
- CNS imaging IF Seizure or neurologic symptoms
- Potential role of PET/CT scan
- · Endoscopy for patients with GI symptoms

Ł

 Biopsy for histologic evaluation for those found to have concern for end-organ disease or potential lymphoproliferative lesions





Fig. 7.2 Algorithm for the treatment of EBV disease including PTLD

References

- Dowd JB, Palermo T, Brite J, McDade TW, Aiello A. Seroprevalence of Epstein-Barr virus infection in U.S. children ages 6-19, 2003-2010. PLoS One. 2013;8(5):e64921.
- 2. Fourcade G, Germi R, Guerber F, et al. Evolution of EBV seroprevalence and primary infection age in a French hospital and a city laboratory network, 2000-2016. PLoS One. 2017;12(4):e0175574.
- Dharnidharka VR, Araya CE. Post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease. Pediatr Nephrol. 2009;24(4):731–6.
- Green M, Michaels MG, Katz BZ, et al. Cmv-IVIg for prevention of Epstein Barr virus disease and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2006;6:1906–12.
- Smets F, Latinne D, Bazin H, et al. Ratio between Epstein Barr viral load and anti-Epstein Barr virus specific T-cell response as a predictive marker of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease. Transplantation. 2002;73(10):1603–10.
- Swerdlow SH, Campo E, Pileri SA, Harris NL, Stein H, Siebert R, et al. The 2016 revision of the World Health Organization classification of lymphoid neoplasms. Blood. 2016;127(20):2375–90.
- 7. Opelz G, Dohler B. Lymphomas after solid organ transplantation: a collaborative transplant study report. Am J Transplant. 2004;4:222–30.
- Green M, Michaels MG. Epstein-Barr virus infection and post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:41–54.
- Caillard S, Lamy FX, Quelen C, Dantal J, Lebranchu Y, Lang P, et al. Epidemiology of posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders in adult kidney and kidney pancreas recipients: report of the French registry and analysis of subgroups of lymphomas. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(3):682–93.
- Kotton CN, Huprikar S, Kumar S. Transplant infectious diseases: a review of the scientific registry of transplant patients published data. Am J Transplant. 2017;17:1–8.
- Opelz G, Naujokat C, Daniel V, Terness P, Döhler B. Disassociation between risk of graft loss and risk of non-Hodgkin lymphoma with induction agents in renal transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2006;81:1227–33.

- Caillard S, Dharnidharka V, Agodoa L, Bohen E, Abbott K. Posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders after renal transplantation in the United States in era of modern immunosuppression. Transplantation. 2005;80(9):1233–43.
- Sampaio MS, Cho YW, Qazi Y, Bunnapradist S, Hutchinson IV, Shah T. Posttransplant malignancies in solid organ adult recipients: an analysis of the U.S. national transplant database. Transplantation. 2012;94(10):990–8.
- Allen U, Preiksaitis J. Epstein-Barr virus and posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorder in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(S4):S107–20.
- Opelz G, Daniel V, Naujokat C, Fickenscher H, Dohler B. Effect of cytomegalovirus prophylaxis with immunoglobulin or with antiviral drugs on post-transplant non-hodgkin lymphoma: a multicentre retrospective analysis. Lancet Oncol. 2007;8:212–8.
- Funch DP, Walker AM, Schneider G, Ziyadeh NJ, Pescovitz MD. Ganciclovir and acyclovir reduce the risk of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder in renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2005;5:2894–900.
- Green M, Kaufmann M, Wilson J, Reyes J. Comparison of intravenous ganciclovir followed by oral acyclovir with intravenous ganciclovir alone for prevention of cytomegalovirus and Epstein-Barr virus disease after liver transplantation in children. Clin Infect Dis. 1997;25(6):1344–9.
- AlDabbagh MA, Gitman MR, Kumar D, Humar A, Rotstein C, Husain S. The role of antiviral prophylaxis for the prevention of Epstein-Barr virus-associated posttransplant lymphoproliferative disease in solid organ transplant recipients: a systematic review. Am J Transplant. 2017;17:770–81.
- McDiarmid SV, Jordan S, Kim GS, et al. Prevention and preemptive therapy of postransplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver recipients. Transplantation. 1998;66:1604–11.
- Lee TC, Savoldo B, Rooney CM, Heslop HE, Gee AP, Caldwell Y, et al. Quantitative EBV viral loads and immunosuppression alterations can decrease PTLD incidence in pediatric liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2005;5(9):2222–8.
- Ganschow R, Schulz T, Meyer T, Broering DC, Burdelski M. Low-dose immunosuppression reduces the incidence of post-transplant lymphoproliferative disease in pediatric liver graft recipients. J Pediatr Gastroenterol Nutr. 2004;38(2):198–203.
- Martin SI, Dodson B, Wheeler C, Davis J, Pesavento T, Bumgardner GL. Monitoring infection with Epstein-Barr virus among seromismatch adult renal transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(5):1058–63.
- Reshef R, Vardhanabhuti S, Luskin MR, Heitjan DF, Hadjiliadis D, Goral S, et al. Reduction of immunosuppression as initial therapy for posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disorder. Am J Transplant. 2011;11:336–47.
- 24. Milpied N, Vasseur B, Parquet N, Garnier JL, Antoine C, Quartier P, et al. Humanized anti-CD20 monoclonal antibody (rituximab) in post transplant B-lymphoproliferative disorder: a retrospective analysis on 32 patients. Ann Oncol. 2000;11(Suppl 1):113–6.
- 25. Trappe RU, Dierickx D, Zimmermann H, Morschhauser F, Mollee P, Zaucha JM, et al. Response to rituximab induction is a predictive marker in B-cell post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder and allows successful stratification into rituximab or R-CHOP consolidation in an international, prospective, multicenter phase II trial. J Clin Oncol. 2017;35(5):536–43.
- Fohrer C, Caillard S, Koumarianou A, et al. Long term survival in post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorders with a dose-adjusted ACVBP regimen. Br J Haematol. 2006;134:602–12.
- 27. Gross TG, Orjuela MA, Perkins S, Park J, Lynch J, Cairo M, Smith L, Hayashi R. Low-dose chemotherapy and rituximab for post-transplant disease (PTLD): a children's oncology group report. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(11):3069–75.
- Haque T, Wilkie GM, Jones MM, Higgins CD, Urquhart G, Wingate P, et al. Allogeneic cytotoxic T-cell therapy for EBV-positive posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disease: results of a phase 2 multicenter clinical trial. Blood. 2007;110(4):1123–31.



Prevention and Treatment of Polyomavirus-Associated Diseases

8

Joanna Schaenman and Chen Sabrina Tan

8.1 Description of Pathogens

The human polyomaviruses are ubiquitous non-enveloped DNA viruses in the *Orthopolyomavirus* genus and the *Polyomaviridae* family [1]. BKV was first isolated from the urine of a kidney transplant recipient with the initials of "BK," who presented with ureteric stenosis and obstruction [2]. JCV was initially isolated from the brain of the lymphoma patient with the initials of "JC," who had multiple areas of demyelination in the brain.

BKV and JCV are small non-enveloped double-stranded DNA virus with approximately 5 Kb of genome, which encodes the capsid proteins—VP1, 2, and 3, large T antigen, small T antigen, and agnoprotein. The genome also contains a ~200 bp noncoding region which serves as binding sites for transcriptional factors. Due to lack of viral DNA polymerase, BKV and JCV use the host machinery for viral replication. Multiple genotypes of each virus have been identified based on nucleotide differences in VP1; the distributions of specific genotypes are used as markers to trace human migrations throughout the world [3].

J. Schaenman (🖂)

C. Sabrina Tan

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Division of Infectious Diseases, Department of Medicine, David Geffen School of Medicine at the University of California Los Angeles, Los Angeles, CA, USA e-mail: JSchaenman@mednet.ucla.edu

Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, Center for Virology and Vaccines Research, Harvard Medical School, Boston, MA, USA e-mail: CTan@bidmc.harvard.edu

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_8

8.2 BKV

8.2.1 Definitions and Epidemiology

Asymptomatic primary infection with BKV most likely occurs in childhood. Seroprevalence worldwide is 65–90% and increases with age [4]. After primary infection, BKV resides in the kidney tubular epithelial cells. Occasional viral replication occurs as BKV is detected in the urine of up to 10% of healthy individuals. BKV viuria is not associated with any disease in healthy individuals. Active BKV replication is associated with diseases in immunosuppressed individuals, specifically, those with kidney transplants and those with hematopoietic stem cell transplant. After kidney transplant, BKV can be detected in urine (~30%) and blood (10–20%) of the recipients. Patients with viremia are at risk of developing BKV-associated nephropathy (BKVN), which occurs in 1–10% of kidney transplant recipients [5] (Table 8.1). Up to about half of those with diagnosed

		Clinical implication/action
Term	Definition	suggested
BK viuria	Detectable BKV from urine by PCR	Predictive of BK viremia,
	testing	suggest check BKV in plasma
BK viremia	Detectable BKV from plasma	 High viral load is predictive of development of BKVAN Threshold for clinical response not well defined Monitor renal function Consider reduction in immunosuppression and/or biopsy
BKV-associated	Kidney dysfunction in association with	Reduce immunosuppression
nephropathy	detection of BKV by PCR in blood in	(see Fig. 8.1)
(BKN)	(presumptive) or detected by biopsy	
	(proven). Grading by Banff criteria [16]	
BKN: Class 1	 ≤1% of all tubules/ducts with viral replication Interstitial fibrosis in up to 25% of cortical area (mild interstitial fibrosis) 	As above
BKN: Class 2	Either	As above
	• $\leq 1\%$ of all tubules/ducts with viral	
	replication with interstitial fibrosis in	
	$\leq 25\%$ of conteal area (moderate to severe interstitial fibrosis)	
	• or >1% to $\leq 10\%$ of all tubules/ducts	
	with viral replication with any level of	
	interstitial fibrosis	
	• or >10% of all tubules/ducts with viral	
	replication with mild interstitial fibrosis	
BKN: Class 3	• >10% of all tubules/ducts with viral	As above
	with moderate to severe interstitial	
	fibrosis	
	1	1

Table 8.1 BKV definitions

nephropathy will sustain graft loss. The majority of the BKVN cases occurs during the first year post transplant [6]; risks of developing BKVN include male sex, age, ureteric stents, donor seropositivity, increased levels of immunosuppression, and use of tacrolimus [7, 8]. Evidences show that most viral strains are from the donor [9, 10]. BKV viuria and viremia can occur in transplant recipients of other solid organs, such as the heart, liver, and lung, but at low incidences of 20% and 3%, respectively. These patients rarely progress to nephropathy absent a transplanted kidney [11]. Persistent viremia may also increase the risk of developing de novo donor-specific antibodies [12].

The detection of BKV in the urine has also been associated with genitourinary tumors [13].

8.2.2 Screening

BKV screening is performed post kidney transplant to reduce nephropathy and prevent graft loss. AST and KDIGO recommended systematic screening for BKV by PCR detection in kidney transplant recipients: monthly for the first 6 months after transplant and then every 3 months thereafter until 2 years [14, 15] (Fig. 8.1). Some centers screen urine for decoy cells, although this approach is less sensitive compared with PCR detection. Detection of the virus in urine is in of itself not associated with nephropathy. In those patients who go on to develop BK viremia, detection of virus in the urine usually precedes viremia by 4–12 weeks. Although specific virus quantity thresholds have not been prospectively developed, a blood viral load >10,000 copies/ml is highly associated with nephropathy.

8.2.3 Diagnosis

While detection of BKV in blood greater than $4\log_{10}$ copies/ml is presumptive of nephropathy in the kidney, pathological findings in kidney tissues obtained from biopsy are the gold standard in diagnosing BKV-associated nephropathy (BKN, also termed polyomavirus nephropathy (PVN) (Fig. 8.2). Histologically, BKN is categorized into three groups based on the latest Banff Working Group classifications, correlating to both increased creatinine and increased risk of graft loss from 16% to 31% to 50% [16]. Class 1, defined as involvement of $\leq 1\%$ of all tubules/ducts with viral replication with minimal interstitial fibrosis, represents early-stage disease with favorable outcomes. Class 2 is defined as either minimal viral replication with more severe interstitial fibrosis or >1% to \leq 10% of all tubules/ducts with viral replication. Class 3 carries the most severe prognosis and is defined as >10% of all tubules/ducts with viral replication. These classifications provide prognostic information at the time of kidney biopsy [16]. Of note, due to nonuniform involvement of the kidney, kidney biopsy may fail to detect BKN resulting in a false-negative biopsy [14].



Suggested approach for screening & management of BKV-associated clinical syndromes

Fig. 8.1 BKV screening and management after kidney transplantation. *Alternatively screen with urine BKV PCR; perform serum testing if positive. *No standardized PCR assays for BKV are currently available. Cutoff levels for viral detection should be based on PCR assays used at individual institutions. N signifies the threshold established at each institution for BKV serum PCR positivity in copies/ml. *Common practice: (1) decrease or hold MFA derivatives (or antimetabolite), (2) decrease (MFA + CNI) by 25–50%, (3) decrease CNI. *Evidence-based recommendations are lacking (ongoing clinical trials). May avoid long-term nephrotoxic effect of CNI therapy. Not recommended in patients with baseline significant proteinuria (arbitrarily defined as >500 mg/24 h or at the discretion of the clinician). *SCr* serum creatinine, *MFA* mycophenolate acid, *CNI* calcineurin inhibitor, *AR* acute rejection, *BKN* BK nephropathy, *mTOR* mammalian target of rapamycin, *IVIG* intravenous immunoglobulins, *CSA* cyclosporine. Adapted from Pham PT, Schaenman J, Pham PC. Medical management of the renal transplant recipient: Infections and malignancies. In: Johnson RJ, Feehally J. Comprehensive Clinical Nephrology. Sixth Edition. Elsevier Saunders, Philadelphia, PA

8.2.4 Prevention

Systematic screening for evidence of BKV replication is effective in preventing disease when followed with reduction of immunosuppressants to promote adaptive anti-BKV immune responses [17] (Fig. 8.1). A general approach is to either reduce calcineurin inhibitors 25–50% and mycophenolate by 50% at onset of viremia [14, 15]. Further reduction may be needed with persistent viremia. Switching immuno-suppressants to an mTOR inhibitor has been hypothesized and tried, based on the evidence that BKV uses the mTOR pathway for viral replication [18, 19].



Fig. 8.2 BKN histology. Hematoxylin and eosin stain demonstrating tubular epithelial cells with viral inclusions and interstitial inflammation in (**a**, **b**). SV-40 antibody stain showing BKV-infected cells in (**c**), and electron microscopy image captured the BK virus (**d**). Images **a–c** courtesy of Dr. Fernando Palma-Diaz. (**a**) Hematoxylin and eosin stain, showing tubular epithelial cells some with viral inclusions along with interstitial inflammation. (**b**) Hematoxylin and eosin stain; tubular atrophy and surrounding interstitial inflammation. (**c**) Immunohistochemistry staining for the SV40 antigen demonstrates nuclear staining in infected cells. (**d**) Ultrastructure of BKV-associated nephropathy. Virions are arranged in a paracrystalloid structure within a tubular epithelial cell nucleus.

8.2.5 Treatment

There is no effective antiviral against BKV [20]. The mainstay of treatment is to reduce immunosuppression as discussed above [17, 21]. This is balanced with risk of rejection. The goal of reduction of immunosuppression is to restore adaptive immune responses against BKV. Specifically, BKV-specific T cell with polyfunctionality is crucial in control of viremia [22, 23]. Therefore, there is potential for harnessing adoptive T cells as treatment for BKV [24, 25].

While most patients have prior exposure to BKV and detectable antibodies against the virus, genotype-specific neutralizing antibodies may be required for control of viremia [26]. The BKV-neutralizing antibodies are specific to genotypes and do not cross react. This knowledge supports a potential role for developing broadly neutralizing antibodies against BKV and the use of intravenous infusion of pooled immunoglobulins (IVIG) [27]. Although case reports indicated control of viremia with IVIG [28], a randomized double-blinded clinical trial is underway to determine efficacy of this treatment.

Several potential medications have been studied in treatment of BKV viremia. Leflunomide, a pyrimidine synthesis inhibitor, has been given to kidney transplant recipients with BKV viremia with mixed effect [17, 29–32]. The drug was given in conjunction with reduction in immunosuppression in all cases, and a

meta-analysis comparing drug effect to immunosuppression alone did not show a difference [33]. Based on in vitro demonstration of viral inhibition by DNA gyrase inhibitors, fluoroquinolones have been also tried in the prevention and treatment of BKV infections. Two randomized studies failed to find clinical efficacy of fluoroquinolones in prevention and treatment of BKV viremia [34, 35]. Cidofovir, a nucleotide analogue, showed mixed effect in a non-randomized cohort study and in several case reports [36] but all in conjunction with reduction of immunosuppressants. There was no difference in a meta-analysis of reduction of immunosuppression with cidofovir compared to reduction alone [17]. Brincidofovir, a cidofovir with a lipid tail to enhance transport across the cellular membrane, is an antiviral drug in development that has shown promise as an anti-BK virus agent in cell culture and in case reports [37, 38]. However, efficacy of this drug in treatment of BK virus infection remains to be determined. Switch to mTOR inhibitors may also be of benefit, as suggested by the observed lower incidence of BKV and BKAN in patients receiving sirolimus, and a current randomized controlled trial is underway. T cell transfer of immunity is another promising avenue for treatment currently under development.

8.3 JCV

8.3.1 Definition and Epidemiology

JCV infects 30–90% of the general adult population worldwide, depending on the assay and region [39]. Specific strains of JCV can be used to trace human geographic migrations over time. Primary infection is believed to be asymptomatic and transmitted via urine or fecal to oral route. Although JCV is thought to be latent in the kidney tubular epithelium after primary infection, virus is detected in the urine of up to 30% of healthy individuals, indicating active replication. While viral shedding in the urine by healthy individuals is not associated with any symptom or indicative of any disease, active viral replication in immunocompromised individuals is associated with disease. JCV-associated nephropathy and encephalopathy are rare but have been reported in transplant recipients [40–42]. More prevalent is the JCV replication in the brain, which causes the devastating disease progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) in patients with immunosuppression such as HIV, patients with lymphoma, and patients treated with natalizumab—a monoclonal antibody against alpha 4 integrin for multiple sclerosis and Crohn's disease

PML diagnosis	CSF JCV PCR	Clinical characteristics	Radiographic images
Definite	+	+	+
Probable	+	+	-
	+	-	+
Possible	-	+	+

Table 8.2 Diagnosing PML without histopathology

(Table 8.2). PML is a rare disease in transplant recipients, as only 11 cases have been reported in recipients of liver transplant [43, 44]. However, the incidence of PML in heart and/or lung recipients in one center was 1.24 per 1000 post-transplantation person-year, indicating potentially more cases than those reported in literature. In patients with solid organ transplantation, the mean time to detection of first symptom is 27 months, with mean survival of 6.4 months.

8.3.2 Screening

There are no recommended screening tests for transplant patients. Screening for JCV serology has been extensively studied in patients with multiple sclerosis using the STRATIFY JCV index assay. A rise in the antibody index, defined as the ratio between quantities of antibodies in the patient serum to the positive control, can be seen in some patients after prolonged treatment with natalizumab and is associated with increased risk of developing PML [45]. The STRATIFY JCV index has a falsenegative rate of up to 2.4% and a poor specificity rate of 40% in patients with high index value. However, this test has not been validated in transplant patients and other immunosuppressed patients. Given the rare incidence of PML in solid organ recipients, screening for JCV by serology titers or PCR detection is currently not recommended.

8.3.3 Diagnosis

The gold standard diagnostic test for PML is brain biopsy demonstrating demyelination, large bizarre astrocytes, and positive immunohistochemical staining with SV40 antibody. Electron microscopy will also show virion-filled cells.

When brain biopsy is contraindicated, presumptive diagnosis is made in clinically appropriate context with CSF analysis, including JCV PCR, and radiographic images [46] (Fig. 8.3). CSF often demonstrates mild protein elevation and some lymphocytic pleocytosis. Glucose is usually within the normal range. PCR for JCV is positive in most cases. Magnetic resonance neuroimaging shows multiple and single areas of demyelination in white matter, irrespective of vascular boundaries. Involvement of gray matters can also be present in some cases. These lesions are T1 hypointense and T2/fluid-attenuating inversion recovery hyperintense. Without PML–IRIS (immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome), there is no edema or mass effect (Fig. 8.4).

8.3.4 Prevention

Minimize immunosuppression. While risk of developing PML decreases with increased months post transplant, this risk is lifelong, as there are reported cases of patients developing PML years after transplantation.



Fig. 8.3 PML diagnosis algorithm. *FLAIR* fluid-attenuated inversion recovery, *PRES* posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome



Fig. 8.4 MRI image of PM: brain magnetic resonance images of a 57-year-old woman with progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. High-intensity signals were present in the subcortical white matters in the left temporal lobe in T2-weighted image (\mathbf{a}). These areas are hypointense in T1-weighted image (\mathbf{b}) and do not enhance with gadolinium

8.3.5 Treatment

There is no effective treatment against JCV. The first step in treatment is to assess the balance of immunosuppression and infection risk of the patient. Reactivation of polyomaviruses is often an indication of overt immunosuppression. Multiple antivirals and even some antibiotics have been tried, including cidofovir, mefloquine, ganciclovir, and leflunomide [47]. Based on the discovery of JCV's use of serotonin receptors to enter cells, mirtazapine, a serotonin receptor antagonist, has also been used as treatment [48]. However, there is no data from clinical studies to support this use. Lastly, there is potential for use of ex vivo stimulated JCV-specific T cells to boost immune response and control viral replication [49]. In PML patients on monoclonal antibody treatments, plasmapheresis can remove the immune-restricting antibody in attempt to revive immune response. However, an IRIS response may follow removal.

Case fatality for PML after transplantation is high at 84% [44]. But the 1-year survival is 56%, comparable to HIV patients on HAART [50].

8.4 Other Human Polyomaviruses

Since 2007, the human polyomavirus family has now expanded to include newly discovered viruses [1]. They are names after places of discovery, KIPyV (Karolinska Institute), WUPyV (Washington University), MWPyV (Malawi), and STLPyV (St. Louis); associated diseases, MCPyV (Merkel Cell) and TSPyV (trichodysplasia spinulosa); and lastly in chronological order of discovery, HPyV6 (human polyomavirus), HPyV7, HPyV9, HPyV12, and HPyV13. Known diseases associated with these viruses are Merkel cell carcinoma caused by MCPyV in immunocompromised patients, trichodysplasia spinulosa—a rare follicular disease caused by TSPyV in pediatric heart transplant recipients—and pruritic rash in lung transplant recipient caused by HPyV7 [51]. While KI and WU have been detected in the respiratory secretions in non-immunocompromised children, there are new reports of KIPyV association with respiratory symptoms in transplant recipients [52, 53].

General Approach General algorithmic approach to identifying and diagnosing focus of topic (introduced above) (Figs. 8.1 and 8.3).

References

- Johne R, Buck CB, Allander T, Atwood WJ, Garcea RL, Imperiale MJ, Major EO, Ramqvist T, Norkin LC. Taxonomical developments in the family polyomaviridae. Arch Virol. 2011;156(9):1627–34. https://doi.org/10.1007/s00705-011-1008-x.
- Gardner SD, Field AM, Coleman DV, Hulme B. New human papovavirus (B.K.) isolated from urine after renal transplantation. Lancet. 1971;1(7712):1253–7.

- Yogo Y, Sugimoto C, Zhong S, Homma Y. Evolution of the BK polyomavirus: epidemiological, anthropological and clinical implications. Rev Med Virol. 2009;19(4):185–99. https://doi. org/10.1002/rmv.613.
- Kean JM, Rao S, Wang M, Garcea RL. Seroepidemiology of human polyomaviruses. PLoS Pathog. 2009;5(3):e1000363. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.ppat.1000363.
- Hirsch HH, Knowles W, Dickenmann M, Passweg J, Klimkait T, Mihatsch MJ, Steiger J. Prospective study of polyomavirus type BK replication and nephropathy in renal-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2002;347(7):488–96. https://doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa020439.
 - Hirsch HH, Brennan DC, Drachenberg CB, Ginevri F, Gordon J, Limaye AP, Mihatsch MJ, Nickeleit V, Ramos E, Randhawa P, Shapiro R, Steiger J, Suthanthiran M, Trofe J. Polyomavirus-associated nephropathy in renal transplantation: interdisciplinary analyses and recommendations. Transplantation. 2005;79(10):1277–86.
- Hirsch HH, Vincenti F, Friman S, Tuncer M, Citterio F, Wiecek A, Scheuermann EH, Klinger M, Russ G, Pescovitz MD, Prestele H. Polyomavirus BK replication in de novo kidney transplant patients receiving tacrolimus or cyclosporine: a prospective, randomized, multicenter study. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(1):136–45. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2012.04320.x.
- Brennan DC, Agha I, Bohl DL, Schnitzler MA, Hardinger KL, Lockwood M, Torrence S, Schuessler R, Roby T, Gaudreault-Keener M, Storch GA. Incidence of BK with tacrolimus versus cyclosporine and impact of preemptive immunosuppression reduction. Am J Transplant. 2005;5(3):582–94.
- Schmitt C, Raggub L, Linnenweber-Held S, Adams O, Schwarz A, Heim A. Donor origin of BKV replication after kidney transplantation. J Clin Virol. 2014;59(2):120–5. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.jcv.2013.11.009.
- Schwarz C, Lawitschka A, Bohmig GA, Dauber EM, Greinix H, Kozakowski N, Muhlbacher F, Berlakovich GA, Wekerle T. Kidney transplantation with corticosteroids alone after haploidentical HSCT from the same donor. Transplantation. 2016;100(10):2219–21. https://doi. org/10.1097/TP.00000000001213.
- Viswesh V, Yost SE, Kaplan B. The prevalence and implications of BK virus replication in non-renal solid organ transplant recipients: a systematic review. Transplant Rev (Orlando). 2015;29(3):175–80. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trre.2015.02.004.
- Sawinski D, Trofe-Clark J. BKV viremia and development of de novo DSA in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transpl. 2015;31:249–56.
- Papadimitriou JC, Randhawa P, Rinaldo CH, Drachenberg CB, Alexiev B, Hirsch HH. BK polyomavirus infection and renourinary tumorigenesis. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(2):398–406. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13550.
- 14. Hirsch HH, Randhawa P, Practice ASTIDCo. BK polyomavirus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):179–88. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12110.
- Kidney Disease: Improving Global Outcomes Transplant Work G. KDIGO clinical practice guideline for the care of kidney transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(Suppl 3):S1– 155. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2009.02834.x.
- 16. Nickeleit V, Singh HK, Randhawa P, Drachenberg CB, Bhatnagar R, Bracamonte E, Chang A, Chon WJ, Dadhania D, Davis VG, Hopfer H, Mihatsch MJ, Papadimitriou JC, Schaub S, Stokes MB, Tungekar MF, Seshan SV, Banff Working Group on Polyomavirus N. The Banff Working Group classification of definitive polyomavirus nephropathy: morphologic definitions and clinical correlations. J Am Soc Nephrol. 2018;29(2):680–93. https://doi.org/10.1681/ASN.2017050477.
- Johnston O, Jaswal D, Gill JS, Doucette S, Fergusson DA, Knoll GA. Treatment of polyomavirus infection in kidney transplant recipients: a systematic review. Transplantation. 2010;89(9):1057–70. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e3181d0e15e.
- Dharnidharka VR, Cherikh WS, Abbott KC. An OPTN analysis of national registry data on treatment of BK virus allograft nephropathy in the United States. Transplantation. 2009;87(7):1019–26. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.0b013e31819cc383.
- van Doesum WB, Gard L, Bemelman FJ, de Fijter JW, Homan van der Heide JJ, Niesters HG, van Son WJ, Stegeman CA, Groen H, Riezebos-Brilman A, Sanders JSF. Incidence and outcome

of BK polyomavirus infection in a multicenter randomized controlled trial with renal transplant patients receiving cyclosporine-, mycophenolate sodium-, or everolimus-based low-dose immunosuppressive therapy. Transpl Infect Dis. 2017;19(3). https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12687

- Comoli P, Hirsch HH, Ginevri F. Cellular immune responses to BK virus. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2008;13(6):569–74. https://doi.org/10.1097/MOT.0b013e3283186b93.
- 21. Ginevri F, Azzi A, Hirsch HH, Basso S, Fontana I, Cioni M, Bodaghi S, Salotti V, Rinieri A, Botti G, Perfumo F, Locatelli F, Comoli P. Prospective monitoring of polyomavirus BK replication and impact of pre-emptive intervention in pediatric kidney recipients. Am J Transplant. 2007;7(12):2727–35. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1600-6143.2007.01984.x.
- 22. Schaenman JM, Korin Y, Sidwell T, Kandarian F, Harre N, Gjertson D, Lum EL, Reddy U, Huang E, Pham PT, Bunnapradist S, Danovitch GM, Veale J, Gritsch HA, Reed EF. Increased frequency of BK virus-specific polyfunctional CD8+ T cells predict successful control of BK viremia after kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 2017;101(6):1479–87. https://doi.org/10.1097/TP.00000000001314.
- Cioni M, Leboeuf C, Comoli P, Ginevri F, Hirsch HH. Characterization of immunodominant BK polyomavirus 9mer epitope T cell responses. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(4):1193–206. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13598.
- Barrett AJ, Prockop S, Bollard CM. Virus specific T cells: broadening applicability. Biol Blood Marrow Transplant. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.bbmt.2017.10.004
- Davies SI, Muranski P. T cell therapies for human polyomavirus diseases. Cytotherapy. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jcyt.2017.08.011
- Pastrana DV, Ray U, Magaldi TG, Schowalter RM, Cuburu N, Buck CB. BK polyomavirus genotypes represent distinct serotypes with distinct entry tropism. J Virol. 2013;87(18):10105– 13. https://doi.org/10.1128/JVI.01189-13.
- Randhawa P, Pastrana DV, Zeng G, Huang Y, Shapiro R, Sood P, Puttarajappa C, Berger M, Hariharan S, Buck CB. Commercially available immunoglobulins contain virus neutralizing antibodies against all major genotypes of polyomavirus BK. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(4):1014–20. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13083.
- Vu D, Shah T, Ansari J, Naraghi R, Min D. Efficacy of intravenous immunoglobulin in the treatment of persistent BK viremia and BK virus nephropathy in renal transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2015;47(2):394–8. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.transproceed.2015. 01.012.
- Josephson MA, Gillen D, Javaid B, Kadambi P, Meehan S, Foster P, Harland R, Thistlethwaite RJ, Garfinkel M, Atwood W, Jordan J, Sadhu M, Millis MJ, Williams J. Treatment of renal allograft polyoma BK virus infection with leflunomide. Transplantation. 2006;81(5):704–10. https://doi.org/10.1097/01.tp.0000181149.76113.50.
- Faguer S, Hirsch HH, Kamar N, Guilbeau-Frugier C, Ribes D, Guitard J, Esposito L, Cointault O, Modesto A, Lavit M, Mengelle C, Rostaing L. Leflunomide treatment for polyomavirus BK-associated nephropathy after kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2007;20(11):962–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2007.00523.x.
- Elfadawy N, Flechner SM, Liu X, Schold J, Tian D, Srinivas TR, Poggio E, Fatica R, Avery R, Mossad SB. The impact of surveillance and rapid reduction in immunosuppression to control BK virus-related graft injury in kidney transplantation. Transpl Int. 2013;26(8):822–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/tri.12134.
- Williams JW, Javaid B, Kadambi PV, Gillen D, Harland R, Thistlewaite JR, Garfinkel M, Foster P, Atwood W, Millis JM, Meehan SM, Josephson MA. Leflunomide for polyomavirus type BK nephropathy. N Engl J Med. 2005;352(11):1157–8. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJM200503173521125.
- Rinaldo CH, Hirsch HH. Antivirals for the treatment of polyomavirus BK replication. Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther. 2007;5(1):105–15. https://doi.org/10.1586/14787210.5.1.105.
- 34. Knoll GA, Humar A, Fergusson D, Johnston O, House AA, Kim SJ, Ramsay T, Chasse M, Pang X, Zaltzman J, Cockfield S, Cantarovich M, Karpinski M, Lebel L, Gill JS. Levofloxacin for BK virus prophylaxis following kidney transplantation: a randomized clinical trial. JAMA. 2014;312(20):2106–14. https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2014.14721.

- 35. Lee BT, Gabardi S, Grafals M, Hofmann RM, Akalin E, Aljanabi A, Mandelbrot DA, Adey DB, Heher E, Fan PY, Conte S, Dyer-Ward C, Chandraker A. Efficacy of levofloxacin in the treatment of BK viremia: a multicenter, double-blinded, randomized, placebo-controlled trial. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2014;9(3):583–9. https://doi.org/10.2215/CJN.04230413.
- Wu SW, Chang HR, Lian JD. The effect of low-dose cidofovir on the long-term outcome of polyomavirus-associated nephropathy in renal transplant recipients. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2009;24(3):1034–8. https://doi.org/10.1093/ndt/gfn675.
- Tylden GD, Hirsch HH, Rinaldo CH. Brincidofovir (CMX001) inhibits BK polyomavirus replication in primary human urothelial cells. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59(6):3306– 16. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00238-15.
- Reisman L, Habib S, McClure GB, Latiolais LS, Vanchiere JA. Treatment of BK virusassociated nephropathy with CMX001 after kidney transplantation in a young child. Pediatr Transplant. 2014;18(7):E227–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/petr.12340.
- Wollebo HS, White MK, Gordon J, Berger JR, Khalili K. Persistence and pathogenesis of the neurotropic polyomavirus JC. Ann Neurol. 2015;77(4):560–70. https://doi.org/10.1002/ ana.24371.
- Querido S, Jorge C, Sousa H, Birne R, Matias P, Weigert A, Adragao T, Bruges M, Ramos S, Santos M, Paixao P, Curran MD, Machado D. JC polyomavirus nephropathy confirmed by using an in-house polymerase chain reaction method. Transpl Infect Dis. 2015;17(5):732–6. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12426.
- Bialasiewicz S, Hart G, Oliver K, Agnihotri SP, Koralnik IJ, Viscidi R, Nissen MD, Sloots TP, Burke MT, Isbel NM, Burke J. A difficult decision: atypical JC polyomavirus encephalopathy in a kidney transplant recipient. Transplantation. 2017;101(6):1461–7. https://doi.org/10.1097/ TP.000000000001275.
- 42. Yang D, Keys B, Conti DJ, Foulke L, Stellrecht K, Cook L, Lopez-Soler RI. JC polyomavirus nephropathy, a rare cause of transplant dysfunction: case report and review of literature. Transpl Infect Dis. 2017;19(2). https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12654
- Moreno-Estebanez A, Almeida Velasco J, Perez-Concha T, Gonzalez-Pinto T, Gabilondo I. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy 11 years after liver transplantation: a case report. J Neurovirol. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s13365-017-0578-0
- 44. Mateen FJ, Muralidharan R, Carone M, van de Beek D, Harrison DM, Aksamit AJ, Gould MS, Clifford DB, Nath A. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in transplant recipients. Ann Neurol. 2011;70(2):305–22. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.22408.
- 45. Plavina T, Subramanyam M, Bloomgren G, Richman S, Pace A, Lee S, Schlain B, Campagnolo D, Belachew S, Ticho B. Anti-JC virus antibody levels in serum or plasma further define risk of natalizumab-associated progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Ann Neurol. 2014;76(6):802–12. https://doi.org/10.1002/ana.24286.
- 46. Berger JR, Aksamit AJ, Clifford DB, Davis L, Koralnik IJ, Sejvar JJ, Bartt R, Major EO, Nath A. PML diagnostic criteria: consensus statement from the AAN neuroinfectious disease section. Neurology. 2013;80(15):1430–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e31828c2fa1.
- Pavlovic D, Patera AC, Nyberg F, Gerber M, Liu M, Progressive Multifocal Leukeoncephalopathy C. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy: current treatment options and future perspectives. Ther Adv Neurol Disord. 2015;8(6):255–73. https://doi. org/10.1177/1756285615602832.
- Vulliemoz S, Lurati-Ruiz F, Borruat FX, Delavelle J, Koralnik IJ, Kuntzer T, Bogousslavsky J, Picard F, Landis T, Du Pasquier RA. Favourable outcome of progressive multifocal leucoencephalopathy in two patients with dermatomyositis. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 2006;77(9):1079–82. https://doi.org/10.1136/jnnp.2006.092353.
- Balduzzi A, Lucchini G, Hirsch HH, Basso S, Cioni M, Rovelli A, Zincone A, Grimaldi M, Corti P, Bonanomi S, Biondi A, Locatelli F, Biagi E, Comoli P. Polyomavirus JC-targeted T-cell therapy for progressive multiple leukoencephalopathy in a hematopoietic cell transplantation recipient. Bone Marrow Transplant. 2011;46(7):987–92. https://doi.org/10.1038/ bmt.2010.221.

- Marzocchetti A, Tompkins T, Clifford DB, Gandhi RT, Kesari S, Berger JR, Simpson DM, Prosperi M, De Luca A, Koralnik IJ. Determinants of survival in progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy. Neurology. 2009;73(19):1551–8. https://doi.org/10.1212/WNL.0b013e3181c0d4a1.
- 51. Ho J, Jedrych JJ, Feng H, Natalie AA, Grandinetti L, Mirvish E, Crespo MM, Yadav D, Fasanella KE, Proksell S, Kuan SF, Pastrana DV, Buck CB, Shuda Y, Moore PS, Chang Y. Human polyomavirus 7-associated pruritic rash and viremia in transplant recipients. J Infect Dis. 2015;211(10):1560–5. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiu524.
- Siebrasse EA, Nguyen NL, Smith C, Simmonds P, Wang D. Immunohistochemical detection of KI polyomavirus in lung and spleen. Virology. 2014;468–470:178–84. https://doi. org/10.1016/j.virol.2014.08.005.
- 53. Bialasiewicz S, Rockett RJ, Barraclough KA, Leary D, Dudley KJ, Isbel NM, Sloots TP. Detection of recently discovered human polyomaviruses in a longitudinal kidney transplant cohort. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(9):2734–40. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.13799.



Prevention and Treatment of Respiratory Virus Infection

Maddalena Peghin and Lara Danziger-Isakov

Abbreviations

AdV	Adenovirus
CoV	Coronavirus
FLU	Influenza
hMPV	Human metapneumovirus
HSV1–2	Herpes simplex 1–2
IVIG	Intravenous immunoglobulin
LRTI	Lower respiratory tract infection
MERS-CoV	Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus
PIV	Parainfluenza
PPE	Postexposure prophylaxis
PrEP	Pre-exposure prophylaxis
RBV	Ribavirin
RhVs	Rhinovirus
RSV	Respiratory syncytial virus
RVs	Respiratory virus
SARS-CoV	Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus
SOT	Solid organ transplant
URTI	Upper respiratory tract infection

M. Peghin

Department of Medicine, Infectious Diseases Clinic, University of Udine and Azienda Sanitaria Universitaria Integrata, Udine, Italy

L. Danziger-Isakov (🖂)

Division of Infectious Diseases, Cincinnati Children's Hospital Medical Center, Cincinnati, OH, USA e-mail: Lara.Danziger-Isakov@cchmc.org

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_9
9.1 Introduction

Respiratory viruses (RVs) are increasingly recognized as a major cause of morbidity and mortality in solid organ transplant recipients, especially within the lung transplant population. Respiratory viral infections are typically caused by rhinovirus (RhVs), coronavirus (CoV), respiratory syncytial virus (RSV), influenza (FLU), parainfluenza (PIV), human metapneumovirus (hMPV), and adenovirus (AdV) (Table 9.1). Respiratory infections can also be caused by viruses less commonly associated with the respiratory tract such as cytomegalovirus (CMV), human herpesviruses (HSV1, HSV2), and varicella zoster virus (VZV) that will be discussed in another chapter (Chap. 6). A detailed discussion of other newer respiratory viruses (Table 9.1) is beyond the scope of this chapter, since they have not been widely studied in immunocompromised patients and their clinical impact is not fully understood. However, these viruses should be considered in the differential diagnosis of patients presenting with severe lower tract disease, especially if clinical history indicates potential exposure. The newer RVs are more challenging to diagnose since they are not included in the routinely available diagnostic tests and optimal management has not been defined.

Major RVs	Distribution (%) in SOT
Rhinovirus (RhVs)	21–62
Coronavirus (CoV)	13–29
• Influenza virus (FLU)	2–16
Respiratory syncytial virus (RSV)	6–20
Parainfluenza virus (PIV)	3–18
Metapneumovirus (hMPV)	4–7
Adenovirus (AdV)	1–25
Minor RVs	
Cytomegalovirus (CMV)	
• Herpes simplex virus 1–2 (HSV1–2)	
Varicella zoster virus (VZV)	
• Measles	
• Enterovirus + Enterovirus D68	
Parechovirus	
Parvovirus B19	
Bocavirus	
CoV HKU1 and NL63	
Middle East respiratory syndrome CoV	
(MERS-CoV)	
• Severe acute respiratory syndrome CoV	
(SARS-CoV)	
 Polyomaviruses KI and WU 	

Table 9.1 Classification and distribution of major and minor respiratory viral infections in SOT

RVs respiratory viruses, SOT solid organ transplant

9.2 Clinical Manifestations

The definition of RV disease includes (1) a new onset of symptoms and (2) at least one respiratory symptom and (3) the clinician's judgment that the illness is due to an infection [1]. An upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) is defined with the onset of sore throat, rhinorrhea, or hoarseness. A lower respiratory tract infection (LRTI) is defined as new onset of shortness of breath, cough, sputum, rales, hypoxemia, and/or wheezing. When symptoms of LRTI are associated with a new pulmonary infiltrate (on chest radiograph or chest computed tomography), pneumonia is distinguished from tracheobronchitis.

Many common respiratory viral infections in SOT patients are mild, self-limiting upper respiratory tract infection (URTI) and do not require hospitalization. However, compared to immunocompetent hosts and due to alterations in cellular and humoral immunity, infections can cause protracted symptoms with greater risk of progression to LRTI, prolonged periods of viral shedding, and increased mortality. In SOT, LRTIs have been associated with increased risk of adverse complications and subsequent development of fungal, viral, and bacterial superinfections [2]. Although these complications may appear in the context of any type of transplantation, pediatric, lung, and heart-lung transplantation recipients appear to have the greatest risk of respiratory viral infections with more severe courses and complications [2–4].

In addition to their direct, cytopathic, and tissue-invasive effects, RVs can create an inflammatory environment that leads to local and systemic microbially determined immune modulation (MDIM) [5]. MDIM may increase the alloimmune and autoimmune responses that increase susceptibility to other opportunistic infections and are associated with the development of acute and chronic rejection. The greatest risk appears from data in lung transplant recipients, although data on this topic in the literature are conflicting [2, 5, 6].

In transplantation overall, RhV and CoV are the most common etiological agents, causing mostly mild URTI, with LRTI less frequently described. In contrast, FLU and other paramyxovirus (RSV, PIV, and hMPV) have a greater association with LRTI and particularly acute and chronic rejection in adult lung transplant recipients [2, 5] (Tables 9.1 and 9.2). Outcomes of infection are associated strongly with site of involvement, net state of immune suppression, and availability and use of antiviral agents.

9.3 Diagnosis

The clinical diagnosis of RVs can be difficult, since SOT recipients often present with mild or atypical symptoms and signs, which are often overlapping and not always specific for any one viral agent. Fever can be absent in SOT with pneumonia or can be the sole presenting sign. In addition bacterial and fungal coinfections may occur.

The distribution of RV infections throughout the year suggests that seasonal patterns of RV circulation in SOT are similar to those circulating in the general

Table 9.2	Seasonality, diagnos	tic tools, clinic	al presentation, tre	satment regimens,	prevention, and isolation precaution	for major RVs	
Virus	Family and type	Seasonality	Diagnostic test	Clinical	Treatment revimens	Prevention	Isolation recommendation
RhVs	Picornavirus	A11	RT-PCR	Mostly URTI	Primary none	Pronhvlaxis: none	Standard contact
	RNA	year-round with higher peaks in fall and spring	Cell culture Serology	LRTI	Alternative: none	Vaccine: none	and droplet
CoV	Coronaviridae RNA	Winter and spring	RT-PCR Serology	Mostly URTI, LRTI	Primary: none Alternative: none	Prophylaxis: none Vaccine: none	Standard precautions but SARS and MERS require contact, droplet, and airborne precautions
FLU	Orthomyxoviridae RNA	Winter between December and February	RT-PCR IF IA Cell culture Serology Susceptibility test	URTI, LRTI (pneumonia, ARDS, obliterative bronchiolitis) \pm encephalitis, myocarditis, and myositis	Primary: oseltamivir or zanamivir Alternative: peramivir or DAS181 For oseltamivir resistant strains: zanamivir (active), peramivir (reduced susceptibility), or DAS181 (research/ compassionate use currently) M2 Inhibitors (amantadine and rimantadine): no longer recommended (not useful for recommended (not useful for recommended (not useful for recommended (not useful for recommended (not useful for recommended (not useful for recommended (not use	Prophylaxis: oseltamivir 75 mg or zanamivir 2 puffs OD PrEP: OD for influenza season (12 weeks) PPE: OD prophylaxis or therapeutic regimen for 7–10 days very early after exposure Vaccine: yearly trivalent or quadrivalent inactivated influenza	Standard, contact, and droplet
RSV	Paramyxoviridae RNA	Fall and winter	RT-PCR IF IA Cell culture Serology	URTI, LRTI	Primary: oral, intravenous, or inhaled ribavirin ± IVIG ^b ± palivizumab ^c ± steroids ^d Alternative: intravenous ribavirin	Prophylaxis: palivizumab or IVIG PrEP: once a month during RSV season in pediatric transplant	Standard and contact

DV ç ÷ Jotic ÷ 1 ÷ 4 -1 _ 4 ÷

PIV	Paramyxoviridae RNA	PIV 1: fall and winter PIV 2: fall and winter PIV 3: spring and summer PIV 4: not well established	RT-PCR IF Cell culture Serology	PIV 1: croup, URTI PIV 2: croup, URTI PIV 3: URTI, LRTI PIV 4: rarely cause disease	Primary: none Alternative: oral, intravenous, or inhaled ribavirin ± IVIG ^b	Prophylaxis: none Vaccine: none	Standard and contact
hMPV	Paramyxoviridae RNA	Winter and spring	RT-PCR IF Serology	URTI, LRTI	Primary: none Alternative: oral, intravenous or inhaled ribavirin ± IVIG ^b	Prophylaxis: none Vaccine: none	Standard and contact
AdV	Adenoviridae DNA	All year-round	RT-PCR ^a IF Cell culture Serology	URTI, LRTI, gastroenteritis, nephritis, henorrhagic cystitis, encephalitis disseminated infection	Primary: cidofovir ± IVIG ^b Alternative: brincidofovir (research/compassionate use currently), ribavirin, ganciclovir	Prophylaxis: none Vaccine: none	Standard, contact and droplet
"Adenovii RT-PCR & cerebrosp blhtravenc ePalivizur dMethylpi 0.2 mg/kg AdV adenc IVIG intr: parainflue SARS-Co ¹	rus is unique in that, should be applied on n inal fluid) ous immunoglobulin th nab 15 mg/kg once a r ednisolone is increase y/day ovirus, CoV coronaviru avenous immunoglobu nza, PrEP pre-exposu v severe acute respirate	although PCR sspiratory spec terapy at a dost nonth; maximu d at a dose of s, <i>FLU</i> influen: liin, <i>LRT1</i> low ure prophylaxi ory syndrome o	is the preferred d timen, blood (quar e of 500 mg/Kg th um of 5 doses per s 1 mg/kg/day, follo za, hMPV human n za, hMPV postexpost s, PPE postexpost coronavirus, URTI	iagnostic test, neg ntitative viral load e first day, followe season wed by gradually netapneumovirus, <i>I</i> i nfection, <i>MERS</i> ure prophylaxis, <i>K</i> upper respiratory	ative testing from the upper or low testing) and other compartments dep ed by a repeated dose after 48 h tapering over 2 weeks to reach a m. <i>HSV1–2</i> herpes simplex virus 1–2, <i>IA</i> - <i>CoV</i> Middle East respiratory syndr tract infection	er airway may not exclu eending on clinical preser aintenance dose of appro immunoassay, <i>IF</i> Immuno ome coronavirus, <i>OD</i> on ncytial virus, <i>RT-PCR</i> re	de infections. tation (urine, dimately 0.1– fluorescence, ce daily, <i>PIV</i> al time PCR,

population [2, 3]. Consequently, vigilance regarding circulating community RV infections is required while caring for SOT recipients.

Rapid and reliable laboratory diagnosis is required in SOT with respiratory syndrome to significantly impact on patient care and management. The ideal method of sampling has also come into question, as the yield of viral specimen may differ depending on the specimen source. All SOTs with suspected RV infection should have a nasopharyngeal sample tested by PCR, including nasopharyngeal swab (NPS), wash, or aspirate. Between common respiratory specimens collected from the upper respiratory tract, NPS are preferred, since they are practical for widespread use and comparable in sensitivity to nasopharyngeal aspirates or bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) for the detection of all major RVs [1, 7, 8]. NPS should be collected diligently by trained staff, using the standardized procedures of the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) (https://www.cdc.gov/urdo/downloads/ speccollectionguidelines.pdf;https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DVJNWefmHjE) [9]. If upper tract samples fail to document the RV cause of the respiratory illness and clinical or radiologic evidence of lower tract involvement exists, BAL should be performed for RV testing [7].

The array of diagnostic tools for RVs in immunocompromised patients has greatly increased over the last few years, and diagnosis can be performed using real-time PCR (RT-PCR) techniques, antigen detection, and serology (Table 9.3) [9].

The sensitivities of contemporary molecular diagnostic techniques have been substantially improved, allowing for the rapid simultaneous detection of a wide variety of conventional and emerging RVs in respiratory samples. At present, realtime multiplex nucleic acid amplification testing (multiplex NAT) based on the RT-PCR technology is the preferred diagnostic tool for studying RVs in immunocompromised patients and is incorporated into many of the current guidelines [1, 7]. Both laboratory-developed and commercial RT-PCR assays are currently available, differing in specificity and sensitivity (ranges from 72% to 100%, with best sensitivity seen for FLU and lower sensitivities for ADV and PIV). With the aim of overcoming technical complexity of PCR-based testing, fully automated RT-PCR instrument for rapid detection of RV has been tested in immunocompromised patients with promising results with a turnaround time of approximately 1-2 h [10]. Therefore, clinicians should be aware of the performance characteristics of the assay performed (https://www.cdc.gov/urdo/downloads/speccollectionguidelines. pdf). Of note that regarding ADV, negative testing from the upper or lower airway may not exclude infections particularly for SOT with disseminated disease if there is limited to no involvement of the respiratory tract. RT-PCR should be applied on respiratory specimen, blood (quantitative viral load testing), and other compartments depending on clinical presentation (urine, cerebrospinal fluid).

It is important to remember, however, that despite the excellent sensitivity, poorly collected samples may yield false-negative results, and results may greatly vary depending on the quality of the swab. The high sensitivity of these methods also has drawbacks, such as frequent detection of viruses in asymptomatic individuals and prolonged detection of viruses in patients who have already clinically recovered [2, 3].

	Comments	 (+): new reference standard; superior performance characteristic (-): frequent detection of viruses in asymptomatic individuals; negative testing for AdV from the upper or lower airway may not exclude infection 		 (+): rapid, multianalyte detection (-): not available for RhVs or CoVs ; moderately complex and subjective reading 	 (+): fast and simple to use (-): amenable to point-of-care testing; suboptimal in SOT; some commercial kits do not distinguish between FLU A and B
	Test time	15 min- 8 h		1–2 h	≤15 min
	Specificity	High		Moderate-high	Moderate-high
	Sensitivity	High		Moderate	Low-moderate
	RVs tested	RSV, FLU, PIV, AdV, hMPV, RhVs, CoVs		RSV, PIV 1, PIV 2, PIV 3, AdV, hMPV Not RhVs or CoVs	RSV, FLU (mostly) adenovirus
	Specimen	NPS, BAL		NPS, BAL	NPS, BAL
modified	Clinical methods	Multiplex nucleic acid amplification tests—real- time PCR (RT-PCR)	Direct antigen detection tests	- Immunofluorescence (IF)	- Immunoassay (IA)

Table 9.3 Laboratory methods for diagnosis of the major human respiratory viruses. From Hodinka (https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=DVJNWefmHjE)

(continued)

Table 9.3 (continued)						
Clinical methods	Specimen	RVs tested	Sensitivity	Specificity	Test time	Comments
Virus culture systems						
- Shell vial or microwell plate	NPS, BAL NPS, BAL	RSV, FLU, PIV 1, PIV 2, PIV 3, AdV, hMPV	Low-moderate	High	1–3 days	 (+): rapid centrifugation- assisted cultures for select viruses (-): less sensitive than tube cultures; not available for the growth of all viruses
- Conventional tube		RSV, FLU, PIV, AdV, RhVs (A and B)	Low-moderate	High	3-14 days	 (+): capable of growing any virus; allows confirmation of virus viability and test of antiviral susceptibility (-): involves considerable time, labor, and resources; Group C RhVs, MPV, and CoVs do not routinely grow in standard cell culture
Serology	Blood	RSV, FLU, PIV, AdV, hMPV, RhVs, CoVs	NA	NA	NA	 (+): used for research, epidemiologic studies and analyze the immune response to vaccination (-): not useful for diagnosis; need collection of blood samples at acute illness and 4–6 weeks after
(+) positive, (-) negative, AdV NPS nasopharyngeal swab, PII upper respiratory tract infectio	′ adenovirus, <i>BAL</i> bi V parainfluenza viru us disease	ronchoalveolar lavage, C is, RhVs rhinovirus, RSV	<i>CoV</i> coronavirus, <i>F</i> respiratory syncyt	<i>LU</i> influenza, <i>hMPV</i> l ial virus, <i>RVs</i> respirato	human metapi ory virus, <i>SO</i> 1	neumovirus, NA not applicable, ° solid organ transplant, URTID

The major challenge is to determine association between the presence of microbial nucleic acids and a clinical syndrome in individual patients. Quantification of the virus may be a helpful result interpretation, since high viral loads are associated with the presence of symptoms and may be related to the severity of the clinical symptoms [9].

Antigen detection techniques, which include immunofluorescence (IF) and immunoassay (IA), are fast and have high specificity but are only available for specific viruses and their sensitivity less than molecular methods. This technique is not available for viral respiratory infections caused by RhV or CoV and is moderately complex, and interpretation of results is subjective [9]. A number of commercial IA are available for RSV and FLU (A and B) and require little technical expertise. However, false-negative and false-positive results can be generated. A low prevalence of circulating virus within the community decreases the positive predictive value of the test. For FLU, rapid IA has shown high specificity but low sensitivity (20–70%) as compared to other assays, making them suboptimal for SOT recipient, particularly in clinical decision-making for antiviral therapy [11].

Antiviral susceptibility testing for RVs is primarily focused on influenza, and both phenotypic and genotypic assays can be tested, although such testing is not widely available in local or commercial labs.

Antiviral resistance is of considerable concern among immunocompromised patients infected with influenza virus, and testing should be strongly considered in SOT undergoing treatment who fails to have an appropriate clinical response within 3–5 days of initiating antiviral therapy or who has a relapsing course despite ongoing therapy.

9.4 Treatment Options, General Considerations

In the absence of available treatment options and of strong evidence of effectiveness for any particular therapy, treatment strategies differ widely among centers [12]. Limited understanding of (1) risk factors for progression to severe LRTI and poor outcomes and (2) indirect inflammatory effects of viral infection impact opinions on appropriate interventions for respiratory viral infections. RV infections, particularly cause by influenza virus, are a risk factor for subsequent bacterial and fungal superinfections. In cases of LRTI, secondary infections must be ruled out and appropriately treated, and initiation of oral or nebulized antifungal prophylaxis to prevent invasive fungal infections should be evaluated in high-risk patients [1, 2, 12].

Management in transplant patients is generally focused on reduction of immunosuppression feasible to speed resolution of viral infection. Treatment options for RVs are limited (Tables 9.2 and 9.4). Resistance patterns may change and affect recommended antiviral strategies. Consequently, clinicians should consult national health authority regularly for updated recommendations, especially for influenza.

Table 9.4 Ant	tiviral agents					
	Mechanism of		Standard dose and	Hepatic and renal		Drug interactions ^a
Drug	action	Spectrum	duration of treatment	adjustment	Pediatric dose	and toxicity
Ribavirin	Broad-	RSV	Inhaled (SPAG,	No hepatic adjustment	Inhaled: 20 mg/mL as the	No drug interactions
	spectrum	hMPV	negative pressure	No renal adjustment	starting solution in the	Inhaled RBV: teratogenic
	nucleoside	PIV 1-4	room): 6 gm daily	but use with caution if	drug reservoir	potential, bronchospasm,
	analog activity	CoV	aerosolized	CrCl <50 mL/min	Oral: Children ≥ 2 years	cough, nausea, rash,
	against DNA	FLU	continuously over		and adolescents: 15 mg/	decreased pulmonary
	and RNA	AdV	12–18 h or 2 gm		kg/day in two divided	function, conjunctival
	viruses		every 8 h over 1–4 h		doses	irritation; can potentially
			each for 7–10 days			be deposited in the
			Intravenous:			ventilator delivery system
			15-25 mg/kg/day in			Oral/intravenous:
			three divided doses			hemolysis, insomnia, lactic
			for 7-10 days. Some			acidosis, rash
			authors use loading			hyperbilirubinemia and
			dose 35 mg/kg in			leukopenia
			three divided doses			
			the first day			
			Oral: 15–25 mg/kg/			
			day in three divided			
			dose for 7-10 days			

Ocoltominie	Manualana	ETTA and	Oud. 75 mc anom.	No honotio adimetanont	Eon abild of any maight	No dance intermetione
Oscitatity II	Iventalilluase	LLU A allu	OTAL: / J ILLE EVELY	INO ITEPALIC AUJUSTITETI	FOI CIIIIU OI AIIY WEIGIIL	INU ULUS IIILEIACHUIIS
	inhibitor (NAI)	В	12 h for 5–10 days	Renal adjustment:	>2 weeks <1 year old:	Gastrointestinal upset,
			Some authors suggest	CrCl ≥30 mL/min:	3 mg/kg/dose every 12 h	hypersensitivity reactions,
			double dose (150 mg	75 mg every 12 h (for	For child ≥ 1 year old:	hepatotoxicity,
			every 12 h) in severe	treatment), 75 mg	≤15 kg: 30 mg every 12 h	neurotoxicity, rashes
			cases or in case of	every 24 h (for	16–23 kg: 45 mg every	In children oseltamivir has
			insufficient response	prophylaxis)	12 h	been associated with
			to therapy or/and	CrCl <30 mL/min:	24-40 kg: 60 mg every	neuropsychiatric adverse
			extended duration of	75 mg every 24 h (for	12 h	events
			treatment to 10 days	treatment), 75 mg	>40 kg: 75 mg every 12 h	
			in case of in critically	every 48 h (for	Indicated for prevention in	
			ill patients and	prophylaxis)	child ≥ 1 year old; for the	
			persistent viral	HD/CAPD: 30–75 mg	treatment in child >	
			shedding	after dialysis	2 weeks	
			Intravenous:	CRRT: 75 mg every		
			compassionate use	12 h		
Zanamivir	Neuraminidase	FLU A and	Nasal: 10 mg 2 puffs	Approximately	Indicated for prophylaxis	No drug interactions
	inhibitor (NAI)	В	every 12 h for	4–17% of inhaled	in children ≥ 5 years old	Bronchospasm: cannot be
			5-10 days. Rare	dose absorbed into	and for treatment in	used in patients on
			reports of inhaled	plasma	children ≥ 7 years old:	ventilators because
			zanamivir failure	No hepatic adjustment	same dose than adults	obstruction of filters
			Intravenous:	No renal adjustment		
			compassionate use			
						(continued)

Table 9.4 (coi	ntinued)					
	Mechanism of		Standard dose and	Hepatic and renal		Drug interactions ^a
Drug	action	Spectrum	duration of treatment	adjustment	Pediatric dose	and toxicity
Peramivir	Neuraminidase	FLU A and B	Intravenous: 600 mg	No hepatic adjustment	Children 181 days to	No drug interactions
		a	5-10 days	CrCl ≥50 mL/min:	Children 6–17 years:	intolerance, neutropenia,
			Approved in China,	600 mg IV every	10 mg/kg every 24 h for	neuropsychiatric
			Japan, South Korea,	24 hCrCl 30-49 mL/	5 days (maximum of	disturbances, rash,
			and the United States	min: 200 mg IV every	600 mg every 24 h)	hyperglycemia
				24 hCrCl 10-29 mL/	CrCl ≥50 mL/min:	
				min: 100 mg IV every	600 mg IV every 24 hCrCl	
				24 h	30-49 mL/min: age	
				CrCl <10 mL/min:	6-17 years: 2.5 mg/kg	
				100 mg single dose,	every 24 h; age 180 days	
				than 15 mg every 24 h	to 5 years: 3 mg/kg every	
				HD: administer post	24 hCrCl 10-29 mL/min:	
				dialysis based on	age 6-17 years: 1.6 mg/kg	
				renal function:	every 24 h; age 180 days	
				100 mg on day 1 then	to 5 years: 1.9 mg/kg	
				100 mg 2 h after HD	every 24 h	
				CAPD/CRRT: no	CrCl <10 mL/min: age	
				recommendations	6-17 years: 1.6 mg/kg on	
					day 1 then 0.25 mg/kg	
					every 24 h	
					age 180 days to 5 years:	
					1.9 mg/kg on day 1 then	
					0.3 mg/kg	
					Hemodialysis: age	
					6-17 years: 1.6 mg/kg on	
					day 1 then 1.6 mg/kg 2 h	
					after HD	
					Age 181 days to 6 years:	
					1.9 mg/kg on day 1 then	
					1.9 mg/kg 2 h after HD	

Laninamivir	Neuraminidase	FLU A and	Inhaled: 40 mg every	No hepatic adjustment	Age <10 years: 20 mg	No drug interactions
	inhibitor (INAL)	В	24 h 20 mg dailv for	No renal adjustment Approximately 15%	every 24 n	
			2 days is	of inhaled dose		
			recommended for	absorbed into plasma		
			prophylaxis			
			Approved in Japan			
Cidofovir	Nucleotide	AdV	Intravenous: induction	No data on hepatic	Infants ≥ 6 months	Cidofovir: dose dependent
	analog activity	Herpesvirus	of 5 mg/kg IV once	adjustment	<3 years	nephrotoxicity, proteinuria,
	against DNA	JC virus	weekly × 2 weeks	No renal adjustment	IV: 1 mg/kg/dose every	glycosuria, metabolic
	viruses		Maintenance: 5 mg/	but if CrCl <55 mL/	other day or three times	acidosis Fanconi
			kg IV once every	min or urine protein	weekly for 4 consecutive	syndrome, bone marrow
			2 weeks (minimum	≥100 mg/dL: avoid	weeks	toxicity
			two doses) or 1 mg/kg	use		Probenecid: fever,
			IV three times per	Changes in renal		gastrointestinal symptoms,
			week for 2 weeks	function during		rash, asthenia, ocular
			+ probenecid	therapy:		diseases
			+ hydration ^b	If serum creatinine		Caution: the use of
			Intravescical: 5 mg/	increases by		tacrolimus or cyclosporine
			Kg in 100 mL of NS	0.3-0.4 mg/dL:		with cidofovir may
			(for hemorrhagic	reduce dose to 3 mg/		enhance the risk of
			cystitis)	kg;		nephrotoxicity
				If serum creatinine		
				increases ≥0.5 mg/dL		
				or development of		
				≥3 + proteinuria:		
				discontinue therapy		
				No data on dialysis		
^a Drug interaction	ns are focused on i	nteractions with	imminosuppressive there	any: steroids, cyclosporine	tacrolimus, sirolimus, everol	limus, myconhenolate mofetil
^b Drohanacid: 7 o	r 3 h nrior to cidofe	wirdose then 1	rat 2 h and 8 h after con	and at the influence Experiment	Vdration: nationte chould ale	o receive 11 of normal caline
intravenously in	fused over 1–2 h ii	mmediately pric	by to each cidofovir infusio	on. If tolerated, a second li	ter may be administered over	1-3 h at the start of cidofovir

In our opinion treatment efforts should be always performed in any SOT with LRTI or in lung transplant and heart-lung transplantation recipients both with URTI and with LRTI, due to increased morbidity and mortality [12].

Reconstitution of the immune system appears to be important in overcoming RV infections. Clearly, the currently available treatment option is a clinical dilemma [6, 7, 13]. There are numerous reports in the literature citing the use of intravenous immunoglobulin (IVIG) as part of therapy for viral infections in immunocompromised patients. Hypogammaglobulinemia has been associated with an increased risk of opportunistic infections in SOT, but not to community-acquired RVI. However, some experts recommend considering the addition of IVIG for severe RV infection in SOT [13].

The use of monoclonal antibodies is limited to the treatment of RSV. Immunotherapy including transfer of RV-specific T lymphocytes from healthy donors is under investigation and has been reported to be safe and effective when performed early in the course of the infection for hMPV, adenovirus, RSV, and PIV. At the same time, virus-associated immune modulation may sometimes be deleterious in RVs due to local inflammatory responses. Adjunctive therapy with corticosteroids has been purposed for SOT with influenza and RSV and for lung transplant recipients with any RVs with LRTI because of the risk of both acute and chronic rejection [13].

9.5 Prevention, General Considerations

Treatment options for RVs are limited, and maximizing prevention measures against viral infections in SOT is mandatory.

RVs are potential community and nosocomial pathogens that can be spread by staff or visitors with mild upper respiratory illness. Overall awareness among SOT, healthcare personnel, family members, and caregivers about the potential deleterious outcomes of RV infections in SOT and the importance of early detection of infection may have a significant impact on the incidence of RV infections and risk of transmission [1].

Strict adherence to hand hygiene, contact precautions, and respiratory droplet isolation are required to reduce RV nosocomial spread and outbreaks during hospitalization (Table 9.2) (https://www.cdc.gov/infectioncontrol/guidelines/isolation/). The appropriate length of isolation for patients with laboratory proven RVs is debated, as prolonged shedding is a common finding in SOT patients, but viral load thresholds for infectivity are unknown. Infection control measures should be maintained until the patient is discharged home or until PCR is negative. Stringent hygiene precautions should be also applied in community settings, where SOT recipients should avoid close contact with individuals with respiratory tract infections [1]. The influenza virus is currently the only CARV that can be prevented with vaccination [14].

9.6 Prevention and Treatment of Specific RVs

9.6.1 Influenza

Three main viral strains have been recently associated with human infection, namely, influenza A/H1N1, influenza A/H3N2, and influenza B. Influenza infection in SOT causes significant morbidity and mortality compared to general population [15]. In studies performed in 2009 H1N1 pandemic, the proportion of patients who required hospitalization varied between 73% and 96%, and one of every five patients suffered severe complications with 7–8% mortality [15].

Treatment The mainstay of treatment for influenza A and B are the neuraminidase inhibitors (NAI), mainly oseltamivir (Tables 9.2 and 9.4) [16]. Doubling the treatment dose of oseltamivir in hospitalized patients with influenza does not seem to increase virologic efficacy, except perhaps for influenza B infections or in case of oral absorption concerns, with no evidence of emergence of oseltamivir resistance [17, 18]. Zanamivir is used less frequently than oral oseltamivir, likely due to the inhaled delivery route, although it has shown better activity against influenza B and few cross-resistance with oseltamivir.

Regarding intravenous formulations, if available, intravenous zanamivir or peramivir can be considered in SOT recipients who are severely ill despite oral oseltamivir, in case of concerns with oral absorption, although experience with these drugs in SOT recipients is lacking [1]. Parenteral zanamivir is currently available in Europe, and a single dose intravenous peramivir has been approved in the United States for treatment of uncomplicated influenza infections. However, peramivir use in SOT likely would require repeated dosing or switching to oral oseltamivir to complete therapy.

NAI resistance is currently uncommon (0.09–1.9% of isolates), especially for influenza A/H3N2 and influenza B viruses, but remains an area of growing concern. In case of high-level oseltamivir resistance (such as H1N1 viruses strains with H275Y substitution), peramivir usually preserves reduced susceptibility, but zanamivir is usually active. Another common resistance mutation (H274Y in H3N2) confers resistance to both oseltamivir and peramivir, but not zanamivir. Therefore, peramivir should not be used in patients with oseltamivir resistance unless the isolate is proven to be susceptible [16] (Tables 9.2 and 9.4). DAS181, an inhaled sialidase potentially inhibiting influenza and parainfluenza infection, has shown promising in vitro results of activity against oseltamivir-resistant influenza strains but failed to show superiority compared to placebo in previous studies in healthy subjects with influenza infection [17].

Treatment should be initiated as soon as possible since antiviral therapy is most likely to provide benefit when initiated within the first 48 h of illness in SOT, with a reduced rate of influenza-associated complications (admission to ICU, use of invasive ventilation, and death) [15]. However, benefit has been demonstrated even with

delayed treatment, and most experts endorse influenza-specific antiviral treatment at any point in the illness. Further, treatment should not be delayed while awaiting diagnostic testing results or if a rapid antigen IA test is negative when clinical symptoms are suggestive of infection due to the poor sensitivity of rapid antigen tests (Table 9.3) [19].

In general, duration of antiviral therapy should be at least 5 days for SOT patients although some data suggest that longer duration (≥ 10 days) may be required, particularly in critically ill patients, those with pneumonia and persistent viral shedding.

Aside from advances in supportive care, no specific adjunctive therapies are routinely recommended. Corticosteroids have been shown to decrease the need for mechanical ventilation and progression to LRTI but at the cost of prolonged viral shedding and risk for invasive fungal coinfection. Corticosteroids are not routinely recommended but should be used if indicated for another reason such as concurrent acute rejection [17].

Prevention The main preventive strategy against influenza in SOT recipients remains the administration of yearly inactivated influenza vaccine. All transplant recipients and candidates, as well as family members, close contacts, and healthcare workers, should receive the influenza vaccine to provide herd immunity [14, 20] (Table 9.2). Influenza vaccines are available in inactivated (intramuscular or intradermal administration) and live-attenuated (intranasal) formulations. The live-attenuated vaccine is not recommended for immunocompromised recipients and close contacts, due to a potential risk of dissemination of the vaccine [14, 21].

Current guidelines recommend the standard injected inactivated influenza for SOT starting 2–6 month posttransplantation with option for administration as early as 1 month posttransplantation in an outbreak setting. If influenza vaccine was administered earlier than 2 months posttransplantation, when it is likely to be less effective, consideration may be given to administering a second dose of vaccine later in the influenza season [14, 20]. An association between vaccination and the development of the de novo antibodies and graft rejection is unproven.

A higher-dose vaccine in pediatric SOT and a booster strategy 5 weeks after standard influenza vaccination in adult SOT have shown to induce an increased antibody response compared with standard single dose. Whether or not protection is increased by use of higher-dose vaccine, adjuvants, booster doses, or quadrivalent versus trivalent vaccines constitutes an area of active research [21].

Clinical failure of influenza vaccination in SOT recipients has not been extensively studied, but most of the studies clearly suggest a reduced immune response in SOT, with a seroconversion rate that varies between 15% and 90%, although this is also dependent on the match between the vaccine and the circulating strains [20]. Vaccination has shown to attenuate adverse outcomes among SOT recipients with a lower incidence of pneumonia and shorter length of hospital stay [19, 22].

Beyond influenza vaccination, pre-exposure or postexposure chemoprophylaxis with either oseltamivir or zanamivir is approved (Tables 9.2 and 9.4) and may be

considered [7]. Caution should be used with prescribing oseltamivir for prophylaxis in patients exposed to an index case because prophylaxis has been associated with emergence of resistant mutants; therefore, monitoring and empiric therapy are generally recommended in these cases [17].

9.6.2 Respiratory Syncytial Virus

Respiratory syncytial virus has long been recognized as a concerning pathogen in immunocompromised hosts. In SOT, RSV infection typically manifests as an URTI with progression to LRTI in 27–67%. Risk factors for more severe disease after organ transplantation include infection in children under a year of age or lung transplantation [2, 4].

Treatment The use of ribavirin (RBV) for the treatment of RSV infection is controversial. In immunocompromised patients (mainly hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients), RBV has been shown to decrease progression to LRTI when given to patients with URTI. Among SOT, the greatest experience with RBV is with lung transplant recipients. Based on published reports as well as self-reported treatment strategies in surveys from SOT centers, lung and heart-lung recipients often receive RBV for both RSV-related URTI and LRTI [12]. Due to lack of clear evidence of efficacy, wide variation in the management of RSV exists including variability often dependent on availability of the inhaled, intravenous, and oral RBV formulations [23]. Intravenous and inhaled RBV are not available in most European countries. Oral ribavirin appears to be an effective, well-tolerated alternative to intravenous or inhaled ribavirin, providing potential cost savings and reducing length of hospital stay [24] (Tables 9.2 and 9.4). ALN-RSV01, a small interfering RNA that targets the RSV nucleocapsid messenger RNA, has shown some early promise in potentially preventing chronic rejection in lung transplant recipients with RSV; this agent is no longer being developed clinically. In addition, there are a number of other small molecule therapies in various stages of development including early clinical trials [13].

Immunomodulators have also been investigated. Experts recommend considering the addition of an antibody preparation (palivizumab) and IVIG with or without corticosteroids for severe RSV infection in SOT, although data are limited to support this recommendation [12, 23]. A systematic review reported that any form of RBV, alone or in combination with an immunomodulatory agent, was effective in preventing progression from URTI to LRTI, with a trend toward better outcomes with inhaled RBV plus an immunomodulatory with monoclonal (palivizumab) or polyclonal antibody preparations (IVIG) (Table 9.2).

Prevention In addition to the general preventive measures, the only FDA-approved agent for the prevention of severe RSV infection in high-risk patients under the age of 2 years is palivizumab [23, 25]. Survey data suggest that antibody-based prophy-

laxis is used among pediatric transplant centers in young candidates and recipients. However, guidelines regarding the use of this agent in older children and adults do not exist, and the high combined with a lack of clear evidence of efficacy in SOT recipients precludes its wide-scale use (Table 9.2).

9.6.3 Parainfluenza Virus

In SOT patients PIV, most commonly PIV 3, is able to cause more serious and even fatal infections, which mostly occur in patients after lung transplantation [26]. An outbreak of PIV 3 infections in a kidney transplant unit demonstrated that all infections were mild and symptoms resolved spontaneously without associated mortality [27].

Treatment There are no currently approved antiviral treatments for parainfluenza disease. Treatment is supportive and includes reduction in immunosuppression. Oral, aerosolized, and intravenous RBV and/or IVIG and corticosteroids have been used off-label in PIV with variable results and no impact on mortality [28]. DAS181 has been used to treat PIV infections in immunocompromised patients and has shown encouraging results including reduction in PIV quantitative viral load and overall outcomes [28]. Clinical trial results are pending.

Prevention Outbreaks caused by PIV have been reported previously [27], and patients with known or suspected PIV should be isolated with standard contact precautions. There are no approved vaccines or prophylactic antiviral agents.

9.6.4 Human Metapneumovirus

Human metapneumovirus has a clinical pattern similar to RSV and is a significant cause of disease in transplant recipients [3]. hMPV Has been associated with LRTI (pneumonia) and high hospitalization rates [2].

Treatment There is no approved drug for the treatment for hMPV respiratory infection. Supportive therapy is the main treatment although RBV alone or with IVIG could be considered for the management of LRTI and severe cases of hMPV in SOT [29].

Prevention There are no approved vaccines or prophylactic antiviral agents.

9.6.5 Rhinovirus

Rhinovirus has more than 100 serotypes in 3 different species: A, B, and the more recently characterized C. Rhinoviruses are the leading cause of community-acquired

RV infections, and that finding is in agreement with the knowledge that this RV is the primary cause of acute viral respiratory illnesses [2, 3]. Infections with rhinovirus are usually mild and self-limiting URTI, although significant LRTI has been described in lung transplant recipients [2, 3]. Prolonged shedding for over 6 months with minimal symptoms has been reported in lung transplant recipients.

Treatment No specific treatment is approved for rhinovirus infection.

Prevention There are no approved vaccines or prophylactic antiviral agents.

9.6.6 Coronavirus

Coronavirus generally results in self-limited disease but may progress to LRTI. The most common types of HCoV are OC43, 229E, HKU1, and 25 NL63. Severe acute respiratory syndrome coronavirus (SARS-CoV) and

Middle East respiratory syndrome coronavirus (MERS-CoV) are novel coronavirus that have been responsible for recent acute respiratory syndrome epidemics.

Treatment There are no antivirals licensed for the treatment of HCoV infections, and therapy consists of supportive care. RBV has been used for the treatment of LRTI caused by coronavirus during the outbreak of SARS, and the use of RBV in combination with interferon- α -2a on MERS-CoV has been reported. However, this combination has not been reported in SOT, and there are no specific data to recommend RBV for the treatment of CoV infection in SOT recipients [13].

Prevention There are no approved vaccines or prophylactic antiviral agents.

9.6.7 Adenovirus

Adenovirus is a double-stranded DNA virus of the family *Adenoviridae*, with 7 subgroups (A–G) and 52 serotypes.

In contrast to many of the other community-acquired RVs, adenoviral infection can occur from primary acquisition or through reactivation. The transplanted organ is typically the site of infection, and pneumonia is most frequent in lung transplant recipients [30]. Of note, commercial RT-PCR assays differ in sensitivity and specificity for adenovirus (AdV), and quantitative AdV PCR from blood may also be obtained to aid in diagnosis (Tables 9.2 and 9.3).

Treatment Treatment is supportive and includes reduction in immunosuppression. The optimal timing for therapeutic intervention during the course of illness is unclear. Existing data suggests that cidofovir and brincidofovir, an orally bioavailable lipid conjugate of cidofovir, may provide the highest likelihood of antiviral efficacy. Brincidofovir appears to have increased in vitro and in vivo efficacy

against AdV for treatment of serious infections with less renal and bone marrow toxicity than cidofovir (Table 9.4). RBV does not appear to have significant anti-AdV activity in humans and is generally not recommended to treat serious AdV infections. The use of IVIG remains controversial because it does not appear to have a clear benefit at this time. Adoptive T-cell transfer has generally been limited to a few centers (predominantly in hematopoietic stem cell transplantation) and has been reported to be safe and effective when performed early in the course of the infection [30].

Prevention There are no approved vaccines or prophylactic antiviral agents.

9.7 Conclusions

Longitudinal prospective surveillance using molecular diagnostics is needed to understand the true epidemiology and clinical spectrum of respiratory viral diseases in SOT, particularly in non-lung population. Optimal timing, duration, and treatment indication for RVs are a dilemma that needs to be clarified in clinical practice. The efficacy of adjuvant immunogenic therapies remains controversial. Maximizing prevention and infection control measures against RVs in SOT is essential (Table 9.5).

Table 9.5 Key points for RV infections in SOT

Epidemiology and clinical presentation

- There is increasing recognition of infections caused by RVs as a major cause of morbidity and mortality in SOT
- In addition to their direct, cytopathic, and tissue-invasive effects, RVs can create a microbially determined immune modulation The impact of RVs in acute and chronic rejection remains controversial, with the greatest risk in lung transplant recipients
- Pediatric solid organ, lung transplant, and heart-lung transplantation recipients appear to have the greatest risk of both RVs infections and more severe complications
- · Rhinovirus and coronaviruses are the most common etiological agents
- Influenza and other paramyxovirus (RSV, PIV, and hMPV) have a greater propensity to produce LRTID

D.'	
Diagn	OS1S

- Diligent collection of respiratory specimens and knowledge of the limitations of the assay used by your laboratory are essential for interpreting the results
- Nasopharyngeal swabs (NPS) are preferred for the detection of all major RVs
- Bronchoalveolar lavage is the preferred specimen for diagnostic testing in LRTID with negative NPS
- Laboratory diagnostic methods include virus culture, rapid antigen detection tests, the reverse-transcriptase polymerase chain reaction (RT-PCR) and other nucleic acid amplification assays, and serology
- Nucleic acid amplification tests, mainly RT-PCR, are the best diagnostic tools for studying RVs in SOT

Table 9.5 (continued)

tuble 9.9 (continued)
Treatment
• Treatment options remain limited and consist of supportive care, reduction of immunosuppression and, if available, antiviral therapy
• The use of immunomodulatory agents (intravenous immunoglobulin, monocional antibodies, RV-specific T lymphocytes or augmented corticosteroid therapy) is a clinical dilemma
• SOT should receive antiviral therapy with a neuraminidase inhibitor (NAI, either oseltamivir or zanamivir) when influenza is suspected, before laboratory confirmation
• Treatment of influenza with M2 inhibitors (amantadine and rimantadine) is not recommended for high resistance rates
• Treatment for influenza with NAI should be initiated as soon as possible (<48 h) for optimal benefit, however and all symptomatic patients should receive antiviral therapy, irrespective of symptom onset
• Duration of therapy should be minimum of 5 days, but longer duration of therapy (≥10 days) may be required in critically ill patients
• Double dosing of oseltamivir is not recommended but may be considered in severe cases or in case of insufficient response to therapy
• The use of intravenous zanamivir or peramivir can be considered in patients not responding to oseltamivir therapy or for whom oral absorption is a concern
 In case of high-level oseltamivir resistance, zanamivir is usually active
• The efficacy of ribavirin (aerosolized, intravenous, or oral) for the treatment of RSV infection in SOT recipients has not been determined
• In severe cases of LRTIs with RSV, PIV, and hMPV infections in SOT recipients, therapy with ribavirin (aerosolized, intravenous, or oral) may be used, alone or in combination with an immunomodulatory agents
Prevention
 Maximizing prevention infection control measures against RVs in SOT is mandatory SOT recipients should avoid close contact with individuals with respiratory tract infections The main preventive strategy against influenza remains the administration of yearly trivalent inactivated influenza vaccine in all SOT recipients and their relatives
 Influenza vaccination is safe in SOT recipients, even in the early posttransplant period Oseltamivir may be used as pre-exposure and postexposure prophylaxis in selected patients The use of palivizumab for prevention of RSV infection is not recommended in adult SOT recipients
<i>FLU</i> influenza, <i>hMPV</i> human metapneumovirus, <i>LRTID</i> lower respiratory tract infectious disease, <i>NPS</i> nasopharyngeal swab, <i>PIV</i> parainfluenza, <i>RBV</i> ribavirin, <i>RSV</i> respiratory syncytial virus, <i>RVs</i> respiratory viruses, <i>SOT</i> solid organ transplant

References

- Manuel O, Lopez-Medrano F, Keiser L, Welte T, Carratala J, Cordero E, et al. Influenza and other respiratory virus infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):102–8.
- Peghin M, Hirsch HH, Len O, Codina G, Berastegui C, Saez B, et al. Epidemiology and immediate indirect effects of respiratory viruses in lung transplant recipients: a 5-year prospective study. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(5):1304–12.
- 3. Bridevaux PO, Aubert JD, Soccal PM, Mazza-Stalder J, Berutto C, Rochat T, et al. Incidence and outcomes of respiratory viral infections in lung transplant recipients: a prospective study. Thorax. 2014;69(1):32–8.

- Arslan D, Danziger-Isakov L. Respiratory viral infections in pediatric solid organ and hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2012;14(6):658–67.
 - Vu DL, Bridevaux PO, Aubert JD, Soccal PM, Kaiser L. Respiratory viruses in lung transplant recipients: a critical review and pooled analysis of clinical studies. Am J Transplant. 2011;11(5):1071–8.
 - 6. Fishman JA. From the classic concepts to modern practice. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):4–9.
 - Manuel O, Estabrook M, Practice ASTIDCo. RNA respiratory viruses in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):212–9.
 - Lachant DJ, Croft DP, McGrane Minton H, Prasad P, Kottmann RM. Nasopharyngeal viral PCR in immunosuppressed patients and its association with virus detection in bronchoalveolar lavage by PCR. Respirology. 2017;22(6):1205–11.
- Hodinka RL. Respiratory RNA viruses. Microbiol Spectr. 2016;4(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/ microbiolspec.DMIH2-0028-2016
- Hammond SP, Gagne LS, Stock SR, Marty FM, Gelman RS, Marasco WA, et al. Respiratory virus detection in immunocompromised patients with FilmArray respiratory panel compared to conventional methods. J Clin Microbiol. 2012;50(10):3216–21.
- Fiore AE, Fry A, Shay D, Gubareva L, Bresee JS, Uyeki TM, et al. Antiviral agents for the treatment and chemoprophylaxis of influenza – recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Recomm Rep. 2011;60(1):1–24.
- 12. Beaird OE, Freifeld A, Ison MG, Lawrence SJ, Theodoropoulos N, Clark NM, et al. Current practices for treatment of respiratory syncytial virus and other non-influenza respiratory viruses in high-risk patient populations: a survey of institutions in the Midwestern Respiratory Virus Collaborative. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18(2):210–5.
- Grim SA, Reid GE, Clark NM. Update in the treatment of non-influenza respiratory virus infection in solid organ transplant recipients. Expert Opin pharmacother. 2017;18(8):767–79.
- Danziger-Isakov L, Kumar D, ASTIDCo P. Vaccination in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):311–7.
- Kumar D, Michaels MG, Morris MI, Green M, Avery RK, Liu C, et al. Outcomes from pandemic influenza A H1N1 infection in recipients of solid-organ transplants: a multicentre cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2010;10(8):521–6.
- Gubareva LV, Besselaar TG, Daniels RS, Fry A, Gregory V, Huang W, et al. Global update on the susceptibility of human influenza viruses to neuraminidase inhibitors, 2015–2016. Antiviral Res. 2017;146:12–20.
- 17. Ison MG. Antiviral treatments. Clin Chest Med. 2017;38(1):139-53.
- Lee N, Hui DS, Zuo Z, Ngai KL, Lui GC, Wo SK, et al. A prospective intervention study on higher-dose oseltamivir treatment in adults hospitalized with influenza a and B infections. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57(11):1511–9.
- Kumar D, Ferreira VH, Blumberg E, Silveira F, Cordero E, Perez-Romero P, et al. A five-year prospective multi-center evaluation of influenza infection in transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(9):1322–9.
- Cordero E, Manuel O. Influenza vaccination in solid-organ transplant recipients. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2012;17(6):601–8.
- 21. Chong PP, Avery RK. A comprehensive review of immunization practices in solid organ transplant and hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Clin Ther. 2017;39(8):1581–98.
- Perez-Romero P, Aydillo TA, Perez-Ordonez A, Munoz P, Moreno A, Lopez-Medrano F, et al. Reduced incidence of pneumonia in influenza-vaccinated solid organ transplant recipients with influenza disease. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012;18(12):E533–40.
- 23. Danziger-Isakov LA, Arslan D, Sweet S, Benden C, Goldfarb S, Wong J. RSV prevention and treatment in pediatric lung transplant patients: a survey of current practices among the International Pediatric Lung Transplant Collaborative. Pediatr Transplant. 2012;16(6):638–44.
- Burrows FS, Carlos LM, Benzimra M, Marriott DJ, Havryk AP, Plit ML, et al. Oral ribavirin for respiratory syncytial virus infection after lung transplantation: efficacy and cost-efficiency. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2015;34(7):958–62.

- Updated guidance for palivizumab prophylaxis among infants and young children at increased risk of hospitalization for respiratory syncytial virus infection. Pediatrics. 2014;134(2):415–20.
- Vilchez RA, Dauber J, McCurry K, Iacono A, Kusne S. Parainfluenza virus infection in adult lung transplant recipients: an emergent clinical syndrome with implications on allograft function. Am J Transplant. 2003;3(2):116–20.
- Helantera I, Anttila VJ, Loginov R, Lempinen M. Parainfluenza 3 infections early after kidney or simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(3):809–12.
- Russell E, Ison MG. Parainfluenza virus in the hospitalized adult. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;65(9):1570–6.
- Raza K, Ismailjee SB, Crespo M, Studer SM, Sanghavi S, Paterson DL, et al. Successful outcome of human metapneumovirus (hMPV) pneumonia in a lung transplant recipient treated with intravenous ribavirin. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2007;26(8):862–4.
- Ison MG, Hayden RT. Adenovirus. Microbiol Spectr. 2016;4(4). https://doi.org/10.1128/ microbiolspec.DMIH2-0020-2015



Prevention and Treatment of Viral Hepatitis

10

Karen Doucette and Nassim Kamar

This chapter focuses on the prevention and management of the primary hepatotropic viruses, hepatitis B virus (HBV), hepatitis C virus (HCV), and hepatitis E virus (HEV), which may result in chronic infection in organ transplant candidates and recipients.

10.1 Hepatitis C

Prior to the recent development of direct-acting antiviral therapy for HCV, it was the leading indication for liver transplantation in much of the world, resulted in almost universal reinfection in the transplanted liver, had low cure rates both before and after transplantation, and was associated with decreased patient and graft survival in liver and kidney transplantation [1, 2].

10.1.1 Liver Transplantation (LT)

The direct-acting antiviral agents (DAAs) used for the treatment of chronic hepatitis C virus (HCV) infection have led to a reduction in the proportion of patients waitlisted for LT for decompensated HCV cirrhosis and reduction in waitlist mortality and progression of disease in those who are listed [3, 4]. Globally, however, 21% of hepatocellular carcinomas (HCC) are attributable to HCV [5], and HCV-related HCC continues to increase as an indication for LT [6].

K. Doucette

Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada

N. Kamar (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Departments of Nephrology and Organ Transplantation, CHU Rangueil, INSERM U1043, IFR–BMT, Université Paul Sabatier, Toulouse Cedex 9, France e-mail: kamar.n@chu-toulouse.fr

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_10

Although DAA therapy reduces the risk of progressive liver disease, hepatic decompensation, HCC, and liver-related and all-cause mortality, when to treat HCV-infected patients awaiting LT remains controversial. Achieving sustained virological response (SVR) in some patients with cirrhosis may improve the model for end-stage liver disease (MELD) score, therefore lowering the likelihood of LT, without improving the poor quality of life associated with complications of endstage liver disease, a situation termed "MELD limbo" or "MELD purgatory" [7, 8]. A recent analysis by Foster et al. included 467 patients with Child-Turcotte-Pugh (CTP) class B or C cirrhosis that received clinician-selected treatment for HCV demonstrated a disappointing overall SVR rate of 83.5%. In addition, treatment led to stabilization or improvement in hepatic function in up to 60% of the patients; however 17% had no change and 23% had an increase in MELD score [9]. This highlights the uncertainty with regard to improvement and degree of change in liver function with SVR as well as the lower rate of SVR in those with decompensated liver disease compared to that achievable post LT [10]. Another concern about treatment of HCV before LT is that it also might decrease the ability to be considered for an HCV-positive donor. This may be of particular concern in areas of higher HCV prevalence in the donor population, including that related to the opioid crisis in the United States [11].

In 2016, the International Liver Transplantation Society convened a working group to develop a guideline focused on the use of DAA therapy in LT candidates. Table 10.1 summarizes the recommendations from this guidance document [12]. These recommendations aim to balance the risks of progressive liver failure and complications of untreated HCV with the higher cure rate achievable post LT compared to those with advanced hepatic decompensation. In addition to the severity of liver disease as measured by MELD score and the presence of complications such as portal hypertension and HCC, there are a number of center-specific factors to consider in deciding the optimal timing of HCV therapy, including:

- Anticipated time to LT
- · Access to living donor LT
- · Availability of anti-HCV-positive donors
- · Waitlist drop-off rates for HCC progression
- · Access to and costs of antiviral therapy

Treat on waitlist	Do not treat
 Decompensated cirrhosis with CTP B and/or MELD <20 without refractory portal HTN MELD 20–29 OR MELD <20 with refractory portal HTN (selectively) Decompensated cirrhosis and HCC; expected to wait ≥3–6 months HIV/HCV coinfected Compensated cirrhosis and HCC 	 Those with MELD ≥30 OR expected to undergo LT within 3 months MELD 20–29 OR MELD <20 with refractory pHTN (selectively) Decompensated cirrhosis and HCC; expected to wait <3–6 months

Table 10.1 Summary of timing of treatment of HCV in LT candidates (adapted from [12])

In LT recipients, the outcome of DAA therapy is similar to the general population with overall SVR 96.6% in a recent analysis of 347 LT recipients enrolled in the HCV-TARGET cohort study [10]. Treatment regimens included sofosbuvir/ledipasvir, ombitasvir/paritaprevir/ritonavir plus dasabuvir, and sofosbuvir plus daclatasvir. Overall therapy was well tolerated, and episodes of acute rejection associated with therapy were rare, occurring in only four patients. Ribavirin use did not influence SVR, and the only factors associated with SVR were female gender, baseline albumin >3.5 g/dL, baseline total bilirubin <1.2 mg/dL, absence of cirrhosis, and absence of hepatic decompensation. The MAGELLAN-2 trial evaluated a 12-week course of the daily fixed-dose combination of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in 80 treatment-naïve and treatment-experienced liver transplant recipients, as well as 20 kidney transplant recipients, with all genotypes except 5 represented [13]. This resulted in SVR in 98% of patients. High cure rates and good long-term outcomes are achievable even in those with advanced HCV recurrence post LT and fibrosing cholestatic hepatitis C, a previously universally fatal complication [14, 15]. As such there are now several well-tolerated, highly effective regimens to treat HCV post LT. There are also few drug interactions with immunosuppressive agents [16]. Cyclosporine is contraindicated in combination with HCV protease inhibitors including grazoprevir, simeprevir and voxilaprevir.

The use of HCV viremic donors for HCV viremic liver recipients is safe with appropriate selection of donors who generally have no more than moderate hepatic fibrosis [17]. This has become a well-accepted practice in most centers. More recently, there have been a few of cases of intentional LT from a viremic donor to uninfected recipient with post LT DAA therapy and cure [18, 19]. A recently published American Society of Transplantation Consensus suggests that transplantation from HCV viremic donors to negative recipients can only be considered in the setting of clinical research at this time [20]. However as HCV can now be cured in almost all posttransplantation, the benefits of accepting an HCV viremic donor, who, at least in the United States, is likely to be a younger donor with better quality organs [11], likely outweigh this risk of HCV infection in the era of DAA therapy.

10.1.2 Kidney Transplant Patients

Screening blood products for hepatitis C virus (HCV) and the use of recombinant erythropoietin have reduced the prevalence of HCV infection during dialysis and in kidney transplant patients [21]. HCV-positive RNA-positive dialysis patients and HCV-positive RNA-positive kidney transplant patients have significantly decreased survival compared to those that are HCV-negative dialysis patients and HCV-negative kidney transplant patients, respectively. However, survival of HCV-positive RNA-positive dialysis patients are transplant patients is significantly higher than that of HCV-positive RNA-positive dialysis patients. The main causes of death of HCV-positive kidney transplant patients are cardiovascular disease, posttransplant diabetes mellitus, and liver disease. Survival of the kidney allograft is also significantly decreased

in kidney transplant patients infected by HCV. The main causes of graft loss are de novo or relapse of HCV-associated glomerulonephritis [21].

10.2 Management of HCV Infection Before and After Kidney Transplantation

Until very recently and before the era of direct-acting agents (DAAs) against HCV, the treatment of dialysis patients relied on interferon, with or without very low doses of ribavirin, which led to a sustained virological response (SVR) in ~40% of cases [22]. The drop-out rate from side effects was very high. No anti-HCV therapy was offered to HCV-positive RNA-positive kidney transplant patients as interferon is contraindicated in this setting because of its immunostimulatory properties, which can lead to an increased risk of acute rejection.

The number of cases of HCV has dramatically reduced within the last couple of years because of the emergence of DAAs. In the large, randomized C-surfer study, the combination of grazoprevir and elbasvir, given for 12 weeks to patients that had stage 4 and 5 genotype-1 HCV-positive RNA-positive chronic kidney disease (CKD), resulted in a SVR rate of 94–99% [23]. A lower SVR rate (85%) was found in patients with genotype-1a with NS5A-resistance-associated variants (RAVs); thus, it is now suggested that duration of this therapy is increased to 16 weeks for these patients. This combination was not assessed in genotype-4-infected CKD patients. However, because it is highly efficient in genotype-4 patients with normal kidney function, the results can be extrapolated to CKD patients.

The Ruby 1 study, which included 20 genotype-1 patients with CKD, found that the combination of ombitasvir, paritaprevir, ritonavir, and dasabuvir (with or without ribavirin) was associated with a SVR of 90% [24]. Genotype-1 hemodialysis patients receiving daclatasvir plus asunaprevir also had highly efficacious outcomes, with SVRs ranging between 90 and 100% [25]. A pan-genotype therapy that combined glecaprevir and pibrentasvir, given to genotype-1 to genotype-6 patients with impaired kidney function (including dialysis patients), resulted in a SVR rate of 98% [26]. In all these studies, the tolerance was excellent.

Although sofosbuvir is not approved for use in patients with a glomerularfiltration rate <30 mL/min because it is renally cleared, sofosbuvir-based therapies have been given to CKD-4 and CKD-5 patients (including dialysis patients). The SVR rate was reported at ~90%, with no safety issues, and the accumulation of its metabolite (GS007) was mild [27, 28]. Sofosbuvir did not have a harmful effect on kidney function in most patients; when it did occur, it was reversible in most cases [29].

Sofosbuvir-based therapy was also highly efficient and cured most kidney transplant patients [30, 31]. The combination of sofosbuvir plus ledipasvir has been the most commonly used combination. A phase II randomized prospective study showed that the efficacy of the combination of sofosbuvir and ledipasvir was equivalent when given for 12 or for 24 weeks [32]. The tolerance to anti-HCV therapies was excellent after transplantation. There was no increased risk of acute rejection or impaired kidney function. However, no reports on the effects of sofosbuvir and velpatasvir in the setting of kidney transplantation have been published yet. Thus, because several very efficient therapies are available to treat HCV, both before and after kidney transplantation, the main focus is to determine the optimal timing of treatments, i.e., before or after transplantation.

Treating CKD patients before transplantation can avoid the harmful effects of HCV and will decrease the risk of nosocomial transmission. However, it can delay transplantation. Conversely, having HCV replication at transplantation can allow the use of kidneys from HCV-positive donors.

Before the era of using DAAs after transplantation, it was shown that patient and graft survival rates of HCV-positive RNA-positive recipients did not differ if the donors were HCV-positive or HCV-negative [33]. More recently, it has been shown that using HCV-positive kidneys from HCV-positive recipients, followed by the early introduction of DAAs (median of 125 days posttransplantation), was successful and obtained a SVR in 96% of cases [34]. In addition, it significantly reduced the waiting times to receive a graft [34]. Very recently, a preliminary report showed that HCV-positive donors could also be given to HCV-negative recipients pending starting anti-HCV therapy and as soon as day 3 posttransplant [35]. These very interesting data need to be confirmed.

Hence, if kidney transplantation is expected within a 24-week period (12 weeks of therapy and 12 weeks of follow-up to evaluate SVR) or if there is the possibility of obtaining a kidney from a HCV-positive donor, it is preferable to treat HCV infection after kidney transplantation. In other cases, candidates for kidney transplantation can be treated before transplantation (Fig. 10.1).



Fig. 10.1 Management of HCV infection in candidates for a kidney transplantation

10.2.1 Other Organ Groups

There here are limited data regarding the management of HCV in thoracic (heart, lung, heart-lung), small bowel, or pancreas recipients. Even the prevalence of chronic HCV infection in thoracic transplant recipients is uncertain with most of the data available being seroprevalence without documentation of HCV RNA. UNOS/SRTR data suggest the seroprevalence to be less than 2%, approximating the population prevalence. As in liver and kidney transplant, survival of HCV-positive recipients is inferior to HCV-negative recipients in heart and lung transplant [36, 37]. There are also limited data regarding the safety and efficacy of DAA therapy in those with endstage heart and lung disease or following thoracic transplantation, although case reports and small case series to date show favorable outcomes [38-40]. There is no reason to believe the principles of HCV DAA therapy in liver and kidney transplantation would not apply in thoracic transplantation. There are no data to address the optimal timing of HCV therapy in thoracic transplantation, but as in kidney transplantation, factors to consider include the severity of hepatic fibrosis, expected wait time, and likelihood of an HCV viremic donor becoming available based on local prevalence. As in other organ groups, there are emerging reports of transplanting thoracic organs from HCV viremic donors to HCV-negative recipients with subsequent DAA therapy [40, 41]. This has the potential to expand the donor pool in this population as well, and there are trials enrolling in heart and lung transplantation (https://clinicaltrials.gov/ NCT03146741, NCT03146741, NCT03112044, NCT03222531).

10.3 Hepatitis B

10.3.1 Liver Transplantation

Because of the efficacy of nucleos(t)ide analogue (NA) therapy, hepatitis B virus (HBV)-related severe liver disease has become an uncommon indication for liver transplantation in the United States and many other Western countries, although remains a common indication in many Asian countries. Hepatocellular carcinoma is the most common indication for liver transplant in HBV patients with HBV accounting for about one-third of HCC globally [5]. Prior to the use of hepatitis B immuno-globulin (HBIg) and NAs, recurrent HBV infection after liver transplantation resulted in high rates of morbidity, mortality, and early graft loss [42]; this is now very rare.

As in all patients with HBV-related liver disease or HCC, all liver transplant candidates should be treated with NA therapy. Potent NAs are preferred [entecavir (ETV), tenofovir disoproxil fumarate (TDF), or tenofovir alafenamide (TAF)] due to their high barrier to resistance and rapid drop in HBV viral load induced. Pre LT, the goal is to achieve an undetectable HBV-DNA, as this is associated with the lowest risk of post-LT recurrence.

Post LT, the standard of care for prevention of HBV reinfection is the combination of HBIg and NA which prevents reinfection in over 95% of cases [43]. With the advent of potent NAs, along with the challenge of HBIg administration, including the cost and need for parenteral or intramuscular injection, several studies have looked at the use of short-course HBIg [44, 45]. Studies using prophylaxis with potent NAs alone also suggest that this is feasible with a low rate of HBsAg recurrence in selected low-risk patients [46, 47]. Currently the route of administration, dosing, and duration of treatment with HBIG still varies from one transplant center to the other. In selected patients with a low risk of HBV recurrence (i.e., undetectable HBV-DNA at transplant, HBeAg negative, no hepatocellular carcinoma, no HIV or HDV coinfection, good adherence to potent NA therapy), evidence supports that HBIG can be safely discontinued 6–12 months after transplant.

Use of donors with evidence of past HBV infection (HBsAg-negative and anti-HBc-positive with or without anti-HBs) is safe with prophylaxis in the recipient. Where possible, allocation is preferred to HBsAg-positive recipients, followed by anti-HBc-positive recipients. In all cases, patients receiving a liver from an anti-HBc-positive donor have a risk of 50-80% of HBV reactivation because of immunosuppression and should receive prophylaxis with NAs [48, 49]. The majority of the available data support the use of lamivudine (LAM), with low risk of HBV recurrence [49]; however many centers prefer to use potent NAs such as ETV or TDF. In addition, following a year of antiviral prophylaxis, the risk of recurrence in recipients who are anti-HBc positive with protective anti-HBs titres (>10 IU/mL) is low, and guidelines suggest discontinuing NA may be considered, although many centers continue indefinite prophylaxis in all. There are small series reporting the use of HBsAg-positive donors with NA and HBIg prophylaxis post LT suggesting this may be safe. Currently however this is generally only recommended in urgent clinical settings, when there are likely to be no other better donor options, and following informed consent [49].

10.4 Hepatitis B Virus Infection in Kidney Transplant Patients

The prevalence of hepatitis B virus (HBV) infection in dialysis patients is low [50]. In this setting, HBV infection [i.e., HBs antigen (Ag)(+) patients] may have a mutated virus, i.e., a pre-core mutant that results in a HBe(-) antigen and a HBe(+) antibody [51].

After transplantation, the implementation of immunosuppression results in viral replication if it was absent during dialysis or in a flare-up of the virus infection if it was present at pretransplant. This can increase HBV viral load and flare-up of liver enzymes (to worsen HBV-related liver lesions [52]) and, in a few cases, increase the occurrence of cholestatic fibrosing hepatitis.

HBs Ag(+) dialysis and kidney transplant patients have worse survival rates compared to HBs Ag(-) dialysis and kidney transplant patients, respectively [50]. However, it has been shown that obtaining HBV clearance using antiviral therapy can significantly improve the survival of kidney transplant patients [53]. Survival of kidney transplant grafts was also significantly decreased in patients with positive HBs Ag [50]. Therefore, as soon as a HBV(+) patient receives a kidney transplant,

prophylactic antiviral medication should be provided. Lamivudine has been used in this setting. However, under this therapy, many patients develop DNA polymerase (YMDD) mutations, which render lamivudine therapy inefficient [54, 55]. Adefovir dipivoxil, a prodrug of adefovir and a nucleotidic analogue of adenosine monophosphate, has been used in kidney transplant patients [56]. However, because of its nephrotoxicity [57] and the availability of new anti-HBV treatments, adefovir dipivoxil is no longer used in this setting.

Although few publications have reported on kidney transplantation in this setting, two drugs are being successfully used to treat HBV infections after kidney transplantation: entecavir and tenofovir [58, 59]. No side effects have been reported with entecavir. However, because of cross reactivity, it cannot be given to patients that are already resistant to lamivudine. Tenofovir can be nephrotoxic when its dose is not adapted to kidney function. Hence, when used, strict monitoring of kidney function is required, and the dose of tenofovir should be adapted accordingly. Thus, entecavir is usually used in the early period posttransplantation when kidney function is still unstable; afterward, both entecavir and tenofovir can be used. In addition, although vaccine responsiveness is impaired, HBV-seronegative patients should be vaccinated against HBV.

10.4.1 Other Organ Groups

As in HCV, there are limited data regarding the management of HBV in thoracic (heart, lung, heart-lung), small bowel, or pancreas recipients. As in historical kidney transplant cohorts, those undergoing thoracic transplant in the era prior to effective NA therapy had high rates of progressive liver disease, cirrhosis, and liver-related death [60, 61]. Lamivudine has also been shown to be effective for treatment of HBV infection after heart and lung transplantation [61]. Although the data are fewer, it is reasonable to apply the principles of management from the available data in kidney transplant. As such, those with indications for treatment in the general population should be initiated on antiviral therapy prior to transplant. In those not on therapy, NA should be initiated as soon as possible following transplantation with a potent NA such as ETV, TDF, or TAF preferred. In those with renal dysfunction, ETV or TAF is preferred.

10.5 Hepatitis E Virus Infection in Solid Organ Transplant Patients

Hepatitis E virus (HEV) is the most common cause of viral hepatitis worldwide [62]. There is one serotype plus four main genotypes. Genotypes 1 and 2 (GT1 and GT2) are mainly prevalent in developed countries. Humans are the virus' reservoir and transmission is waterborne. GT3 and GT4 are prevalent in high-income countries and zoonoses. The main animal reservoirs are pigs, wild boar, rabbits, and

other animals. HEV usually spreads to humans through the food chain via fecal contamination of drinking water or consumption of meat from infected animals, but iatrogenic transmission through blood products is also possible [63].

HEV infection is often a self-limiting infection. However, all genotypes can cause fulminant hepatitis, so-called acute-on-chronic hepatitis, in patients with an underlying liver disease, which leads to death in up to 70% of patients. Only genotypes 1 and 2 have caused fulminant hepatitis in pregnant women, which has led to death of the mothers and newborns in up to 30% of cases [63].

Genotype-3 (and few cases of genotype-4) can cause chronic hepatitis and cirrhosis in immunosuppressed patients, especially solid organ transplant (SOT) patients [64]. No case of chronic hepatitis has been reported in genotype-1- or genotype-2infected patients. In SOT patients, HEV evolves to chronicity in nearly 60% of infected patients and, without treatment, can cause cirrhosis in nearly 10% of these [65]. The main risk factor for chronic hepatitis in this setting is deep immunosuppression, e.g., a decreased HEV-specific T-cell response and decreased CD4 and CD8 lymphocyte subset counts. Reducing immunosuppression, especially those that target T cells (i.e., calcineurin inhibitors), is considered to be the first therapeutic option for SOT patients with chronic HEV infection [65]. Indeed, in vitro experiments show that calcineurin inhibitors and sirolimus increase HEV replication. In vivo, tacrolimus trough levels were significantly lower in SOT patients with chronic hepatitis and that had been cleared of HEV compared to those that remained viremic. In a retrospective multicenter study, ribavirin as a monotherapy can be highly efficient at treating chronic HEV infection in SOT patients and has achieved a sustained virological rate of ~90% [66]. The median duration of ribavirin therapy was 3 months. Patients without detectable HEV RNA in the serum, but with persistent HEV RNA detected in the feces at the end of therapy, had a significantly higher risk of relapse [67]. An algorithm for treating HEV infection in SOT patients is presented in Fig. 10.2.

A rapid decrease in HEV RNA in the serum within the first week after starting ribavirin has been identified as a predictive factor for SVR [68]. Conversely, ribavirin trough level on day 7 and at month 2 after initiating ribavirin has been associated with a SVR [68]. Hence, the optimal duration and dose of ribavirin still need to be determined.

Mutations in HEV RNA polymerase have been detected in some patients before therapy, under therapy, or in those with treatment failure. However, their effect on virological response is still unknown [63]. In relapsers after ribavirin therapy, retreatment for a longer period has enabled a SVR to be achieved [66]. Actually, there is no alternative therapy if there is treatment failure, except for liver transplant patients where pegylated interferon has been shown to efficiently treat HEV infection [69]. Because of the increased risk of acute rejection, interferon cannot be used in other SOT patients.

In immunosuppressed patients, prevention relies on avoiding eating raw meat. Up to 20 min of heating to an internal temperatures of 70°C is necessary to inactivate HEV [70]. An anti-HEV vaccine is also available and seems to be highly efficient [71]; however, it is only licensed in China.



Fig. 10.2 Management of Hepatitis E virus infection

References

- Forman LM, Lewis JD, Berlin JA, Feldman HI, Lucey MR. The association between hepatitis C infection and survival after orthotopic liver transplantation. Gastroenterology. 2002;122(4):889–96.
- Mathurin P, Mouquet C, Poynard T, Sylla C, Benalia H, Fretz C, et al. Impact of hepatitis B and C virus on kidney transplantation outcome. Hepatology. 1999;29(1):257–63.
- Kwong A, Kim WR, Mannalithara A, Heo NY, Udompap P, Kim D. Decreasing mortality and disease severity in hepatitis C patients awaiting liver transplantation in the United States. Liver Transpl. 2017;24(6):735–43.
- Saez-Gonzalez E, Vinaixa C, San Juan F, Hontangas V, Benlloch S, Aguilera V, et al. Impact of hepatitis C virus (HCV) antiviral treatment on the need for liver transplantation (LT). Liver Int. 2017;38(6):1022–7.
- Global Burden of Disease Liver Cancer C, Akinyemiju T, Abera S, Ahmed M, Alam N, Alemayohu MA, et al. The burden of primary liver cancer and underlying etiologies from 1990 to 2015 at the global, regional, and national level: results from the Global Burden of Disease Study 2015. JAMA Oncol. 2017;3(12):1683–91.
- Cholankeril G, Yoo ER, Perumpail RB, Liu A, Sandhu JS, Nair S, et al. Rising rates of hepatocellular carcinoma leading to liver transplantation in baby boomer generation with chronic hepatitis C, alcohol liver disease, and nonalcoholic steatohepatitis-related liver disease. Diseases. 2017;5(4):E20.

- van der Meer AJ, Veldt BJ, Feld JJ, Wedemeyer H, Dufour JF, Lammert F, et al. Association between sustained virological response and all-cause mortality among patients with chronic hepatitis C and advanced hepatic fibrosis. JAMA. 2012;308(24):2584–93.
- Bunchorntavakul C, Reddy KR. Treat chronic hepatitis C virus infection in decompensated cirrhosis – pre- or post-liver transplantation? The ironic conundrum in the era of effective and well-tolerated therapy. J Viral Hepat. 2016;23(6):408–18.
- Foster GR, Irving WL, Cheung MC, Walker AJ, Hudson BE, Verma S, et al. Impact of direct acting antiviral therapy in patients with chronic hepatitis C and decompensated cirrhosis. J Hepatol. 2016;64(6):1224–31.
- Saxena V, Khungar V, Verna EC, Levitsky J, Brown RS Jr, Hassan MA, et al. Safety and efficacy of current direct-acting antiviral regimens in kidney and liver transplant recipients with hepatitis C: results from the HCV-TARGET study. Hepatology. 2017;66(4):1090–101.
- 11. Goldberg DS, Blumberg E, McCauley M, Abt P, Levine M. Improving organ utilization to help overcome the tragedies of the opioid epidemic. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(10):2836–41.
- Terrault NA, McCaughan GW, Curry MP, Gane E, Fagiuoli S, Fung JYY, et al. International liver transplantation society consensus statement on hepatitis C management in liver transplant candidates. Transplantation. 2017;101(5):945–55.
- Reau N. MAGELLAN-2: safety and efficacy of glecaprevir/pibrentasvir in liver or renal transplant adults with chronic hepatitis C genotype 1-6 infection. J Hepatol. 2017;66(1):S90–1.
- Herzer K, Welzel TM, Spengler U, Hinrichsen H, Klinker H, Berg T, et al. Real-world experience with daclatasvir plus sofosbuvir +/- ribavirin for post-liver transplant HCV recurrence and severe liver disease. Transpl Int. 2017;30(3):243–55.
- Vukotic R, Conti F, Fagiuoli S, Morelli MC, Pasulo L, Colpani M, et al. Long-term outcomes of direct acting antivirals in post-transplant advanced hepatitis C virus recurrence and fibrosing cholestatic hepatitis. J Viral Hepat. 2017;24(10):858–64.
- Liverpool Uo. Hep drug interactions. https://www.hep-druginteractions.org/2017. Accessed 1 Dec 2017.
- 17. Northup PG, Argo CK, Nguyen DT, McBride MA, Kumer SC, Schmitt TM, et al. Liver allografts from hepatitis C positive donors can offer good outcomes in hepatitis C positive recipients: a US National Transplant Registry analysis. Transpl Int. 2010;23(10):1038–44.
- Saberi B, Hamilton JP, Durand CM, Li Z, Philosophe B, Cameron AM, et al. Utilization of hepatitis C RNA-positive donor liver for transplant to hepatitis C RNA-negative recipient. Liver Transpl. 2017;24(1):140–3.
- Martins PN, Movahedi B, Bozorgzadeh A. Transplanting HCV-infected kidneys into uninfected recipients. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(11):1104–5.
- Levitsky J, Formica RN, Bloom RD, Charlton M, Curry M, Friedewald J, et al. The American society of transplantation consensus conference on the use of hepatitis C viremic donors in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(11):2790–802.
- Morales JM, Fabrizi F. Hepatitis C and its impact on renal transplantation. Nat Rev Nephrol. 2015;11(3):172–82.
- Kamar N, Ribes D, Izopet J, Rostaing L. Treatment of hepatitis C virus infection (HCV) after renal transplantation: implications for HCV-positive dialysis patients awaiting a kidney transplant. Transplantation. 2006;82(7):853–6.
- 23. Roth D, Nelson DR, Bruchfeld A, Liapakis A, Silva M, Monsour H Jr, et al. Grazoprevir plus elbasvir in treatment-naive and treatment-experienced patients with hepatitis C virus genotype 1 infection and stage 4-5 chronic kidney disease (the C-SURFER study): a combination phase 3 study. Lancet. 2015;386(10003):1537–45.
- Pockros PJ, Reddy KR, Mantry PS, Cohen E, Bennett M, Sulkowski MS, et al. Efficacy of direct-acting antiviral combination for patients with hepatitis c virus genotype 1 infection and severe renal impairment or end-stage renal disease. Gastroenterology. 2016;150(7):1590–8.
- 25. Suda G, Kudo M, Nagasaka A, Furuya K, Yamamoto Y, Kobayashi T, et al. Efficacy and safety of daclatasvir and asunaprevir combination therapy in chronic hemodialysis patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Gastroenterol. 2016;51(7):733–40.

- 26. Gane E, Lawitz E, Pugatch D, Papatheodoridis G, Brau N, Brown A, et al. Glecaprevir and pibrentasvir in patients with HCV and severe renal impairment. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(15):1448–55.
- Desnoyer A, Pospai D, Le MP, Gervais A, Heurgue-Berlot A, Laradi A, et al. Pharmacokinetics, safety and efficacy of a full dose sofosbuvir-based regimen given daily in hemodialysis patients with chronic hepatitis C. J Hepatol. 2016;65(1):40–7.
- Dumortier J, Bailly F, Pageaux GP, Vallet-Pichard A, Radenne S, Habersetzer F, et al. Sofosbuvir-based antiviral therapy in hepatitis C virus patients with severe renal failure. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2016;32(12):2065–71.
- Sise ME, Backman E, Ortiz GA, Hundemer GL, Ufere NN, Chute DF, et al. Effect of sofosbuvir-based hepatitis C virus therapy on kidney function in patients with CKD. Clin J Am Soc Nephrol. 2017;12(10):1615–23.
- 30. Kamar N, Marion O, Rostaing L, Cointault O, Ribes D, Lavayssiere L, et al. Efficacy and safety of sofosbuvir-based antiviral therapy to treat hepatitis C virus infection after kidney transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(5):1474–9.
- Sawinski D, Kaur N, Ajeti A, Trofe-Clark J, Lim M, Bleicher M, et al. Successful treatment of hepatitis C in renal transplant recipients with direct-acting antiviral agents. Am J Transplant. 2016;16(5):1588–95.
- 32. Colombo M, Aghemo A, Liu H, Zhang J, Dvory-Sobol H, Hyland R, et al. Treatment with ledipasvir-sofosbuvir for 12 or 24 weeks in kidney transplant recipients with chronic hepatitis C virus genotype 1 or 4 infection: a randomized trial. Ann Intern Med. 2017;166(2):109–17.
- 33. Morales JM, Campistol JM, Dominguez-Gil B, Andres A, Esforzado N, Oppenheimer F, et al. Long-term experience with kidney transplantation from hepatitis C-positive donors into hepatitis C-positive recipients. Am J Transplant. 2010;10(11):2453–62.
- 34. Bhamidimarri KR, Ladino M, Pedraza F, Guerra G, Mattiazzi A, Chen L, et al. Transplantation of kidneys from hepatitis C-positive donors into hepatitis C virus-infected recipients followed by early initiation of direct acting antiviral therapy: a single-center retrospective study. Transpl Int. 2017;30(9):865–73.
- Goldberg DS, Abt PL, Reese PP, Investigators TT. Transplanting HCV-infected kidneys into uninfected recipients. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(11):1105.
- 36. Kumar S, Deo SV, Altarabsheh SE, Dunlay SM, Sarabu N, Sareyyupoglu B, et al. Effect of hepatitis C positivity on survival in adult patients undergoing heart transplantation (from the united network for organ sharing database). Am J Cardiol. 2016;118(1):132–7.
- Trakroo S, Qureshi K. Successful treatment of chronic hepatitis C infection with direct-acting antivirals in a heart transplant recipient: a case report. Transplant Proc. 2015;47(7):2295–7.
- D'Ambrosio R, Colombo M. Should surveillance for liver cancer be modified in hepatitis C patients after treatment-related cirrhosis regression? Liver Int. 2016;36(6):783–90.
- Doucette K, Sumner S, Weinkauf J. Treatment of hepatitis C in a lung transplant recipient with sofosbuvir and daclatasvir. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35(6):840–1.
- 40. Khan B, Singer LG, Lilly LB, Chaparro C, Martinu T, Juvet S, et al. Successful lung transplantation from hepatitis C positive donor to seronegative recipient. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(4):1129–31.
- Halleck F, Budde K, Duerr M, Staeck O, Hofmann J, Eisenberger U, et al. Transplanting HCVinfected kidneys into uninfected recipients. N Engl J Med. 2017;377(11):1103–4.
- 42. Todo S, Demetris AJ, Van Thiel D, Teperman L, Fung JJ, Starzl TE. Orthotopic liver transplantation for patients with hepatitis B virus-related liver disease. Hepatology. 1991;13(4):619–26.
- 43. Terrault N, Roche B, Samuel D. Management of the hepatitis B virus in the liver transplantation setting: a European and an American perspective. Liver Transpl. 2005;11(7):716–32.
- 44. Radhakrishnan K, Chi A, Quan DJ, Roberts JP, Terrault NA. Short course of postoperative hepatitis B immunoglobulin plus antivirals prevents reinfection of liver transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2017;101(9):2079–82.
- Onoe T, Tahara H, Tanaka Y, Ohdan H. Prophylactic managements of hepatitis B viral infection in liver transplantation. World J Gastroenterol. 2016;22(1):165–75.

- 46. Fung J, Wong T, Chok K, Chan A, Cheung TT, Dai JW, et al. Long-term outcomes of entecavir monotherapy for chronic hepatitis B after liver transplantation: results up to 8 years. Hepatology. 2017;66(4):1036–44.
- 47. Gane EJ, Patterson S, Strasser SI, McCaughan GW, Angus PW. Combination of lamivudine and adefovir without hepatitis B immune globulin is safe and effective prophylaxis against hepatitis B virus recurrence in hepatitis B surface antigen-positive liver transplant candidates. Liver Transpl. 2013;19(3):268–74.
- Cholongitas E, Papatheodoridis GV, Burroughs AK. Liver grafts from anti-hepatitis B core positive donors: a systematic review. J Hepatol. 2010;52(2):272–9.
- Huprikar S, Danziger-Isakov L, Ahn J, Naugler S, Blumberg E, Avery RK, et al. Solid organ transplantation from hepatitis B virus-positive donors: consensus guidelines for recipient management. Am J Transplant. 2015;15(5):1162–72.
- Fabrizi F, Martin P, Dixit V, Kanwal F, Dulai G. HBsAg seropositive status and survival after renal transplantation: meta-analysis of observational studies. Am J Transplant. 2005;5(12):2913–21.
- Tanaka S, Yoshiba M, Iino S, Fukuda M, Nakao H, Tsuda F, et al. A common-source outbreak of fulminant hepatitis B in hemodialysis patients induced by precore mutant. Kidney Int. 1995;48(6):1972–8.
- Fornairon S, Pol S, Legendre C, Carnot F, Mamzer-Bruneel MF, Brechot C, et al. The longterm virologic and pathologic impact of renal transplantation on chronic hepatitis B virus infection. Transplantation. 1996;62(2):297–9.
- Cosconea S, Fontaine H, Meritet JF, Corouge M, Sogni P, Vallet-Pichard A, et al. Benefits associated with antiviral treatment in kidney allograft recipients with chronic hepatitis B virus infection. J Hepatol. 2012;57(1):55–60.
- Kamar N, Sandres-Saune K, Ribes D, Duffaut M, Selves J, Durand D, et al. Effects of longterm lamivudine therapy in renal-transplant patients. J Clin Virol. 2004;31(4):298–303.
- Fontaine H, Thiers V, Chretien Y, Zylberberg H, Poupon RE, Brechot C, et al. HBV genotypic resistance to lamivudine in kidney recipients and hemodialyzed patients. Transplantation. 2000;69(10):2090–4.
- 56. Shiffman ML, Pol S, Rostaing L, Schiff E, Thabut D, Zeuzem S, et al. Efficacy and pharmacokinetics of adefovir dipivoxil liquid suspension in patients with chronic hepatitis B and renal impairment. J Clin Pharmacol. 2011;51(9):1293–301.
- Kamar N, Huart A, Tack I, Alric L, Izopet J, Rostaing L. Renal side effects of adefovir in hepatitis B virus-(HBV) positive kidney allograft recipients. Clin Nephrol. 2009;71(1):36–42.
- Kamar N, Milioto O, Alric L, El Kahwaji L, Cointault O, Lavayssiere L, et al. Entecavir therapy for adefovir-resistant hepatitis B virus infection in kidney and liver allograft recipients. Transplantation. 2008;86(4):611–4.
- 59. Daude M, Rostaing L, Saune K, Lavayssiere L, Basse G, Esposito L, et al. Tenofovir therapy in hepatitis B virus-positive solid-organ transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2011;91(8):916–20.
- 60. Hosenpud JD, Pamidi SR, Fiol BS, Cinquegrani MP, Keck BM. Outcomes in patients who are hepatitis B surface antigen-positive before transplantation: an analysis and study using the joint ISHLT/UNOS thoracic registry. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2000;19(8):781–5.
- Grossi P, Dalla Gasperina D, Furione M, Vigano M, Minoli L. Lamivudine treatment for HBV infection following thoracic organ transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2001;33(1–2):1576–8.
- 62. Kamar N, Bendall R, Legrand-Abravanel F, Xia NS, Ijaz S, Izopet J, et al. Hepatitis E. Lancet. 2012;379(9835):2477–88.
- 63. Kamar N, Izopet J, Pavio N, Aggarwal R, Labrique A, Wedemeyer H, et al. Hepatitis E virus infection. Nat Rev Dis Primers. 2017;3:17086.
- 64. Kamar N, Selves J, Mansuy JM, Ouezzani L, Peron JM, Guitard J, et al. Hepatitis E virus and chronic hepatitis in organ-transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2008;358(8):811–7.
- 65. Kamar N, Garrouste C, Haagsma EB, Garrigue V, Pischke S, Chauvet C, et al. Factors associated with chronic hepatitis in patients with hepatitis E virus infection who have received solid organ transplants. Gastroenterology. 2011;140(5):1481–9.

- 66. Kamar N, Izopet J, Tripon S, Bismuth M, Hillaire S, Dumortier J, et al. Ribavirin for chronic hepatitis E virus infection in transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2014;370(12):1111–20.
- Abravanel F, Lhomme S, Rostaing L, Kamar N, Izopet J. Protracted fecal shedding of HEV during ribavirin therapy predicts treatment relapse. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(1):96–9.
- 68. Kamar N, Lhomme S, Abravanel F, Cointault O, Esposito L, Cardeau-Desangles I, et al. An early viral response predicts the virological response to ribavirin in hepatitis E virus organ transplant patients. Transplantation. 2015;99(10):2124–31.
- Kamar N, Rostaing L, Abravanel F, Garrouste C, Esposito L, Cardeau-Desangles I, et al. Pegylated interferon-alpha for treating chronic hepatitis E virus infection after liver transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(5):e30–3.
- Barnaud E, Rogee S, Garry P, Rose N, Pavio N. Thermal inactivation of infectious hepatitis E virus in experimentally contaminated food. Appl Environ Microbiol. 2012;78(15):5153–9.
- Zhang J, Zhang XF, Huang SJ, Wu T, Hu YM, Wang ZZ, et al. Long-term efficacy of a hepatitis E vaccine. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(10):914–22.


Multidrug-Resistant Organisms in Solid Organ Transplantation

Meenakshi M. Rana, Paolo Grossi, and Shirish Huprikar

11.1 Introduction

Multidrug-resistant (MDR) bacterial infections are responsible for significant morbidity and mortality in solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients worldwide. Although there has been an increasing recognition of the threat of antimicrobial resistance over the last decade, SOT recipients remain vulnerable to infections with MDROs (multidrug-resistant organisms). Most commonly, these infections are seen early after transplantation when healthcare-associated risk factors, surgical complications, and donor-derived factors predominate.

MDR bacteria are defined as bacteria that are resistant to at least one agent in three different antibiotic classes [1]. These organisms can be further classified as extremely drug-resistant (XDR) or pan-drug-resistant (PDR). In XDR infections, bacteria are only susceptible to two classes of antimicrobials. In PDR infections, bacteria are resistant to all active antimicrobials. The most common organisms that "escape" the effects of antimicrobials and become MDROs are *Enterococcus faecium*, *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Clostridium difficile*, *Acinetobacter* species, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Enterobacteriaceae*, commonly known as the ESCAPE organisms [2].

M. M. Rana

e-mail: meenakshi.rana@mountsinai.org

P. Grossi

S. Huprikar (⊠) Division of Infectious Diseases, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA e-mail: Shirish.Huprikar@mssm.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, Icahn School of Medicine at Mount Sinai, New York, NY, USA

Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Insubria, Varese, Italy e-mail: paolo.grossi@uninsubria.it

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_11

Infections with MDROs often result in increased hospital length of stay, higher costs, exposure to medications with adverse effects and decreased graft, and patient survival. Mortality rates are higher in these patients, often compounded by inappropriate empiric antimicrobial therapy. Lastly, insufficient clinical data in how to treat SOT recipients with MDR infections, specifically in the setting of resistant Gram-negative infections, frequently contribute to higher mortality rates.

11.2 Gram-Positive Bacteria

Multidrug-resistant infections with Gram-positive organisms typically include methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus* (MRSA) and vancomycin-resistant *Enterococcus* (VRE). MRSA infections appear to be decreasing, likely in the setting of infection prevention and control strategies [3]. Newer antimicrobials have provided improved treatment options for the management of MRSA and VRE infections.

11.3 Methicillin-Resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA)

Staphylococcus aureus colonizes the nares and skin, causing infection in the setting of a breach of mucosal barriers or skin such as in the setting of an intravascular catheter. The Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC) reported that 47.9% of all Hospital acquired infections caused by *Staphylococcus aureus* were methicillinresistant in 2014 [4]. MRSA bloodstream infections (BSIs) and surgical site infections (SSIs) have been associated with longer median duration of hospital stay, increased hospital costs, and higher mortality rates as compared to patients with methicillin-susceptible *Staphylococcus aureus* (MSSA) infection [5, 6]. Despite this, overall rates of HAIs secondary to MRSA appear to be declining in both the United States and Europe, perhaps due to improved infection control measures [3].

MRSA infections in SOT recipients typically present in the first 3 months after transplant. They most commonly cause bloodstream infections in the setting of intravenous catheters, surgical site infections, and respiratory tract infections [7]. Donor-derived infections have also been described, specifically in recipients of donors with MRSA bacteremia and endocarditis. Despite appropriate use of antimicrobials active against MRSA in the recipient and negative blood cultures in the donor at the time of procurement, transmission still occurred as evidenced by whole genome sequencing [8, 9].

Risk factors for MRSA infections in SOT recipients have previously been reported, largely in liver transplant (LT) recipients. These include nasal colonization with MRSA, recent surgical intervention, CMV seronegativity, primary CMV infection, prior antibiotic exposure, and increased ICU length of stay [10–13]. In lung transplant recipients, mechanical ventilation greater than 5 days was a significant risk factor for MRSA infection [14].

Among these risk factors, MRSA colonization seems to confer a significantly increased risk for infection with MRSA after transplant. In a large single center study, liver transplant candidates and recipients with MRSA colonization had an increased risk of MRSA infection but not of death [15]. These findings were confirmed in a meta-analysis in which patients with pre- and posttransplant MRSA colonization had a sixfold and 11-fold increase in MRSA infections posttransplant, respectively. About 8.5% of SOT candidates were colonized with MRSA, similar to other high-risk populations such as those on hemodialysis [16].

The management of patients with MRSA infection involves appropriate antimicrobial therapy (Table 11.1) along with source control [17–19]. Vancomycin remains the most commonly used antimicrobial to treat patients with MRSA infection and is still recommended as a first-line therapy when the vancomycin MIC is less than 2 [20, 21]. The phenomenon of "MIC creep" seen with vancomycin is controversial and has been associated with increased treatment failure and mortality in some studies. However, a recent meta-analysis showed no significant difference in the risk of death when comparing patients with a vancomycin MIC \geq 1.5 to MIC <1.5 [22].

	Recommended adult		
Treatment	dosing (nl CrCl)	Adverse effects	Comments
Vancomycin	15–20 mg/kg IV q12	Nephrotoxicity	 First-line therapy when the vancomycin MIC is less than 2 Requires PK/PD monitoring to achieve an AUC/MIC ratio of 400 or a trough of 15–20 for bacteremia, endocarditis, osteomyelitis, meningitis
Daptomycin	6 mg/kg IV daily for bacteremia, endocarditis; some reports of using higher doses (8–10 mg/kg) in severe infections	Myopathy, rhabdomyolysis, weekly CPK should be monitored; eosinophilic pneumonia	 Bactericidal Cannot be used for pulmonary infections because inactivated by surfactant
Linezolid	600 mg IV or PO q12	Myelosuppression Peripheral neuropathy Optic neuritis Lactic acidosis Serotonin syndrome (with other SSRIs)	 Approved for HAP, CAP, and SSTIs Orally bioavailable

 Table 11.1 Treatment options for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infections

(continued)

	Recommended adult		
Treatment	dosing (nl CrCl)	Adverse effects	Comments
Ceftaroline	600 mg IV q12	Similar to other cephalosporins (rash, diarrhea)	 Fifth-generation cephalosporin with activity against MRSA, VISA, and GNRs Approved for SSTIs, CAP but has been used for bacteremia and in some case reports in combination with daptomycin for salvage therapy
Telavancin	10 mg/kg IV q24	Nephrotoxicity, QT prolongation, dysgeusia	 Approved for HAP and SSTIs but black box warning of increased mortality observed in patients with renal impairment Combination with tacrolimus may prolong QT Woman should have a pregnancy test prior to use
Dalbavancin	Two-dose regimen, 1000 mg IV followed by 500 mg IV 1 week later	Nausea/HA/ diarrhea	 Approved for SSTIs Long half-life which allows for two doses 1 week apart
Tigecycline	100 mg IV × 1 followed by 50 mg IV q12	Nausea/vomiting	 Bacteriostatic Achieves low plasma drug concentrations and thereby controversial in use for severe infections and bacteremia Approved for SSTIs, IAB, or HAP
Clindamycin	600–1200 mg IV q6–8 h	Gastrointestinal, <i>C. difficile</i> infection	 Bacteriostatic with good tissue penetrations Appropriate for SSTIs, not bacteremia or severe infections
Sulfamethoxazole- trimethoprim	8–10 mg/kg daily based on trimethoprim component in two divided doses (orally or IV)	Hematologic effects, hepatotoxicity, severe dermatologic reactions	 Avoid use in bacteremia Can be used for SSTIs

Table 11.1 (continued)

Mg/kg milligrams/kilogram, *IV* intravenous, *MIC* minimum inhibitory concentration, *PK/PD* pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamics, *AUC/MIC* area under the curve/minimum inhibitory concentration, *HAP* healthcare-associated pneumonia, *CAP* community-associated pneumonia, *SSTI* skin and soft tissue infection, *VISA* vancomycin-intermediate *Staphylococcus aureus*, *GNRs* Gramnegative rods, *IAB* intra-abdominal infection

Commonly used alternatives for treatment of MRSA infection include daptomycin and linezolid. Daptomycin, most commonly used for the treatment of bacteremia and right-sided endocarditis, is inactivated by surfactant and cannot be used for the treatment of pneumonia. MRSA isolates with higher vancomycin MICs may also exhibit higher MICs to daptomycin, and some recommend higher doses of daptomycin (8–10 mg/kg). Combination therapy, particularly the use of daptomycin with beta-lactams such as ceftaroline, may be used as salvage therapy to minimize the emergence of resistance with daptomycin alone [23, 24]. Linezolid is most commonly used in the treatment of pneumonia where it may have superior efficacy when compared to vancomycin [25].

Duration of treatment is typically 4–6 weeks of therapy in patients with complicated MRSA bacteremia. In patients with uncomplicated bacteremia (exclusion of endocarditis, no prosthesis, clearance of bacteremia in 2–4 days, defervescence within 72 h of initiating therapy, no evidence of metastatic sites of infection), 2 weeks of therapy may be considered [20]. MRSA abscess and complicated skin and soft tissue infections should be debrided, and intravascular catheters should be removed in the setting of bacteremia.

The emergence of heteroresistant populations of vancomycin intermediate strains (hVISA) and VISA (vancomycin intermediate *Staphylococcus aureus*) infections have also been documented, although uncommon. Heart transplantation in a patient with hVISA left ventricular assist device infection, mediastinitis, and bacteremia has previously been described as has the clonal spread of an hVISA strain in a cohort of liver transplant recipients [26, 27].

Aggressive infection prevention and control measures, such as active surveillance, have previously been shown to help curtail MRSA infections in SOT recipients [28]. Infection prevention and control measures such as hand hygiene, chlorhexidine bathing for ICU patients, and implementation of contact precautions for patients infected with MRSA have also been shown to reduce hospital-acquired MRSA infections [29]. Larger, multicenter studies are needed to evaluate the benefit of such practices as decolonization in SOT recipients [30].

11.4 Vancomycin-Resistant Enterococcus (VRE)

Enterococcus is a Gram-positive organism that commonly colonizes the gastrointestinal tract and frequently causes infections in abdominal organ transplant recipients. Vancomycin resistance, specifically in *Enterococcus faecium*, became increasingly recognized in liver transplant recipients in the 1990s. Although typically known as a less virulent organism, infection with VRE has been associated with increased morbidity and mortality in SOT recipients, especially prior to the widespread availability of newer antimicrobials [31, 32].

Risk factors for VRE infection in liver transplant recipients include prior antibiotic use, intra-abdominal surgical procedures, biliary complications, and previous colonization [33–35]. Compared to non-colonized patients, liver transplant candidates and recipients colonized with VRE have an increased risk of VRE infection and death [15]. A meta-analysis documented an increase in VRE infection in patients with pre- and posttransplant VRE colonization [16]. Treatment for VRE infections should include source control and implementation of an active antimicrobial agent against VRE (Table 11.2). The most commonly used agents in the treatment of VRE infection are linezolid and daptomycin. Linezolid, an oxazolidone, has been used with good success in SOT recipients [36, 37]. Prolonged

Treatment	Recommended adult dosing (nl CrCl)	Adverse effects	Comments
Linezolid	600 mg IV or PO q12	Myelosuppression Peripheral neuropathy Optic neuritis Lactic acidosis Serotonin syndrome (with other SSRIs)	 Approved for VRE infection/ bacteremia Orally bioavailable
Daptomycin	6 mg/kg IV daily but can be used in higher doses (see text)	Myopathy, rhabdomyolysis, weekly CPK should be monitored; eosinophilic pneumonia	 Frequently used for VRE infection/bacteremia Bactericidal Cannot be used for pulmonary infections because inactivated by surfactant
Quinupristin- dalfopristin	7.5 mg/kg IV q8	Phlebitis Myalgias/arthralgias Elevation in transaminases/bilirubin	• Approved for VRE in the late 1990s, largely a second-line drug given treatment-related adverse events and likely decreased efficacy compared to newer agents
Tigecycline	100 mg IV × 1 followed by 50 mg IV q12	Nausea/vomiting	 Bacteriostatic Achieves low plasma drug concentrations and thereby controversial in use for severe infections and bacteremia Approved for SSTIs, IAB, or HAP
Tedizolid	200 mg IV or PO once daily	Fewer reported AEs when compared to linezolid— specifically hematologic and gastrointestinal- and lacks drug interactions with other SSRIs	 Activity against MRSA in addition to VRE Orally bioavailable
Oritavancin	1200 mg as a one-time infusion	Nausea, vomiting, headache	 Long half-life enables single dose administration Activity against MRSA in addition to VRE Approved for SSTIs

Table 11.2 Treatment options for vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus (VRE) infections

Mg/kg milligrams/kilogram, *IV* intravenous, *MIC* minimum inhibitory concentration, *MRSA* methicillin-resistant *Staphylococcus aureus*, *HAP* healthcare-associated pneumonia, *SSTI* skin and soft tissue infection, *IAB* intra-abdominal infection, *AEs* adverse events, *SSRIs* selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor

therapy can be associated with thrombocytopenia and leukopenia. Other adverse effects include peripheral neuropathy, serotonin syndrome in patients receiving concomitant SSRIs and lactic acidosis. Earlier meta-analyses suggested linezolid may be associated with improved clinical outcomes when compared to daptomycin although the outcome of these studies may have been affected by suboptimal daptomycin dosing [38].

Daptomycin, a bactericidal agent, is frequently used off-label as treatment for VRE infections and has been successfully used in SOT recipients [39]. However, the optimal dosing strategy of daptomycin for VRE infections still remains unclear. A recent retrospective cohort study of patients with VRE bloodstream infections (BSI) found that patients treated with daptomycin doses greater than 8 mg/kg had significantly improved microbiological clearance of infection; patients treated with even higher doses of daptomycin ($\geq 10 \text{ mg/kg}$) had improved survival. There was no significant increase in CPK in the patients treated with higher-dose daptomycin [40]. Another prospective study from Taiwan found all-cause 14-day mortality was improved in patients receiving either high-dose daptomycin (9 mg/kg) or linezolid as compared to those receiving low-dose daptomycin (6–9 mg/kg) [41]. Higher doses of daptomycin may therefore be safely used to treat VRE infections although larger studies in SOT recipients are lacking. Combination therapy with beta-lactams has also been used in treatment of VRE infections, specifically in endocarditis [42–44].

Single-center studies have documented both daptomycin and linezolid resistance in patients with VRE infections. In a single center study of 14 liver transplant recipients with daptomycin non-susceptible *Enterococcus faecium* infections, all except one had previous exposure to daptomycin, and there was a 71% overall mortality rate [45]. Other studies have also described liver transplant recipients with linezolidresistant VRE infections [46].

A comprehensive prevention strategy against VRE includes judicious use of antimicrobial agents and implementation of infection prevention and control measures such as hand hygiene and chlorhexidine bathing in the ICU. Routine surveillance is not indicated; however, in units with high prevalence rates or outbreak settings, active surveillance and use of contact precautions may be helpful to prevent crosstransmission and guide perioperative prophylaxis at the time of transplant [31, 32, 47]. Limited data exists regarding the use of decolonization strategies for rectal carriage of VRE, and larger studies are needed [48].

11.5 Gram-Negative Bacteria

Increasing resistance among Gram-negative bacteria in the last decade has accounted for a significant rise in antimicrobial resistant infections worldwide and presents a serious public health threat. The three most common Gram-negative organisms to "escape" the effects of antimicrobials are *Acinetobacter* species, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Enterobacteriaceae*.

11.6 Carbapenem-Resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE)

Infections with carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE) have been increasingly described in SOT recipients. B-lactamases which hydrolyze carbapenems are responsible for CRE infections. These are largely classified by molecular structure as described in the Ambler classification (Table 11.3). Types of carbapenemases among Enterobacteriaceae include Ambler class A (KPC), class B (zinc-dependent metallo-B-lactamases, VIM, IMP, NDM), and class D (OXA type). The most commonly described carbapenemase is KPC (Ambler class A), which accounts for a large proportion of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae (CRKP) infections. KPC-producing isolates account for most CRE infections seen in the United States, Israel, Europe, China, and South America [49]. They hydrolyze all B-lactams and are usually resistant to other classes of drugs such as fluoroquinolones and aminoglycosides. More recently in 2009, infections with the New Delhi metallo-betalactamase 1 (NDM-1) were described in South Asia and the United Kingdom. These have subsequently been described worldwide, largely in immigrants from South Asia. Lastly, infections with oxa-48 carbapenemase have been described in Europe, Turkey, North Africa, and India [49–52].

In the United States, CRE accounts for about 9300 infections annually and 600 deaths a year [53]. The incidence of CRKP varies by center and type of transplant. Various studies have reported rates between less than 1 and as high as 20% although the incidence of CRKP infection in LT recipients is likely around 5% in endemic areas [49, 50, 54]. LT recipients typically present with primarily intra-abdominal infections or bacteremia, whereas kidney transplant (KT) recipients present with urinary tract infections. Respiratory tract infections are more commonly seen in heart and lung recipients [50]. Necrotizing skin and soft tissue infections has also been described in transplant recipients [55]. Mortality rates in SOT recipients with CRKP vary by report but are usually between 30 and 50% with some studies describing mortality rates as high as 70% [49, 50, 56–58].

SOT recipients with CRE infection often have multiple risk factors that predispose them to infection including prolonged hospital and ICU stay, antimicrobial use, and mechanical ventilation [49, 59]. Transplantation itself has been an independent risk factor for CRKP [59]. In LT recipients, risk factors for CRKP have included MELD score at LT, re-transplantation, biliary leak, renal replacement therapy, and mechanical ventilation [60–62]. In KT recipients, risk factors have also included receipt of antimicrobials (other than sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim) and increased transplant admission length of stay and use of ureteral stent [63, 64].

Ambler classification	ß-lactamases	Examples
A	Penicillinases	KPC, TEM, SHV, CTX-M
В	Metallo-	IMP, VIM, NDM
С	Cephalosporinases	Amp-C
D	Oxacillinases	OXA

Table 11.3 Ambler classification of B-lactamases

Pretransplant and posttransplant colonization has also been shown to be associated with posttransplant infection [56, 62, 65]. However, in a recent multicenter study, patients who were colonized with CRKP had 1-year survival rates approaching 80% posttransplant. Colonization with CRE may therefore not be considered an absolute contraindication to transplant [66].

Donor-derived infections with CRKP have also been reported. In one report, four recipients received tissue from a donor with CRKP, but there was evidence of transmission to only one recipient. In this case, timely communication and early involvement of transplant infectious disease specialists resulted in all four recipients receiving perioperative prophylaxis with antimicrobial agents directed toward the donor's KPC isolate resulting in only one transmission [67].

Treatment of CRE infections is largely based on observational clinical studies and should include source control and susceptibility-directed antimicrobial therapy (Table 11.4) [2, 68–70]. Source control is essential to improved clinical outcomes and mortality [59]. Tigecycline can be used for the treatment of intra-abdominal, skin and soft tissue and pulmonary infections but may be less effective in treating blood-stream or urinary tract infections because it does not achieve good serum or urinary levels. The polymyxins are some of the most active agents against CRE and require complex dosing schemes that have only recently been elucidated [2]. Polymyxin B, which differs from colistin or polymyxin E by amino acid structure, appears to be associated with less nephrotoxicity than colistin [71]. Neurotoxicity is also less common with more recent formulations. Fosfomycin has been used in combination therapy successfully but is only available in IV formulation in Europe [72].

Other data has suggested that combination therapy may have more efficacy in the treatment of CRE infections when compared to monotherapy. In one multicenter retrospective cohort study in Italy, triple combination therapy was associated with lower mortality; specifically, the use of a carbapenem was associated with improved survival [73]. Other studies have reported on combination therapies involving the use of colistin and a carbapenem, colistin and tigecycline, or even dual carbapenem therapy [74]. In vitro synergy studies have confirmed activity of dual carbapenem therapy against carbapenemase-producing strains as well as polymyxin and rifampin; rifampin however should be used with caution in transplant recipients as it decreases the levels of calcineurin inhibitors, mTOR inhibitors and triazole antifungals [49]. However, in a large, international retrospective cohort study that included 480 patients with CRE BSI, there was no difference between monotherapy and combination therapy except in patients who had severe infections and were considered to have a high mortality score [75]. Larger clinical trials are still needed to understand why and which combination therapy may be effective for severely ill patients and elucidate optimal treatments for CRE infection [74].

Ceftazidime-avibactam is a recently approved beta-lactam/beta-lactamase inhibitor combination with activity against CRE [68]. Recent observational data suggests that ceftazidime-avibactam may be superior to alternative treatments such as colistin [76–78]. However, resistance to ceftazidime-avibactam has already been reported [79]. Of note, ceftazidime-avibactam cannot be used for NDM-1 infections as avibactam does not inhibit metallo-B-lactamases.

	Recommended adult		
Treatment	dosing (nl CrCl)	Adverse effects	Comments
Commercially avail	able		
Tigecycline	100 mg IV × 1 followed by 50 mg IV q12	Nausea/vomiting	 Bacteriostatic Achieves low plasma drug concentrations and thereby controversial in use for severe infections and bacteremia Approved for SSTIs, IAB, or HAP Does not have activity against <i>Proteus</i>, <i>Providencia</i>, or <i>Pseudomonas</i>
Polymyxins	Colistin 5 mg/kg/day IV or polymyxin B 1.25 mg/kg IV q12	Nephrotoxicity Neurotoxicity	 Approved for GNR infections including <i>Pseudomonas</i> Requires complex PK/PD dosing with a loading dose
Ceftazidime- avibactam	2.5 gm IV q8	Nausea/vomiting	 Approved for complicated IAB and UTIs Inhibits the activity of class A, B, and D enzymes, but not against B
Ceftolozane- tazobactam	1.5 gm IV q8	Nausea/vomiting, headache	 Approved for complicated IAB and UTIs Has activity against MDR/ XDR <i>Pseudomonas</i> and ESBL organisms
Fosfomycin	3 gm orally × 1; IV formulation available outside of the United States		 Oral formulation should only be used for uncomplicated cystitis Rapid development of resistance if IV formulation used as monotherapy
Aminoglycosides	5–7 mg/kg/day IV of tobramycin or gentamicin; 15 mg/ kg/day IV of amikacin	Nephrotoxicity, ototoxicity, vestibular toxicity	Needs peak and trough monitoring
Meropenem/ vaborbactam	4 gm IV q8	Headache, infusion site reaction, diarrhea	 Recently approved for UTI/pyelonephritis Inhibitor of class A and class C B-lactamases
Drugs in the pipelin	e		
Imipenem/ relebactam			• Inhibitor of class A and class C β-lactamases with additional activity against <i>Pseudomonas</i>

 Table 11.4
 Treatment of multidrug-resistant (MDR) Gram-negative infections

	Recommended adult		
Treatment	dosing (nl CrCl)	Adverse effects	Comments
Plazomicin			• Aminoglycoside with activity against KPC- and OXA-producing organisms and MDR <i>Pseudomonas</i>
Eravacycline			• Fluorocycline tetracycline with activity against NDM- and KPC- producing organisms and CRAB

Tab	le 11.4	4 (coi	ntinued)
-----	---------	---------------	----------

Mg/kg milligrams/kilogram, *IV* intravenous, *MIC* minimum inhibitory concentration, *PK/PD* pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamics, *HAP* healthcare-associated pneumonia, *SSTI* skin and soft tissue infection, *GNRs* Gram-negative rods, *IAB* intra-abdominal infection, *UTI* urinary tract infection, *MDR* multidrug-resistant, *XDR* extremely drug-resistant, *ESBL* extended-spectrum beta-lactamase, *KPC Klebsiella*-producing carbapenamase, *NDM* New Delhi metallo-beta-lactamase, *CRAB* carbapenem-resistant *Acinetobacter baumannii*

Prevention of CRE in the healthcare setting often requires a combination of several infection control and prevention strategies. These include hand hygiene, cohorting of patients or staff, contact isolation precautions for patients infected or colonized with CRE, environmental cleaning, and focus on implementation of an effective antimicrobial stewardship program [80].

11.7 MDR Pseudomonas aeruginosa

Resistance mechanisms in *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* can be complex and often involve loss of outer membrane porins and upregulation of efflux pumps resulting in few therapeutic options [81]. *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* is a common cause of pneumonia and/or bacteremia early posttransplant [82, 83]. In one study, SOT recipients were 3.47 times more likely to have an MDR strain of *Pseudomonas* as compared to a non-SOT recipient [84]. Frequently, MDR *Pseudomonas* colonizes the lungs of CF patients pre- and posttransplant with colonization in 75% of lung transplant recipients in some reports [54, 83]. It is also the most common cause of bacterial pneumonia in lung transplant recipients, responsible for 25% of infections [54]. However, colonization with MDR *Pseudomonas* is not an absolute contraindication to lung transplant as overall rates of survival are similar in patients with or without colonization [54, 82, 85, 86].

The most significant risk factor for colonization or infection with MDR *Pseudomonas* remains prolonged exposure to antimicrobial therapies [54]. Other risk factors include ICU stay, previous transplantation, hospital-acquired BSI and septic shock [84, 87].

Treatment should utilize prolonged infusion of beta-lactam antimicrobials or increased doses of concentration-dependent therapy (i.e., fluoroquinolones) when susceptible. The polymyxins can also be utilized, and inhaled colistin or aminoglycosides can be used in the treatment of pneumonia as adjunctive therapy [88]. The role of combination therapy especially in the management of XDR isolates remains controversial and can be used initially in severely ill patients prior to obtaining susceptibilities [31].

Both new B-lactam/b-lactamase inhibitors, ceftazidime-avibactam and ceftolozane-tazobactam, have activity against MDR *Pseudomonas* isolates [31]. However, ceftolozane-tazobactam shows particular promise against MDR and XDR isolates of *Pseudomonas* due to stability against multiple resistance mechanisms [89]. Successful use of ceftolozane-tazobactam has been described in several case reports of SOT recipients with MDR and XDR *Pseudomonas* infections including one lung transplant recipient and another LVAD patient undergoing HT [90, 91]. It is also a promising treatment option for pneumonia due to good penetration into the epithelial lining.

11.8 Carbapenem-Resistant Acinetobacter baumannii (CRAB)

Prevalence data for carbapenem-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii (CRAB) in SOT recipients varies by transplant center and region [54]. Acinetobacter is a particularly resilient pathogen, and many carbapenem-resistant isolates are resistant to other available antimicrobials [92]. A recent prospective cohort study at a single center in Brazil found that 46% of their LT recipients were colonized with CRAB and CRAB was the most common MDR Gram-negative isolated on surveillance [65]. MDR and XDR Acinetobacter are frequently seen in ventilator-associated pneumonia in cardiothoracic patients; however, respiratory infections in LT recipients are also described [65, 92, 93]. Treatment of MDR and XDR Acinetobacter infections remains challenging. Sulbactam, a B-lactamase inhibitor, has intrinsic activity against Acinetobacter and should be used if susceptible. Other therapeutic options include tigecycline, minocycline, aminoglycosides, and polymyxins if susceptible. A single center demonstrated that combination therapy with colistin and carbapenems was effective in SOT recipients [92]. Cefiderocol (formerly S-649266), an investigational siderophore cephalosporin, demonstrated potent in vitro activity against a 2014–2016 worldwide collection of clinical isolates of MDR A. baumannii and other carbapenem non-susceptible Gram-negatives [94].

11.9 Burkholderia cepacia

The *Burkholderia cepacia* (*B. cepacia*) complex comprises multiple different subspecies and is most known for its significance in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) and lung transplantation, where it has been associated with increased morbidity and mortality. Infection with *B. cepacia* can lead to a progressive necrotizing pneumonia, resulting in a decline in pulmonary function [95]. The subspecies, *B. cenocepacia*, in particular, has been associated with poor outcomes [54]. In one single center study, patients infected with *B. cenocepacia* before transplant were six times more likely to die within 1 year of lung transplant compared to those infected with other *Burkholderia* species and eight times more likely to die than compared to patients who were not infected [96]. In addition, transplant recipients infected with *B. gladioli* had significantly higher mortality compared to patients who were not infected [97]. Other studies have shown that infection with other *B. cepacia* species, such as *B. multivorans*, may not be associated with increased mortality after lung transplant [98].

Guidelines from the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT) suggest that *B. cenocepacia* and *B. gladioli* may be considered a relative contraindication to lung transplant and that these patients should be referred to a transplant center with significant experience in managing these infections [99]. *B. cepacia* complex strains are intrinsically resistant to multiple antimicrobials and can acquire resistance through efflux pumps or beta lactamases. Effective antimicrobials include trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, ceftazidime, meropenem, levofloxacin, and minocycline, and oftentimes combination drug therapy is utilized in patients with MDR or XDR infections [100]. Ceftazidime-avibactam has also been shown to have potent activity against *B. cepacia* [101]. Transmission of *B. cepacia* in health-care and non-healthcare settings has been described, including through poor adherence to handwashing and contaminated respiratory equipment. Infection control interventions such as education, use of contact precautions, segregation of patients with *B. cepacia* in single-patient rooms with showers, and environmental decontamination have been shown to reduce transmission among CF patients [102, 103].

11.10 Conclusion

SOT recipients are at risk for MDR infections in the early posttransplant setting due to an interplay of complex risk factors that include exposure to broad-spectrum antimicrobials, healthcare-associated exposures, and surgical risk factors. Of particular concern are increasing reports of resistant Gram-negative infections and their association with high mortality rates in SOT recipients. Infection prevention and control measures are important, but more data is needed specifically in SOT recipients. Source control is essential in the management of SOT recipients with MDR infections. Lastly, while newer antimicrobials are being developed, more randomized controlled trials are needed to determine the optimal therapeutic regimens for these patients.

References

- Magiorakos AP, Srinivasan A, Carey RB, et al. Multidrug-resistant, extensively drug-resistant and pandrug-resistant bacteria: an international expert proposal for interim standard definitions for acquired resistance. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2012;18:268–81.
- Kaye KS, Pogue JM. Infections caused by resistant Gram-negative bacteria: epidemiology and management. Pharmacotherapy. 2015;35:949–62.
- Calfee DP. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus and vancomycin-resistant enterococci, and other Gram-positives in healthcare. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2012;25:385–94.

- 4. Weiner LM, Fridkin SK, Aponte-Torres Z, et al. Vital signs: preventing antibiotic-resistant infections in hospitals United States, 2014. Am J Transplant. 2016;16:2224–30.
- 5. Cosgrove SE, Sakoulas G, Perencevich EN, Schwaber MJ, Karchmer AW, Carmeli Y. Comparison of mortality associated with methicillin-resistant and methicillin-susceptible Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;36:53–9.
- Engemann JJ, Carmeli Y, Cosgrove SE, Fowler VG, Bronstein MZ, Trivette SL, Briggs JP, Sexton DJ, Kaye KS. Adverse clinical and economic outcomes attributable to methicillin resistance among patients with Staphylococcus aureus surgical site infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2003;36:592–8.
- Garzoni C, Vergidis P. Methicillin-resistant, vancomycin-intermediate and vancomycinresistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:50–8.
- 8. Wendt JM, Kaul D, Limbago BM, et al. Transmission of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection through solid organ transplantation: confirmation via whole genome sequencing. Am J Transplant. 2014;14:2633–9.
- Altman DR, Sebra R, Hand J, et al. Transmission of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus via deceased donor liver transplantation confirmed by whole genome sequencing. Am J Transplant. 2014;14:2640–4.
- Florescu DF, McCartney AM, Qiu F, Langnas AN, Botha J, Mercer DF, Grant W, Kalil AC. Staphylococcus aureus infections after liver transplantation. Infection. 2012;40:263–9.
- Singh N, Paterson DL, Chang FY, Gayowski T, Squier C, Wagener MM, Marino IR. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: the other emerging resistant Gram-positive coccus among liver transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2000;30:322–7.
- Schneider CR, Buell JF, Gearhart M, Thomas M, Hanaway MJ, Rudich SM, Woodle ES. Methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infection in liver transplantation: a matched controlled study. Transplant Proc. 2005;37(2):1243–4.
- Bert F, Bellier C, Lassel L, Lefranc V, Durand F, Belghiti J, Mentre F, Fantin B. Risk factors for Staphylococcus aureus infection in liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl. 2005;11:1093–9.
- Shields RK, Clancy CJ, Minces LR, et al. Staphylococcus aureus infections in the early period after lung transplantation: epidemiology, risk factors, and outcomes. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2012;31:1199–206.
- Russell DL, Flood A, Zaroda TE, Acosta C, Riley MMS, Busuttil RW, Pegues DA. Outcomes of colonization with MRSA and VRE among liver transplant candidates and recipients. Am J Transplant. 2008;8:1737–43.
- Ziakas PD, Pliakos EE, Zervou FN, Knoll BM, Rice LB, Mylonakis E. MRSA and VRE colonization in solid organ transplantation: a meta-analysis of published studies. Am J Transplant. 2014;14:1887–94.
- Holmes NE, Tong SYC, Davis JS, Van Hal SJ. Treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus: vancomycin and beyond. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2015;36:17–30.
- Choo EJ, Chambers HF. Treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus bacteremia. Infect Chemother. 2016;48:267–73.
- Gudiol C, Cuervo G, Shaw E, Pujol M, Carratalà J. Pharmacotherapeutic options for treating *Staphylococcus aureus* bacteremia. Expert Opin Pharmacother. 2017;6566:1–17.
- Liu C, Bayer A, Cosgrove SE, et al. Clinical practice guidelines by the infectious diseases society of America for the treatment of methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus infections in adults and children. Clin Infect Dis. 2011. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciq146
- Van Hal SJ, Lodise TP, Paterson DL. The clinical significance of vancomycin minimum inhibitory concentration in Staphylococcus aureus infections: a systematic review and metaanalysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:755–71.
- 22. Kalil AC, Van Schooneveld TC, Fey PD, Rupp ME. Association between vancomycin minimum inhibitory concentration and mortality among patients with Staphylococcus aureus bloodstream infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. JAMA. 2014;312:1552–64.

- Purrello SM, Garau J, Giamarellos E, Mazzei T, Pea F, Soriano A, Stefani S. Methicillinresistant Staphylococcus aureus infections: a review of the currently available treatment options. J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2016;7:178–86.
- 24. Edwards B, Andini R, Esposito S, Grossi P, Lew D, Mazzei T, Novelli A, Soriano A, Gould IM. Treatment options for methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus (MRSA) infection: where are we now? J Glob Antimicrob Resist. 2014;2:133–40.
- Wunderink RG, Niederman MS, Kollef MH, Shorr AF, Kunkel MJ, Baruch A, McGee WT, Reisman A, Chastre J. Linezolid in methicillin-resistant Staphylococcus aureus nosocomial pneumonia: a randomized, controlled study. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:621–9.
- Swartz TH, Huprikar S, Labombardi V, Pinney S, Anyanwu A, Lee M, Patel G. Heart transplantation in a patient with heteroresistant vancomycin-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus ventricular assist device mediastinitis and bacteremia. Transpl Infect Dis. 2013. https://doi. org/10.1111/tid.12123
- Bert F, Clarissou J, Durand F, Delefosse D, Chauvet C, Lefebvre P, Lambert N, Branger C. Prevalence, molecular epidemiology, and clinical significance of heterogeneous glycopeptide-intermediate Staphylococcus aureus in liver transplant recipients. J Clin Microbiol. 2003;41:5147–52.
- Singh N, Squier C, Wannstedt C, Keyes L, Wagener MM, Cacciarelli TV. Impact of an aggressive infection control strategy on endemic Staphylococcus aureus infection in liver transplant recipients. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2006;27:122–6.
- Climo MW, Yokoe DS, Warren DK, et al. Effect of daily chlorhexidine bathing on hospitalacquired infection. N Engl J Med. 2013;368:533–42.
- 30. Pergam SA. Infection prevention in transplantation. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016;18:1–10.
- Hand J, Patel G. Multidrug-resistant organisms in liver transplant: mitigating risk and managing infections. Liver Transpl. 2016;22:1143–53.
- Patel G, Snydman DR. Vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:59–67.
- 33. McNeil SA, Malani PN, Chenoweth CE, Fontana RJ, Magee JC, Punch JD, Mackin ML, Kauffman CA. Vancomycin-resistant enterococcal colonization and infection in liver transplant candidates and recipients: a prospective surveillance study. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;42:195–203.
- Newell KA, Millis JM, Arnow PM, et al. Incidence and outcome of infection by vancomycinresistant Enterococcus following orthotopic liver transplantation. Transplantation. 1998;65:439–42.
- Gearhart M, Martin J, Rudich S, et al. Consequences of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus in liver transplant recipients: a matched control study. Clin Transpl. 2005;19:711–6.
- 36. El-Khoury J, Fishman JA. Linezolid in the treatment of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium in solid organ transplant recipients: report of a multicenter compassionate-use trial. Transpl Infect Dis. 2003;5:121–5.
- Radunz S, Juntermanns B, Kaiser GM, Treckmann J, Mathe Z, Paul A, Saner FH. Efficacy and safety of linezolid in liver transplant patients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2011;13:353–8.
- Kohinke RM, Pakyz AL. Treatment of vancomycin-resistant Enterococci: focus on daptomycin. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2017;19(10):33. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-017-0589-2.
- 39. Len O, Montejo M, Cervera C, et al. Daptomycin is safe and effective for the treatment of Gram-positive cocci infections in solid organ transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2014;16:532–8.
- 40. Britt NS, Potter EM, Patel N, Steed ME. Comparative effectiveness and safety of standard-, medium-, and high-dose daptomycin strategies for the treatment of vancomycin-resistant enterococcal bacteremia among veterans affairs patients. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64:605–13.
- Chuang YC, Lin HY, Chen PY, Lin CY, Wang JT, Chang SC. Daptomycin versus linezolid for the treatment of vancomycin-resistant enterococcal bacteraemia: implications of daptomycin dose. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2016;22:890.e1–7.
- 42. Sierra-Hoffman M, Iznaola O, Goodwin M, Mohr J. Combination therapy with ampicillin and daptomycin for treatment of Enterococcus faecalis endocarditis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2012;56:6064.

- 43. Snyder AH, Werth BJ, Barber KE, Sakoulas G, Rybak MJ. Evaluation of the novel combination of daptomycin plus ceftriaxone against vancomycin-resistant enterococci in an in vitro pharmacokinetic/pharmacodynamic simulated endocardial vegetation model. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;69:2148–54.
- 44. Smith JR, Barber KE, Raut A, Aboutaleb M, Sakoulas G, Rybak MJ. β-Lactam combinations with daptomycin provide synergy against vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecalis and Enterococcus faecium. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2014;70:1738–43.
- Lewis JD, Enfield KB, Cox HL, Mathers AJ, Sifri CD. A single-center experience with infections due to daptomycin-nonsusceptible Enterococcus faecium in liver transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18:341–53.
- 46. Niebel M, Perera MTPR, Shah T, Marudanayagam R, Martin K, Oppenheim BA, David MD. Emergence of linezolid resistance in hepatobiliary infections caused by Enterococcus faecium. Liver Transpl. 2016;22:201–8.
- Banach DB, Peaper DR, Fortune BE, Emre S, Dembry LM. The clinical and molecular epidemiology of pre-transplant vancomycin-resistant enterococci colonization among liver transplant recipients. Clin Transpl. 2016;30:306–11.
- Cheng VCC, Chen JHK, Tai JWM, et al. Decolonization of gastrointestinal carriage of vancomycin-resistant Enterococcus faecium: case series and review of literature. BMC Infect Dis. 2014;14:514.
- Pouch SM, Satlin MJ. Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in special populations: solid organ transplant recipients, stem cell transplant recipients, and patients with hematologic malignancies. Virulence. 2017;8:391–402.
- Satlin MJ, Jenkins SG, Walsh TJ. The global challenge of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae in transplant recipients and patients with hematologic malignancies. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58:1274–83.
- 51. Giani T, Conte V, Mandalà S, D'Andrea MM, Luzzaro F, Conaldi PG, Grossi P, Rossolinia GM. Cross-infection of solid organ transplant recipients by a multidrug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae isolate producing the OXA-48 carbapenemase, likely derived from a multiorgan donor. J Clin Microbiol. 2014;52:2702–5.
- 52. Grundmann H, Glasner C, Albiger B, et al. Occurrence of carbapenemase-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae and Escherichia coli in the European survey of carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae (EuSCAPE): a prospective, multinational study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2017;17:153–63.
- 53. CDC. Antibiotic resistance threats in the United States, 2013 | Antibiotic/Antimicrobial Resistance | CDC; 2013.
- Van Duin D, Van Delden C. Multidrug-resistant Gram-negative bacteria infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:31–41.
- Rana MM, Sturdevant M, Patel G, Huprikar S. Klebsiella necrotizing soft tissue infections in liver transplant recipients: a case series. Transpl Infect Dis. 2013. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12103
- 56. Lübbert C, Becker-Rux D, Rodloff AC, Laudi S, Busch T, Bartels M, Kaisers UX. Colonization of liver transplant recipients with KPC-producing Klebsiella pneumoniae is associated with high infection rates and excess mortality: a case-control analysis. Infection. 2014;42:309–16.
- 57. Kalpoe JS, Sonnenberg E, Factor SH, del Rio Martin J, Schiano T, Patel G, Huprikar S. Mortality associated with carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infections in liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl. 2012;18:468–74.
- Barchiesi F, Montalti R, Castelli P, Nicolini D, Staffolani S, Mocchegiani F, Fiorentini A, Manso E, Vivarelli M. Carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae influences the outcome of early infections in liver transplant recipients. BMC Infect Dis. 2016;16:538.
- Patel G, Huprikar S, Factor SH, Jenkins SG, Calfee DP. Outcomes of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae Infection and the impact of antimicrobial and adjunctive therapies. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2008;29:1099–106.
- 60. Freire MP, Oshiro ICVS, Pierrotti LC, et al. Carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae acquired before liver transplantation. Transplantation. 2017;101:811–20.

- Pereira MR, Scully BF, Pouch SM, Uhlemann A-C, Goudie S, Emond JE, Verna EC. Risk factors and outcomes of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae infections in liver transplant recipients. Liver Transpl. 2015;21:1511–9.
- 62. Giannella M, Bartoletti M, Morelli MC, et al. Risk factors for infection with carbapenemresistant Klebsiella pneumoniae after liver transplantation: the importance of pre- and posttransplant colonization. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:1708–15.
- 63. Freire MP, Abdala E, Moura ML, de Paula FJ, Spadão F, Caiaffa-Filho HH, David-Neto E, Nahas WC, Pierrotti LC. Risk factors and outcome of infections with Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase-producing K. pneumoniae in kidney transplant recipients. Infection. 2015;43:315–23.
- 64. Pouch SM, Kubin CJ, Satlin MJ, Tsapepas DS, Lee JR, Dube G, Pereira MR. Epidemiology and outcomes of carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteriuria in kidney transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2015. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12450
- 65. Freire MP, Villela Soares Oshiro IC, Bonazzi PR, et al. Surveillance culture for multidrugresistant Gram-negative bacteria: performance in liver transplant recipients. Am J Infect Control. 2017;45:e40–4.
- 66. Huprikar S, Casner L, Pierrotti LC, Nellore A, Madan R, Garcia-Diaz J, Jacobs S, Lee D, Trindade Clemente W, Alangaden G Outcomes associated with carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae infection after solid organ transplantation in a multicenter study. Progr. Abstr. 16th Am. Transpl. Congr. Am. Soc. Transpl. Surg. Am. Soc. Transplantation, Boston, MA; 2016.
- 67. Ariza-Heredia EJ, Patel R, Blumberg EA, et al. Outcomes of transplantation using organs from a donor infected with Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase (KPC)-producing K. pneumoniae. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14:229–36.
- van Duin D, Bonomo RA. Ceftazidime/avibactam and ceftolozane/tazobactam: secondgeneration β-lactam/β-lactamase inhibitor combinations. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63:234–41.
- 69. Falagas ME, Mavroudis AD, Vardakas KZ. The antibiotic pipeline for multi-drug resistant Gram negative bacteria: what can we expect? Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther. 2016;14:747–63.
- Wright H, Bonomo RA, Paterson DL. New agents for the treatment of infections with Gramnegative bacteria: restoring the miracle or false dawn? Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017;23:704–12.
- Vardakas KZ, Falagas ME. Colistin versus polymyxin B for the treatment of patients with multidrug-resistant Gram-negative infections: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Int J Antimicrob Agents. 2017;49:233–8.
- 72. Mills JP, Wilck MB, Weikert BC, Porrett PM, Timko D, Alby K, Bonomo RA, Blumberg EA. Successful treatment of a disseminated infection with extensively drug-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae in a liver transplant recipient with a fosfomycin-based multidrug regimen. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18:777–81.
- Tumbarello M, Viale P, Viscoli C, et al. Predictors of mortality in bloodstream infections caused by Klebsiella pneumoniae carbapenemase-producing K. pneumoniae: importance of combination therapy. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;55:943–50.
- 74. Bonomo RA, Burd EM, Conly J, Limbago BM, Poirel L, Segre JA. Carbapenemaseproducing organisms: a global scourge! Clin Infect Dis. 2017;66:1290–7.
- Gutiérrez-Gutiérrez B, Salamanca E, de Cueto M, et al. Effect of appropriate combination therapy on mortality of patients with bloodstream infections due to carbapenemaseproducing Enterobacteriaceae (INCREMENT): a retrospective cohort study. Lancet Infect Dis. 2017;17:726–34.
- van Duin D, Lok JJ, Earley M, et al. Colistin vs. ceftazidime-avibactam in the treatment of infections due to carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae. Clin Infect Dis. 2017. https://doi. org/10.1093/cid/cix783
- 77. Shields RK, Nguyen MH, Chen L, Press EG, Potoski BA, Marini R V., Doi Y, Kreiswirth BN, Clancy CJ. Ceftazidime-avibactam is superior to other treatment regimens against carbapenem-resistant Klebsiella pneumoniae bacteremia. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00883-17

- King M, Heil E, Kuriakose S, et al. Multicenter study of outcomes with ceftazidimeavibactam in patients with carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae infections. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00449-17
- Humphries RM, Yang S, Hemarajata P, Ward KW, Hindler JA, Miller SA, Gregson A. First report of ceftazidime-avibactam resistance in a KPC-3-expressing Klebsiella pneumoniae isolate. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2015;59:6605–7.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention (CDC). Facility guidance for control of carbapenem-resistant Enterobacteriaceae (CRE). Natl Cent Emerg Zoonotic Infect Dis. 2015;24:700–9.
- Arizpe A, Reveles KR, Patel SD, Aitken SL. Updates in the management of cephalosporinresistant Gram-negative bacteria. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2016. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s11908-016-0552-7
- Aguado JM, Silva JT, Fernández-Ruiz M, et al. Management of multidrug resistant Gramnegative bacilli infections in solid organ transplant recipients: SET/GESITRA-SEIMC/ REIPI recommendations. Transplant Rev. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.trre.2017.07.001
- Cervera C, van Delden C, Gavaldà J, Welte T, Akova M, Carratalà J. Multidrug-resistant bacteria in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):49–73.
- 84. Johnson LE, D'Agata EMC, Paterson DL, Clarke L, Qureshi ZA, Potoski BA, Peleg AY. Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteremia over a 10-year period: multidrug resistance and outcomes in transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2009;11:227–34.
- Dobbin C, Maley M, Harkness J, Benn R, Malouf M, Glanville A, Bye P. The impact of panresistant bacterial pathogens on survival after lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis: results from a single large referral centre. J Hosp Infect. 2004;56:277–82.
- 86. Hadjiliadis D, Steele MP, Chaparro C, Singer LG, Waddell TK, Hutcheon MA, Davis RD, Tullis DE, Palmer SM, Keshavjee S. Survival of lung transplant patients with cystic fibrosis harboring panresistant bacteria other than Burkholderia cepacia, compared with patients harboring sensitive bacteria. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2007;26:834–8.
- Bodro M, Sabe N, Tubau F, Llado L, Baliellas C, Gonzalez-Costello J, Cruzado JM, Carratala J. Extensively drug-resistant Pseudomonas aeruginosa bacteremia in solid organ transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2015;99:616–22.
- Wenzler E, Fraidenburg DR, Scardina T, Danziger LH. Inhaled antibiotics for Gram-negative respiratory infections. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2016;29:581–632.
- Maraolo AE, Cascella M, Corcione S, Cuomo A, Nappa S, Borgia G, De Rosa FG, Gentile I. Management of multidrug-resistant *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* in the intensive care unit: state of the art. Expert Rev Anti-Infect Ther. 2017;15:861–71.
- Peghin M, Maiani M, Castaldo N, Givone F, Righi E, Lechiancole A, Sartor A, Pea F, Livi U, Bassetti M. Ceftolozane/tazobactam for the treatment of MDR Pseudomonas aeruginosa left ventricular assist device infection as a bridge to heart transplant. Infection. 2017;46:263–5.
- Stokem K, Zuckerman JB, Nicolau DP, Wungwattana M, Sears EH. Use of ceftolozanetazobactam in a cystic fibrosis patient with multidrug-resistant Pseudomonas infection and renal insufficiency. Respir Med Case Rep. 2018;23:8–9.
- Shields RK, Clancy CJ, Gillis LM, Kwak EJ, Silveira FP, Massih RCA, Eschenauer GA, Potoski BA, Nguyen MH. Epidemiology, clinical characteristics and outcomes of extensively drug-resistant Acinetobacter baumannii Infections among solid organ transplant recipients. PLoS One. 2012;7(12):e52349. https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0052349.
- Guo W, Sheng J, Gu Y, Xing T-H, Peng Z-H, Zhong L. Analysis and forecast for multidrugresistant Acinetobacter baumannii Infections among liver transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2014;46:1448–52.
- 94. Hackel MA, Tsuji M, Yamano Y, Echols R, Karlowsky JA, Sahma DF. In vitro activity of the siderophore cephalosporin, cefiderocol, against a recent collection of clinically relevant Gram-negative Bacilli from North America and Europe, including carbapenemnonsusceptible isolates (SIDERO-WT-2014 study). Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1128/AAC.00093-17

- Hafkin J, Blumberg E. Infections in lung transplantation: new insights. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2009;14:483–7.
- Alexander B, Petzold E. Survival after lung transplantation of cystic fibrosis patients infected with Burkholderia cepacia complex. Transplant. 2008;8:1025–30.
- Murray S, Charbeneau J, Marshall BC, LiPuma JJ. Impact of Burkholderia infection on lung transplantation in cystic fibrosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2008;178:363–71.
- Boussaud V, Guillemain R, Grenet D, Coley N, Souilamas R, Bonnette P, Stern M. Clinical outcome following lung transplantation in patients with cystic fibrosis colonised with Burkholderia cepacia complex: results from two French centres. Thorax. 2008;63:732–7.
- 99. Weill D. A consensus document for the selection of lung transplant candidates: 2014—an update from the Pulmonary Transplantation Council of the International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation. J Hear Lung Transplant. 2014;34:1–15.
- 100. Zhou J, Chen Y, Tabibi S, Alba L, Garber E, Saiman L. Antimicrobial susceptibility and synergy studies of *Burkholderia cepacia* complex isolated from patients with cystic fibrosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2007;51:1085–8.
- 101. Papp-Wallace KM, Becka SA, Zeiser ET, et al. Overcoming an extremely drug resistant (XDR) pathogen: avibactam restores susceptibility to ceftazidime for Burkholderia cepacia complex isolates from cystic fibrosis patients. ACS Infect Dis. 2017;3:502–11.
- 102. Saiman L, Siegel J. Infection control in cystic fibrosis. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17:57–71.
- O'Malley CA. Infection control in cystic fibrosis: cohorting, cross-contamination, and the respiratory therapist. Respir Care. 2009;54:641–57.



Prevention and Treatment of Mold Infections

12

Claire Aguilar, Benoit Pilmis, Olivier Lortholary, and Shahid Husain

12.1 Description of Pathogen

Molds are filamentous fungi present in the environment including different species such as *Aspergillus* spp., hyalohyphomycetes (*Fusarium* spp., *Scedosporium* spp.), *Mucorales* spp., phaeohyphomycetes, and dermatophytes. The primary route of transmission is inhalation of spores. Dermatophytophytosis and phaeohyphomycosis, however, are usually transmitted through the skin.

12.2 Definitions

It is very important to differentiate between *colonization* with a fungal organism, defined by the presence of mold without clinical or radiological evidence of disease, which does not necessarily require a specific treatment, and *invasive disease* [1, 2]. In particular, molds, most of which are ubiquitous in environment, can be found in the airways, and all necessary diagnostic tests need to be performed in assessing, if the presence of the fungus is associated with invasive disease.

In this chapter we will discuss different prophylactic strategies used to decrease the rate of invasive mold infections in SOT recipients. *Universal prophylaxis* refers to an antifungal medication administered systematically to all patients in a group, whereas *targeted prophylaxis* is the use of antifungal drugs in patients identified as

C. Aguilar \cdot S. Husain (\boxtimes)

Division of Infectious Diseases, Multi-Organ Transplant Program, Department of Medicine, University of Toronto, University Health Network, Toronto, ON, Canada e-mail: shahid.husain@uhn.ca

B. Pilmis · O. Lortholary

Necker Pasteur Center for Infectious Diseases and Tropical Medicine, Paris Descartes University, IHU Imagine, Paris, France

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_12

high risk within the group. *Preemptive treatment* is given in patients with direct or indirect microbiological tests suggesting the presence of fungus but without evidence of invasive disease [1].

12.3 Epidemiology of Mold Infections in SOT

In the large multicenter TRANSET study, conducted in the USA between 2001 and 2006, invasive aspergillosis (IA) represented the second most frequent fungal infection among SOT recipients, after invasive candidiasis [3]. Mucormycosis was rare (2.3% of invasive fungal infections in this cohort), as well as other mold infections (8.5% of all invasive fungal infection). However, the epidemiology of mold infections strongly varies between the different organ groups.

12.3.1 Aspergillosis

Lung transplant recipients have the highest risk of invasive mold infections, owing to the continuous exposure to the environment and decreased mucociliary clearance in addition to a higher net state of immunosuppression. Seventy percent of mold infections in lung transplant recipients are due to invasive aspergillosis (IA) [4].

Colonization with *Aspergillus* sp., mainly *Aspergillus fumigatus*, is frequent in lung transplant recipients, with varying rates according to the underlying disease. The highest rates (up to 59%) were reported in cystic fibrosis patients. IA is more rare, with reported incidence rates ranging from 3 to 14% [1]. In a recent multicenter international study about 900 patients, the cumulative incidence of IA at 4 years posttransplantation was 8.8% [5]. The risk factors identified in previous studies were pretransplant colonization with *Aspergillus* sp., cystic fibrosis, single lung transplant, use of anti-thymocyte globulins, and cytomegalovirus infection. In the recent multicenter study, at the era of wide use of antifungal prophylaxis, the main risk factors were single lung transplant and colonization with *Aspergillus* sp. within the first year posttransplantation.

In heart transplant recipients, incidence of IA varies among centers and often occurs as outbreaks. Isolation of *Aspergillus* sp. in airways, reoperation, CMV disease, posttransplant hemodialysis, and episode of IA in the program in the 2 months before or after the transplantation are risk factors for IA in heart transplant recipients [6]. In liver transplant recipients, the most frequent invasive fungal infection is candidiasis, but incidence of IA is significant and also associated with some unique features. In a large study comparing characteristics of invasive fungal infections in transplant recipients, it was noted that in liver transplant recipients IA tended to occur early posttransplantation and was disseminated in half of the patients, whereas disseminated IA was very rare lung transplant recipients [7]. Moreover, mortality of IA in liver transplant recipients was much higher than in other SOT recipients.

In kidney transplant recipients, incidence of IA is low. An international multicenter retrospective study highlighted the high mortality of IA in this group, especially in cases of IA occurring before 6 months from transplant. Significant risk factors were chronic obstructive disease before transplant, delayed graft function, occurrence of other infections, and rejection [8].

12.3.2 Hyalohyphomycosis: Fusariosis and Scedosporiosis

Among *Fusarium* species, *F. solani* species complex is most frequently involved in invasive disease, followed by *F. oxysporum* species complex and more rarely other species. *Fusarium* spp. can induce superficial skin infections, nail infections, and keratitis in immunocompetent patients. Disseminated disease can occur in immuno-compromised patients, mainly patients with hematological malignancies and bone marrow transplant recipients [9]. The incidence of fusariosis is very low in SOT patients and represents <1% of all invasive fungal infection in SOT recipients. The main routes of infection are skin inoculation, consequently cutaneous symptoms, and inhalation, accounting for pulmonary fusariosis affecting mainly lung transplant recipients [10].

While overall incidence of *Scedosporium* spp. infections is low in SOT recipients, its mortality is high [11]. Moreover, *Scedosporium* sp. can cause a significant problem in cystic fibrosis patients colonized with *Scedosporium apiospermum* or *Scedosporium prolificans*. *S. prolificans* in particular can be resistant to all known antifungals, and extreme caution should be exercised in transplanting these individuals.

12.3.3 Mucormycosis in SOT

The incidence of mucormycosis is low in SOT recipients. In TRANSNET registry, mucormycosis accounted for 2% of all invasive fungal infections. Incidence of mucormycosis among all transplant groups was 0.07% [3]. The most prevalent species was *Rhizopus*, followed by *Mucor* and *Cunninghamella*. In a case control study, the median time of mucormycosis was 5 months from transplant; however, it occurred earlier in liver transplant recipients [12]. The risk factors noted were diabetes, renal failure, and prior use of voriconazole or caspofungin.

In SOT patients, mucormycosis is usually localized to the lungs or sinuses. Dissemination is more frequent in liver transplant recipients compared to other organ groups [13].

12.3.4 Phaeohyphomycosis

In the TRANSNET registry, 2.5% of invasive fungal infections in SOT patients were phaeohyphomycoses, which occurred as late event with a median delay from transplant of 685 days. Half of the patients were lung transplant recipients. The most common clinical localizations of infection were the skin, lungs, and sinuses.

Infection was disseminated in more than half of cases. *Alternaria* was found in almost one third of cases, followed by *Exophiala*; the other species were found in <10% of cases [14].

12.3.5 Dermatophytes

Dermatophytes are ubiquitous filamentous fungi responsible for skin and nail infections, mostly benign in immunocompetent patients. Severe dermatophytosis usually presenting with skin nodules can rarely occur in immunocompromised patients, including SOT patients. In a recent retrospective study of 16 SOT patients with severe dermatophytosis defined by the presence of the fungus in the derma or involving two parts of the body, the diagnosis was done at a median time from transplant of 16 months [15]. Interestingly, in two thirds of the patients, clinical symptoms of superficial dermatophytosis were present before the occurrence of severe form, highlighting the need for careful skin monitoring in SOT patients.

12.4 Diagnosis: Discussion of Screening and Diagnostic Strategies to Detect or Mitigate Infection

In immunocompromised hosts, early diagnosis of invasive fungal infections is essential as delayed treatment results in increased mortality rates. However, diagnosis of invasive mold infections is difficult because of limitations of diagnostic tools currently available. Indeed, for these infections the standard microbiological techniques with direct examination and culture have a low sensitivity and specificity. In addition, the contribution of nonconventional tests, such as galactomannan antigen and beta-D-glucan assay, is lower than that observed among neutropenic patients [16]. The performance of diagnostics tests used to detect invasive mold infection (IMI) is summarized in Table 12.1. Finally, radiological abnormalities are progressive over time and most often non-specific.

12.4.1 Conventional Assays

12.4.1.1 Microscopy Techniques

Microscopy techniques include fresh and stained examination of microbiological samples, as well as histopathological studies. Microscopy techniques are useful to distinguish hyaline molds (septate hyalohyphomycetes and nonseptate *Mucorales*) from pigmented phaeohyphomycetes. However, those methods have important limitations, one being their low sensitivity, especially if systemic antifungal therapy has already been initiated. Furthermore, all hyaline *Hyphomycetes*, including *Aspergillus*, *Scedosporium*, *Fusarium*, *Acremonium*, and *Paecilomyces*, exhibit similar appearance in clinical specimens under microscopic examination, and correlation with culture results is needed for definitive identification.

Table 12.1 Diagn	osis of the main invasiv	e mold infection amc	ong solid organ transplant recipie	ents	
	Aspergillosis	Scedosporium	Fusariosis	Mucormycosis	Phaeohyphomycosis
Pathogen detection	l				
Microscopy techni	dues				
Color	Hyaline	Hyaline	Hyaline	Hyaline	Brown
Size	3–8 μm wide	3–8 μm wide	3-8 μm wide	5–15 μm wide	Variable
Septation	Yes	Yes	Yes	No	Yes
Branching	Acute angle (45°)	Acute angle (45°)	Acute angle	Right angle	Variable
Culture	Among SOT	No positive blood	Blood culture	Blood culture: limited utility	Blood culture: limited
	All samples: Sens	culture	Sens (41–60%)	Culture of the CNS often	utility
	(91.4%)			negative for CNS infection	
	Sputum and BAL:				
	PVP (58%)				
	Blood culture: no				
	utility				
PCR	Among lung SOT	Insufficient data	Insufficient data	Serum Sens (90%)	Insufficient data
	BAL:			Positive before the diagnosis up	
	Sens (100%) Spe			68 to 3 days before diagnosis	
	(88%)			Serum negativation is	
-	0.2000				
Beta-D-glucan	Sens (66%) Spe	NA	Few data but some positive	Negative	Few data but some
assay	(44%)		results		positive results
Galactomannan	Serum Sens (22%),	NA	Serum Sens (73.3%)	Negative	Cross reactivity in some
Ag	Spe (84%)		Positive before the diagnosis		cases
	BAL		in 73% at a median of		Not recommended
	Sens (81.8%), Spe		10 days		
	(n, 0, cc)				

5
recil
lant
transp
organ
solid
among
ction
inte
_
nol
invasive i
main
t the
1S 0
Jiagnos
2.1
e
õ

12.4.1.2 Culture

Cultures are usually positive after 1–3 days of incubation except for slow-sporulating species (e.g., *Aspergillus lentulus, Neosartorya udagawae*). Once isolated in culture, molds are primarily identified based on their macroscopic morphology on culture media and type of reproductive structures observed microscopically. If possible, EORTC/MSG recommends appending the identification at the genus or species level from the culture results. It is important to note that the previous systemic antifungal therapy and aggressive processing of the specimens before plating are associated with false-negative cultures. It must also be emphasized that culture isolation of mold species from the airways does not necessarily indicate invasive disease. Indeed, respiratory tracts of up to 59% of lung transplant recipients become colonized with *Aspergillus* spp. Although contamination of clinical specimens by *Mucorales* is possible, positive culture results, especially when repetitive and associated with positive smear results, strongly suggest mucormycosis in SOT patients.

12.4.2 Nonconventional Assays

Because of the limitations of conventional methods, alternatives to culture techniques for the diagnosis of mold infections have been developed such as detection of fungal cell components (galactomannan, $1,3-\beta$ -d-glucan) and molecular tools.

12.4.2.1 Galactomannan Antigen Detection Assay

Galactomannan (GM) is a cell wall component of several filamentous fungi including *Aspergillus* sp. and *Fusarium*, but not *Mucorales*. GM can be detected in serum and BAL by an ELISA assay. However, performance of the test for the diagnosis of IA depends on the population studied. In serum, while the specificity of the test was good (84%), the sensitivity of the test among SOT was significantly lower compared to bone marrow transplant (22% and 82%, respectively) in a meta-analysis of 27 studies [17].

In BAL, in a study of 116 lung transplant recipients, an index cutoff value to \geq 1.0 yielded a sensitivity of 60%, a specificity of 98%, and positive and negative likelihood ratios of 28 and 0.40, respectively [18]. In a recent Brazilian study, Nucci et al. assessed the performance of galactomannan in 18 patients with invasive fusariosis. The sensitivity and specificity of galactomannan were 83% and 67%, respectively. Galactomannan was positive before the diagnosis of invasive fusariosis in 73% of the cases at a median of 10 days [19].

12.4.2.2 1,3-β-D-Glucan

The 1,3- β -D-glucan (BG), a cell wall component of most fungal species, can be detected in serum during invasive fungal infections. The BG test is used as a diagnostic tool for the detection of a broad spectrum of fungal pathogens, with the exception of *Mucorales*. It was included in the updated consensus definition of probable invasive fungal disease by the EORTC/MSG consensus in combination with classical clinical, radiological, and microbiological findings. However, the test

has low sensitivity, and its best performance is in the hematological population. A study assessing performance of β -D-glucan assay in BAL samples of lung transplant recipients showed moderate sensitivity and specificity for the diagnosis of IA [20]. The low specificity could be due to potential colonization of lung airways by *Candida* sp.

12.4.2.3 Molecular Assays

A range of different PCR assays (conventional, nested, and real time) have been developed, targeting different gene regions (mainly 18S, 28S, internal transcribed spacer, and D1/D2 of the rRNA or β -tubulin), including a variety of amplicon detection methods. According to recent recommendations from the European Society of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases (ESCMID) and European Confederation of Medical Mycology (ECMM), regarding diagnosis of IMIs, molecular methods are recommended for accurate identification of mucormycosis and phaeohyphomycosis, especially in case of outbreak and to a less extent for hyalohyphomycosis identification [21]. In the TRANSNET study, over 10% of the isolates associated with IA in transplant recipients were found to be cryptic species, and molecular identification methods were essential in distinguishing them. However, the level of evidence for fungal detection by the use of PCR methods is still lower and not supported by current recommendations. Harmonization of PCR-based techniques is necessary before any clear recommendations can be made regarding their clinical utility. However, results are promising, especially for *Aspergillus* and *Mucorales*.

12.4.3 Diagnostic Strategy

As soon as a clinical scenario is consistent with invasive mold infections, imaging of the suspected site of infection should be performed, most often with computed tomography of the chest, as well as CT of the brain and sinuses depending on the clinical symptoms. If lung infiltrates are identified, a bronchoscopy with bronchoalveolar lavage is indicated, in order to perform fungal cultures and GM testing in BAL. Detection of serum GM should not be used for routine diagnosis of invasive fungal infections in SOT recipients. Blood cultures should also be drawn. If a lesion easily accessible to a biopsy is identified (skin lesion, sinusitis), the tissue should be sent for histopathology as well as fungal culture and molecular testing if needed.

A proven diagnosis of IMI can be based on positive blood cultures that yield particular filamentous fungi (*Scedosporium* spp., *Fusarium* spp.), observation of the tissue with invasive fungal structure, or isolation of fungus from sterile tissue or fluid. A diagnosis of probable IMI is based on direct or indirect microbiologic test of fungal infection associated with suggestive radiological features. Nodules, air crescent sign, cavity, and halo sign are suggestive of IA, but not specific, and are less frequently seen in SOT patients compared to neutropenic patients. One study about radiological features of IA in lung transplant recipients showed that the most common findings were bilateral bronchial wall thickening and centrilobular opacities with tree-in-bud pattern [22].

12.5 Prevention: Discussion of Approaches to Prevent Onset of Disease

Different approaches can be used in order to avoid occurrence of invasive mold infections in SOT patients, including environmental measures and chemoprophylaxis with antifungal drugs.

12.5.1 Environmental Measures

Filamentous fungi are present in the environment. The main routes of infections are inhalation and skin inoculation. Although it is impossible to prevent any exposure to fungi, as, for instance, each individual is daily exposed to hundreds of *Aspergillus* spores, SOT patients should be aware of the increased risk of fungal infection and try to avoid construction sites and excavations with a possible high concentration of spores. Wearing a surgical mask in situations with exposure to dust or moisture or during home remodeling is probably useful too [23]. However, the data remains thin, unlike hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients where positive pressure rooms are suggested; no such recommendations are enacted for SOT recipients. Antifungal chemoprophylaxis remains the mainstay of prevention.

12.5.2 Antifungal Chemoprophylaxis

Antifungal medications can be used as universal prophylaxis, applied to all individuals in a group, targeted prophylaxis, given to patients with defined risk factors, and preemptive therapy, which aims to treat evidence of early disease. The indication of a prophylaxis depends on the incidence of the disease in the group.

12.5.2.1 Lung Transplant Recipients

Lung transplant recipients have the highest risk of IA, and this prompted most of the lung transplant teams to administer antifungal prophylaxis, as universal or targeted prophylaxis, especially in patients with cystic fibrosis and/or pretransplant colonization with *Aspergillus* sp. However, the efficacy and modalities of prophylactic strategies are debated, and protocols vary among centers. A meta-analysis did not find a clear benefit of antifungal prophylaxis in lung transplant recipients [24]. Currently, the most frequent medication used for prophylaxis is voriconazole. However, side effects of this medication in SOT patients should be considered when making decisions about prophylaxis. Liver toxicity of voriconazole is reported in as much as 50% of lung transplant recipients [25]. Moreover, the use of voriconazole has been associated with an increase on the incidence of skin cancer [26]. Another approach is to use preemptive treatment with voriconazole if *Aspergillus* colonization is identified after lung transplantation, which seems to be effective, but does not prevent all cases of IA, as the disease occurs frequently in patients without previous known colonization [27]. However, recent data shows

that the use of preemptive strategy combining culture and galactomannan may be more effective than culture alone [28]. AST guidelines recommend the use of antifungal prophylaxis with activity against mold in lung transplant recipients with *Aspergillus* sp. colonization before transplant or within 1 year posttransplant or if more than one of the following risk factors: induction with alemtuzumab or thymoglobulin; single lung transplant; *Aspergillus* sp. colonization following cytomegalovirus infection, rejection, and augmented immunosuppression; and acquired hypogammaglobulinemia. The drugs that can be used in this context are voriconazole, itraconazole, and inhaled lipid formulations of amphotericin B [6]. The duration is not standardized, usually 12 weeks.

12.5.2.2 Heart Transplant Recipients

In heart transplant recipients, the incidence varies among centers. The existence of an episode of IA in program 2 months before or after heart transplant is considered as a risk factor that should lead to initiate an antifungal prophylaxis with mold activity in this population [6].

12.5.2.3 Liver Transplant Recipients

In liver transplant recipients, incidence is low, but the disease tends to be more severe and disseminated. Data from observational studies suggest a benefit of antimold prophylaxis in high-risk liver transplant recipients (retransplantation, renal failure, reoperation involving thoracic or abdominal cavity) [29]. In this population, the use of lipid formulations of amphotericin B or echinocandin is usually favored [6].

12.5.2.4 Kidney Transplant Recipients

In kidney transplant recipients, the incidence is low so antifungal prophylaxis is usually not indicated. Because of the potential progression of these infections, empiric antifungal therapy should be introduced early in kidney transplant patients with high suspicion of invasive mold infections [30].

12.6 Treatment: Discussion of Approaches to Treat Disease

12.6.1 General Considerations

The cornerstones of treatment of invasive mold infections rely on early systemic antifungal therapy, assessment of the need for surgical debridement, and reduction of immunosuppression if possible. When amphotericin B is considered, a lipid-based preparation should be favored over amphotericin B deoxycholate because of lower toxicity. It should be noted that azoles interact with most of immunosuppressive therapies, as shown in Table 12.2. Interaction with other drugs, especially anti-convulsant medications which are sometimes needed in cases with central nervous system involvement, warrants caution. Therapeutic drug monitoring is recommended when azoles are used.

	Immunosuppressive drugs (ID)		
Antifungal drugs (AD)	Cyclosporin	Tacrolimus	Sirolimus
Amphotericin B	Renal toxicity	Renal toxicity	No interaction
Fluconazole			
Itraconazole			
Posaconazole			
Voriconazole			
Caspofungin	Possible interaction (plasma concentration of AD)	Possible interaction (_ plasma concentration of ID)	
Micafungin	Possible interaction (_ plasma concentration of ID)	No interaction	✓ Plasma concentration of ID
Flucytosine	No interaction	No interaction	No interaction
Terbinafine	No interaction	No interaction	No interaction

Table 12.2 Drug interaction between antifungal and immunosuppressive agents

 Table 12.3
 Antifungal treatment of invasive mold infections in solid organ transplant recipients

	First-line treatment recommendations	Alternatives
Aspergillus	IV or oral voriconazole (6 mg/kg q12 h day 1 and then 4 mg/kg q12 h)	L-Amb 3 mg/kg daily IV Caspofungin 70 mg day 1 and then 50 mg daily IV
Scedosporium	<i>S. apiospermum</i> : voriconazole <i>S. prolificans</i> : voriconazole ^a	Voriconazole + terbinafine
Fusarium	Voriconazole or L-Amb	Posaconazole
Mucormycosis	L-Amb 5 mg/kg/day	Isavuconazole Posaconazole

L-Amb liposomal amphotericin B ^aCan be resistant

12.6.2 Antifungal Therapy

The antifungal treatment of invasive mold infections is most often based on the use of azoles or polyenes. Voriconazole is the first-line treatment for IA. The duration of therapy is not standardized, usually at least 6–12 weeks, and then reassessed depending on clinical and radiological response. Treatment of *Scedosporium* spp. infections can be particularly difficult given the resistance pattern [31]. The main therapeutic recommendations are presented in Table 12.3.

12.6.3 Other Approaches

12.6.3.1 Surgery

During non-*Aspergillus* mold infection, extensive early surgical debridement is generally recommended in combination with antifungal therapy. For invasive mold infections, the highest level of evidence for the need of surgery has been provided in mucormycosis. In this setting, surgery was reported to be an independent predictor of successful therapy and survival in SOT recipients with pulmonary or rhinoorbital-cerebral mucormycosis [13].

12.6.3.2 Improvement of Immune and Metabolic Factors

Improvement of immune and metabolic factors can contribute to successful treatment of invasive mold infections in SOT recipients. Reducing immunosuppression, when feasible, should be considered. Management of hyperglycemia is very important, especially in the case of mucormycosis.

12.7 General Approach: General Algorithmic Approach to Identifying and Diagnosing Focus of Topic (Fig. 12.1)



Fig. 12.1 Overview of prophylactic and curative strategies for invasive aspergillosis in SOT recipients

References

- Husain S, et al. The 2015 International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation guidelines for the management of fungal infections in mechanical circulatory support and cardiothoracic organ transplant recipients: executive summary. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2016;35:261–82.
- Herrera S, Husain S. Early diagnosis of fungal infections in lung transplant recipients, colonization versus invasive disease? Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2018;23(4):381–7.
- Pappas PG, et al. Invasive fungal infections among organ transplant recipients: results of the transplant-associated infection surveillance network (TRANSNET). Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50:1101–11.
- 4. Doligalski CT, et al. Epidemiology of invasive mold infections in lung transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2014;14:1328–33.
- 5. Aguilar CA, et al. Clinical risk factors for invasive aspergillosis in lung transplant recipients: results of an international cohort study. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37:1226–34.
- Singh N, Singh NM, Husain S, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Aspergillosis in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):228–41.
- Husain S, Silveira FP, Azie N, Franks B, Horn D. Epidemiological features of invasive mold infections among solid organ transplant recipients: PATH Alliance® registry analysis. Med Mycol. 2017;55(3):269–77.
- López-Medrano F, et al. Clinical presentation and determinants of mortality of invasive pulmonary Aspergillosis in kidney transplant recipients: a multinational cohort study. Am J Transplant. 2016;16:3220–34.
- Nucci M. Emerging moulds: Fusarium, Scedosporium and Zygomycetes in transplant recipients. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2003;16:607–12.
- 10. Muhammed M, et al. Fusarium infection: report of 26 cases and review of 97 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2013;92:305–16.
- Husain S, et al. Infections due to Scedosporium apiospermum and Scedosporium prolificans in transplant recipients: clinical characteristics and impact of antifungal agent therapy on outcome. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40:89–99.
- 12. Singh N, et al. Zygomycosis in solid organ transplant recipients: a prospective, matched casecontrol study to assess risks for disease and outcome. J Infect Dis. 2009;200:1002–11.
- Lanternier F, et al. Mucormycosis in organ and stem cell transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:1629–36.
- 14. McCarty TP, et al. Phaeohyphomycosis in transplant recipients: results from the transplant associated infection surveillance network (TRANSNET). Med Mycol. 2015;53:440–6.
- Rouzaud C, et al. Severe dermatophytosis in solid organ transplant recipients: a French retrospective series and literature review. Transpl Infect Dis. 2018;20(1):e12799.
- Karageorgopoulos DE, et al. β-D-glucan assay for the diagnosis of invasive fungal infections: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52:750–70.
- 17. Pfeiffer CD, Fine JP, Safdar N. Diagnosis of invasive aspergillosis using a galactomannan assay: a meta-analysis. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;42:1417–27.
- Husain S, et al. Performance characteristics of the platelia Aspergillus enzyme immunoassay for detection of Aspergillus galactomannan antigen in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid. Clin Vaccine Immunol. 2008;15:1760–3.
- 19. Nucci M, et al. Earlier diagnosis of invasive fusariosis with Aspergillus serum galactomannan testing. PLoS One. 2014;9:e87784.
- 20. Bhaskaran A, et al. (1,3) β -D-Glucan in bronchoalveolar lavage of lung transplant recipients for the diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis. Med Mycol. 2017;55:173–9.
- Ullmann AJ, et al. Diagnosis and management of Aspergillus diseases: executive summary of the 2017 ESCMID-ECMM-ERS guideline. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2018;24(Suppl 1):e1–e38.
- 22. Gazzoni FF, et al. High-resolution computed tomographic findings of Aspergillus infection in lung transplant patients. Eur J Radiol. 2014;83:79–83.

- Avery RK, Michaels MG, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Strategies for safe living after solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):304–10.
- Bhaskaran A, Mumtaz K, Husain S. Anti-aspergillus prophylaxis in lung transplantation: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2013;15:514–25.
- Luong M-L, et al. Risk factors for voriconazole hepatotoxicity at 12 weeks in lung transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2012;12:1929–35.
- Hamandi B, et al. Voriconazole and squamous cell carcinoma after lung transplantation: a multicenter study. Am J Transplant. 2018;18:113–24.
- Hosseini-Moghaddam SM, et al. The effectiveness of culture-directed Preemptive antiaspergillus treatment in lung transplant recipients at one year after transplant. Transplantation. 2015;99:2387–93.
- Husain S, et al. A strategy for prevention of fungal infections in lung transplantation: role of bronchoalveolar lavage fluid galactomannan and fungal culture. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2018;37:886–94.
- 29. Fortún J, et al. Prophylaxis with caspofungin for invasive fungal infections in high-risk liver transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2009;87:424–35.
- Gavaldà J, et al. Invasive fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):27–48.
- Tortorano AM, et al. ESCMID and ECMM joint guidelines on diagnosis and management of hyalohyphomycosis: Fusarium spp., Scedosporium spp. and others. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 3):27–46.



Prevention and Treatment of Yeast and Endemic Fungal Infections

13

Ahmed Al Hammadi, Luis Ostrosky-Zeichner, and John W. Baddley

Abbreviations

5-FC	Flucytosine
ABLC	Amphotericin B lipid complex
AmB	Liposomal amphotericin B
AmB-d	AmB deoxycholate
ARDS	Acute respiratory distress syndrome
ATG	Antithymocyte globulin
BAL	Bronchoalveolar lavage
CMV	Cytomegalovirus
CNI	Calcineurin inhibitor
CNS	Central nervous system
CrAg	Cryptococcal antigen
CSF	Cerebrospinal fluid
CVC	Central venous catheter
EIA	Enzyme immune assay
G-CSF	Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor
HD	Hemodialysis
HHV-6	Human herpesvirus 6
HIV	Human immunodeficiency virus
HLH	Hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis
IC	Invasive candidiasis
ICP	Intracranial pressure

A. Al Hammadi · L. Ostrosky-Zeichner (⊠)

University of Texas Health Science Center at Houston, Houston, TX, USA e-mail: Ahmed.Alhammadi@uth.tmc.edu; Luis.Ostrosky-Zeichner@uth.tmc.edu

J. W. Baddley

University of Alabama at Birmingham, Birmingham, AL, USA e-mail: Jbaddley@uab.edu

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_13

IDSA	Infectious Diseases Society of America
IFI	Invasive fungal infection
IFN-γ	Recombinant interferon-gamma
IRIS	Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome
KOH	Potassium hydroxide
L-AmB	Liposomal amphotericin B
LFAmB	Lipid formulation of amphotericin B
MALDI-TOF	Matrix-assisted laser desorption ionization-time-of-flight mass
	spectrometry assay
MELD	Model of end-stage liver disease
MIC	Minimal inhibitory concentration
MSK	Musculoskeletal system
PCR	Polymerase chain reaction
PNA-FISH	In situ hybridization assay
SOT	Solid organ transplantation
TRANSNET	Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network
VAD	Ventricular assisted devices
βDG	1,3-β-D-glucan

13.1 Introduction

Solid organ transplantation (SOT) for the treatment of end-organ disease has increased over the last three decades. While novel immunosuppressive regimens have improved allograft survival and function, combined with surgical complications, these predispose transplant recipients to infectious complications [1, 2]. Invasive fungal infections (IFIs) are particularly concerning in this population due to the associated high morbidity and mortality [1]. The most common IFIs in SOT recipients are candidiasis, aspergillosis, cryptococcosis, and those caused by endemic fungi such as *Blastomyces*, *Coccidioides*, and *Histoplasma* [3]. The incidence of IFIs varies according to type of organ transplant, and the risk of infection changes over time based on host state of immunosuppression and many fungal factors (e.g., virulence and resistance of fungi) [2, 4]. In this chapter, we review epidemiology, clinical presentation, diagnosis, and treatment of fungal infections due to yeast and endemic fungi in SOT recipients.

13.2 Epidemiology

The data from the US Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET) estimated that invasive candidiasis (IC) was the most common (53%) IFI, followed by invasive aspergillosis (19%) in most organ transplants. The exception was for lung transplants where aspergillosis was more common than IC. Cryptococcosis (8%) was the third most common IFI, and endemic fungi

	Liver	Kidney	Lung	Pancreas	Heart	Small bowel
IFI type	(n = 378)	(n = 332)	(n = 248)	(n = 128)	(<i>n</i> = 99)	(n = 22)
Candidiasis	255 (68)	164 (49)	56 (23)	97 (76)	48 (49)	19 (85)
Cryptococcosis	24 (6)	49 (15)	6 (2)	6 (5)	10 (10)	1 (5)
Endemic	17 (5)	33 (10)	3 (1)	8 (6)	3 (1)	0 (0.0)
mycoses						
Other yeast	9 (2.4)	6 (1.8)	0 (0.0)	5 (3.9)	0 (0.0)	1 (5)
Unspecified yeast	5 (1.3)	3 (0.9)	6 (2.4)	1 (0.8)	0 (0.0)	1 (5)

Table 13.1 Frequency of yeast and endemic fungal infections by type of transplant from the TRANSNET study [3]

No. (%)

accounted for 5.3% of IFIs, whereas other yeasts accounted for less than 3% of the IFIs (Table 13.1) [3].

Candida is a normal commensal of humans and becomes pathogenic when the host immune system is compromised. *Candida* colonization and biofilm formation on human tissues, intravascular catheters, implants, and prosthetic material support IC [5, 6]. Donor-derived infections by *Candida* have been reported [7]. Among infections caused by *Candida* species in SOT recipients, *C. albicans* was the most common isolate (46.3%), followed by *C. glabrata* (24.4%) and *C. parapsilosis* (8.1%) [8]. Resistance to azoles and echinocandins is increasing, and previous data suggested that prior exposures to azole or echinocandins lead to the development resistance and increased incidence of infections due to non-*albicans Candida* in SOT recipients [9–12]. *C. auris* is an emerging multidrug-resistant yeast in the healthcare settings in the USA and other parts of the world (Spain, South America, and Asia) [13].

Cryptococcal infections occur due to the inhalation of the aerosolized basidiospores from soil or avian excreta, although rarely it can be transmitted from donor organs and tissue grafts [14]. Most infections are caused by *C. neoformans* although infections due to *C. gattii* have emerged in North America since 1999 where it was in the past more typical of tropical and subtropical areas [15]. Cryptococcosis causes approximately 8% of IFIs in SOT recipients [3] and has an overall mortality of 14% at 90 days after diagnosis in this population [16]. The median time to cryptococcosis ranges between 16 and 21 months posttransplantation, although time to onset was earlier (<12 months) in liver and lung transplant recipients possibly related to the more intense immunosuppression they receive compared to other types of transplants [16, 17]. A recent multicenter study suggested that lung transplant recipients are at highest risk of cryptococcosis [18]. When infection occurs in the first 30 days posttransplantation, donor-derived cryptococcosis should be considered [14].

Endemic fungal infections can occur in patients who reside or have resided in endemic areas and occur posttransplantation with a median time of 343 days. Histoplasmosis is caused by *H. capsulatum* and is endemic to the Ohio and the Mississippi River valleys in the USA and has been isolated in many parts of the world particularly around river valleys. Blastomycosis, caused by *B. dermatitidis*, is

also seen in the Ohio-Mississippi River Valley. Histoplasmosis or blastomycosis occurs only in about 0.5% of transplant patients in endemic areas [19]. Coccidioidomycosis is endemic in the Southwestern United States, New Mexico, western Texas, and some parts of Central and South America [20] and is caused by two species: *C. immitis* and *C. posadasii*. The disease may be primary or secondary to reactivation of a latent infection [20] and may occur in up to 8% of transplant patients in endemic areas [21]. Other yeasts or endemic fungi that have been rarely reported in SOT recipients include *Trichosporon, Rhodotorula, Malassezia, Hansenula*, and paracoccidioidomycosis [22].

13.3 Timing and Risk Factors for Fungal Infections

The timing of IFIs posttransplantation is typically divided into three intervals based on the risk and type of IFIs: early (0–1 month), intermediate (1–6 months), and late (>6 months). Infections in the early interval are similar to that in nonimmunocompromised patients postoperatively, usually due to surgical complications, nosocomial, or donor-derived infections [3]. *Candida* species are the common cause of IFIs in the early period. The intermediate interval has the most frequent IFIs as immunosuppression plays a major role, while the effects of surgical and nosocomial factors decrease. IC is less common, while mold infections due to aspergillosis, mucormycosis, scedosporiosis, or other molds predominate [3]. By late stage when 80% of SOT recipients are maintained on minimal chronic immunosuppression, the risk of IFIs declines [2]. The predominant fungal pathogens in this interval are *Cryptococcus* and endemic fungi, but mold infections such as aspergillosis and mucormycosis are possible and may occur at any time posttransplantation [3, 17].

The net state of immunosuppression is an important determinant of the overall risk of infection and involves a number of host and environmental factors. Host factors include underlying immune defects; extrinsic factors such as loss of integrity of mucocutaneous barriers and surgical complications; dose, duration, and sequence of immunosuppressive therapy; and environmental exposures to specific pathogens (Table 13.2) [23, 24]. Other risk factors that are specific to the type of organ transplant include the type of anastomosis or drainage, intensity of immunosuppression especially in the immediate posttransplantation period, and postoperative complications (anastomotic leak, ischemia, thrombosis, fluid collection, and the presence of foreign bodies) (Table 13.3) [2, 23–36].

Several immunosuppressive agents are used in SOT recipients including cyclosporine, tacrolimus, mycophenolate mofetil, azathioprine, as well as antithymocyte globulin (ATG) or monoclonal antibodies such as alemtuzumab, basiliximab, or rituximab in order to avoid or minimize the use of glucocorticoids [36, 37]. Calcineurin inhibitors (CNIs) (such as cyclosporine and tacrolimus) have synergistic antifungal activity against *C. neoformans* isolates, and thus, cryptococcal disease in SOT recipients manifests with skin and soft tissue disease rather than CNS disease owing to the antifungal activity of tacrolimus at 37–39 °C and the lower skin
Table 13.2 Risk factors of yeast and endemic fungal infections in SOT recipients and "net state of immunosuppression" [23, 24]

Immunosuppression and immunosuppressive therapy			
- Dose and duration of current and past immunosuppressive agents			
- Previous use of chemotherapy			
- Antibody or complement deficiency and other immune disorders			
Healthcare related			
- Prolonged use of empiric antibiotics			
- Prolonged intensive care unit stay and mechanical ventilation			
- Use of prophylactic agents with myelosuppressive side effects (e.g.,	trimethoprim-		
sulfamethoxazole, valganciclovir, ganciclovir, dapsone)			
- Acquired myelosuppression, neutropenia, and/or lymphopenia			
- Total parental nutrition, renal replacement therapy			
Underlying immune disorders			
- Autoimmune disorders (e.g., systemic lupus erythematosus)			
Loss of mucocutaneous barriers/integrity			
– Drains, lines, catheters			
- Ischemic tissue, fluid, or blood collections			
Metabolic conditions (cirrhosis, diabetes mellitus, malnutrition, urem	ia)		
Chronic viral infections			
– CMV, herpes simplex virus, human herpesvirus 6 (HHV-6)			
Environmental and new technologies			
- Travel to endemic areas or transplantation in endemic areas			
- Occupational or recreational exposures, marijuana use			
New technologies			
- Use of ventricular assisted devices (VAD) (heart transplants)			
- Reperfusion injury and bronchiolitis obliterans (lung transplants)			
Risk assessment			
Greater risk of infection	Lower risk of infection		
 Active/latent donor/recipient infection 	 Appropriate surgical 		
Early graft rejection	prophylaxis		
Graft dysfunction	 Appropriate 		
High-dose corticosteroids	vaccination		
High rejection risk	• Effective antiviral		
 Induction therapy – lymphocyte depletion 	prophylaxis		
Plasmapheresis Good graft function			
Technical complications	Good HLA match		
- Anastomotic leak, bleeding, prolonged intubation/intensive unit			
care. Drains and catheters, wound infection/poor wound tolerance			
healing	• PCP prophylaxis		
	Iechnically successful		
	surgery		

temperatures [38]. Episodes of rejection pose a particular risk for IFIs as patients receive pulse doses of glucocorticoids, intensified immunosuppressive therapy, ATG, and monoclonal antibodies as well as they experience high rates of cytomegalovirus (CMV) reactivation which can contribute to IFIs and immunosuppression [37].

Transplant type	Specific factors
Heart	Active CMV infection
Treatt	Antilymphocyte globulins
	Central venous catheters
	Colonization of VAD
	Extracorporeal membrane oxygenation
	Hamodialucis (HD)
	Prolonged use of broad spectrum antibiotics
	Protonged use of broad-spectrum antibiotics
	Treatment for rejection
Vidnay	Alemtuzumeh
Klulley	Changing allo graft actions and internet immun communication
	chronic anograft rejection and intense minunosuppression
	Continentaria
	Dishetee mellitus
	Inducting various astheters
	Indweining venous cameters
	Protoinged dialysis before transplant
T •	
Liver	Active CMV infection
	Allograft failure
	Baseline creatinine >3.0 mg/dL
	Choledochojejunostomy anastomosis (Roux-en-Y)
	Early colonization
	Hepatic dysfunction
	HHV-6
	Intraoperative requirement of >40 blood products
	Model of end-stage liver disease (MELD) score > 20, major if >30
	Operative time ≥ 11 h
	Renal dysfunction requiring HD
	Retransplantation
Lung or lung-heart	Antibody deficiency (hypogammaglobulinemia)
	Damage of local pulmonary defenses by transplant
	Intense immunosuppression
	Ischemia of anastomosis
Pancreas or	Enteric drainage
pancreas-kidney	Preoperative peritoneal dialysis
	Postreperfusion pancreatitis
	Retransplantation or laparotomy after transplantation
	Vascular graft thrombosis
Small bowel	Abdominal reoperation
	Graft rejection or dysfunction
	Intense immunosuppression
	Multivisceral transplantation
	Small bowel anastomotic leaks

Table 13.3 Specific risk factors of yeast and endemic fungal infections per type of solid organ transplant [3, 23, 26–36]

Donor-derived yeast infections have been reported due to *Candida* and *Cryptococcus* among other fungi. Also, *Candida* contamination of preservation fluid has been associated with posttransplantation infections in renal and liver transplant recipients [39, 40]. In a study of graft-site infections in renal transplant recipients, the incidence was 1 case per 1000 grafts [41]. A recent case of *C. auris* was

transmitted during lung transplantation [42]. Of note, early cases of cryptococcosis were reported posttransplantation especially in liver transplant recipients that were attributed to unrecognized pretransplant or donor-derived infections [14]. Donor-derived infections due to *Histoplasma* and *Coccidioides* but not *Blastomyces* have been reported [43].

13.4 Clinical Manifestations

13.4.1 Infections Due to Candida

Candida colonizes skin, respiratory, gastrointestinal, and genitourinary tracts. Colonization usually precedes IC, and the infection depends on the breach of integrity of mucocutaneous barriers, the virulence of infecting strain, and the intensity of immunosuppression [4]. Candidemia is the most common form of IC in SOT recipients (64%), followed by urinary tract infections (11%) and peritonitis (9%) [3, 11]. Candidemia may occur due to translocation across damaged intestinal barriers or from central venous catheters (CVC) [2, 44]. Intra-abdominal infections are particularly common among liver, pancreas, and small bowel transplant recipients [3]. Intra-abdominal manifestations include biliary, perirenal, and peritoneal infections. Bilomas, in liver transplant recipients, may result from *Candida* and can lead to the loss of liver transplant function [4, 45].

Candida may cause anastomotic tracheobronchitis in lung transplant recipients and sternal wound infections in heart and lung transplant recipients [46]. Asymptomatic *Candida* colonization is common in renal transplant recipients; however, the need for indwelling catheters can result in ascending renal parenchymal infection or ureteral fungal balls due to *Candida* species [26]. Of note, infections of allograft vascular anastomosis have been reported in renal [41], pancreatic [47], heart, and lung transplants [48].

13.4.2 Infections Due to Cryptococcus

The two major sites of cryptococcosis in SOT recipients are the lungs and the central nervous system (CNS). Other sites that can be involved include the skin and soft tissues, bones, joints, liver, kidney, and prostate [49]. Isolated pulmonary infection is seen in 33% of SOT recipients [16]. Lung disease ranges from asymptomatic colonization to pneumonia leading to respiratory failure [49]. Endobronchial disease is an increasingly recognized disease [50]. Extrapulmonary dissemination was seen in 61% of SOT recipients, and liver transplant recipients have a sixfold higher risk for dissemination [16]. Cryptococcal meningitis was seen in 44% of SOT recipients with cryptococcosis and had a mortality of 26% [18]. Predictors of CNS involvement in SOT recipients include late-onset disease >24 months posttransplantation, altered mental status, and serum cryptococcal antigen (CrAg) titer >1:64 [51].

Skin manifestations are diverse and may include nodules, papules, pustules, abscess, and necrotizing cellulitis commonly in the lower extremities [52]. The use

of calcineurin inhibitors is associated with fewer CNS infections and more cutaneous manifestations [17]. Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS) is an uncommon manifestation and results from rapid reduction of immunosuppressive therapy when initiating antifungal therapy in SOT recipients and mimics worsening cryptococcosis or antifungal failure [53]. It may present as lung nodules, hydrocephalus, cerebral mass lesions, aseptic meningitis, lymphadenitis, or cellulitis [52, 53].

13.4.3 Infections Due to Endemic Fungi

Infections due to endemic fungi result from environmental exposures and enter into the body through the lungs. Pneumonia is common, and fulminant multilobar pneumonia, acute respiratory distress syndrome (ARDS), and respiratory failure are feared complications [20]. The most common presentation of blastomycosis in SOT is pneumonia, but extrapulmonary dissemination of the skin, musculoskeletal system (MSK), genitourinary, or CNS disease is seen in almost 50% of SOT recipients [3, 19, 54]. Clinical manifestations of coccidioidomycosis range from pneumonia to disseminated disease. Extrapulmonary disseminated disease in SOT recipients involves the skin, MSK, and CNS and occurs in about 1–5% [55]. Those of African, Filipino, or Native American descent, males, pregnant women, and immunosuppressed are at increased risk [55]. Histoplasmosis can involve any organ but most commonly presents with disseminated disease in SOT patients. Clinical findings usually underestimate the severity and burden of disease [19].

13.4.4 Infections Due to Other Yeasts

Other yeasts that are rare in SOT recipients include *Trichosporon*, *Rhodotorula*, and *Malassezia*. *T. asahii* is associated with intravenous catheter-related infections [56]. *Rhodotorula* and *Malassezia* have been associated with fungemia and disseminated disease [22]. Table 13.4 outlines the clinical manifestations of yeast infections in SOT recipients [3, 14, 17–20, 52, 53, 57–62].

13.5 Diagnosis and Monitoring

Diagnosis of IFIs in SOT recipients is challenging due to their nonspecific signs and symptoms owing to impaired inflammatory responses as a result of immunosuppression and the lack of highly sensitive and specific diagnostic modalities. Early diagnosis is key to successful outcomes, and physicians should have a high index of suspicion based on risk factors and epidemiology of these pathogens [23]. IFIs are categorized into proven, probable, and possible based on specific cytologic/histopathologic findings and host, clinical, radiographic, and microbiological criteria [63].

IFI type	Clinical manifestation
Candida	Candidemia Intra-abdominal and hepatobiliary infections Sternal wound infections (heart transplants) Bronchial anastomotic infections (lung transplants) Urinary tract infections Ureteral fungal ball Vascular anastomotic infections Less common: septic arthritis, chronic meningitis, endocarditis, mediastinitis Cutaneous infections
Cryptococcus	Asymptomatic pulmonary infection to severe pneumonia with ARDS, respiratory failure Meningitis Skin infections (necrotizing cellulitis) Disseminated disease Fungemia Osteoarticular disease Immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome
Blastomyces	Pneumonia, including fulminant multilobar pneumonia, ARDS, respiratory failure Disseminated disease: cutaneous, osteoarticular, genitourinary, or CNS disease Fungemia is rare
Coccidioides	Pneumonia, ranging from mild to severe, with ARDS, respiratory failure Disseminated disease: meningitis, fungemia, erythema nodosum, erythema multiforme, musculoskeletal disease
Histoplasma	Pneumonia, ranging from mild to severe with respiratory failure Disseminated disease: hepatosplenomegaly, gastrointestinal disease such as ileocecal ulceration and perforation, pancytopenia, weight loss, transaminitis, mucocutaneous disease, increased lactate dehydrogenase levels Unusual: thrombotic microangiopathy and hemophagocytic lymphohistiocytosis (HLH)
Trichosporon	Catheter-related intravenous infections
Rhodotorula	Peritonitis, fungemia
Malassezia	Folliculitis, groin abscess

Table 13.4 Clinical manifestations of yeast and endemic fungal infections in SOT recipients [3, 14, 17–20, 52, 53, 57–62]

Histopathological demonstration of tissue invasion by fungal elements helps to establish proven disease, and special stains may be utilized. Isolation of *Candida* from blood cultures (which has a sensitivity of 50–70% [35]) or sterile sites is indicative of true infection, while *Candida* isolated from nonsterile sites usually represents colonization which could indicate infection in the right context but also is a risk factor for future invasive candidiasis [41]. Diagnosis of anastomotic tracheobronchitis in lung transplant recipients is to be based on direct visual examination, histopathological confirmation, and positive cultures [64]. Otherwise, the recovery of *Candida* species in sputum rarely indicates disease in the lungs [35, 64]. Isolation of other yeasts such as *C. neoformans*, *H. capsulatum*, *B. dermatitidis*, and *C.*

immitis even without clinical findings suggests disease and calls for additional testing. SOT recipients suspected to have cryptococcosis should undergo evaluation with a lumbar puncture (LP), blood and urine cultures, and bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL) with or without biopsy [58]. Species identification and drug susceptibilities help to decide on antifungal therapy and to predict clinical outcomes.

Sensitivity of *Histoplasma* urine and serum antigen exceeds 90% in immunocompromised patients with disseminated disease and is at least 59% in pulmonary disease [65]. Similarly, *Blastomyces* Ag detection assays in urine, blood, or BAL have a sensitivity of >90%. Ag detection assays for *Histoplasma* and *Blastomyces* in BAL may cross-react with each other [66]. IgM (detected by tube precipitin method, immunodiffusion, latex agglutination, and enzyme immune assay (EIA)) and IgG complement-fixing antibody serology tests for *Coccidioides* are very sensitive and specific to diagnose coccidioidomycosis and to define the severity of disease [55]. Diagnosis and management of suspected meningeal coccidioidomycosis require an LP and cerebrospinal fluid (CSF) analysis for CSF complement-fixing IgG antibodies [20]. Table 13.5 shows the different laboratory and radiographic diagnostic modalities for yeast infections [20, 35, 49, 58, 64, 67–69].

IFI type	Diagnostic tests
Candida	Commonly used
	Blood cultures (sensitivity 50–70%) or smear (yeast, hyphae,
	pseudohyphae) and cultures of sterile sites
	1,3- β -D-glucan (β DG) detection assays
	Matrix-assisted laser desorption
	Ionization-time-of-flight mass spectrometry assay (MALDI-TOF)
	Not commonly used
	Polymerase chain reaction (PCR)
	T2 magnetic resonance
	Species identification: peptide nucleic acid fluorescent
	In situ hybridization assay (PNA-FISH)
Cryptococcus	Blood cultures
	Serum cryptococcal antigen testing
	BAL with or without biopsy (stains for yeast, culture)
	Lumbar puncture (opening pressure, Gram's stain, CSF cultures, cell count, protein, glucose, and cryptococcal antigen testing)
	Tissue biopsy and cultures
	Brain imaging: basal ganglia and midbrain lesions, hydrocephalus, single or multiple nodules with or without enhancement, dilated Virchow-Robin spaces, pseudocysts, masses, gyral enhancement, cryptococcomas, lacunar
	and cortical infarcts
Blastomyces	Direct microscopy (Gram, Giemsa, and potassium hydroxide (KOH)/
	calcofluor stains)
	Tissue cultures
	Antigen testing (urine, serum, BAL)

Table 13.5 Diagnosis of yeast and endemic fungal infections in SOT recipients [20, 35, 49, 58,64, 67–69]

IFI type	Diagnostic tests
Coccidioides	Direct microscopy (Gram, Giemsa, and KOH/calcofluor stains):
	visualization of spherules containing endospores
	Tissue culture
	PCR of respiratory specimens or CSF
	Antigen enzyme immunoassay (EIA) test (urine, serum, BAL)
	Serum IgM detection (tube precipitin method, immunodiffusion, latex
	agglutination, and EIA
	Complement-fixing IgG antibodies (helps to quantify severity and monitor
	infection)
	Lumbar puncture (opening pressure, Gram's stain, CSF cultures cell count,
	protein, glucose, and complement-fixing IgG antibodies)
Histoplasma	Direct microscopy (Gram, Giemsa, hematoxylin, and eosin, Wright-Giemsa
	and KOH/calcofluor stains) in tissue, blood, or bone marrow
	Tissue culture
	Histoplasma antigen test (urine, serum, BAL)
Trichosporon	Blood cultures; smear shows hyaline septate fungal hyphae and
Rhodotorula	pseudohyphae
Malassezia	Budding yeast in tissue
	KOH preparation or culture

Table 13.5	(continued)
------------	-------------

13.6 Treatment and Prevention

13.6.1 Prophylaxis and Prevention

Preventive strategies have been developed in SOT patients at high risk of opportunistic IFIs [70]. There is no current recommendation to start universal prophylaxis to prevent IC in SOT recipients, and a targeted approach is based on type of transplant and other risk factors [35]. Similarly, there is no recommendation to start primary antifungal prophylaxis for cryptococcosis. However, secondary prophylaxis is recommended in some cases [49]. Primary or secondary antifungal prophylaxis for blastomycosis in SOT recipients is not currently recommended [20]. Table 13.6 shows different antifungal prophylaxis recommendations in SOT recipients [20, 35, 71–77].

13.6.2 Treatment of Yeast and Endemic Fungal Infections in SOT Recipients

The choice of antifungal therapy in the treatment of candidemia should be based on the *Candida* species in cultures and their susceptibilities, azole exposure in the last 90 days, and history of intolerance to antifungal agents [78]. Early antifungal therapy for suspected candidemia has been associated with better outcomes in patients with candidemia [79, 80]. Fluconazole can be used as first-line in patients with

	Antifungal			
Organism/transplant type	drug	Alternatives	Duration	Note
Candida				
Kidney	No prophylaxis			
Liver	Fluconazole 400 mg daily	LFAmB ^a 3–5 mg/kg/ day ^b	Up to 4 weeks or until risk factors resolve	Possible role of anidulafungin or caspofungin
Pancreas or pancreas-kidney	Fluconazole 400 mg daily	LFAmB ^a 3–5 mg/kg/ day ^b	At least 4 weeks	
Small bowel	Fluconazole 400 mg daily	LFAmB ^a 3–5 mg/kg/ day ^b	Until healing of anastomosis and absence of rejection	
Lung or lung-heart	No specific prophylaxis for yeast or endemic fungi			
Heart	No prophylaxis			

Table 13.6 Antifungal prophylaxis of yeast and endemic fungi recommendations in SOT recipients [20, 35, 71–77]

Secondary cryptococcal prophylaxis after initial 12 months treatment

• In patients needing increased immunosuppression (e.g., treatment of rejection)

- Renal transplant patients who can have a hemodialysis bridge may be considered for transplantation if received a year of antifungal therapy, have no signs of active cryptococcosis, and have negative cultures from the site of infection
- For renal transplant patients with graft failure where hemodialysis bridging cannot be done, at least 1 year of secondary prophylaxis with fluconazole is considered
- Retransplantation can be considered after receiving induction therapy, clearance of positive cultures, and decline of CrAg

Blastomycosis

Primary or secondary prophylaxis is not recommended

Coccidioidomycosis

- All patients undergoing SOT in endemic areas without active disease should receive an oral azole (e.g., fluconazole 200 mg daily) for at least 6–12 months
- Secondary lifelong prophylaxis after controlling active infection to prevent relapse

Histoplasmosis

- SOT patients who recovered from active disease with or without treatment during the 2 years before transplantation should receive itraconazole 200 mg daily (duration unknown). Monitoring for relapse during immunosuppression with serial urinary antigen is recommended
- Detection of *H. capsulatum* in explanted organs or donor tissue especially lung transplants should be considered for antifungal prophylaxis

^aLFAmB (lipid formulation of amphotericin B includes liposomal amphotericin B (L-AmB) and amphotericin B lipid complex (ABLC))

bIf high rates of non-albicans Candida species or risk of Aspergillus

mild-moderate disease and who are unlikely to have infections with fluconazoleresistance *Candida* species [64]. The use of an echinocandin is now strongly recommended in the treatment of candidemia [64], especially in SOT patients with hemodynamic instability or with previous exposures to azoles or colonized with Candida species resistant to azoles [81]. Liposomal amphotericin B (AmB) or an azole should be used when other IFIs are suspected due to the limited activity of echinocandins, but the use of AmB is limited but its toxicities. Monitoring drug levels is important as azoles are potent inhibitors of liver cytochrome P-450 CYP3A4 and can increase the levels of CNIs, everolimus, and sirolimus [35, 82]. Patients with candidemia should have repeated blood cultures every 48–72 h until it is cleared, and central venous catheters should be removed as soon as possible. It is also strongly recommended to do a dilated fundoscopic exam in these patients [64]. Management of anastomotic tracheobronchitis should include using inhaled or systemic AmB. Treatment of other manifestations of IC is outlined in Table 13.7.

Condition	Primary therapy	Alternative therapy Comments	
Candidemia			
Nonneutropenic	Echinocandin or fluconazole 800 mg (12 mg/kg) load and then 400 mg (6 mg/ kg) daily	LFAmB 3–5 mg/ kg/day for intolerant patients or non-susceptible <i>Candida</i> species. Fluconazole initially if not critically ill and low risk of azole resistance	Step-down to fluconazole. Voriconazole step-down recommended for <i>C.</i> <i>krusei</i> . Remove all CVC and obtain a dilated eye examination for all patients. Treat for at least 2 weeks after clearance of candidemia and resolution of symptoms
Neutropenic	Echinocandins or LFAmB 3–5 mg/kg/ day. Voriconazole 400 mg (6 mg/kg) twice daily for 2 doses and then 200–300 mg (3–4 mg/kg) twice daily for additional mold coverage or for <i>C. krusei</i>	Fluconazole 800 mg (12 mg/kg) load and then 400 mg (6 mg/kg) daily for less critically ill patients and no azole exposure	Step-down to fluconazole 400 mg daily or voriconazole. Remove all CVC and obtain a dilated eye examination for all patients. Treat for at least 2 weeks after clearance of candidemia and resolution of symptoms. Granulocyte colony-stimulating factor (G-CSF) can be used in persistent candidemia with protracted neutropenia

Table 13.7 Recommendations for the treatment of yeast and endemic fungal infections in SOT recipients [20, 35, 49, 58, 64, 75–77, 83]

(continued)

Condition	Primary therapy	Alternative therapy	Comments
Intra-abdominal infections	Treat as candidemia		Duration determined by source control and clinical response
Urinary tract infections			
Asymptomatic candiduria	Not necessary unless high risk for dissemination. Fluconazole 400 mg (6 mg/kg) daily, for several days before and after urological procedures	AmB deoxycholate (AmB-d) 0.3– 0.6 mg/kg daily for several days before and after urological procedures	Remove indwelling bladder catheters
Symptomatic cystitis	Fluconazole 200 mg (3 mg/kg) daily for 2 weeks	AmB-d 0.3–0.6 mg/ kg daily for 1–7 days or flucytosine (5-FC) 25 mg/kg four times daily for 1–7 days	AmB-d IV or bladder irrigation indicated for fluconazole-resistant <i>C.</i> <i>glabrata</i> or <i>C. krusei</i> . Remove indwelling bladder catheters
Pyelonephritis	Fluconazole 200–400 mg (3–6 mg/kg) daily for 2 weeks	AmB-d 0.3–0.6 mg/ kg daily for 1–7 days with or without 5-FC 25 mg/kg four times daily or 5-FC alone for 2 weeks	AmB-d with or without 5-FC or 5-FC alone for 2 weeks in <i>C. glabrata</i> and AmB-d alone for 1–7 days for <i>C. krusei</i> . Eliminate urinary obstruction, and consider removing or replacing nephrostomy tubes and stents. Treat for candidemia if suspected
Urinary fungus balls	Surgical removal strongly recommended. Antifungal therapy as for cystitis or pyelonephritis		Local irrigation with AmB-d through nephrostomy tube, if present, is recommended

 Table 13.7 (continued)

Condition	Primary therapy	Alternative therapy	Comments
Cryptococcal			
Cryptococcal meningoencephalitis Induction	L-AmB 3–4 mg/kg daily or ABLC 5 mg/ kg daily plus 5-FC 25 mg/kg four times daily for 2 weeks	L-AmB 6 mg/kg daily, ABLC 5 mg/ kg daily, or AmB-d 0.7 mg/kg daily all for 4–6 weeks	Give induction for 4–10 weeks if persistent infection. Can increase induction dose of L-AmB to 6 mg/kg daily or AmB-d to 1 mg/kg daily. If intolerant to polyene, consider fluconazole ≥800 mg daily plus 5-FC 25 mg/kg four times daily. If intolerant to 5-FC, consider AmB-d 0.7 mg/kg daily plus fluconazole 800 mg (12 mg/kg) daily. Intrathecal or intraventricular AmB-d use is discouraged and is rarely necessary. Check minimal inhibitory concentrations (MIC) for fluconazole in
Consolidation	Fluconazole 400–800 mg daily for 8–12 weeks	Consider salvage consolidation in relapses for 10–12 weeks with fluconazole 800–1200 mg daily, voriconazole 200–400 mg twice daily, or posaconazole 200 mg four times daily or 400 mg twice daily	infections
Maintenance	Fluconazole 200–400 mg daily for 6–12 months		
Mild-moderate non-CNS disease	Fluconazole 400 mg (6 mg/kg) daily for 6–12 months		Also applies to mild-moderate isolated pulmonary disease

Table 13.7 (continued)

(continued)

Condition	Primary therapy	Alternative therapy	Comments
Moderately	Treat the same as		Also applies to isolated
severe-severe	CNS disease		severe pulmonary
non-CNS or			disease
disseminated disease			
without CNS			
involvement			

Table 13.7 (continued)

Management of cryptococcal complications

- Elevated CSF pressure: If CSF opening pressure ≥25 cm of CSF, with symptoms of ICP, do LP to relieve pressure to opening pressure ≤20 cm of CSF. Repeat LP daily until CSF pressure and clinical symptoms have stabilized for >2 days, or consider temporary percutaneous lumbar drains or ventriculostomy if daily LP is required. Permanent ventriculoperitoneal (VP) shunt only if other measures failed to control elevated ICP. Continue concomitant antifungal therapy

- IRIS: Minor IRIS resolves spontaneously in days to weeks. For major cases with CNS inflammation and increased ICP, consider prednisone 0.5–1.0 mg/kg daily and possibly dexamethasone for severe CNS signs and symptoms. Taper over 2–6 weeks. Continue concomitant antifungal therapy

Blastomycosis			
Mild-moderate disease	Itraconazole 200 mg three times daily for 3 days and then twice daily		Give at least for 6–12 months
Moderately severe-severe disease	LFAmB 3–5 mg/kg/ day or AmB-d 0.7–1 mg/kg/day		Give at least for 2 weeks or until clinical improvement is noted
Coccidioidomycosis			
Mild-moderate disease	Fluconazole 400–800 mg daily or itraconazole 200 mg twice daily		For at least 6–12 months, followed by chronic suppressive therapy
Moderately severe- severe disease	AmB-d 0.5–1.5 mg/ kg/day or LFAmB 2–5 mg/kg/day		For at least 2 weeks or until clinical improvement is noted and then step-down to oral azoles
Meningeal disease	Fluconazole 800–1000 mg daily and itraconazole 400–600 mg daily	Itraconazole 400–600 mg daily, intrathecal amphotericin B	Lifelong suppression for meningeal disease
Pretransplant or	Fluconazole		For at least
donor infection	200–400 mg daily		6–12 months
Histoplasmosis			
Mild-moderate disease	Itraconazole 200 mg three times daily for 3 days and then twice daily		For at least 12 months

Condition	Primary therapy	Alternative therapy	Comments
Moderately severe- severe disease	L-AmB 3 mg/kg daily for 1–2 weeks and then itraconazole 200 mg three times daily for 3 days and then twice daily	AmB-d 0.7–1 mg/ kg daily	For at least 12 months
Trichosporon	Azoles	Amphotericin B	
Rhodotorula	Amphotericin B	Posaconazole	
Malassezia	Topical preparation of clotrimazole 1% and selenium sulfide lotion	Oral fluconazole for superficial infections	Catheter removal and fluconazole for disseminated infections

Table 13.7 (continued)

Guidelines for the treatment of cryptococcosis in SOT patients are mostly based on clinical trial data among HIV patients [49, 58]. In order to choose the right antifungal therapy, it is essential to define the extent and severity of disease as well as the net state of immunosuppression. Identifying localized pulmonary from disseminated disease and sites of involvement including CNS helps to define the extent of disease. When meningeal disease is suspected, an LP should be done for CSF analysis, CSF CrAg, and opening pressure. This can also have therapeutic implications to relieve elevated intracranial pressure (ICP) to ≤ 20 cm.

Patients with localized pulmonary cryptococcal disease, even if asymptomatic, should be treated with fluconazole for 6–12 months. Treatment of severe, diffuse pulmonary disease or disseminated disease should follow the treatment of crypto-coccal meningoencephalitis [49]. Similar to cryptococcosis, treatment for blasto-mycosis [75], coccidioidomycosis [77], and histoplasmosis [76] is based on IDSA guidelines and is based on the site of involvement and severity of disease. Table 13.7 shows the treatment recommendations of IFIs in SOT recipients [20, 35, 49, 58, 64, 75–77, 83].

References

- 1. Green M. Introduction: infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):3–8.
- Al Hammadi A, Ostrosky-Zeichner L. Epidemiology and management of Candidiasis in solid organ transplant recipients. Curr Fungal Infect Rep. 2016;10(4):147–52.
- Pappas PG, Alexander BD, Andes DR, Hadley S, Kauffman CA, Freifeld A, et al. Invasive fungal infections among organ transplant recipients: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(8):1101–11.
- Shoham S, Marr KA. Invasive fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Future Microbiol. 2012;7(5):639–55.

- 5. Ramage G, Saville SP, Thomas DP, Lopez-Ribot JL. Candida biofilms: an update. Eukaryot Cell. 2005;4(4):633–8.
- Kojic EM, Darouiche RO. Candida infections of medical devices. Clin Microbiol Rev. 2004;17(2):255–67.
- Ison MG, Grossi P. Donor-derived infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):22–30.
- Andes DR, Safdar N, Baddley JW, Alexander B, Brumble L, Freifeld A, et al. The epidemiology and outcomes of invasive Candida infections among organ transplant recipients in the United States: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18(6):921–31.
- Nguyen MH, Peacock JE Jr, Morris AJ, Tanner DC, Nguyen ML, Snydman DR, et al. The changing face of candidemia: emergence of non-*Candida albicans* species and antifungal resistance. Am J Med. 1996;100(6):617–23.
- Pfaller MA, Moet GJ, Messer SA, Jones RN, Castanheira M. Candida bloodstream infections: comparison of species distributions and antifungal resistance patterns in communityonset and nosocomial isolates in the SENTRY antimicrobial surveillance program, 2008-2009. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2011;55(2):561–6.
- Neofytos D, Fishman JA, Horn D, Anaissie E, Chang CH, Olyaei A, et al. Epidemiology and outcome of invasive fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2010;12(3):220–9.
- 12. Lockhart SR, Wagner D, Iqbal N, Pappas PG, Andes DR, Kauffman CA, et al. Comparison of in vitro susceptibility characteristics of Candida species from cases of invasive candidiasis in solid organ and stem cell transplant recipients: Transplant-Associated Infections Surveillance Network (TRANSNET), 2001 to 2006. J Clin Microbiol. 2011;49(7):2404–10.
- Tsay S, Welsh RM, Adams EH, Chow NA, Gade L, Berkow EL, et al. Notes from the field: ongoing transmission of Candida auris in health care facilities - United States, June 2016-May 2017. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2017;66(19):514–5.
- Sun HY, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Forrest GN, Lyon GM, et al. Unrecognized pretransplant and donor-derived cryptococcal disease in organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51(9):1062–9.
- Forrest GN, Bhalla P, DeBess EE, Winthrop KL, Lockhart SR, Mohammadi J, et al. Cryptococcus gattii infection in solid organ transplant recipients: description of Oregon outbreak cases. Transpl Infect Dis. 2015;17(3):467–76.
- Singh N, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Gupta KL, John GT, et al. *Cryptococcus neoformans* in organ transplant recipients: impact of calcineurin-inhibitor agents on mortality. J Infect Dis. 2007;195(5):756–64.
- Husain S, Wagener MM, Singh N. *Cryptococcus neoformans* infection in organ transplant recipients: variables influencing clinical characteristics and outcome. Emerg Infect Dis. 2001;7(3):375–81.
- George IA, Santos CAQ, Olsen MA, Powderly WG. Epidemiology of Cryptococcosis and Cryptococcal meningitis in a large retrospective cohort of patients after solid organ transplantation. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2017;4(1):ofx004.
- Grim SA, Proia L, Miller R, Alhyraba M, Costas-Chavarri A, Oberholzer J, et al. A multicenter study of histoplasmosis and blastomycosis after solid organ transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14(1):17–23.
- Miller R, Assi M. Endemic fungal infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):250–61.
- Blair JE, Logan JL. Coccidioidomycosis in solid organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;33(9):1536–44.
- Kubak BM, Huprikar SS. Emerging & rare fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2009;9(Suppl 4):S208–26.
- 23. Fishman JA. Infection in solid-organ transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2007;357(25):2601–14.
- Gabardi S, Kubiak DW, Chandraker AK, Tullius SG. Invasive fungal infections and antifungal therapies in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Int. 2007;20(12):993–1015.

- Fishman JA, Issa NC. Infection in organ transplantation: risk factors and evolving patterns of infection. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 2010;24(2):273–83.
- Nampoory MR, Khan ZU, Johny KV, Constandi JN, Gupta RK, Al-Muzairi I, et al. Invasive fungal infections in renal transplant recipients. J Infect. 1996;33(2):95–101.
- Pirsch JD, Odorico JS, D'Alessandro AM, Knechtle SJ, Becker BN, Sollinger HW. Posttransplant infection in enteric versus bladder-drained simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplant recipients. Transplantation. 1998;66(12):1746–50.
- Collins LA, Samore MH, Roberts MS, Luzzati R, Jenkins RL, Lewis WD, et al. Risk factors for invasive fungal infections complicating orthotopic liver transplantation. J Infect Dis. 1994;170(3):644–52.
- Patterson JE. Epidemiology of fungal infections in solid organ transplant patients. Transpl Infect Dis. 1999;1(4):229–36.
- 30. Silveira FP, Husain S. Fungal infections in solid organ transplantation. Med Mycol. 2007;45(4):305–20.
- Tissot F, Pascual M, Hullin R, Yerly P, Tozzi P, Meylan P, et al. Impact of targeted antifungal prophylaxis in heart transplant recipients at high risk for early invasive fungal infection. Transplantation. 2014;97(11):1192–7.
- 32. Abbott KC, Hypolite I, Poropatich RK, Hshieh P, Cruess D, Hawkes CA, et al. Hospitalizations for fungal infections after renal transplantation in the United States. Transpl Infect Dis. 2001;3(4):203–11.
- Dockrell DH, Mendez JC, Jones M, Harmsen WS, Ilstrup DM, Smith TF, et al. Human herpesvirus 6 seronegativity before transplantation predicts the occurrence of fungal infection in liver transplant recipients. Transplantation. 1999;67(3):399–403.
- 34. Saliba F, Delvart V, Ichai P, Kassis N, Botterel F, Mihaila L, et al. Fungal infections after liver transplantation: outcomes and risk factors revisited in the MELD era. Clin Transpl. 2013;27(4):E454–61.
- Silveira FP, Kusne S. Candida infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):220–7.
- Peleg AY, Husain S, Kwak EJ, Silveira FP, Ndirangu M, Tran J, et al. Opportunistic infections in 547 organ transplant recipients receiving alemtuzumab, a humanized monoclonal CD-52 antibody. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44(2):204–12.
- 37. Issa NC, Fishman JA. Infectious complications of antilymphocyte therapies in solid organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(6):772–86.
- 38. Kontoyiannis DP, Lewis RE, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Gupta KL, et al. Calcineurin inhibitor agents interact synergistically with antifungal agents in vitro against *Cryptococcus neoformans* isolates: correlation with outcome in solid organ transplant recipients with cryptococcosis. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2008;52(2):735–8.
- Levesque E, Suet G, Merle JC, Compagnon P, Amathieu R, Feray C, et al. Candida vascular complication in a liver transplant recipient due to yeast contamination of preservation solution. Transpl Infect Dis. 2014;16(5):827–9.
- Rodrigues BF, Natario AS, Vizinho RS, Jorge CM, Weigert AL, Martinho A, et al. Candida species contamination of preservation fluid-outcome of renal transplantation in 6 patients. Transplant Proc. 2013;45(6):2215–9.
- 41. Albano L, Bretagne S, Mamzer-Bruneel MF, Kacso I, Desnos-Ollivier M, Guerrini P, et al. Evidence that graft-site candidiasis after kidney transplantation is acquired during organ recovery: a multicenter study in France. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(2):194–202.
- Azar MM, Turbett SE, Fishman JA, Pierce VM. Donor-derived transmission of Candida auris during lung transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;65(6):1040–2.
- 43. Singh N, Huprikar S, Burdette SD, Morris MI, Blair JE, Wheat LJ. Donor-derived fungal infections in organ transplant recipients: guidelines of the American Society of Transplantation, infectious diseases community of practice. Am J Transplant. 2012;12(9):2414–28.
- 44. Shoham S, Marwaha S. Invasive fungal infections in the ICU. J Intensive Care Med. 2010;25(2):78–92.

- 45. Said A, Safdar N, Lucey MR, Knechtle SJ, D'Alessandro A, Musat A, et al. Infected bilomas in liver transplant recipients, incidence, risk factors and implications for prevention. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(4):574–82.
- 46. Kanj SS, Welty-Wolf K, Madden J, Tapson V, Baz MA, Davis RD, et al. Fungal infections in lung and heart-lung transplant recipients. Report of 9 cases and review of the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 1996;75(3):142–56.
- 47. Ciancio G, Burke GW, Viciana AL, Ruiz P, Ginzburg E, Dowdy L, et al. Destructive allograft fungal arteritis following simultaneous pancreas-kidney transplantation. Transplantation. 1996;61(8):1172–5.
- Dowling RD, Baladi N, Zenati M, Dummer JS, Kormos RL, Armitage JM, et al. Disruption of the aortic anastomosis after heart-lung transplantation. Ann Thorac Surg. 1990;49(1):118–22.
- Baddley JW, Forrest GN. Cryptococcosis in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):242–9.
- 50. Karnak D, Avery RK, Gildea TR, Sahoo D, Mehta AC. Endobronchial fungal disease: an under-recognized entity. Respiration. 2007;74(1):88–104.
- Osawa R, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Forrest GN, Lyon GM, et al. Identifying predictors of central nervous system disease in solid organ transplant recipients with cryptococcosis. Transplantation. 2010;89(1):69–74.
- 52. Sun HY, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Forrest GN, Lyon GM, et al. Cutaneous cryptococcosis in solid organ transplant recipients. Med Mycol. 2010;48(6):785–91.
- 53. Singh N, Lortholary O, Alexander BD, Gupta KL, John GT, Pursell K, et al. An immune reconstitution syndrome-like illness associated with *Cryptococcus neoformans* infection in organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40(12):1756–61.
- Gauthier GM, Safdar N, Klein BS, Andes DR. Blastomycosis in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2007;9(4):310–7.
- 55. Vikram HR, Blair JE. Coccidioidomycosis in transplant recipients: a primer for clinicians in nonendemic areas. Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2009;14(6):606–12.
- 56. Netsvyetayeva I, Swoboda-Kopec E, Paczek L, Fiedor P, Sikora M, Jaworska-Zaremba M, et al. Trichosporon asahii as a prospective pathogen in solid organ transplant recipients. Mycoses. 2009;52(3):263–5.
- Potti A, Danielson B, Sen K. "True" mycotic aneurysm of a renal artery allograft. Am J Kidney Dis. 1998;31(1):E3.
- Perfect JR, Dismukes WE, Dromer F, Goldman DL, Graybill JR, Hamill RJ, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of cryptococcal disease: 2010 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(3):291–322.
- Shie S, Turcios R, Buckley H, Suh B. Clinical features and treatment of Malassezia folliculitis with fluconazole in orthotopic heart transplant recipients. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2000;19(2):215–9.
- 60. Zhao HM, Ran YP, Jiang X, Zeng W, Xiong L, Dai YL, et al. Isolation of Malassezia furfur from the groin abscess of a renal transplant patient. Sichuan Da Xue Xue Bao Yi Xue Ban. 2005;36(1):143–6.
- 61. Alothman A. Rhodotorula species peritonitis in a liver transplant recipient: a case report. Saudi J Kidney Dis Transpl. 2006;17(1):47–9.
- 62. Riedel DJ, Johnson JK, Forrest GN. *Rhodotorula glutinis* fungemia in a liver-kidney transplant patient. Transpl Infect Dis. 2008;10(3):197–200.
- 63. De Pauw B, Walsh TJ, Donnelly JP, Stevens DA, Edwards JE, Calandra T, et al. Revised definitions of invasive fungal disease from the European Organization for Research and Treatment of Cancer/Invasive Fungal Infections Cooperative Group and the National Institute of Allergy and Infectious Diseases Mycoses Study Group (EORTC/MSG) Consensus Group. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(12):1813–21.
- 64. Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, Clancy CJ, Marr KA, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, et al. Executive summary: clinical practice guideline for the management of Candidiasis: 2016 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62(4):409–17.

- Assi M, Martin S, Wheat LJ, Hage C, Freifeld A, Avery R, et al. Histoplasmosis after solid organ transplant. Clin Infect Dis. 2013;57(11):1542–9.
- Hage CA, Knox KS, Davis TE, Wheat LJ. Antigen detection in bronchoalveolar lavage fluid for diagnosis of fungal pneumonia. Curr Opin Pulm Med. 2011;17(3):167–71.
- 67. Mylonakis E, Clancy CJ, Ostrosky-Zeichner L, Garey KW, Alangaden GJ, Vazquez JA, et al. T2 magnetic resonance assay for the rapid diagnosis of candidemia in whole blood: a clinical trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60(6):892–9.
- Singh N, Lortholary O, Dromer F, Alexander BD, Gupta KL, John GT, et al. Central nervous system cryptococcosis in solid organ transplant recipients: clinical relevance of abnormal neuroimaging findings. Transplantation. 2008;86(5):647–51.
- Loyse A, Moodley A, Rich P, Molloy SF, Bicanic T, Bishop L, et al. Neurological, visual, and MRI brain scan findings in 87 South African patients with HIV-associated cryptococcal meningoencephalitis. J Infect. 2015;70(6):668–75.
- Personett HA, Laub MR. Review of infectious disease prophylaxis in solid organ transplantation. Crit Care Nurs Q. 2017;40(4):383–98.
- 71. Winston DJ, Limaye AP, Pelletier S, Safdar N, Morris MI, Meneses K, et al. Randomized, double-blind trial of anidulafungin versus fluconazole for prophylaxis of invasive fungal infections in high-risk liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2014;14(12):2758–64.
- 72. Fortun J, Martin-Davila P, Montejo M, Munoz P, Cisneros JM, Ramos A, et al. Prophylaxis with caspofungin for invasive fungal infections in high-risk liver transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2009;87(3):424–35.
- Singh N, Wagener MM, Cacciarelli TV, Levitsky J. Antifungal management practices in liver transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2008;8(2):426–31.
- 74. Cuellar-Rodriguez J, Avery RK, Lard M, Budev M, Gordon SM, Shrestha NK, et al. Histoplasmosis in solid organ transplant recipients: 10 years of experience at a large transplant center in an endemic area. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;49(5):710–6.
- 75. Chapman SW, Dismukes WE, Proia LA, Bradsher RW, Pappas PG, Threlkeld MG, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of blastomycosis: 2008 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46(12):1801–12.
- 76. Wheat LJ, Freifeld AG, Kleiman MB, Baddley JW, McKinsey DS, Loyd JE, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of patients with histoplasmosis: 2007 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;45(7):807–25.
- 77. Galgiani JN, Ampel NM, Blair JE, Catanzaro A, Geertsma F, Hoover SE, et al. Executive summary: 2016 Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) clinical practice guideline for the treatment of Coccidioidomycosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(6):717–22.
- 78. Pappas PG. Invasive candidiasis. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 2006;20(3):485-506.
- Garey KW, Rege M, Pai MP, Mingo DE, Suda KJ, Turpin RS, et al. Time to initiation of fluconazole therapy impacts mortality in patients with candidemia: a multi-institutional study. Clin Infect Dis. 2006;43(1):25–31.
- Morrell M, Fraser VJ, Kollef MH. Delaying the empiric treatment of candida bloodstream infection until positive blood culture results are obtained: a potential risk factor for hospital mortality. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2005;49(9):3640–5.
- Grossi PA, Gasperina DD, Barchiesi F, Biancofiore G, Carafiello G, De Gasperi A, et al. Italian guidelines for diagnosis, prevention, and treatment of invasive fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Transplant Proc. 2011;43(6):2463–71.
- Lipp HP. Antifungal agents--clinical pharmacokinetics and drug interactions. Mycoses. 2008;51(Suppl 1):7–18.
- Huprikar S, Shoham S. Emerging fungal infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):262–71.



14

Prevention and Treatment of Mycobacterial Infections

Yolanda Meije, Eun J. Kwak, and José M. Aguado

14.1 Tuberculosis

14.1.1 Epidemiology

The epidemiology of TB in a country determines the risk of developing TB disease after transplantation, compounded by the increased risk among SOT recipients compared with the general population in a given area. The incidence of TB ranges from <20 to >125 per 100,000 people according to country and multidrug-resistant rates [1]. The incidence of TB in SOT ranges from 0.45% in low-endemic countries to 15.2% in high-endemic countries [2, 3]. The highest incidence (6.4–10%) is observed in lung transplant recipients [4].

Although mortality rate in SOT recipients may have decreased due to better diagnostic techniques, it remains high (9.5–17%) [2, 3]. In addition, there are scarce reports of the mortality rate in countries with high prevalence of TB. Most patients develop TB infection in the first year posttransplantation [2], but a bimodal distribution has also been observed, with the incidence of TB at a peak 2 years after SOT [5].

Y. Meije

E. J. Kwak

Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Pittsburgh Medical Center, Pittsburgh, PA, USA

J. M. Aguado (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Infectious Disease Unit – Internal Medicine Department, Hospital de Barcelona, Societat Cooperativa d'Instal·lacions Assistencials Sanitàries (SCIAS), Barcelona, Spain

Unit of Infectious Diseases, Hospital Universitario "12 de Octubre", Instituto de Investigación Sanitaria Hospital "12 de Octubre" (i+12), School of Medicine, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_14

14.1.2 Diagnosis

14.1.2.1 Latent Tuberculosis Infection

Documenting a positive tuberculin skin test (TST) in a person who has no signs, symptoms, or chest radiograph evidence of active TB disease usually makes the diagnosis of LTBI, but this diagnosis is usually hampered by the lack of a reference standard test [6]. Unfortunately, TST often gives false-negative results in anergic patients, such as those receiving immunosuppressive therapies and/or affected by chronic kidney and liver disease. It may also give false-positive results in areas in which BCG vaccination is prevalent or when there is accidental exposure to environmental non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM).

Novel blood tests have become available which detect gamma interferon production in response to antigens encoded by the RD-1 region of the MTC genome. These tests, now known as IGRAs (interferon gamma release assays), seem to be more specific (presenting no cross-reactivity with BCG and NTM) and less affected by immunosuppressive therapies, despite undergoing the same inhibition of immune mechanisms that is responsible for the impaired performance of TST [7]. Two commercially produced IGRAs are available, the QuantiFERON-TB Gold In-Tube or Gold Plus (QFT; Qiagen, Germantown, USA) and the T-SPOT.TB (T-SPOT; Oxford Immunotec, Abingdon, UK). Both tests employ a mitogen-induced positive control able to differentiate between an anergic and a true negative response.

Both tests, TST and IGRAs, may have false-positive and false-negative results; their concurrent use would be the ideal approach for increasing diagnostic sensitivity [8, 9]. However, this is not always feasible, either for financial reasons or due to



*If urgent transplant, perform treatment of LTBI after transplantation

Fig. 14.1 Diagram to rule out active TB. *If urgent transplant, perform treatment of LTBI after transplantation

the characteristics of specific centers. In everyday practice, many patients undergo transplantation without a prior TST [10].

All living donors should also undergo TST and/or IGRA [11–14]. If the result of one of the assays is positive, active TB should be ruled out (see Fig. 14.1) [12, 14]. Treatment of latent TB infection must be administered to recipients of an organ whose donor has a history of, or data suggesting, untreated TB or recent exposure to active TB [14], particularly in lung transplants recipients.

14.1.2.2 Active Tuberculosis

Diagnosis of tuberculosis is challenging due to the non-specific clinical manifestations, the lack of specific radiological findings, and the presence of frequent extrapulmonary involvement [13]. The presence of fever, night sweats, weight loss, lymphadenopathy, or radiographic abnormalities should raise suspicion of TB, especially in patients with a history of contact with *M. tuberculosis* [13].

The first step in diagnosing TB is to obtain specimens for acid-fast bacilli (AFB) stains and mycobacterial culture. If pulmonary disease is suspected, three induced sputums should be collected, and/or invasive techniques, including bronchoalveolar lavage, transbronchial biopsy, and/or mediastinoscopy, should be performed. For extrapulmonary TB, a diagnostic approach aiming to obtain direct sampling from the involved site is recommended. If an unexplained fever raises the suspicion of disseminated disease, mycobacterial blood cultures should be obtained. Definitive diagnosis requires AFB cultures or the use of PCR to identify specific nucleic acid sequences in a clinical specimen collected. In addition to their sensitivity, AFB cultures allow for definitive species identification and full drug susceptibility testing. Although TST and IGRAs are the cornerstone of the evaluation of latent infection, they are not typically helpful in ruling out active TB, and positive testing may not indicate active infection [8].

14.1.3 Prevention

14.1.3.1 Pretransplant

The treatment of LTBI should start before transplantation. If it cannot be completed before the procedure, it should be continued afterward. It should be provided to all patients on the waiting list for SOT who has ≥ 1 of the following conditions [11, 12]:

- A TST (initial or after a booster effect, with a second TST performed 1–2 weeks later) with an induration ≥5 mm and/or a positive IGRA
- A history of untreated TB or chest radiograph findings compatible with untreated TB (apical fibronodular lesions, calcified solitary nodule, calcified lymph nodes, or pleural thickening), especially in geographical areas such as Europe where endemic mycoses mimicking TB lesions do not occur
- A history of contact with a patient with active TB

The drug of choice for LTBI in the transplant recipient is isoniazid, supplemented with vitamin B6, for 9 months [15, 16] (See Table 14.1). Other prophylactic alternatives for which only limited data [17, 18] are available in the SOT population are shown in Table 14.1. Isoniazid is generally well tolerated, although

Drug	Duration	Recommendations
INH (5 mg/kg) (maximum of 300 mg)	Daily, 9 months	Combine with pyridoxine, 25–50 mg/day
INH (15 mg/kg) (maximum of 900 mg)	Twice weekly, 9 months DOT	Combine with pyridoxine, 25–50 mg/day
Rifampin (10 mg/kg) (maximum of 600 mg)	Daily, 4 months	Used preferably before transplantation due to interaction with immunosuppressive drugs
INH (15 mg/kg); (maximum of 900 mg) plus RFP (<50 kg, 750 mg; >50 kg, 900 mg)	Once weekly, 3 months, DOT or WR	Combine with pyridoxine, 25–50 mg/day Used preferably before transplantation due to interaction with immunosuppressive drugs

 Table 14.1
 Suggested regimens for the treatment of LTBI

NH isoniazid, RFP rifapentine, DOT direct observed therapy, WR weekly reminders

isoniazid-induced hepatotoxicity may occur, especially in pre-liver candidates. Recent data showed that rifampicin has similar efficacy and reduced toxicity as compared to isoniazid [19], although data on the use of rifampicin in SOT candidates is scarce. Aminotransferases should be monitored closely [14]. Treatment of LTBI should be suspended if AST or ALT values increase threefold in patients with symptoms or fivefold in patients without accompanying symptoms.

In case of discontinuation of LTBI treatment, patients should be closely monitored, and treatment should be completed with drugs other than isoniazid in highrisk patients or could be deferred to posttransplant in lower-risk patients. Alternative regimens include rifampin or fluoroquinolones [12].

When active TB cannot be ruled out in an SOT recipient, it is recommended to start treatment with three drugs (INH, ethambutol, and pyrazinamide) [11]. A fourth drug, e.g., a fluoroquinolone, should be added if the disease is severe or until susceptibilities are known. Treatment can be completed with only INH if, after 8 weeks, cultures are negative for *M. tuberculosis* and the chest radiograph is considered normal [11].

Liver transplant recipients may present a high risk of hepatotoxicity with isoniazid prophylaxis. Some authors consider that this risk outweighs any potential benefits in relation to the fairly low frequency of TB reactivation compared with the possibility of liver dysfunction and the need for emergency transplant [15]. Other authors did not report increased toxicity associated with isoniazid in the liver transplant population [20].

There is widespread agreement regarding the treatment of LTBI in liver recipients when risk factors such as a recent change in TST results, a history of incorrectly treated TB, direct contact with a smear-positive TB patient, residual TB lesions, and immunosuppression factors are present [11, 20]. It also seems reasonable to consider treatment only in patients with compensated cirrhosis and in whom hepatotoxicity is closely monitored [12]. For the remaining cases, we consider that the decision should be individualized. Other drugs such as fluoroquinolones may also be considered for LTBI treatment, although adverse effects associated with long treatment duration have been described [21].

14.1.3.2 Posttransplant

If the treatment of LTBI has not been conducted before transplant, it should be performed afterward. The indication for and duration of isoniazid prophylaxis is the same as in the pretransplantation period. The interaction of isoniazid with calcineurin inhibitors is small [69]. Isoniazid may increase corticosteroid levels and, consequently, corticosteroid-mediated side effects [58]. Regimens that include rifamycins are not generally recommended in the posttransplantation period because of drug interactions.

14.1.4 Treatment

14.1.4.1 Pretransplant

When active TB cannot be ruled out, we recommend initiation of TB treatment with the standard three/four drugs. Treatment may be completed with isoniazid alone if cultures for MTC are negative after 8 weeks of incubation [12]. In general, patients with active TB should not undergo transplantation. Possible exceptions are patients with well-controlled infections and non-pulmonary SOT [11, 12].

14.1.4.2 Posttransplant

Recommendations for treating active TB in transplant recipients also differ from those applied to the general population, because of the interactions between rifamycins and immunosuppressive drugs, and the potential for hepatotoxicity associated with first-line TB therapy [11]. Additionally, many first-line anti-TB drugs (isoniazid, streptomycin, and ethambutol) warrant dose adjustment in renal transplant patients.

The use of rifamycins remains controversial. The interaction between rifampicin and calcineurin inhibitors, inhibitors of the mammalian target of rapamycin (mTOR), and corticosteroids is known to increase the risk of acute rejection [22, 23]. However, studies in populations other than SOT recipients have shown an increased risk of TB recurrence and high TB resistance rates when rifamycinsparing regimens are used [24].

Some authors have reported difficulties adjusting immunosuppressive drug serum levels and a high graft failure rate with rifampicin usage [25]. Other authors have demonstrated that these drugs may be safe with rigorous control of immunosuppressive drug levels [26]. Favorable experiences with rifabutin have been described in small series of kidney and lung transplant patients [27]. However, other authors have reported a similar need to increase immunosuppressive drug doses for rifabutin in liver transplant patients [20].

The benefits of rifamycins must be balanced against the risk of rejection. Their recommendation for patients with severe or disseminated forms of tuberculosis or with suspicion of resistance to isoniazid seems reasonable. On the other hand, for localized, non-severe forms of tuberculosis and transplantation periods with a high rejection rate, physicians may weigh up the risks and benefits before including rifamycins in the anti-TB regimen [11–13]. See Table 14.2.

Situation	Initial treatment	Maintenance treatment
Patients with localized and no severe TB and non-suspicion or evidence of resistance to isoniazid	 Avoid the use of rifamycins INH, ethambutol, and pyrazinamide (or levofloxacin) 	 Isoniazid and ethambutol (or pyrazinamide) are recommended for 12–18 months The incorporation of a third drug, such as pyrazinamide or levofloxacin, could reduce this period to 12 months^a
Severe forms or disseminated forms of TB or suspicion or evidence of resistance to isoniazid ^b	 Consider adding rifampicin or rifabutin to the regimen^c Levels of immunosuppressors should be closely monitored 	• Complete treatment with isoniazid and rifampicin or rifabutin for at least 9 months
Multidrug-resistant TB or when there is some limitation for the use of the aforementioned drugs	 If isoniazid and rifamycins cannot be used, induction treatment should include 4–6 drugs Possible drugs: injectable antimicrobials (e.g., streptomycin^d amikacin, kanamycin, or capreomycin), linezolid, or other second-line drugs^e 	• The duration of treatment and the types of drugs should be individualized

Table 14.2 Tuberculosis treatment options

^aProlonged use of fluoroquinolones can be associated with arthralgias; it may enhance the risk of tendon-related side effects of corticosteroids, may decrease mycophenolate levels, and may increase cyclosporine levels, and the combination with pyrazinamide is poorly tolerated by the digestive system

^bIf isoniazid cannot be used, induction and maintenance treatment that includes four drugs for at least 18 months is recommended

^cA standard treatment based on a three-drug regimen may be considered (isoniazid, rifampicin or rifabutin, and pyrazinamide). Monitoring of the liver enzyme is mandatory and of particular concern for liver transplant patients. Alternatively, pyrazinamide could be replaced with a fluoroquinolone. The dose of calcineurin inhibitors and mTOR should be increased between three- and fivefold (increasing the frequency of administration from twice to three times daily), and the corticosteroid dose should be doubled. Levels of immunosuppressants should be closely monitored for both kinds of rifamycins, and their dose may need to be increased even in the case of rifabutin. Resistance to rifampin is almost systematically associated with cross-resistance to rifabutin and rifapentine; therefore, these drugs are not suitable alternatives

^dIn cases of resistance to streptomycin, there is no cross-resistance with other injectable drugs (e.g., amikacin, kanamycin, and capreomycin); however, cross-resistance between amikacin and kanamycin is universal. The combination of injectable drugs is not recommended because of their intolerance and the association of adverse effects

^eThere is no experience with the use of intermittent regimens, which, in any case, are not recommended for the management of multidrug-resistant TB, with the injectable drugs after a period of at least 2–3 months of daily therapy

14.1.4.3 Regimens Including Rifamycins

If the anti-TB regimen chosen includes rifampicin or rifabutin, a standard treatment based on a three-drug regimen (with the exception of high rates of isoniazid-resistant TB countries) may be considered. Complete treatment with isoniazid and rifampicin or rifabutin in the maintenance phase for at least 9 months is recommended [11, 12]. Some authors suggest that extrapulmonary TB presentations and patients with cavitary pulmonary TB who remain culture-positive after 2 months require 12–18 months of treatment [11, 14, 20].

14.1.4.4 Regimens That Do Not Include Rifamycins

If rifampicin therapy is not used, prolonged treatment has been considered for SOT patients due to the experience gained in the general population. Regimens should be continued for at least 12–18 months [24]. In rifamycin-free treatment regimens, the combination therapy with isoniazid and ethambutol for 12–18 months with the addition of pyrazinamide for the first 2 months is an option [28]. Maintenance agents may include isoniazid and pyrazinamide or ethambutol, and the possible addition of levofloxacin/moxifloxacin should be considered; a three-drug regimen may reduce the treatment length [12].

In the general population, isoniazid, pyrazinamide, and streptomycin have proven to be effective when the regimen is administered for 9 months [24], although it is difficult to maintain injected therapy for long periods because of the risk of ototoxicity and renal toxicity. Little information in the transplant setting is available.

Fluoroquinolones (FQs) are an alternative for transplant patients because of the disadvantages associated with rifamycins and aminoglycosides. In the transplant setting, good outcomes with FQs in the initial four-drug regimen for kidney and lung transplant recipients have been described [4]. In addition, the possibility that the widespread use of FQs for other infections could lead to a high prevalence of FQ-resistant TB is a matter for concern.

Linezolid has proven to be effective for patients with TB [29]. However, prolonged use of this drug has been associated with thrombopenia, anemia, and polyneuropathy, especially in patients with diabetes or kidney disease.

14.1.5 General Approach

Because active tuberculosis (TB) is associated with high mortality in solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients, all transplant candidates should undergo evaluation for latent TB infection (LTBI). The tuberculin skin test (TST) and/or an IGRA test are currently the standard methods for identifying subjects at risk. Before initiation of treatment for LTBI, patients with positive immunological test results (TST and/or IGRA) should be evaluated to rule out active TB. A diagnosis of TB can only be

confirmed by culturing MTC or by identifying specific nucleic acid sequences in a clinical specimen collected from the suspected site of disease. Treatment for LTBI should be administered to patients on transplant waiting lists or to recipients after transplantation who have ≥ 1 of the following conditions: (1) a TST with a 5-mm induration or positive IGRA result, (2) a history of untreated TB, or (3) a history of contact with a patient with active TB. The drug of choice for LTBI is isoniazid (300 mg/day) supplemented with vitamin B6 for 9 months or rifampicin for 4 months. For localized, non-severe forms of TB and periods with high rejection rates, it may be advisable to avoid the use of rifamycins. Maintenance therapy with isoniazid and ethambutol (or pyrazinamide) is recommended for 12–18 months. For severe forms or disseminated TB, the use of a TB regimen that includes rifampicin or rifabutin should be considered. Maintenance therapy with isoniazid and rifampicin or rifabutin is recommended for at least 9 months.

14.2 Non-tuberculous Mycobacteria

Introductory Abstract

Non-tuberculous mycobacteria (NTM) are uncommon causes of human disease despite their ubiquity in the environment including soil and water [30] but are increasingly recognized as significant pathogens in solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients as opportunistic agents. NTM disease progression is facilitated by impaired cell-mediated immunity in this population and, in the case of lung transplant candidates and recipients, by structural disease promoting airway colonization [31]. High index of suspicion is required for timely diagnosis and treatment. On the other hand, a subset of NTM isolated from the lungs may represent colonization or early subclinical infection, for which watchful observation without therapy is reasonable. Given the complicated and prolonged treatment regimens for the majority of NTM, which can adversely interact with immunosuppressive medications, true therapeutic need should be established before initiation of treatment for pulmonary NTM. Treatment is usually given for 12-18 months or longer, with regimen tailored to speciation and sensitivity testing results [32]. In recent years, M. abscessus infection in lung transplant candidates has emerged as a major therapeutic challenge due to its propensity to cause early surgical site infection posttransplant.

14.2.1 Epidemiology

NTM are a heterogeneous group of organisms numbering >125 species and growing, over half of which have the potential to cause human infections. However, majority of NTM infections are caused by approximately 20 common pathogens [33]. NTM are broadly classified as rapidly growing mycobacteria (RGM) vs. the rest, based on the speed of growth of the organism on the culture media once incubated. RGM typically grow within 7 days of incubation and include *Mycobacterium abscessus*, *M. fortuitum*, and *M. chelonae*. The rest of NTM such as *Mycobacterium* *avium* complex (MAC) or *M. kansasii* take longer to grow, although time to culture positivity is also impacted by the inoculum size. While the source of most NTM infections is believed to be environmental, possibility of person-to-person transmissions has been raised recently with *M. abscessus*, with the conjectured route of spread via fomite or aerosol [34]. True incidence of NTM in SOT recipients is difficult to determine due to its lack of reporting requirement, but literature suggests relatively low incidence of <1% in abdominal transplant recipients and up to 2.8% in heart transplant recipients. The incidence is by far the highest in lung transplant recipients, varying widely and ranging from 0.5% up to 18% [35], with higher rates seen in centers that perform routine surveillance bronchoscopies.

As with their presentation in immunocompetent hosts, pulmonary disease is by far the most frequent site of NTM infection in SOT recipients, followed by skin and soft tissue infections (SSTI). While MAC causes the majority of NTM disease overall, RGM are mostly frequent etiological agent for SSTI, which typically presents as erythematous to violaceous subcutaneous nodules or ulcerative lesions that occur at a surgical site or in extremities, often in clusters or along a lymphangitic spread [33]. Other less common manifestations include osteoarticular infections such as vertebral osteomyelitis, catheter-associated mycobacteremia, lymphadenitis, and disseminated disease involving two or more organ systems.

SOT recipients are at increased risks for more severe infections by NTM due to their compromised cell-mediated immunity. Specific risk factors for different NTM species have been elucidated for certain subsets of patients: Pulmonary infections with MAC are increased in subjects with impaired lung architectures and function, such as emphysema and bronchiectasis. *M. abscessus* has emerged as a major pathogen in patients with cystic fibrosis (CF) and other immunodeficiencies associated with recurrent pulmonary infections and bronchiectasis [36]. All three RGM species have been linked to foreign body/prosthetic infections. Certain species have specific risk factors, such as *M. marinum* and its close association with injuries from marine life or contact with contaminated seawater or fish tank.

NTM infection can occur at varying times from transplant, from early postoperative period to years after the transplant. A recent single-center study suggested a bimodal distribution, with the first peak at median of 2.2 months and second at 7.5 years. Early NTM infections occurring <1 year posttransplant was significantly associated with increased mortality compared to matched control [37]. A specific subset of early posttransplant NTM infection of note is *M. abscessus* surgical site infection that occurs in lung transplant recipients colonized with the organism pretransplant, usually within the first few weeks to months during wound healing. Management of *M. abscessus* infection in this scenario has posed significant therapeutic challenges.

14.2.2 Diagnosis

Diagnosis of NTM in SOT patient requires a high index of suspicion and prompt submission of appropriate specimen for mycobacterial cultures. NTM should be high on the list of differential diagnosis in any SOT recipients with unexplained febrile illness, atypical pulmonary radiological abnormalities, subacute SSTI with nodular or ulcerative components, surgical site infections, or foreign body-associated infections. For extrapulmonary infections, delay in diagnosis is common due to frequently omitted request for mycobacterial cultures during the processing of clinical samples. Once an NTM is isolated in mycobacterial blood or tissue cultures, the diagnosis is relatively unambiguous, although sampling error or low bacterial inoculum may lead to falsely negative culture results, necessitating repeated attempts at fluid or tissue cultures.

For pulmonary infection, diagnosis of NTM is a more layered topic. Isolation of NTM from a respiratory sample might represent colonization of the airways or environmental contamination rather than an invasive disease. Lung transplant recipients have a particularly high rate of isolation of NTM from respiratory samples, due to their abnormal airway anatomy and impaired ciliary function facilitating NTM colonization, as well as frequent submission of respiratory samples. The American Thoracic Society (ATS)/Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) guideline for diagnosis of pulmonary disease by NTM [32] attempts to distinguish symptomatic infections from asymptomatic colonization or early subclinical disease, by considering clinical, radiological, and microbiological criteria as a whole (Table 14.3). While this provides a useful reference, clinicians should be advised that these diagnostic criteria were devised with largely immunocompetent hosts in mind. Early invasive NTM infections that do not meet the criteria may progress more rapidly than expected in SOT recipients. Close follow-up with repeated respiratory cultures and serial imaging is warranted for patients at high risk for invasive NTM disease.

Once an NTM was isolated, precise speciation is needed for the clinicians to choose optimal combination therapy. DNA probes and other molecular-based assays are frequently employed for rapid diagnosis of common mycobacteria such as *M. tuberculosis* and MAC. Speciation of less common NTM species may require DNA sequencing or for the isolates to be sent to a reference testing laboratory. Identification down to the subspecies level is of particular importance for *M. abscessus*, as

Table 14.3	ATS/IDSA	diagnostic	criteria c	of NTM	lung	diseases
		0			0	

Clinical
1. Pulmonary symptoms, nodular or cavitary opacities on chest radiographs, or a high- resolution scan that shows multifocal bronchiectasis with multiple small nodules
2. Appropriate exclusion of other diagnoses
Microbiological
1. Positive culture results from at least two separate expectorated sputum samples
2. Positive culture results from at least one bronchial wash or bronchoalveolar lavage
3. Transbronchial or other lung biopsy with mycobacterial histopathological features (granulomatous inflammation or AFB) and positive culture for NTM or biopsy showing mycobacterial histopathological features and one or more sputum or bronchial washings that are culture-positive for NTM

Adapted from ATS/IDSA guideline [32]

subspecies *M. massiliense* is associated with better sensitivity profile and a more favorable response to therapy [38]. In case of positive AFB stain seen in histopathologic examination without corresponding positive cultures, direct detection of AFB DNA from tissue may be attempted using broad-range, multi-locus PCR [39].

14.2.3 Prevention

Many NTMs are ubiquitous in the environment and difficult to avoid. Transplant recipients are advised to refrain from cleaning aquariums or, if unavoidable, to use gloves during the cleaning to minimize the exposure to *M. marinum* [40]. Gloves should also be used during gardening. Insufficiently heating in household water systems has been associated with increased number of NTM [41]; thus at-risk patients such as transplant candidates or recipients should ensure adequate water heater temperatures. In contrast to *M. tuberculosis*, pharmacological prophylaxis has not been well established in NTM prevention in SOT recipients. The closest analog would be rifabutin or azithromycin chemoprophylaxis against MAC, reserved for patients with advanced AIDS [32]. However, the rate of MAC infection across SOT populations is not consistent or high enough to warrant therapy with agents that carry significant GI side effects or interact with immunosuppressive medications.

14.2.4 Treatment

14.2.4.1 General Considerations

In-depth discussion of various regimen used for NTM is beyond the scope of this review, but Table 14.4 lists first-line therapy for several medically significant NTMs, the majority of which requires multidrug combinations for ≥ 12 months. In general, susceptibility testing is recommended for RGM to guide therapy, whereas its utility is more debated for slower-growing NTM species. MAC isolates should be tested for macrolide sensitivity; testing of MAC sensitivities for other agents such as rifabutin, ethambutol, amikacin, and quinolones may be requested, but correlation with clinical response is more questionable. Rifampin sensitivity testing should be performed on *M. kansasii*, with further testing for secondary agents to be considered for rifampin-resistant isolates [32].

If feasible, reduction in immunosuppression is recommended for severe or disseminated disease. Rifamycins are strong inducers of CYP3A4 enzymes through which calcineurin inhibitors and mTor inhibitors are metabolized, and coadministration results in reduction of exposure for these immunosuppressive agents. Rifabutin is a weaker inducer compared to rifampin and is the preferred agent in NTM therapy among transplant patients, although dose adjustment in CNI and mTor inhibitors is still necessary in most cases. Similarly, while the ATS/IDSA guideline lists clarithromycin as the major macrolide backbone in most NTM

14016 14.4 FII	st-me merapy for several medicarly signin	Canter IN 1 1915	
Organism	Susceptibility testing	Recommended regimen	Comments
MAC	Clarithromycin; correlation between susceptibility and clinical response not well established for other agents	Azithromycin + rifabutin + ethambutol for at least 12 months after microbiological clearance	Induction with amikacin may be considered for severe or disseminated infection
M. kansasii	Rifampin; if resistant, consider testing for additional agents	Isoniazid with pyridoxine + rifabutin + ethambutol for 18 months (≥12 months after microbiological clearance)	Isoniazid may be active even if in vitro resistance is reported
M. haemophilum	No standardized susceptibility testing available	Azithromycin + ciprofloxacin + ethambutol	Resistant to ethambutol
M. marinum	Routine susceptibility testing not recommended	Azithromycin + ethambutol ± rifabutin	Shorter course of therapy, e.g., 6 months, might be adequate
M. abscessus	Amikacin, cefoxitin, imipenem and/or meropenem, quinolones, clarithromycin, doxycycline, minocycline, sulfonamide, linezolid	Based on susceptibility data, ≥3 active drug combination preferred including macrolide backbone if susceptible	Induction with parenteral antibiotics recommended; for MDR pathogens, test for tigecycline and clofazimine sensitivities
M. chelonae	Amikacin, cefoxitin, ciprofloxacin, clarithromycin, doxycycline, sulfonamides, linezolid	Based on susceptibility data, two active drugs including a macrolide recommended	For localized infection, consider surgical debridement
M. fortuitum	Same as <i>M. chelonae</i>	Based on susceptibility data, two active drugs recommended	Contains inducible macrolide resistance via methylase gene; use macrolides with caution

* NITME ġ É 4 4 -4 Table 14 A Div treatment regimen, substitution with azithromycin is recommended in SOT recipients due to its minimal interaction with transplant medications compared to clarithromycin, which inhibits CYP3A4 [42].

The ATS/IDSA guideline recommends minimum of 12 months of therapy for NTM after microbiological clearance. Longer therapy of ≥ 18 months may be needed for osteoarticular or disseminated infections. For disease limited to the skin and soft tissue, a shorter duration of therapy such as 3–6 months may be acceptable provided there is clinical resolution.

14.2.4.2 Special Consideration: Lung Transplant and NTM

Patients with structural lung disease awaiting lung transplant, especially those with CF, are one of the highest risk groups for NTM infection. While severe MAC infection may contribute to respiratory insufficiency in rare instances, in majority of cases, isolation of MAC pretransplant represents colonization, and MAC colonization pretransplant has not been associated with increased posttransplant morbidity or mortality [43]. That said, once listed, most clinicians would opt to treat MAC until transplant with combination therapy [44], although treatment is not usually extended posttransplant once colonized lungs have been explanted. On the other hand, infection with M. abscessus has posed a major clinical challenge in this population, especially in cystic fibrosis patients. Since the early 2000s, multiple published case reports and case series brought attention to the tendency of M. abscessus to cause aggressive early recurrent infections in the surgical sites associated with poor outcome [45–48], prompting the majority of lung transplant centers to consider *M. abscessus* infection a relative, if not absolute, contraindication for transplant listing. In contrast, a cohort study from a large US lung transplant center showed M. abscessus-colonized CF patients may still be transplanted with comparable survival to CF patients without the infection [49]. Further reports suggest that, while surgical site infection remained a major issue, M. abscessus infection needs not be an absolute contraindication for lung transplant [50-52]. However, these reports come with several caveats: (1) eradication attempts should be made prior to transplant; (2) aggressive treatment for M. abscessus is needed pre- and posttransplant; (3) consider further methods to minimize contamination of the surgical space during transplant surgery, including antibiotic irrigation, lymphadenectomy, and changing of surgical gloves prior to handling donor organs. The optimal duration of *M* abscessus therapy posttransplant has not been well established.

For lung transplant recipients developing NTM infection past early postoperative period, the decision to treat depends on a variety of clinical factors, such as extent of symptoms and radiological abnormalities, number/persistence of positive cultures, concomitant rejection, and anticipated medication toxicities. Moreover, NTM isolation in this population is often transient and may not require therapy and has not been associated with increased posttransplant mortality [53]. Even for difficult pathogens such as *M. abscessus*, the ATS guideline appears useful in determining significant infection warranting therapy [54].

14.2.5 General Approach

NTM should be considered for subacute respiratory infections associated with atypical pulmonary radiological presentation in SOT patients. Nodular or ulcerative SSTI, indolent osteoarticular infections, chronic wasting illness, and persistent or recurrent foreign body-associated infections should also raise a suspicion of NTM. Repeated sampling may be needed to establish the diagnosis. Once NTM has been isolated, extensive susceptibility testing should be performed on all clinically significant RGM, whereas more limited testing is recommended for MAC and M. kansasii. With frequent respiratory sampling, NTM may be isolated incidentally. As treatment is usually complex and prolonged, therapeutic necessity should be established in each individual case based on clinical signs and symptoms and radiological progression. Reduction in immunosuppression is recommended for severe and/ or disseminated disease. Lastly, M. abscessus infection in lung transplant candidates is a complex topic that requires a multidisciplinary approach. Every attempt should be made to eradicate the organism pretransplant, although final decision whether to list these patients remains up to the practice of individual institution, given the high risk of aggressive early recurrence.

References

- 1. WHO. TB burden estimates. WHO Global Tuberculosis Report 2016. World Health Organization. http://www.who.int/tb/publications/global_report/en/.
- Torre-Cisneros J, Doblas A, Aguado JM, et al. Tuberculosis after solid-organ transplant: incidence, risk factors, and clinical characteristics in the RESITRA (Spanish network of infection in transplantation) cohort. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48:1657–65.
- Muñoz L, Santin M. Prevention and management of tuberculosis in transplant recipients: from guidelines to clinical practice. Transplantation. 2016;100:1840–52.
- 4. Bravo C, Roldan J, Roman A, et al. Tuberculosis in lung transplant recipients. Transplantation. 2005;79:59–64.
- Aguado JM, Herrero JA, Gavalda J, et al. Clinical presentation and outcome of tuberculosis in kidney, liver, and heart transplant recipients in Spain. Spanish Transplantation Infection Study Group, GESITRA. Transplantation. 1997;63:1278–86.
- Hopewell PC, Pai M, Maher D, Uplekar M, Raviglione MC. International standards for tuberculosis care. Lancet Infect Dis. 2006;6:710–25.
- Scholman T, Straub M, Sotgiu G, et al. Superior sensitivity of ex vivo IFN-g release assays as compared to skin testing in immunocompromised patients. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:2616–24.
- Herrera V, Perry S, Parsonnet J, Banaei N. Clinical application and limitations of interferongamma release assays for the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;52:1031–7.
- Hadaya K, Bridevaux PO, Roux-Lombard P, et al. Contribution of interferon-gamma release assays (IGRAs) to the diagnosis of latent tuberculosis infection after renal transplantation. Transplantation. 2013;95:1485–90.
- 10. Doblas A, Torre-Cisneros J. The current state of tuberculosis in solid organ transplantation: three principles for optimal management. Am J Transplant. 2011;11:1769–70.
- Aguado JM, Torre-Cisneros J, Fortun J, et al. Tuberculosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: consensus statement of the group for the study of infection in transplant recipients (GESITRA) of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48:1276–84.

- 12. Aguado JM, Torre-Cisneros J, Fortún J, et al. Tuberculosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: consensus statement of the group for the study of infection in transplant recipients (GESITRA) of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48(9):1276–84.
- Meije Y, Piersimoni C, Torre-Cisneros J, Dilektasli AG, Aguado JM, ESCMID Study Group of Infection in Compromised Hosts. Mycobacterial infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):89–101.
- Subramanian AK, Morris MI. *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):68–76.
- 15. Benito N, Sued O, Moreno A, et al. Diagnosis and treatment of latent tuberculosis infection in liver transplant recipients in an endemic area. Transplantation. 2002;74:1381–6.
- Currie AC, Knight SR, Morris PJ. Tuberculosis in renal transplant recipients: the evidence for prophylaxis. Transplantation. 2010;90:695–704.
- Simkins J, Abbo LM, Camargo JF, Rosa R, Morris MI. Twelve-week rifapentine plus isoniazid versus 9-month isoniazid for the treatment of latent tuberculosis in renal transplant candidates. Transplantation. 2017;101(6):1468–72.
- de Castilla DL, Rakita RM, Spitters CE, Narita M, Jain R, Limaye AP. Short-course isoniazid plus rifapentine directly observed therapy for latent tuberculosis in solid-organ transplant candidates. Transplantation. 2014;97:206–1156.
- Menzies D, Adjobimey M, Ruslami R, et al. Four months of rifampin or nine months of isoniazid for latent tuberculosis in adults. N Engl J Med. 2018;379:440–53.
- Holty JE, Gould MK, Meinke L, Keeffe EB, Ruoss SJ. Tuberculosis in liver transplant recipients: a systematic review and meta-analysis of individual patient data. Liver Transpl. 2009;15:894–906.
- 21. Torre-Cisneros J, San-Juan R, Rosso-Fernández CM, et al. Tuberculosis prophylaxis with levofloxacin in liver transplant patients is associated with a high incidence of tenosynovitis: safety analysis of a multicenter randomized trial. Clin Infect Dis. 2015;60:1642–9.
- Buffington GA, Dominguez JH, Piering WF, Hebert LA, Kauffman HM Jr. Interaction of rifampin and glucocorticoids. Adverse effect on renal allograft function. JAMA. 1976;236:1958–60.
- Paterson DL, Singh N. Interactions between tacrolimus and antimicrobial agents. Clin Infect Dis. 1997;25:1430–40.
- Blumberg HM, Burman WJ, Chaisson RE, et al. American Thoracic Society/Centers for Disease Control and Prevention/Infectious Diseases Society of America: treatment of tuberculosis. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2003;167:603–62.
- Ha YE, Joo EJ, Park SY, et al. Tacrolimus as a risk factor for tuberculosis and outcome of treatment with rifampicin in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14:626–34.
- Lopez-Montes A, Gallego E, Lopez E, et al. Treatment of tuberculosis with rifabutin in a renal transplant recipient. Am J Kidney Dis. 2004;44:e59–63.
- Munoz P, Palomo J, Munoz R, Rodriguez-Creixems M, Pelaez T, Bouza E. Tuberculosis in heart transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 1995;21:398–402.
- Bumbacea D, Arend SM, Eyuboglu F, et al. The risk of tuberculosis in transplant candidates and recipients: a TBNET consensus statement. Eur Respir J. 2012;40:990–1013.
- 29. Fortun J, Martin-Davila P, Navas E, et al. Linezolid for the treatment of multidrug-resistant tuberculosis. J Antimicrob Chemother. 2005;56:180–5.
- Falkinham JO 3rd. Epidemiology of infection by nontuberculous mycobacteria. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1996;9(2):177–215.
- Piersimoni C. Nontuberculous mycobacteria infection in solid organ transplant recipients. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2012;31(4):397–403.
- Griffith DE, Aksamit T, Brown-Elliott BA, et al. An official ATS/IDSA statement: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of nontuberculous mycobacterial diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;175(4):367–416.
- Keating MR, Daly JS, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Nontuberculous mycobacterial infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):77–82.

- Bryant JM, Grogono DM, Rodriguez-Rincon D, Everall I, Brown KP, Moreno P, et al. Emergence and spread of a human-transmissible multidrug-resistant nontuberculous mycobacterium. Science. 2016;354(6313):751–7.
- Shah SK, McAnally KJ, Seoane L, Lombard GA, LaPlace SG, Lick S, Dhillon GS, Valentine VG. Analysis of pulmonary non-tuberculous mycobacterial infections after lung transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18(4):585–91.
- Leung JM, Olivier KN. Nontuberculous mycobacteria in patients with cystic fibrosis. Semin Respir Crit Care Med. 2013;34(1):124–34.
- Longworth SA, Blumberg EA, Barton TD, Vinnard C. Non-tuberculous mycobacterial infections after solid organ transplantation: a survival analysis. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2015;21(1):43–7.
- Roux AL, Catherinot E, Soismier N, Heym B, Bellis G, Lemonnier L, Chiron R, Fauroux B, Le Bourgeois M, Munck A, Pin I, Sermet I, Gutierrez C, Véziris N, Jarlier V, Cambau E, Herrmann JL, Guillemot D, Gaillard JL, OMA group. Comparing *Mycobacterium massiliense* and *Mycobacterium abscessus* lung infections in cystic fibrosis patients. J Cyst Fibros. 2015;14(1):63–9.
- 39. Subedi S, Kong F, Jelfs P, Gray TJ, Xiao M, Sintchenko V, Chen SC. 16S-23S internal transcribed spacer region PCR and sequencer-based capillary gel electrophoresis has potential as an alternative to high performance liquid chromatography for identification of slowly growing nontuberculous mycobacteria. PLoS One. 2016;11(10):e0164138.
- Avery RK, Michaels MG, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Strategies for safe living after solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):304–10.
- 41. Falkinham JO 3rd. Nontuberculous mycobacteria from household plumbing of patients with nontuberculous mycobacteria disease. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17(3):419–24.
- 42. Knoll BM. Update on nontuberculous mycobacterial infections in solid organ and hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2014;16(9):421.
- 43. Chalermskulrat W, Sood N, Neuringer IP, Hecker TM, Chang L, Rivera MP, Paradowski LJ, Aris RM. Non-tuberculous mycobacteria in end stage cystic fibrosis: implications for lung transplantation. Thorax. 2006;61(6):507–13.
- Skolnik K, Kirkpatrick G, Quon BS. Nontuberculous mycobacteria in cystic fibrosis. Curr Treat Options Infect Dis. 2016;8(4):259–74.
- 45. Sanguinetti M, Ardito F, Fiscarelli E, La Sorda M, D'Argenio P, Ricciotti G, Fadda G. Fatal pulmonary infection due to multidrug-resistant *Mycobacterium abscessus* in a patient with cystic fibrosis. J Clin Microbiol. 2001;39(2):816–9.
- Fairhurst RM, Kubak BM, Shpiner RB, Levine MS, Pegues DA, Ardehali A. Mycobacterium abscessus empyema in a lung transplant recipient. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2002;21(3):391–4.
- 47. Taylor JL, Palmer SM. *Mycobacterium abscessus* chest wall and pulmonary infection in a cystic fibrosis lung transplant recipient. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(8):985–8.
- Chernenko SM, Humar A, Hutcheon M, Chow CW, Chaparro C, Keshavjee S, Singer LG. *Mycobacterium abscessus* infections in lung transplant recipients: the international experience. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2006;25(12):1447–55.
- Lobo LJ, Chang LC, Esther CR Jr, Gilligan PH, Tulu Z, Noone PG. Lung transplant outcomes in cystic fibrosis patients with pre-operative *Mycobacterium abscessus* respiratory infections. Clin Transpl. 2013;27(4):523–9.
- Gilljam M, Scherstén H, Silverborn M, Jönsson B, Ericsson Hollsing A. Lung transplantation in patients with cystic fibrosis and *Mycobacterium abscessus* infection. J Cyst Fibros. 2010;9(4):272–6.
- 51. Qvist T, Pressler T, Thomsen VO, Skov M, Iversen M, Katzenstein TL. Nontuberculous mycobacterial disease is not a contraindication to lung transplantation in patients with cystic fibrosis: a retrospective analysis in a Danish patient population. Transplant Proc. 2013;45(1):342–5.
- 52. Robinson PD, Harris KA, Aurora P, Hartley JC, Tsang V, Spencer H. Paediatric lung transplant outcomes vary with *Mycobacterium abscessus* complex species. Eur Respir J. 2013;41(5):1230–2.

- Knoll BM, Kappagoda S, Gill RR, Goldberg HJ, Boyle K, Baden LR, Fuhlbrigge AL, Marty FM. Non-tuberculous mycobacterial infection among lung transplant recipients: a 15-year cohort study. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14(5):452–60.
- 54. Hamad Y, Pilewski, JP, D'Cunha, Crespo M, Kwak EJ. Outcomes in lung transplant recipients with mycobacterium abscessus infection. Presented in International Society for Heart and Lung Transplantation April 2016, Washington DC. Abstract #3978.



15

Prevention and Treatment of Other Opportunistic Infections: Nocardiosis, Toxoplasmosis, Chagas and Pneumocystis Disease

Peter Chin-Hong and Marcelo Radisic

15.1 Nocardiosis

15.1.1 Introduction

Nocardiosis is an uncommon opportunistic infection that primarily affects immunocompromised hosts with defects in cell-mediated immunity such as solid organ transplant recipients [1]. There are several species that can cause disease depending on geography. These include *N. nova*, *N. brasiliensis*, and *N. farcinica* [2]. Two of the key features that are characteristic of *Nocardia* spp. include (1) the ability to cause disseminated disease (the lung, central nervous system, and skin are common sites) and (2) a high probability of relapse or recurrent disease once treated. Among solid organ transplant recipients, the risk of infection is highest in the first year following transplantation. Particular risk groups include those who have received glucocorticoid therapy, have high calcineurin inhibitor concentrations, and have had antecedent cytomegalovirus infection. Heart and lung transplant recipients are disproportionally represented among solid organ transplant recipients, but all solid organ transplant patients are at risk.

15.1.2 Clinical Presentation

Transplant patients often present non-specifically. A common presentation is the patient who gets evaluated for pulmonary nodules and other findings seen on chest imaging as

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

P. Chin-Hong (🖂)

Division of Infectious Diseases, University of California, San Francisco, San Francisco, CA, USA e-mail: Peter.chin-hong@ucsf.edu

M. Radisic Infectious Diseases Department, Instituto de Nefrología/Nephrology, Buenos Aires, Argentina

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_15

part of a workup for fevers or can be incidentally found [3]. However as the "great imitator," *Nocardia* commonly affects other organ systems as well such as the central nervous system (brain abscess, meningitis) and skin (subcutaneous abscesses) [4]. One clinical pearl is that central nervous system disease is often asymptomatic. All transplant patients presenting with pulmonary or cutaneous disease should be evaluated clinically and/or radiologically for central nervous system disease.

15.1.3 Diagnosis

Nocardia is a gram-positive bacterium that is quite unusual in appearance. It is distinguished by its delicate filamentous gram-positive branching rods that appear almost fungal in morphology. It is weakly acid-fast in contrast to *Actinomyces* species which can have a similar appearance otherwise. It can be easily missed by nonexperienced microbiologists. Clinicians with a high pretest probability should alert laboratory staff accordingly and order a modified acid-fast stain for BAL samples, abscess, and biopsy specimens. Newer diagnostic methods such as 16S ribosomal sequencing and other molecular methods are increasingly being used given the poor sensitivity of current methods. Given the wide variation in susceptibilities based on the specific species, we always recommend identification at the species level with susceptibility testing once empiric treatment has been started [5].

15.1.4 Treatment

The principles of treatment for infection with *Nocardia* in solid organ transplant recipients are as follows: (1) treat for a prolonged period in the order of 6–12 months given the tendency for *Nocardia* to relapse (a shorter course may be adequate if no CNS disease or if localized cutaneous disease but most treat for 12 months) [6]; (2) treat with dual therapy while awaiting susceptibilities, including one IV agent at least, while the patient is critically ill; (3) use TMP-SMX in the regimen if that option is available [7]; and (4) surgically drain if necessary. Given the multiple species and unpredictable susceptibilities, we request identification and susceptibility testing for all our isolates. For sick patients, we typically use a carbapenem and TMP-SMX empirically (Table 15.1). Other options before final susceptibilities are known include linezolid, minocycline, and amikacin.

15.1.5 Prevention

We do not currently recommend prophylaxis for *Nocardia* in at-risk patients such as solid organ transplant recipients. Interestingly, most of these patients are on
	Prevention	Treatment ^a
Nocardiosis	None	Non-severe: TMP-SMX 15 mg/kg orally of the trimethoprim component in 3–4 divided doses Severe: TMP-SMX 15 mg/kg IV of the trimethoprim component in 3–4 divided doses <i>and</i> Amikacin 7.5 mg/kg IV every 12 h <i>or</i> Imipenem 500 mg IV every 6 h <i>or</i> Linezolid 600 mg IV/orally every 12 h
Toxoplasmosis	Primary prophylaxis First line: TMP-SMX 1 DS tablet (800 mg/160 mg) orally per day or TMP-SMX 1 DS tablet orally three times per week or TMP-SMX 1 SS tablet orally per day Second line: Dapsone 50 mg orally per day and Pyrimethamine 50 mg orally per week and Leucovorin 25 mg orally per week Third line: Atovaquone 1500 mg orally per week and Leucovorin 25 mg orally per week Atovaquone 1500 mg orally per week and Leucovorin 25 mg orally per week and Leucovorin 25 mg orally per week	First line: Sulfadiazine 1000 mg orally four times per day (if \geq 60 kg, 1500 mg four times per day) and Pyrimethamine 50 mg orally per day (if \geq 60 kg, 75 mg per day), after a 200 mg loading dose and Leucovorin 10–25 mg orally per day Second line: Clindamycin 600 mg IV/orally four times per day and Pyrimethamine 50 mg orally per day (if \geq 60 kg, 75 mg per day), after a 200 mg loading dose and Leucovorin 10–25 mg orally per day or TMP-SMX 5 mg/kg IV/orally of the trimethoprim component two times per day
Chagas disease		First line: Benznidazole 10 mg/kg orally per day in two divided doses for 60 days Second line: Nifurtimox 8–10 mg/kg orally per day in 3–4 divided doses for 90–120 days

Table 15.1 Prevention and treatment regimens for nocardiosis, toxoplasmosis, Chagas disease, and *Pneumocystis*

(continued)

Pneumocystis Primary prophylaxis First First line: TMH	t line: P-SMX 15–20 mg/kg IV/orally he trimethoprim component in
TMP-SMX 1 DS tabletof th(800 mg/160 mg) orally per day3-4orSeconTMP-SMX 1 DS tablet orally threeClinatimes per weekper constructionorper constructionTMP-SMX 1 SS tablet orally perper constructiondayorSecond line:PrimeDapsone 100 mg orally per day in1-2 divided dosesorororPentAtovaquone 1500 mg orally perAdjudayororPredDapsone 50 mg orally per dayper constructionorper cons	divided doses ond line: ndamycin 900 mg IV three times day (or 600 mg IV four times day or 600 mg orally three times day) naquine 30 mg (base) orally per tamidine 4 mg/kg IV once daily unctive glucocorticoids (if 02 < 70 mmHg) dnisone 40 mg orally two times day for 5 days, followed by mg orally once daily for 5 days, owed by 20 mg orally once daily 11 days

Table 15.1 (continued)

TMP-SMX trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole, DS double-strength oral tablet, SS single-strength oral tablet

Amikacin not preferred in renal transplant recipients

^aAdjust dose in renal impairment

TMP-SMX prophylaxis for *P. jirovecii* which should theoretically prevent *Nocardia* as well. However, this does not appear to provide complete benefit with several instances of breakthrough infection reported.

15.2 Toxoplasmosis

15.2.1 Introduction

Toxoplasmosis is a rare disease caused by *Toxoplasma gondii*, an intracellular parasite with a worldwide distribution. There are classic risks for infection such as eating raw or undercooked meat and cat exposure. However, because more than half of patients do not have identifiable risk factors, using epidemiologic features to stratify transplant donors at risk is not useful. Serology is used to define risk of disease transmission in transplant recipients. The highest risk of transmission is in the scenario where the organ of an exposed donor (D+) is placed in an unexposed (R-) recipient. Among solid organ transplant recipients, the highest risk of disease is among heart transplant patients, as the *Toxoplasma* cysts are commonly found in muscle when infection occurs [8]. However, there is increasing recognition that D+ donors can also cause disease in non-heart R- recipients [9]. It is important for transplant professionals to know these risks and institute prophylaxis accordingly.

15.2.2 Clinical Presentation

Solid organ transplant recipients may develop disease in two scenarios: either as reactivation of old disease or in the setting of donor-derived infection. In most individuals, primary infection is asymptomatic or may be seen as patients presenting with lymphadenopathy, chorioretinitis, hepatitis, or flu-like symptoms (fever, head-ache, myalgias, malaise). In solid organ transplant recipients, reactivation may be seen as some of the symptoms in primary infection but in many cases with brain abscesses, encephalitis, myocarditis, rash, and widely disseminated disease [10].

15.2.3 Diagnosis

In the general population, *T. gondii* acute infection is diagnosed indirectly with serology. Following acute infection, *Toxoplasma*-specific IgM antibodies appear first, followed by IgG antibodies 2 weeks later. The *Toxoplasma*-specific IgG antibodies persist for life. Transplant and other immunocompromised patients may not be able to mount an antibody response rendering the serology test insensitive [11]. Although there are no standardized polymerase chain reaction (PCR) assays, commercially available PCR tests may be helpful for diagnosis of organ-specific disease (e.g., pneumonia, central nervous system, eye) in immunocompromised patients. Pathology on biopsy may be diagnostic if characteristic tachyzoites or cysts are seen.

15.2.4 Treatment

We usually treat up front with sulfadiazine and pyrimethamine (Table 15.1). Clindamycin and pyrimethamine is an alternative combination. In any pyrimethamine-based regimen, leucovorin is added to prevent bone marrow toxicity. The initial regimen is usually given for 6 weeks, followed by maintenance therapy which is usually the same drugs used for initial therapy but at lower doses.

15.2.5 Prevention

In general, heart transplant patients who are seronegative recipients of seropositive donors receive from 6 months to lifelong prophylaxis. There is limited data, but many centers opt to provide lifelong prophylaxis in this setting. Prophylaxis in

seronegative recipients from positive donors has now been expanded to non-heart solid organ recipients given several reports of donor-derived infections involving these organs [12]. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) is usually already given for the prevention of *Pneumocystis* pneumonia but is also highly effective for toxoplasmosis primary prophylaxis for the targeted high-risk D+R– population (Table 15.1). Most patients receive TMP-SMX. An alternative for primary prophylaxis is dapsone-pyrimethamine. There is less data for atovaquone, but this is also a potential option for patients intolerant to TMP-SMX or dapsone-pyrimethamine.

15.3 Chagas Disease (American Trypanosomiasis)

15.3.1 Introduction

Chagas disease is a vector-borne infection caused by Trypanosoma cruzi (a protozoan parasite) and is transmitted by the reduviid bug. These insects naturally occur only on the American continent. Outside the Americas, infected immigrants may transmit the infection acting as blood or organs donors. Infected mothers may vertically transmit the infection to their offspring, explaining infection occurring in people born from non-endemic areas. International travel (with extended stays in rural areas) is another way to acquire infection among people from non-endemic areas. Among transplant recipients, there are three ways we consider infection risk: (1) in patients who have end-stage cardiac disease due to Chagas disease and who need heart transplantation, (2) in those who have chronic Chagas infection who need a solid organ transplant for a non-Chagas reason, and (3) in those with donor-derived infection from a donor with chronic Chagas infection. Patients with chronic Chagasic cardiomyopathy with heart transplantation have survival rates better than patients who were transplanted because of other heart conditions. Heart, kidney, kidney-pancreas, and liver transplantation have been successfully performed in patients with chronic Chagas infection. Reactivation has been reported in 20-50% of kidney transplant recipients and in less than 20% of liver transplant recipients with Chagas disease [13]. Finally, with the proper molecular monitoring protocol in place, it is safe to accept non-heart organs from donors with chronic T. cruzi infection [14].

15.3.2 Clinical Presentation

In humans, the disease has an acute and a chronic phase. The acute stage may be asymptomatic, or it may present only mild clinical symptoms such as a malaise, fever, anorexia, and lymphadenopathy, which usually resolve spontaneously in 8-12 weeks. In most cases, the immune response controls the parasitic infection, but (in the absence of specific anti-parasitic drug treatment) is ineffective to clear it. The infection results in clinical latency (chronic or indeterminate phase), which may last 10-30 years or lifelong. The infection is evident only by positive serology, with extremely low and intermittent parasitemia. After several years of



Fig. 15.1 Skin lesions caused by Chagas reactivation in kidney transplant patients

asymptomatic disease, progression to symptomatic Chagas may be observed in 20–30% of infected patients who may develop Chagasic cardiomyopathy (90%) and, less frequently, gastrointestinal (15–20%) and peripheral nervous system disease (10%) [13].

In SOT recipients, most reactivated cases have parasitemia with positive PCR or/ and Strout tests (see below) but with no clinical manifestations of disease. Less frequently, the patient may present with fever and skin lesions (usually very painful solitary or multiple subcutaneous nodules and rarely panniculitis and ulcers) (Fig. 15.1). Skin lesions are predominantly located in the limbs. Severe disease may sporadically occur (usually with a high level of parasitemia), presenting as Chagasic meningoencephalitis, tumorlike brain lesions (Chagomas), and acute myocarditis. In heart transplant recipients, Chagasic myocarditis is more frequent than in nonheart transplant recipients and must be differentiated from rejection. The risk of Chagas reactivation seems to be related to the amount of immunosuppression. Possible risk factors for reactivation are mycophenolate mofetil use for maintenance immunosuppression, rejection episodes, and neoplasias.

Patients with donor-derived infection with *T. cruzi* may present asymptomatically if detected on molecular monitoring (see below). However, they may also present with disseminated disease as above typically in cases where donor screening and recipient PCR monitoring have not occurred.

15.3.3 Screening and Diagnosis

Pretransplant serological screening for Chagas should be part of routine evaluation in transplantation donors and recipients in endemic areas. In non-endemic areas, screening should be performed in people who were born or who lived in endemic areas and in people who received blood transfusions or whose mothers were born in endemic areas [14]. Serological screening may be done with enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay (ELISA), indirect hemagglutination (HA), and indirect fluorescent antibody (IFA) tests. Health agencies from endemic areas recommend obtaining positive results from at least two of three different methods to diagnose Chagas. Radioimmunoprecipitation (RIPA), Western blot, immunoblot, and IFA have the highest specificity and sensitivity and are considered confirmatory tests [13].

FDA-licensed screening tests for blood or organ donors include Ortho *T. cruzi* ELISA Test System and ABBOTT PRISM Chagas chemiluminescent immunoassay (ChLIA) with sensitivity and specificity close to 100%. Depending on the country and setting, there may be additional tests available.

Reactivation of chronic Chagas disease may occur with immunosuppression therapy, especially in the first months after transplantation, or with intensification of the immunosuppressive regimen. Therefore, sequential monitoring for early detection of parasitemia (reactivation) and implementation of preemptive treatment are recommended. Monitoring is done weekly or every 2 weeks for the first 6 months after transplantation and monthly thereafter until 1 year. Weekly monitoring for 2 months after intensification of immunosuppression is also recommended.

Parasitemia may be detected by direct observation of motile trypanosomes using microscopic examination of the buffy coat, thin or thick blood films stained with Giemsa, or by a concentration method (Strout test) or microhematocrit. Real-time PCR for *T. cruzi* has a higher sensitivity for low-grade parasitemia, preceding a positive Strout test or clinical signs of disease [15, 16].

PCR sensitivity may differ regarding whether they amplify nuclear (nPCR) or kinetoplast (kPCR) *T. cruzi* DNA. The best performing PCR methods for detection of *T. cruzi* in human blood samples have a high sensitivity (83–94%) and specificity (85–95%).

Pathology can be also used to diagnose active disease. On pathological examination, skin nodules show nests of intracytoplasmic *T. cruzi* amastigotes. Both rejection and Chagas reactivation in the heart can present with lymphocytic infiltrates with edema and areas of necrosis in endomyocardial biopsies. However, Chagas disease is diagnosed by identification of *T. cruzi* (either by immunohistochemistry and/or tissue-based PCRs).

15.3.4 Treatment

Patients with reactivated Chagas disease usually respond very well to benznidazole treatment (Table 15.1) (10 mg/kg/day in two divided doses for 60 days). Nifurtimox (8–10 mg/kg/day orally in three or four divided doses for 90–120 days) could also be effective, but its side effects are considerable. The adverse side effects of these drugs include dermatitis, peripheral polyneuropathy, weight loss, gastrointestinal disease, hematologic disorders, and an increased incidence of lymphoma. Posaconazole has activity against *T. cruzi*, but clinical results when treating chronic

indeterminate Chagas disease demonstrate inferiority to benznidazole [17]. Allopurinol also has good in vitro activity against *T. cruzi*. There is anecdotal experience of successful use (dose 600–900 mg/day for 2–3 months) for the treatment of reactivation following heart transplantation.

Parasitemia clearance and remission of clinical manifestations are usually obtained in the first week of treatment. In the heart transplant patients, relapses may occur. They may be multiple and may be observed many years after the first reactivation episode, with parasitemia or clinical manifestations; however, these individuals have had good responses to subsequent treatment courses. Mortality related to Chagas disease reactivation in heart transplantation has been reported to be 0.3% [13].

15.3.5 Prevention

Prevention strategies include identification of donors and recipients at risk of *T. cruzi* infection. In endemic countries, up to 5% of all deceased donors are patients chronically infected with Chagas disease [13]. In non-endemic countries, transmission by unscreened deceased organ donors and unscreened blood transfusions has been reported. Donor screening should be considered in when risk factors for Chagas are present (Fig. 15.2). The decision to accept Chagasic organ donors should be made balancing the risk of expected mortality in the waiting list against expected morbidity from eventual Chagas transmission. The likelihood of transmission appears to vary by organ type [14]. Transmission by infected donors to negative kidney recipients was reported to be from 0 to 18%. In liver transplant recipients,



Fig. 15.2 Screening of transplant donors and recipients at risk for *T. cruzi* infection. Key: *R/D* recipient/donor, *ELISA* enzyme-linked immunosorbent assay, *ChILA* Chagas chemiluminescent immunoassay, *IFA* indirect fluorescent antibody, *EIA* enzyme immunoassay, *IHA* indirect hemagglutination

infection from positive donors was 0% (with prophylactic treatment with benznidazole) and 0–22% without prophylaxis [13, 15]. When transplant recipients are monitored for *T. cruzi* transmission from infected donors, treatment with benznidazole is highly effective, with no mortality attributable to Chagas disease. Therefore, in endemic countries (with appropriate informed consent), organs from infected deceased donors are considered acceptable (with exception of the heart) for infected recipients and for uninfected kidney recipients and for uninfected lung and liver recipients in emergency situations. It is recommended that infected living donors receive trypanocidal treatment for 30 days prior to donation to decrease the risk of transmission, and donation should take place immediately after treatment completion [13]. When transplantation is performed on a non-infected patient who resides in or who moves to an endemic area, the patient may be exposed to vector transmission, as has been reported in a few cases.

15.4 Pneumocystis

15.4.1 Introduction

Pneumocystis jirovecii is an important fungal etiologic agent of pneumonia in transplant recipients. The risk is highest in heart and heart-lung recipients (with incidence of up to 40% in the absence of prophylaxis) and lowest in kidney transplant recipients [18]. Infection in humans is likely transmitted by the airborne route and is usually acquired in childhood. Reactivation of dormant infection may occur with acquired immunosuppression. *Pneumocystis* outbreak reports in transplantation units suggest person-to-person transmission or a common environmental source of *Pneumocystis* [19]. The risk of *Pneumocystis* pneumonia (PCP) is related to the net state of immunosuppression of the patient and seems to be highest during the first 6–12 months after transplantation, but rejection, cytomegalovirus, and other immunomodulating infections may allow late infections to appear [20].

15.4.2 Clinical Presentation

Pneumocystis should be considered in the differential diagnosis of pneumonia in solid organ transplant recipients. In this setting, symptomatic progression often is acute or subacute and develops in few days, though progression over 1–2 weeks may also be observed. Dry cough, fever, and dyspnea out of proportion to physical findings are common, but co-infection may be present, changing the clinical presentation.

15.4.3 Diagnosis

Chest X-ray may be normal or reveal diffuse bilateral interstitial pulmonary infiltrates. Chest computed tomography may demonstrate disease not observed on plain chest X-ray [18]. The etiological diagnosis of pneumonia in transplanted patients usually requires sampling from deep airways by bronchoalveolar lavage (BAL), although *P. jirovecii* may be detected in sputum and oral wash samples. The most sensitive staining method is with specific immunofluorescent (IF) monoclonal antibodies. When IF is not available, calcofluor white and Gomori methenamine silver are the most sensitive methods, although the microorganism can be observed with other stains (Gram-Weigert, Wright-Giemsa, modified Papanicolaou stains, or toluidine blue). PCR techniques of BAL fluid, induced sputum, or oral wash increase the diagnostic yield over conventional staining alone [18]. Quantitative assays may increase specificity, as false positives (asymptomatic carrying) may be observed with qualitative PCR. *P. jirovecii* may also be observed in transbronchial biopsies, which should be considered when performing bronchoscopy for diagnosis of pulmonary infiltrates. Measurement of plasma $(1 \rightarrow 3) \beta$ -D-glucan levels may aid in the diagnosis of PCP. However, this assay may be positive in other invasive fungal infections and lacks specificity for PCP.

15.4.4 Treatment

Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) is the treatment of choice (Table 15.1). When treatment with TMP-SMX is not feasible (due to allergy or toxicities), intravenous pentamidine is an effective second-line agent. Pentamidine pancreatic toxicity is a potential concern when treating pancreas or islet cell transplant recipients. In severe disease (patients with hypoxemia, i.e., pAO2 < 70 mmHg on room air), adjunctive treatment with 40–60 mg of prednisone (or equivalent) is recommended along with antimicrobial therapy, ideally starting within the first 72 h of antimicrobial treatment. Steroids should be given for 5–7 days and tapered over the following 2–3 weeks. The recommended antimicrobial therapy duration is generally 21 days, particularly in those with severe disease. Echinocandins in combination with TMP-SMX or clindamycin have also been reported as salvage therapy in case reports.

15.4.5 Prevention

The risk of PCP is highest within the first 6 months after transplant. In most transplant centers, prophylaxis is routinely used during the first 6–12 months after transplantation. In patients with risk factors (heavy immunosuppression, cytomegalovirus infection, prior PCP), prophylaxis extension (even lifelong as in the case of HIV-infected transplant recipients) may be considered, as PCP has been described at any time after transplantation. TMP-SMX is the drug of choice for PCP prophylaxis [18]. Side effects of TMS-SMX that may occur are bone marrow toxicity (more common when other myelotoxic drugs are administered along) and cutaneous allergic manifestations, which can be severe (Stevens-Johnson syndrome, toxic epidermic necrolysis, and, less commonly, hepatitis, aseptic meningitis, interstitial nephritis, and hyperkalemia). In patients with glucose 6 phosphate dehydrogenase

(G6PD) deficiency, TMX-SMX may produce hemolysis [18]. Dapsone may be used as a second-line agent for PCP prophylaxis, whenever TMP-SMX use is not feasible. However, patients with severe allergy to TMP-SMX may present similar reactions to dapsone. Hemolytic anemia and methemoglobinemia may also occur with the use of dapsone, especially when there is G6PD deficiency [18]. Other alternatives for PCP prophylaxis are atovaquone [21] and inhaled or intravenous pentamidine [22, 23]. Prophylaxis failures have been described [18, 20]. There is a potential for airborne transmission from infected patients, suggested from reports of PCP outbreaks in transplantation units. Formal infection control policies could be considered for PCP patients [19].

References

- Peleg AY, Husain S, Qureshi ZA, et al. Risk factors, clinical characteristics, and outcome of Nocardia infection in organ transplant recipients: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44:1307–14.
- Uhde KB, Pathak S, McCullum I Jr, et al. Antimicrobial-resistant nocardia isolates, United States, 1995-2004. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51:1445–8.
- Hwang JH, Koh WJ, Suh GY, et al. Pulmonary nocardiosis with multiple cavitary nodules in a HIV-negative immunocompromised patient. Intern Med. 2004;43:852–4.
- Beaman BL, Beaman L. Nocardia species: host-parasite relationships. Clin Microbiol Rev. 1994;7:213–64.
- Cercenado E, Marin M, Sanchez-Martinez M, Cuevas O, Martinez-Alarcon J, Bouza E. In vitro activities of tigecycline and eight other antimicrobials against different Nocardia species identified by molecular methods. Antimicrob Agents Chemother. 2007;51:1102–4.
- Uttamchandani RB, Daikos GL, Reyes RR, et al. Nocardiosis in 30 patients with advanced human immunodeficiency virus infection: clinical features and outcome. Clin Infect Dis. 1994;18:348–53.
- 7. Wilson JP, Turner HR, Kirchner KA, Chapman SW. Nocardial infections in renal transplant recipients. Medicine (Baltimore). 1989;68:38–57.
- Fishman JA. Pneumocystis carinii and parasitic infections in transplantation. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 1995;9:1005–44.
- Dhakal R, Gajurel K, Montoya JG. Toxoplasmosis in the non-orthotopic heart transplant recipient population, how common is it? Any indication for prophylaxis? Curr Opin Organ Transplant. 2018;23(4):407–16.
- Derouin F, Pelloux H, ESCMID Study Group on Clinical Parasitology. Prevention of toxoplasmosis in transplant patients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008;14:1089–101.
- Schwartz BS, Mawhorter SD, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Parasitic infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):280–303.
- 12. Shingde R, Habachou LI, Calisa V, et al. Unexpected donor-derived infectious transmissions by kidney transplantation: a systematic review. Transpl Infect Dis. 2018;20:e12851.
- Radisic M, Linares L. Parasites after hematopoietic stem cell or solid organ transplantation. In: Ljungman P, editor. Transplant infections. 4th ed. Basel: Springer; 2016. p. 795–820.
- 14. Chin-Hong PV, Schwartz BS, Bern C, et al. Screening and treatment of Chagas disease in organ transplant recipients in the United States: recommendations from the Chagas in transplant working group. Am J Transplant. 2011;11:672–80.
- Balderramo D, Bonisconti F, Alcaraz A, et al. Chagas disease and liver transplantation: experience in Argentina using real-time quantitative PCR for early detection and treatment. Transpl Infect Dis. 2017;19(6):e12782.

- Cura CI, Lattes R, Nagel C, et al. Early molecular diagnosis of acute Chagas disease after transplantation with organs from Trypanosoma cruzi-infected donors. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:3253–61.
- 17. Morillo CA, Waskin H, Sosa-Estani S, et al. Benznidazole and posaconazole in eliminating parasites in asymptomatic *T. Cruzi* carriers: the STOP-CHAGAS trial. J Am Coll Cardiol. 2017;69:939–47.
- Martin SI, Fishman JA, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Pneumocystis pneumonia in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):272–9.
- 19. Yiannakis EP, Boswell TC. Systematic review of outbreaks of *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia: evidence that *P. jirovecii* is a transmissible organism and the implications for healthcare infection control. J Hosp Infect. 2016;93:1–8.
- 20. Radisic M, Lattes R, Chapman JF, et al. Risk factors for *Pneumocystis carinii* pneumonia in kidney transplant recipients: a case-control study. Transpl Infect Dis. 2003;5:84–93.
- Gabardi S, Millen P, Hurwitz S, Martin S, Roberts K, Chandraker A. Atovaquone versus trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole as *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia prophylaxis following renal transplantation. Clin Transpl. 2012;26:E184–90.
- Diken AI, Diken OE, Hanedan O, et al. Pentamidine in *Pneumocystis jirovecii* prophylaxis in heart transplant recipients. World J Transplant. 2016;6:193–8.
- Diri R, Anwer F, Yeager A, Krishnadasan R, McBride A. Retrospective review of intravenous pentamidine for Pneumocystis pneumonia prophylaxis in allogeneic hematopoietic stem cell transplantation. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18:63–9.

Part III

Management of Specific Syndromes



16

Pneumonia in Solid Organ Transplant Recipients

John-David Aubert and Jordi Carratalà

16.1 Definition and Epidemiology

The clinical definition of the pneumonia relies on the presence of a new chest infiltrate on a chest X-ray or a computed tomography (CT) scan, usually accompanied by acute symptoms such as cough, fever, sputum production, or chest pain [1]. The influx of inflammatory cells in the lung parenchyma is responsible for the alveolar or interstitial infiltrate on chest imaging. Pneumonia should be distinguished from bronchitis, in which the alveolar space is preserved and therefore is not associated with a radiological infiltrate. In some occasions, such as severe neutropenia or dehydration, radiological changes are minimal, particularly on CXR.

With the recent venue of metagenomic techniques, the concept of lung dysbiosis has emerged. Dysbiosis is defined as the overrepresentation of one bacterial phylum over the others, with a concomitant decrease in biodiversity. It should be noted that if pneumonia is usually associated with a lung dysbiosis, the reverse is not always true, with many dysbiotic states not corresponding to overt clinical pneumonia [2].

Pneumonia is one of the most common infections in solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients. Thoracic organ recipients are more frequently affected than abdominal organ recipients. The lung being in direct contact to the environment is particularly susceptible to pathogens carried in the atmosphere. Lung transplant recipients are especially prone to pneumonia, as the alveolar epithelium is damaged, the mucociliary clearance is impaired, and lymphatic clearance is limited [3]. Moreover, certain

J.-D. Aubert (🖂)

J. Carratalà

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Respiratory Diseases, Organ Transplantation Center, Lausanne University Hospital, University of Lausanne, Lausanne, Switzerland e-mail: John-David.Aubert@chuv.ch

Department of Infectious Diseases, Bellvitge University Hospital-IDIBELL, University of Barcelona, Barcelona, Spain

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_16

Diagnosis	Hint	Useful diagnosis test
Acute bronchitis	Absence of lung infiltrate	CRP, Pro-CT
Drug-induced pneumonitis	Medication history	(Blood eosinophilia)
Left heart failure	Patient's medical history Nocturnal dyspnea	BNP, echocardiography
Allergic pneumonitis	Exposure history	BAL cellular profile, allergen specific precipitin
Cancer	Recurrent "pneumonia" at the same location	-
Cryptogenic organizing pneumonia (COP)	Migrating lung infiltrate	BAL cellular profile
Inhalation of toxic	Patient's history	-

Table 16.1 Differential diagnosis

CRP C-reactive protein, *Pro-CT* pro-calcitonin, *BNP* brain natriuretic peptide, *BAL* bronchoalveolar lavage

diseases such as cystic fibrosis are characterized by high microorganism's load in the upper airways and the sinuses that lead to infection in the lower airways.

As immunosuppressive drugs predominantly inhibit T lymphocyte immune responses, opportunistic infections, including cytomegalovirus (CMV) and *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia, can occur. The broad use of prophylactic antimicrobials has reduced the frequency of these infections (with valganciclovir and trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX), respectively). Other microorganisms under the control of cellular immunity are *Mycobacterium tuberculosis*, *Nocardia*, the herpes group viruses, and *Toxoplasma*. Humoral immunity may also be affected, particularly with the current use of drugs such as rituximab, and increase the risk of bacterial pneumonia. Finally, neutropenia is a common complication of both immunosuppressive drugs and anti-infectious agents (e.g., mycophenolate mofetil and valganciclovir) and may lead to bacterial and, less commonly, fungal infections such as aspergillosis or mucormycosis.

Extrapulmonary symptoms and clinical signs should be systematically looked for and may be suggestive of a specific diagnosis. In addition, the transplant physician should be aware of (1) the past 6 months' history of the patient's microbiological studies, (2) the patient's travel and occupational history, and (3) any additional immunosuppressive drugs administered in addition to the standard regimen. As not all chest infiltrates are caused by pneumonia, alternate diagnosis should be considered, especially in the case of unsatisfactory response to therapy (Table 16.1).

Diagnostic studies are essential for determining the cause of pneumonia in transplant patients. Such diagnostic studies may require specialized testing and invasive procedures (see Table 16.2).

16.2 Role of Chest Imaging in the Diagnosis

Chest imaging is central to the clinical diagnosis of pneumonia. The increasing availability of low-dose, thin-slice chest CT makes it an essential part of the initial diagnosis (Table 16.3). The chest CT is superior to plain chest X-ray for detecting

Diagnostic procedure	Test types	Clinical examples
Sputum	Gram stain and culture	Bacterial pneumonia, Gram-positive or
(a) Spontaneous	Direct fluorescent	Gram-negative
(b) Induced	antibody	Legionella
(NaCl 3%)	PCR	Nocardia
		Mycobacterium tuberculosis
Nasopharyngeal	PCR (single or multiplex)	Community-acquired respiratory virus
swab		
Bronchoscopy:	Ziehl-Neelsen stain	Mycobacterium tuberculosis
bronchial aspirates	PCR	Community-acquired respiratory virus
Bronchoscopy:	Gram/specific stains and	Pneumocystis jirovecii, bacterial
bronchoalveolar	culture	pneumonia, Aspergillus, cytomegalovirus,
lavage	Direct fluorescent	community-acquired respiratory virus
	antibody	
	PCR	
Bronchoscopy:	Culture	Miliary tuberculosis
transbronchial biopsy	PCR	
Blood sample	Culture	Streptococcus pneumoniae
Urine	Soluble antigen testing	Streptococcus pneumoniae
		Legionella pneumophila serogroup 1
Fungal serum	(1-3)-β-D-glucan,	Aspergillus, Cryptococcus
markers	galactomannan,	
	cryptococcal antigen	

 Table 16.2
 Diagnostic strategies

Yield of (1-3)- β -D-glucan and galactomannan is reduced in SOT recipients compared to other populations, particularly if mold-active antifungal therapy or prophylaxis is being used for the patient

Radiological pattern	Possible etiology
Alveolar consolidation. Air	Bacterial pneumonia
bronchogram	
Diffuse ground-glass opacities	Viral pneumonia. Pneumocystis jirovecii
Abscesses, cavitation	Anaerobic bacteria. Staphylococcus aureus.
	Pseudomonas spp.
Miliary pattern	Miliary tuberculosis, herpes zoster, fungi
Nodules with peripheral ground glass	Filamentous fungi
(halo sign)	

Table 16.3 Suggestive CT imaging patterns

less dense infiltrates such as ground-glass opacities, for the localization of the lesions and for the detections of complications (pleural effusion, abscesses, cavitation). While specific radiologic patterns may suggest certain pathogens [4, 5], imaging is not a surrogate for microbiological diagnosis: classical patterns are frequent in radiological reviews and in textbooks, but atypical presentations are frequent in the real life. Pathogen-directed treatment should never be based on imaging alone. A proposed diagnostic strategy for evaluation on a patient with suspected pneumonia is outlined in Fig. 16.1; new clinical or laboratory testing should be considered as they may not be captured in this figure.



Fig. 16.1 Diagnostic algorithm for a suspected pneumonia in SOT. *CARV* community-acquired respiratory virus, *BAL* bronchoalveolar lavage, *PBS* protected brush sampling

16.3 Prevention

Ventilation-associated pneumonia (VAP) and hospital-acquired pneumonia (HAP) in non-ventilated patients are significant perioperative complications of SOT. Strategies to prevent VAP should include avoiding intubation whenever possible, minimize sedation, maintain and improve physical conditioning, minimize pooling of secretions above the endotracheal tube cuff, elevate the head of the bed (30–45°), and maintain ventilation circuits [6]. Oral care has been associated with a decrease in HAP rate [7].

Streptococcus pneumoniae is a leading cause of community-acquired pneumonia (CAP) in SOT recipients and is associated with significant morbidity and mortality. Current guidelines recommend the use of pneumococcal vaccine in SOT candidates and recipients. Priority should be given to the use of the 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine (PCV13). For non-vaccinated patients, the PCV13 should be given followed by a dose of PPSV23 at least 8 weeks later; for patients who have previously received one or more doses of PPSV23, a single dose of PCV13 should be given 1 or more years after the last PPSV23 dose was given. It should be noted, however, that these recommendations are not based on clinical evidence of superiority of one strategy vs. other. Some countries, like Switzerland, recommend two doses of PCV13, because of the theoretical risk of reduced response with PPSV23 [8].

SOT recipients are at greater risk than the general population for complications and mortality due to influenza infection. Pulmonary complications of influenza are most common and include primary influenza and secondary bacterial infection [9]. Less often influenza infection can be complicated by the development of invasive aspergillosis [10]. Infection with influenza virus can occur at any time after transplantation, and it appears to be more severe in the early posttransplant period (<3 months). Seasonal inactivated influenza vaccination is strongly recommended every year in SOT recipients, their close contacts, and healthcare workers caring for transplant recipients [10]. Influenza vaccine can be given after the first month after transplant. The live attenuated vaccine is not recommended for transplant recipients. Pre-exposure and postexposure antiviral chemoprophylaxis should not routinely be used in SOT recipients and might be only reserved for selected cases such as patients who are severely immunosuppressed and at high risk for influenzarelated complications [11]. Postexposure chemoprophylaxis should be given for 10 days after the influenza contact, although for most patients monitoring for development of symptoms and expedited treatment is preferred.

Tuberculosis (TB) remains a significant opportunistic infection in SOT recipients. Transplant candidates should routinely be screened for TB [12]. Those with positive screening tests, radiologic evidence of current or past disease, or significant exposure histories should be evaluated and treated; more detail is available in the chapter on TB.

The incidence of CMV pneumonia has been reduced by routine antiviral prophylaxis. Comprehensive and specific recommendations for prevention of CMV infection according to serostatus and type of transplant have recently been published elsewhere and in the CMV chapter of this book [13].

The risk of developing *Pneumocystis jirovecii* pneumonia (PCP) is particularly high in the first 6 months after transplantation and during periods of increased immunosuppression; more recent studies have documented that most cases of PCP are now occurring late posttransplant and should remain in the differential diagnosis [14]. Routine anti-Pneumocystis prophylaxis should be used in centers with an incidence of at least 3-5% among SOT recipients. In general, prophylaxis should be administered for all SOT patients for at least 6-12 months posttransplant. Nevertheless, longer durations should be considered for lung and small bowel transplant patients, as well as any recipient with a history of previous PCP or chronic CMV disease, in which lifelong prophylaxis may be indicated [14]. Prophylaxis should be given to patients with increasing immunosuppression in the setting of graft rejection, recurrent CMV infection, prolonged courses of corticosteroid therapy (e.g., >20 mg daily of prednisone for at least 2 weeks), or prolonged neutropenia. TMP-SMX remains the drug of choice for PCP prophylaxis and can be given at 80 mg TMP/400 mg SMX or 160 mg TMP/800 mg SMX po (single or double strength) daily or three times a week. TMP-SMX can offer also some protection against Toxoplasma and Nocardia. Alternative prophylaxis regimens for sulfa-allergic patients include dapsone (50-100 mg po qd), atovaquone (1500 mg po qd, as single dose), aerosolized pentamidine (300 mg q 3-4 weeks), or clindamycin and pyrimethamine (up to 300 mg clindamycin po qd with 15 mg of pyrimethamine po qd).

Invasive aspergillosis is a life-threatening infection in SOT recipients. Invasive pulmonary aspergillosis is the most common clinical form. Aspergillosis can also cause invasive tracheobronchitis in single, ulcerative, and nodular forms in lung transplant recipients and may affect the bronchial anastomosis. Lung transplant patients with pretransplant Aspergillus colonization or posttransplant Aspergillus colonization within a year of transplant should receive prophylaxis [15]. Lung recipients with more than one risk factor for IA including induction with alemtuzumab or thymoglobulin, single lung transplant Aspergillus colonization, rejection and augmented immunosuppression, and acquired hypogammaglobulinemia (IgG <400 mg/dl) should be given antifungal prophylaxis. Recommended regimens are inhaled Abelcet (50 mg every 2 days for 2 weeks and then once per week for at least 13 weeks) or inhaled AmBisome (25 mg 3 times per week for 2 months, followed by weekly administration for 6 months and twice per month afterward) and/or an oral regimen (voriconazole (200 mg bid), itraconazole (200 mg bid), posaconazole (300 mg qd), or isavuconazonium (372 mg qd) for 4 months or longer). Liver recipients with retransplantation, renal failure, or reoperation should be given prophylaxis with fluconazole 400 mg daily (adjusted to renal function), an echinocandin, or a lipid formulation of amphotericin B (3-5 mg/kg/day) for 4 weeks posttransplant. Finally, heart recipients with isolation of Aspergillus spp. in respiratory tract culture, reoperation, CMV disease, or posttransplant hemodialysis should receive itraconazole (200 mg bid) or voriconazole (200 mg bid) during 50–150 days. While there is less published data, some centers are utilizing new azoles (posaconazole or isavuconazole) for prophylaxis with coverage of *Aspergillus*.

16.4 Treatment

SOT recipients with suspected VAP/HAP should receive a prompt empirical antibiotic therapy. Whenever possible it is important to accurately target antibiotic therapy and then de-escalate antibiotics based upon respiratory and blood culture results. Empiric treatment regimens should be selected according to the local epidemiology of pathogens associated with VAP/HAP and their antimicrobial susceptibilities. In general, in SOT recipients with suspected VAP/HAP, it is recommended to include coverage for *Staphylococcus aureus*, *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and other Gram-negative bacilli in all empiric regimens. An agent active against methicillin-resistant *S. aureus* (MRSA) such as vancomycin or linezolid should be included in the empiric treatment for recipients treated in units where >10 to 20% of *S. aureus* isolates are methicillin-resistant [16]. For SOT recipients with VAP due to Gram-negative bacilli that are susceptible to only aminoglycosides or polymyxins, both inhaled and systemic antibiotics may be used.

SOT recipients presenting with CAP should receive antibiotic coverage against *S. pneumoniae* and *H. influenzae*; during period when influenza circulation in the community is ongoing, influenza should be considered and empirically treated. Empirical treatment should include a β-lactam (ceftriaxone or amoxicillinclavulanate) with or without a macrolide or a respiratory fluoroquinolone (levo-floxacin or moxifloxacin). In those patients with risk factors for *Pseudomonas* and/ or presenting with shock, the β-lactam component of the empirical treatment should be an antipseudomonal antibiotic (i.e., cefepime or meropenem). Levofloxacin should be given for SOT recipients with pneumonia and a urine test result positive for *Legionella* [17].

Influenza should be considered in the differential diagnosis of every case of pneumonia occurring in SOT recipients during the influenza season, especially in patients with flu-like symptoms and bilateral pulmonary infiltrates. Early treatment with oral oseltamivir (75 mg bid) should be given to SOT recipients with pneumonia, as the presence of this complication is an important factor for poor outcome [10]. Therapy should be started while waiting for confirmation of influenza to avoid delays in therapy which have been shown to result in worse outcomes [18].

Antimicrobial treatment of the most frequent opportunistic infections that can cause pneumonia in SOT recipients is detailed in Table 16.4.

Organism	Treatment
Mycobacterium	Regimens including rifamycins
tuberculosis	A three-drug standard regimen, including rifampicin or rifabutin for at
	least 9 months
	Regimens that do not include rifamycins
	Isoniazid and ethambutol for 18 months with the addition of
	pyrazinamide for the first 2 months. Fluoroquinolones can be used for
	rifampin sparing or as a part of four-drug regimen for severe disease
Cytomegalovirus	Intravenous ganciclovir (5 mg/kg/12 h)
Nocardia	Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole (TMP-SMX) at a dose of 15 mg/kg in
	3-4 divided doses, either iv or oral, during 6-12 months
	Imipenem plus amikacin or TMP-SMX can be considered for serious
	pulmonary infections
Pneumocystis	TMP-SMX is the drug of choice: 15-20 mg/kg/day of the component
jirovecii	given in divided doses every 6-8 h; for milder disease, two double-
	strength tablets can be given po bid or tid
	Main second-line alternative options include pentamidine isethionate,
	atovaquone, and primaquine plus clindamycin
Aspergillus	The drug of choice for invasive pulmonary aspergillosis is voriconazole ^a
	6 mg/kg/iv every 12 h for 1 day, followed by 4 mg/kg/iv every 12 h; oral
	dosage is 200 mg/every 12 h
	Alternative agents include lipid formulations of amphotericin B,
	caspofungin, micafungin, posaconazole, and itraconazole

Table 16.4 Antimicrobial treatments of the main opportunistic organisms causing pneumonia in SOT recipients

^aMonitoring of plasma levels of voriconazole, hepatic aminotransferase levels, and calcineurin agent levels is recommended

References

- 1. Mackenzie G. The definition and classification of pneumonia. Pneumonia. 2016;8:14.
- Torres A, Lee N, Cilloniz C, Vila J, Van der Eerden M. Laboratory diagnosis of pneumonia in the molecular age. Eur Respir J. 2016;48(6):1764–78.
- Pazetti R, Pego-Fernandes PM, Jatene FB. Adverse effects of immunosuppressant drugs upon airway epithelial cell and mucociliary clearance: implications for lung transplant recipients. Drugs. 2013;73(11):1157–69.
- Qin J, Xu J, Dong Y, Tang W, Wu B, An Y, et al. High-resolution CT findings of pulmonary infections after orthotopic liver transplantation in 453 patients. Br J Radiol. 2012;85(1019):e959–65.
- 5. Raju S, Ghosh S, Mehta AC. Chest CT signs in pulmonary disease: a pictorial review. Chest. 2017;151(6):1356–74.
- Klompas M, Branson R, Eichenwald EC, Greene LR, Howell MD, Lee G, et al. Strategies to prevent ventilator-associated pneumonia in acute care hospitals: 2014 update. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2014;35(Suppl 2):S133–54.
- 7. Passaro L, Harbarth S, Landelle C. Prevention of hospital-acquired pneumonia in nonventilated adult patients: a narrative review. Antimicrob Resist Infect Control. 2016;5:43.
- Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Use of 13-valent pneumococcal conjugate vaccine and 23-valent pneumococcal polysaccharide vaccine for adults with immunocompromising conditions: recommendations of the Advisory Committee on Immunization Practices (ACIP). MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2012;61(40):816–9.

- Manuel O, Lopez-Medrano F, Keiser L, Welte T, Carratala J, Cordero E, et al. Influenza and other respiratory virus infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):102–8.
- 10. Lopez-Medrano F, Cordero E, Gavalda J, Cruzado JM, Marcos MA, Perez-Romero P, et al. Management of influenza infection in solid-organ transplant recipients: consensus statement of the Group for the Study of Infection in Transplant Recipients (GESITRA) of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology (SEIMC) and the Spanish Network for Research in Infectious Diseases (REIPI). Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2013;31(8):526. e1–e20.
- Ison MG, Szakaly P, Shapira MY, Krivan G, Nist A, Dutkowski R. Efficacy and safety of oral oseltamivir for influenza prophylaxis in transplant recipients. Antivir Ther. 2012;17(6):955–64.
- Munoz L, Santin M. Prevention and management of tuberculosis in transplant recipients: from guidelines to clinical practice. Transplantation. 2016;100(9):1840–52.
- 13. Fishman JA. Infection in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(4):856–79.
- Martin SI, Fishman JA, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Pneumocystis pneumonia in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):272–9.
- Singh N, Husain S, AST Infectious Diseases Community of Practice. Aspergillosis in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):228–41.
- 16. Kalil AC, Metersky ML, Klompas M, Muscedere J, Sweeney DA, Palmer LB, et al. Management of adults with hospital-acquired and ventilator-associated pneumonia: 2016 clinical practice guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America and the American Thoracic Society. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(5):e61–e111.
- Gudiol C, Garcia-Vidal C, Fernandez-Sabe N, Verdaguer R, Llado L, Roca J, et al. Clinical features and outcomes of Legionnaires' disease in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2009;11(1):78–82.
- Kumar D, Ferreira VH, Blumberg E, Silveira F, Cordero E, Perez-Romero P, et al. A five-year prospective multi-center evaluation of influenza infection in transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2018;67(9):1322–9.



Management of CNS Infections

Patricia Muñoz and Tina Stosor

17.1 Definitions and Epidemiology

Neurologic events are common after solid organ transplantation (SOT), occurring in 40% of transplant recipients, with variable presentations including encephalopathy, delirium, focal deficits, headaches, and seizures [1–5]. Among the myriad metabolic, cerebrovascular, and systemic processes that lead to neurologic dysfunction, infections account for 20-25% of such events [2, 3, 5]. Central nervous system (CNS) infections occur in 5–10% of SOT recipients, but the overall incidence is influenced by patient population, organ transplanted, and transplant center-specific practices [2, 4].

The timing of infection after SOT provides important context for diagnosing CNS infections. Following SOT, risk intervals for infections are categorized into three time periods, although this timeline is influenced and altered by anti-infective prophylaxis practices, intensity of immunosuppression, and development of allograft rejection [6]. In the first month following transplantation, CNS infections are rare and most often attributed to herpes simplex virus (HSV) and *Aspergillus* or infection transmitted by the organ donor [1, 3, 5, 6]. Notable donor-transmitted CNS pathogens include West Nile virus (WNV) [7], lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus (LCMV) [8], rabies virus [9, 10], *Cryptococcus* [11], and *Balamuthia* [12–14]. The classic opportunistic infections (OI), occurring between 2 and 6 months posttransplant and coinciding with the maximal effects of immunosuppression, result from reactivation of latent infections harbored by the recipient, donor

P. Muñoz

T. Stosor (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Division of Clinical Microbiology and Infectious Diseases, Hospital General Gregorio Maranon Hospital and Complutense University of Madrid, Madrid, Spain

Divisions of Infectious Diseases and Organ Transplantation, Northwestern University Feinberg School of Medicine, Chicago, IL, USA e-mail: v-stosor@northwestern.edu

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_17

transmission events, or community acquisition. Typical pathogens during this period include cytomegalovirus (CMV), *Toxoplasma*, and *Mycobacterium tuberculosis* (MTb). In the late posttransplant period, OI risk diminishes, but infections with *Listeria*, *Nocardia*, and the endemic mycoses may still occur.

Patients with CNS infections have typical syndromic presentations, including meningitis, encephalitis, and brain abscess/parenchymal disease, although considerable overlap exists. Meningitis is characterized by meningeal inflammation with CSF pleocytosis and manifests with altered sensorium, fever, headache, and neck stiffness. However, these symptoms may be blunted or absent in immunocompromised patients. Encephalitis is an inflammatory process involving brain tissue and presents with fever, seizure, confusion, encephalopathy, and bizarre behavior. Patients with parenchymal processes, including brain abscesses, cerebritis, and leukoencephalopathy, present with fever, headache, seizures, and focal neurologic deficits [15].

17.2 Pathogens of Significance in Transplant Patients

17.2.1 Viral Pathogens

The central or peripheral nervous system can be affected by various viral pathogens that will cause infections of very different severity, prevalence, and timing.

17.2.1.1 Herpesviruses

Herpes simplex virus may be responsible for encephalitis and meningitis after SOT, but the incidence is low and like that of the non-transplanted population [5]. The diagnosis of CNS involvement by HSV is usually based on the detection of the viral genome by PCR in a CSF with white blood cell count (WBC) of at least 5 cells/mm³ [16]. The treatment of choice is intravenous acyclovir.

Varicella zoster virus (VZV) causing herpes zoster is a common cause of neurological problems in the transplant population. In cardiac transplantation, peripheral herpes zoster accounted for 17/78 infectious complications (median, 268 days after heart transplantation) [3]. It is estimated that 8–11% of SOT recipients will experience a zoster outbreak during the first 4 years following transplant [17]. Primary VZV infection, however, is rare in transplanted adults but can have serious consequences as a result of disseminated infection. Some risk factors include older age and heart and lung transplantation. Diagnosis is easily identified clinically by its cutaneous manifestations and can be confirmed with polymerase chain reaction (PCR), direct fluorescent assays (DFA), and viral culture. Treatment includes acyclovir, valacyclovir, or famciclovir.

More rarely, VZV can cause meningitis, encephalitis, or myelitis, even in the absence of skin lesions [18]. In this case, it is necessary to perform VZV PCR on CSF to achieve a diagnosis, and the chosen treatment is intravenous acyclovir.

Epstein-Barr virus (EBV) is a major pathogen in SOT recipients, and clinical manifestations range from asymptomatic viremia to aggressive forms of

posttransplant lymphoproliferative disorders (PTLD). EBV infection rarely causes neurological complications, though cases of encephalitis and myelitis without PTLD have been reported, mainly due to EBV reactivation and, more rarely, primary infection [19, 20]. Time from transplant to infection onset ranged from months to 10 years. Manifestations are usually subacute and include the typical findings in patients with encephalitis such as fever, headache, altered consciousness, visual symptoms, ataxia, and seizures. Other manifestations of EBV include meningitis, polyradiculomyelitis, and cranial and peripheral neuropathies.

Magnetic resonance (MR) imaging may show high intensity lesions and edema or also be unremarkable. Diagnosis is based on CSF findings and viral detection by plasma PCR. Electroencephalogram (EEG) may show diffuse encephalopathy. Treatment includes reduction of the immunosuppression along with IV ganciclovir and immunoglobulins. Monoclonal antibody therapies, directed toward infected B lymphocytes, have also been used. Immunosuppression is reduced if severe EBV infection is diagnosed.

17.2.1.2 JC Virus

JC polyomavirus (JC PyV) causes progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy (PML) which is characterized by multiple lesions in the CNS white matter and usually late appearance after transplantation (median time 27 months) [21]. The incidence of PML among heart and/or lung transplant recipients at a single institution was 1.24 per 1000 posttransplantation person-years, comparable to that reported in patients who are treated with natalizumab. Clinical manifestations are varied and may include behavior alterations, clumsiness, progressive weakness, and visual, speech, and personality changes. Cases following rituximab-treated acute antibody-mediated rejection have been reported [22]. This disease can be difficult to recognize, with vascular disease often clinically suspected initially. The diagnosis is established by detecting white matter lesions on brain MR and JC PyV PCR in the CSF or tissue. The mortality rate is 30–84%, and most survivors have very significant sequela [21]. Reduction of immunosuppression may lead to immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome (IRIS), with further neurological deterioration.

17.2.1.3 Other Viruses

Other viruses that may affect the CNS of SOT recipients include human herpesvirus-6 (HHV-6), WNV, and, less commonly, rabies virus and LCMV.

Human herpes virus-6 may cause encephalitis and myelitis, but the incidence of these complications in SOT recipients is very low [23, 24]. The diagnosis is established with PCR detection of the virus, and management includes antiviral therapy with ganciclovir, foscarnet, or cidofovir and reduction in immunosuppression [23, 25].

Several clusters of rabies virus infection after SOT have been described [9, 10, 26]. The disease was not recognized in the donor premortem, resulting in viral transmission to various recipients of organs and tissues. In cases of donor infection caused by bat or dog bite, the onset of symptoms occurred within the first 6 weeks following transplant, and mortality was almost uniform, except for one patient who was previously vaccinated against rabies. However, in a case of donor-transmitted

raccoon-variant rabies, the onset of clinically apparent disease in the recipient was much later in the posttransplant course, and, other than the index case, the other organ recipients from the same donor survived after administration of postexposure prophylaxis. Clinical manifestations usually start with a nonspecific prodrome followed by confusion, paresthesias, insomnia, agitation, paresis, spasm of swallowing muscles, and coma.

Lymphocytic choriomeningitis virus is an *Arenaviridae* that has been described primarily in people with rodent contact. After SOT, LCMV may cause aseptic meningitis and severe meningoencephalitis, several of which have occurred in donorderived clusters [8]. Donors often died from neurological conditions without suspicion of infection (subdural hemorrhage, hemorrhagic stroke) and without known exposure to rodents [26]. The diagnosis could be reached by means of pathologic investigation and immunohistochemical staining in recipient samples or after cell culture and electron microscopy examination of the donor specimens.

West Nile virus is a flavivirus responsible for the largest epidemics of arboviral encephalitis in the Western Hemisphere. It is acquired through the bite of infected mosquitoes and birds, acting as amplifying hosts. Posttransplant, the infection can also be transmitted through a donor with naturally acquired infection or infected blood products [12].

Infections can occur either in isolation or as clusters in several recipients of organs from a single donor, making its recognition easier [7]. The clinical presentation is particularly severe in SOT recipients, with a high frequency of neuroinvasive disease and associated mortality. Symptoms include febrile illness, meningitis, encephalitis, and poliomyelitis-like limb paralysis. Blood screening through pooled donation nucleic acid testing (NAT) or with triggered individual testing was put into place in some countries to avoid donor transmissions. However, outbreaks from donors with negative viremia but with WNV-specific IgM and IgG have been described [26]. These cases suggest that transmission may be due to persistence of the virus in the transplanted organ even after clearance of viremia in the donor. The diagnosis of WNV infection is made by the determination of viral load in blood and CSF. Care of WNV-infected recipients is largely supportive; there are no approved antiviral therapies for this infection.

17.2.2 Bacterial Pathogens

The most common causative pathogens of bacterial meningitis in SOT recipients are *Streptococcus pneumoniae* and *Listeria monocytogenes*.

17.2.2.1 Listeria monocytogenes

L. monocytogenes is a gram-positive, catalase-positive bacillus, which is mainly acquired from contaminated foods, such as fresh cheeses, undercooked meat, or prepared foods that are kept cold. In a recent series in which all cases of listeriosis detected in an institution with important transplanting activity during 22 years were analyzed, the incidence increased significantly in the second period of the study,

especially in elderly patients (from $4.8 \pm 2.92/106$ inhabitants to $10.7 \pm 4.3/106$ inhabitants; P = 0.001) [27]. However, a reduction in listeriosis was observed in SOT recipients (21.9% vs 6.3%; P = 0.037).

Listeriosis in SOT recipients is a late infection (mean of 29 months after transplantation in one series), when patients are no longer receiving cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, although earlier cases have been reported [28]. The most common clinical presentations in this population are primary bacteremia, disseminated infection, and meningitis [28].

The diagnostic evaluation includes CSF and blood cultures and CNS imaging. It is recommended to exclude CNS involvement in all patients with listeriosis. In cases of posttransplant listeriosis, empirical anti-infective regimens frequently are inappropriate (41.7% in one series). Ampicillin is the preferred drug, and there is controversy regarding the need of combination therapy (with gentamicin or cotrimoxazole) since this increases toxicity with no clear impact on the outcome. Therapy is usually maintained for 3 weeks. Mortality of *Listeria* meningitis in SOT may reach 50% [27, 28].

17.2.2.2 Nocardia Species

Nocardia is a gram-positive, branched bacillus that is acquired either by inhalation or by percutaneous inoculation after blunt trauma during outdoor activities, e.g., with branches. The incidence of nocardiosis is low in SOT recipients, ranging from 0.1% to 3.5% [29]. In a recent series, SOT accounted for 18.9% of nocardiosis in a general hospital [30]. Incidence is higher after lung and cardiac transplantation than in other organ transplant groups [29].

Nocardiosis is usually a late infection, with the median presentation being 120 days (range, 28–1497 days) posttransplant. However, the infection must be suspected at any time, especially after increased immunosuppression, including high-dose steroids, alemtuzumab, or antilymphocyte globulin.

The most frequent form of presentation is subacute pulmonary involvement (>85%), appearing as nodules or even masses in a paucisymptomatic patient. Skin and subcutaneous tissues are frequently involved, and nodules or even lymphocutaneous syndromes may occur. Neurological involvement is described in approximately 5% of the cases, and the most frequent form is appearance of parenchymal abscesses with neurological focality. CNS involvement should be excluded in all patients with nocardiosis.

If there is no simultaneous pulmonary involvement, an invasive maneuver is usually necessary to obtain a sample of the CNS lesions, since blood cultures are usually negative and there are no serological techniques. The isolation of *Nocardia* from a respiratory sample does not establish the diagnosis itself, as there are colonized patients, but it must be investigated very thoroughly when recovered from a transplant patient. The visualization of fine, highly branched gram-positive bacilli that are stained with Gram or modified acid-fast (Kinyoun) stain is very suggestive. The culture should be incubated longer than usual, as the average growing time is 3–5 days. Identification at the species level is currently carried out by molecular biology, and the species most involved in human pathology are *Nocardia* *cyriacigeorgica*, *Nocardia farcinica*, and *Nocardia otitidiscaviarum* [30]. Some of these species show resistance to cotrimoxazole and even to carbapenems, so species-level identification is warranted. Antimicrobial susceptibility testing is particularly important in patients with disseminated disease, with poor response to treatment, or with species with a higher level of resistance (*N. farcinica*, *N. otitidiscaviarum*).

Treatment of CNS nocardiosis involves an initial phase of parenteral treatment with a carbapenem (particularly imipenem), alone or in combination with cotrimoxazole and even with amikacin. Other drugs that may be used as second line include linezolid, ceftriaxone or cefotaxime, or minocycline. Surgical drainage of the CNS lesions is usually not necessary. Length of treatment is usually prolonged (9–12 months for CNS nocardiosis) but must be adapted to the radiological evolution. Oral maintenance drug is usually cotrimoxazole. Cures have also been described with shorter treatment cycles, so this must be individualized. One-year mortality, in a recent series including 30 cases of CNS nocardiosis, was 16%, and risk factors for poor outcome included history of tumor, invasive fungal infection, donor age, and absence of acute organ rejection in the year before nocardiosis [31]. Cotrimoxazole prophylaxis is effective in a significant percentage of cases, but, in our series, 42.9% of SOT recipients with nocardiosis were receiving low-dose cotrimoxazole prophylaxis at the time of diagnosis [30]. The role of secondary prophylaxis is not well established.

17.2.2.3 Mycobacterium tuberculosis

The incidence of tuberculosis in SOT patients is at least 20 times more frequent than in the general population, and approximately 25% of patients present with disseminated tuberculosis. Nevertheless, CNS involvement is very rare and may appear with or without simultaneous involvement in other parenchyma [3, 32–35]. It may present in the form of subacute meningitis, tuberculoma, CNS abscess, or other manifestation [35]. Although most cases are due to reactivation of latent disease, donor-transmitted cases and even nosocomial infections have been reported.

Clinical manifestations may be subtle and include subacute lymphocytic meningitis, paralysis of the cranial (ocular) nerves, and focal ischemia. Imaging methods may show meningitis, tuberculomas, basilar arachnoiditis, cerebral infarction, or hydrocephalus. A lumbar puncture should be performed in all SOT patients with MTb if there is any neurological manifestation. Laboratory tests in the CSF must include cytology, glucose, protein, adenosine deaminase, culture, and PCR.

Empirical therapy should be considered in unstable patients or in patients with suspected MTb (compatible signs or symptoms plus risk factors such as residence or recent travel to a country with high endemic rates, contact with tuberculosis patients, history of alcoholism or intravenous drug use, HIV positive, etc.) [3, 34]. In these situations, antituberculous treatment should be initiated and withdrawn later if TB is excluded. In patients with proven CNS involvement, a 4-drug regimen (isoniazid, pyrazinamide, ethambutol, and rifabutin or quinolone) is recommended. Treatment is normally maintained for 7–10 months. If rifampin or rifabutin is used,

immunosuppressive levels should be checked and the dose of cyclosporine A or tacrolimus increased 3–5 times. Hepatotoxicity is also a risk, especially in liver transplant recipients. Finally, it is important to note that the risk of inflammatory reconstitution syndrome (IRIS), characterized by a paradoxical reaction or worsening of fever, cough, shortness of breath, or other tuberculosis-related symptoms, may occur after treatment initiation with concomitant reduction of immunosuppression.

17.2.3 Fungal Pathogens

Aspergillus and *Cryptococcus* are the most important causes of brain abscess and meningoencephalitis, respectively, after SOT [3, 5, 36]. *Candida* species are now infrequent CNS pathogens [36]. In the highly immunosuppressed, emerging pathogens, including *Scedosporium* spp./*Lomentospora* prolificans and *Cladophialophora* bantiana, are occasional causes of brain abscess [36–38]. Recently, the microsporidian species, *Encephalitozoon* cuniculi, was implicated in a cluster of donor-transmitted encephalitis [39].

17.2.3.1 Candida Species

Although candidiasis is the leading cause of invasive fungal infections after SOT, *Candida* rarely causes CNS infection in the most recent era. *Candida* species disseminate to the CNS in the setting of (central line-associated) candidemia and, thus, are most often an early complication of transplant. Infection manifests as brain microabscesses, abscesses, mycotic aneurysms, or meningitis [2, 40]. The treatment of choice is liposomal amphotericin B (L-AmB) with or without flucytosine, followed by step-down therapy with fluconazole [41]. Central line removal is essential for control of infection.

17.2.3.2 Cryptococcus Species

Cryptococci are leading fungal pathogens after SOT. These ubiquitous yeasts are acquired by inhalation, result in respiratory tract infection, and have a notorious predilection for dissemination to the CNS. In point of fact, CNS disease complicates up to 60% of posttransplant cryptococcal infections. Cryptococcosis is most often a late complication of SOT, with a mean onset of 28 months posttransplantation [42], with cases occurring in the first month following SOT representing either reactivation of latent host disease or donor transmission events [11, 12]. The most common CNS manifestation is subacute or chronic meningitis with elevated intracranial pressure; intracerebral cryptococcomas may also occur. Presenting symptoms include fevers, night sweats, weight loss, headaches, cranial neuropathies, impaired sensorium, nausea, and vomiting [42].

Diagnostic evaluation includes brain imaging for leptomeningeal enhancement, mass lesions, hydrocephalus, leptomeningeal enhancement, and cerebral edema, although immunosuppression may have attenuating effects on the latter findings [43]. Lumbar puncture and CSF analysis demonstrate elevated opening pressure, variable CSF mononuclear pleocytosis, elevated protein, and low glucose [42]. Rapid antigen detection in CSF and serum and isolation of the pathogen in CSF culture establish the diagnosis.

Cryptococcal meningitis therapy includes an induction phase with L-AmB plus flucytosine followed by consolidation and maintenance therapy with fluconazole [44]. To optimize outcomes, it is critically important for clinicians to recognize and aggressively manage elevated intracranial pressure with serial lumbar punctures and drainage of CSF and lumbar drains or ventriculoperitoneal shunts in more refractory cases [44]. Judicious reduction of immunosuppression is desirable to control infection, with corticosteroids reduced in preference to calcineurin inhibitors which have known anti-cryptococcal activity [42, 44]. Drastic reductions in immunosuppressive therapy can precipitate an immune reconstitution inflammatory syndrome with exacerbation or recrudescence of symptoms [44, 45]. The post-SOT mortality ranges from 30% to 50% [42].

If cryptococcomas are present, longer durations of therapy are required, and corticosteroids are administered for the surrounding edema. Surgical intervention is reserved for cryptococcomas >3 cm and those causing mass effect [44].

17.2.3.3 Aspergillus Species

Aspergillus species are the most common cause of fungal brain abscess in organ recipients; less common CNS presentations include meningitis, rhinocerebral infection, and mycotic aneurysm [36]. Presenting features include fever, alterations in mental status, seizures, and focal deficits. Other symptoms and signs, such as headache and meningismus, are less common [36, 46, 47]. MRI may demonstrate ringenhancing lesions, cerebral infarction, hemorrhage, or mycotic aneurysms [43]. Definitive diagnosis requires histopathologic evidence and culture isolation of Aspergillus, although this approach is not without risk and may not be feasible in patients with coagulopathy or thrombocytopenia. Because CNS disease occurs most often in the setting of disseminated infection, an established diagnosis of invasive pulmonary aspergillosis in combination with typical CNS imaging findings supports diagnosis of cerebral involvement. Serologic testing methods for measuring galactomannan antigen or 1,3-beta-d-glucan further support the [48]. CSF examination may show an elevated protein level but is not diagnostic; however, galactomannan antigen or molecular detection assays of CSF may have some utility. In recent studies, the sensitivity and specificity of PCR-based detection methods range from 75% to 100% and 93%, respectively [48-50].

First-line pharmacologic therapy for aspergillosis is voriconazole, with lipid formulations of amphotericin B (LF-AmB) reserved for salvage therapy [48, 51]. Data supporting the use of combination antifungal therapy are limited [48]. Clinicians must navigate clinically significant drug interactions between voriconazole and calcineurin inhibitors and also some anti-epileptic medications via inhibition of cytochrome P450 enzymes. Surgical resection of aspergillomas is associated with improved outcomes [47, 52]. Reduction or withdrawal of immunosuppression for control of infection is also strongly recommended. Mortality from posttransplant CNS aspergillosis approaches 100% [46], although improved outcomes, with survival rates of up to 27%, have been achieved with voriconazole [52].

17.2.3.4 Mucorales Species

The incidence of mucormycosis after SOT has increased, and this infectious syndrome now accounts for 2% of invasive fungal infections following SOT [53, 54]. The most commonly implicated pathogens are *Rhizopus*, *Mucor*, *Rhizomucor*, *Cunninghamella*, and *Lichtheimia* species [53, 54]. Re-transplantation, treatment of allograft rejection, corticosteroid therapy, diabetes mellitus, renal failure, and iron overload increase the risk of mucormycosis after SOT, while tacrolimus appears protective over other immunosuppressive agents. The highest frequency of infections is observed in kidney and liver recipients [53–55]. The mean onset of infection occurs 312 days posttransplant.

Once acquired through inhalation of fungal spores, mucormycosis is a rapidly progressive, angioinvasive process that results in extensive tissue necrosis and thrombosis. Infection of the CNS occurs primarily through direct extension of rhinosinusitis. Hallmark features include fever, headaches, unilateral facial pain, nasal and sinus congestion, impaired vision, periorbital swelling, proptosis, and ophthalmoplegia. Necrotic palatal, nasal, or facial ulcer is present in up to 50% of patients. With extension into the brain, patients exhibit lethargy, cranial nerve palsies, internal carotid artery thrombosis with stroke, and seizures. Alternatively, mucormycosis can occur as isolated CNS disease or arise after dissemination from the lung [56].

The diagnosis of mucormycosis is based on clinical, imaging, histopathologic, and microbiologic findings. MR imaging may show cavernous sinus invasion or thrombosis, internal carotid artery thrombosis, intracerebral abscesses, or cavernous or sagittal sinus thrombosis [43]. The histopathologic diagnosis is established by identification of necrosis with tissue, vascular and perineural, invasion by thinwalled, non-septated, irregularly branching hyphae. Fungal isolation in culture and identification with antifungal susceptibility testing can inform salvage and long-term azole treatment choice. Suspected mucormycosis requires emergent intervention with repeated surgical debridement, antifungal therapy, reversal of immunosuppression, and correction of hyperglycemia. L-AmB is the treatment of choice, sometimes in combination with an echinocandin. Posaconazole and isavuconazole are salvage options, although many isolates exhibit high isavuconazole MICs [54]. Overall prognosis of CNS mucormycosis is dismal, and mortality approaches 100%.

17.2.3.5 Dimorphic Fungi

Endemic mycoses such as *Histoplasma capsulatum* and *Blastomyces dermatidis* are occasionally implicated as CNS pathogens after SOT, but CNS involvement is more common with disseminated coccidioidomycosis [57]. Infection onset occurs throughout the posttransplant period depending on the specific pathogen and whether the infection represents a donor transmission event, reactivation of latent

disease, or new exposure. Chronic basilar meningitis is the most common presentation, although focal cerebritis/brain abscesses and granulomatous vasculitis with subarachnoid hemorrhage have been described [43]. Initial treatment for CNS histoplasmosis and blastomycosis is L-AmB and, for *Coccidioides immitis* meningitis, high-dose fluconazole with repeat lumbar punctures or ventriculoperitoneal shunting for elevated intracranial pressure. For *Coccidioides* meningitis, lifelong therapy is required [57, 58].

17.2.4 Protozoal Pathogens

Protozoal infections in SOT recipients occur in restricted geographic distributions with *Toxoplasma gondii* being the most important CNS pathogen [59]. Granulomatous amoebic meningoencephalitis related to donor-transmitted *Balamuthia mandrillaris* infection has been reported in two distinct clusters in the USA [14, 26, 59]. *Acanthamoeba* and *Naegleria* are additional causes of amoebic meningoencephalitis in transplant patients [26, 59].

17.2.4.1 Toxoplasma gondii

Toxoplasmosis is most prevalent in Europe, Africa, and Central and South America and less so in the USA and Asia. Disease occurs by reactivation of latent infection, primary infection following ingestion of contaminated foods, or transmission of parasites from blood or donor tissue, most notably, the heart [59, 60].

Toxoplasmic meningoencephalitis typically manifests in the first 3 months following SOT [59, 60]. In a Spanish multicenter study, SOT recipient seronegative status was the only risk factor identified [61]. Affected patients present with fevers, headache, seizures, confusion, and focal deficits [61]. *Toxoplasma* has a propensity for infecting the basal ganglia and cerebrum, and important MR findings include ring-enhancing lesions, edema, or hemorrhage [43].

Empiric and initial therapy for toxoplasmosis is sulfadiazine, pyrimethamine, and leucovorin, and long-term suppressive therapy is required. The presumptive diagnosis is based on *Toxoplasma* seropositivity, clinical presentation, characteristic imaging, and response to anti-*Toxoplasma* therapy. While CSF may show elevated *Toxoplasma*-specific IgG index or detectable *Toxoplasma* DNA, no diagnostic finding is specific other than histopathology [59, 60].

17.3 Differential Diagnosis

The differential diagnosis of infectious and noninfectious CNS syndromes is summarized in Table 17.1. Acute meningitis is usually caused by *L. monocytogenes* and subacute or chronic meningitis by *C. neoformans*. However other pathogens may present in a similar way (*M. tuberculosis*, *L. monocytogenes*, *H. capsulatum*, *N. asteroides*, *S. stercoralis*). Therapy with OKT3 monoclonal antibody has been

Time to	(First month after Tx)	>1 month to <6 months	
presentation	Early	after Tx	(>6 months after Tx) Late
Noninfectious	PRES	PRES	Neoplasm
	DRESS	PTLD	PTLD
	Calcineurin-inhibitor	Lymphoma	
	toxicity		
	Other drug toxicity		
	Metabolic		
	encephalopathy		
	Vascular CNS events		
Infectious	Donor-derived	Opportunistic	Community-acquired
	infection (WNV,	infections	infections
	LCMV, rabies,	Herpes virus, CMV,	Opportunistic infections
	Balamuthia)	VZV, EBV, Influenza,	CMV, VZV, WNV, JC
	Nosocomial bacterial	WNV, JC virus	virus
	infection	Mycobacteria spp	Bacterial meningitis
	Herpes simplex virus	Nocardiosis	(Streptococcus
	CMV	Cryptococcus	pneumoniae, Listeria
	Aspergillus spp.	neoformans	monocytogenes)
		Aspergillus spp.	Mycobacteria spp.
		Endemic fungi	Cryptococcus neoformans
		(Histoplasma,	Aspergillus spp.
		Coccidioides,	Mucorales
		Blastomyces)	Toxoplasma gondii
		Leishmania	
		Toxoplasma gondii	
		Microsporidium	

Table 17.1 Differential diagnosis of suspected central nervous system infections in solid organ transplant recipients

CMV cytomegalovirus, *CNS* central nervous system, *DRESS* drug reaction with eosinophilia and systemic symptoms, *EBV* Epstein-Barr virus, *LCMV* lymphocytic chorioretinitis virus, *PRES* posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome, *PTLD* post-transplant lymphoproliferative disorder, *RSV* respiratory syncytial virus, *Tx* transplant, *VZV* varicella zoster virus, *WNV* West Nile virus

related to the production of acute aseptic meningitis, characterized by CSF pleocytosis with negative cultures, fever, and transient cognitive dysfunction.

Focal brain infection (seizures or focal neurologic abnormalities) may be caused by *Listeria*, *T. gondii* (3 months posttransplant), fungi (*Aspergillus*, *Mucorales*), posttransplantation lymphoproliferative disease, or *Nocardia* (5 months posttransplant). Finally, infectious progressive dementia has been related to JC virus, HSV, CMV, and EBV. Pyogenic bacterial brain abscess is quite uncommon in this population. *Aspergillus* spp. is the principal causative organism, followed by *T. gondii* and *Nocardia*.

Among noninfectious central and peripheral nervous system adverse events, toxicity from tacrolimus and cyclosporine and posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome should be considered. These complications are not related to drug levels and may cause protean manifestations such as altered sensorium, seizures, myelitis, blindness, and hydrocephalus. Vascular problems or pretransplant encephalopathy may also be common causes of CNS early events.

17.4 Diagnosis

Recognition of CNS infection after transplantation is challenging because multiple metabolic and systemic infectious processes often coexist and may obscure the presence of CNS infection. The effects of immunosuppression introduce additional complexity as transplant recipients often have subtle or atypical presentations and blunted CSF inflammatory changes.

Table 17.2 summarizes the basic diagnostic approach to CNS infections after transplantation, and Table 17.3 outlines the salient clinical features of important CNS pathogens. A timely diagnosis requires rapid integration of epidemiologic and

Table 17.2 Diagnostic evaluation of suspected central nervous system infection in solid organ transplant recipients

Complete medical and social history
• Type of transplant
Donor history
Immunosuppressive therapy
Allograft rejection and treatment
Travel and immigration
Neurologic presentation
Physical examination
Neurologic findings
Systemic (extraneural) findings focusing on cutaneous and pulmonary abnormalities
Blood studies
Complete blood count with differential
Comprehensive chemistry panel
Radiographic studies
• Brain imaging (MR)
• Chest imaging (radiography or CT imaging)
EEG (if altered mental status or suspected seizures present)
Initial cerebrospinal fluid analysis
Opening pressure measurement
• Cell count with differential
• Glucose
• Protein
• VDRL
• Cytology
Additional studies for viral infection
Blood studies
 PCR detection of herpesviruses (HSV, VZV, EBV, CMV, HHV-6)
– PCR detection of polyomaviruses (JC virus, BK virus)
• CSF studies
- PCR detection of nerves (HS V, VZV , EB V, CM V, HH V-0) PCP detection of nerves (IC virus)
Direct fluorescent entibody steining or DCD of skin complex for USV VZV (if eventhem
present)
F

Table 17.2 (continued)
Additional studies for bacterial infection
Blood cultures
• CSF studies
- Bacterial gram stain and culture
 Mycobacterial smear and culture
– PCR detection of Mycobacterium tuberculosis
Brain tissue (for parenchymal lesions)
– Bacterial gram stain and culture
- Histopathology
• Respiratory tract (sputum, bronchoalveolar lavage, or lung biopsy), gram stain, and culture
- Bronchoalveolar lavage cytopathology
- Lung mistopanology
Additional studies for fungal infection
• Blood studies
- Standard blood cultures (for detection of endemic mycoses)
- Serum cryptococcal antigen
– Serum Aspergillus galactomannan
– Serum 1,3-beta-d-glucan
Cerebrospinal fluid
– CSF cryptococcal antigen
– CSF Aspergillus PCR
– CSF Aspergillus galactomannan
• Brain tissue (for parenchymal lesions)
- Fungal smear and culture
– Histopathology
Respiratory
- Sputum, bronchoalveolar lavage, and/or lung tissue for fungal smear and culture
– Bronchoalveolar lavage Aspergillus galactomannan
– Bronchoalveolar lavage cytopathology
- Lung histopathology
• Urine
- Urine <i>Histopiasma</i> antigen
- Urine Coccidioides antigen
Additional studies for protozoal infection
• Blood
- Toxonlasma IgG and IgM antibodies
– PCR detection of <i>Toxoplasma gondii</i>
Cerebrospinal fluid
- Toxoplasma IgG and IgM antibodies
– PCR detection of Toxoplasma gondii
Brain tissue histopathology (for parenchymal lesions)
Respiratory tract
- Toxoplasma IgG and IgM antibodies
- PCR detection of Toxoplasma gondii
– Bronchoalveolar lavage cytopathology
– Lung histopathology
GVHD graft versus host disease, MR magnetic resonance, CT computed tomography, EEG elect

GVHD graft versus host disease, *MR* magnetic resonance, *CT* computed tomography, *EEG* electroencephalogram, *PCR* polymerase chain reaction, *HSV* herpes simplex virus, *VZV* varicella zoster virus, *EBV* Epstein-Barr virus, *CMV Cytomegalovirus*, *HHV-6* human herpesvirus-6, *HHV-7* human herpesvirus-7

	iervous system pathoger	is of special signific	unce in some organ namepran	(auon	
Pathogen	Syndromic presentation(s)	Salient clinical features	Predisposing conditions and risk factors	Key diagnostic findings	Initial therapy of choice
Viruses					
Varicella zoster virus [17, 68]	Meningitis Encephalitis Myelitis Vasculopathy	Skin lesions may be absent	African American race, mycophenolate mofetil, intense immunosuppression	MRI abnormalities: infarcts, arteritis, demyelination CSF VZV DNA VZV DFA or PCR of skin lesions	Acyclovir
Epstein-Barr virus [19, 68]	Encephalitis Myelitis	Subacute presentation Systemic features distinguish from PTLD	EBV D+/R- serostatus	CSF EBV DNA	Supportive care Antivirals are unproven
Human herpesvirus-6 [68–70]	Limbic encephalitis Myelitis	Antecedent rash Confusion Involuntary movements Seizures	Lymphocyte depletion	MRI abnormalities involving frontal and parietal lobes, temporal lobes, hippocampus, and amygdala Blood and CSF HHV-6 DNA	Ganciclovir or foscarnet
West Nile virus [7, 68, 71]	Meningitis Encephalitis	Flaccid ascending paralysis	Donor-derived infection	MRI with lesions in basal ganglia, thalamus, substantia nigra, and spinal cord CSF WNV IgM antibody Serum WNV IgM	Supportive care

258

Daged T cell CSF or tissue JCV DNA Supportive care stion Withdrawal or reduction of immunosuppression	comitantHigh calcineurin inhibitorBrain biopsy with Brain biopsy withTMP-SMX + imipenem or histopathology, gram stain, third-generation cephalosporin + amikacin and bacterial culturelymphocyte-depleting antibodies, CMV disease, older age, length of ICU stay before transplant+ amikacin + amikacin	DHCorticosteroid,Blood culture, CSF gramAmpicillin or penicilliniallymphocyte-depletingstain and bacterial culture,G + gentamicinopathyantibodies rejectionbrain biopsy with gramstain and bacterial culturestain and bacterial culture	or-derivedEndemicity of M.CSF/tissue AFB smear/Isoniazid + rifabutin +tiontuberculosis, lung > otherculture; CSF MTb DNApyridoxine + pyrazinamide +eminatedorgans, lymphocyte-ethambutolethambutolasedepleting antibodies,treatment for allograftethambutoltreatment for allograftPM, chronic liver disease,older age, renalinsufficiency, or dialysisin kidney recipientsin kidney recipients	
Prolonged T cell depletion	Concomitant Hig lung disease leve oort lym anti anti	SIADH Cor Cranial lym neuropathy anti	Donor-derived End infection <i>uub</i> Disseminated orge dep dep trease IRIS reje DM DM insu	
Progressive 1 multifocal 6 leukoencephalopathy	Brain abscess Meningoencephalitis Myelitis Parkinsonism	Meningoencephalitis Brain abscess Rhombencephalitis	Meningitis Brain abscess Tuberculoma	
JC virus [21, 22, 68] Bacteria	Nocardia spp. [29, 72–75]	Listeria monocytogenes [76–78]	Mycobacterium tuberculosis [35, 62, 79]	

259
Table 17.3 (continue	(p				
Pathogen	Syndromic presentation(s)	Salient clinical features	Predisposing conditions and risk factors	Key diagnostic findings	Initial therapy of choice
Fungi					
<i>Cryptococcus</i> spp. [11, 42, 44, 45]	Meningitis Cryptococcoma(s)	Donor-derived infections, elevated ICP, IRIS	Heart and pancreas- kidney transplants	CSF cryptococcal antigen, CSF fungal smear/culture	L-AmB + flucytosine
Aspergillus spp. [46–48, 52]	Brain abscess(es) Infarction Mycotic aneurysm Rhinocerebral infection Meningitis	Concomitant lung disease	<i>Aspergillus</i> airway colonization (lung), hypogammaglobulinemia (lung), re-transplantation (liver), re-operation (liver, heart), cMV (lung, heart), corticosteroids (kidney) treatment of rejection (all)	Brain biopsy with histopathology and fungal smear and culture	Voriconazole
Mucorales [54–56]	Rhinocerebral infection Brain abscess(es)	Mucosal black eschar	Re-transplant, DM, renal failure, iron overload, voriconazole and/or echinocandin treatment	Histopathology Tissue fungal smear and culture	L-AmB ± echinocandin

Protozoa					
Toxoplasma gondii [59–61]	Cerebritis/brain abscess	Donor-derived infections	Heart recipients; D+/ R- serostatus	Histopathology, PCR detection of Toxoplasma	Sulfadiazine + pyrimethamine + leucovorin
	Meningoencephalitis Spinal cord abscesses	occur; disseminated infections are		DNA in tissue	
		common			
Balamuthia	Granulomatous	Donor-derived	1	MRI with multiple	Regimens including
mandrillaris [13,	amoebic	infections		(ring)-enhancing lesions	combinations of pentamidine,
14]	meningoencephalitis	Facial and		CSF pleocytosis and	flucytosine, sulfadiazine,
		extremity		elevated protein	L-AmB, azithromycin or
		lesions		Histopathology	clarithromycin, fluconazole,
		described in		PCR detection of	and miltefosine
		naturally		Balamuthia DNA in tissue	
		occurring			
		infections			
Successfully and	COT colid organ	troncolontotion CV	T otom coll troncaloutotion	NAW Curtoman alonimic TAD	MV tumothonim millomothovo

zole, SIADH syndrome of inappropriate antiduretic hormone secretion, GVHD graft versus host disease, HLA human leukocyte antigen, IRIS immune recon-CNS central nervous system, SOF solid organ transplantation, SCT stem cell transplantation, CMV Cytomegalovirus, TMP-SMX trimethoprim-sulfamethoxastitution inflammatory syndrome, PCR polymerase chain reaction, DM diabetes mellitus, MTb Mycobacterium tuberculosis, DNA deoxyribonucleic acid, L-AmB lipid formulations of amphotericin B, ICP intracranial pressure, D/R donor/recipient Adapted from reference [80] clinical information to formulate a differential diagnosis. Geographic and environmental exposures of both recipient and donor provide potential clues, especially for tuberculosis, the endemic mycoses, and toxoplasmosis. In addition to the neurologic findings, the physical examination may identify concomitant lung disease, viral exanthem, or other skin lesions.

Brain imaging, with MR as the preferred modality, is essential for identification of focal lesions and noninfectious processes including primary and metastatic malignancies, hemorrhage, stroke, thromboemboli, and hydrocephalus. Advantages of MR versus CT scanning include better distinction of gray versus white matter involvement, as well as superior visualization of the posterior fossa and cerebellum, the leptomeninges, and the venous sinuses [1]. In those with suspected encephalitis, MR is the most sensitive imaging technique, and certain patterns of findings may assist in determination of the etiologic agent [13]. As an initial study, computed tomography (CT) imaging is recommended prior to lumbar puncture to detect those at risk for brain herniation.

An electroencephalogram is indicated if the presentation includes altered sensorium or suspected seizure activity; however, findings are generally nonspecific with the exception of HSV encephalitis, in which up to 80% will have periodic lateralizing epileptiform discharges.

The CSF analysis remains an essential evaluation for suspected CNS infection. Opening pressure is measured, and initial studies include white blood cell count with differential, red blood cell count, glucose, protein, gram stain, bacterial and fungal cultures, and cryptococcal antigen. Further CSF analysis is based upon the individual clinical scenario. The diagnostic tests of choice for individual infections are outlined in discussions of relevant pathogens and summarized in Table 17.3.

17.5 Prevention

Prevention of CNS infections in the transplant recipient begins in the pretransplant evaluation stage and continues throughout all phases of transplant. Screening for latent infections such as *M. tuberculosis* in transplant candidates followed by preventive therapy is highly effective in prevention of posttransplant reactivation disease [62]. Transplant recipients should receive routine immunization against *S. pneumoniae* as well as those indicated for those who travel to endemic areas (*N. meningitidis*, poliovirus, rabies virus, and Japanese encephalitis virus). Additionally, transplant recipients require education regarding strategies to avoid exposure to pathogens that cause CNS infections. Important safe living and travel precautions that directly pertain to CNS pathogens include food safety (*Listeria, Toxoplasma*), mosquito avoidance (WNV), animal exposure (rabies virus), and refraining from spelunking, excavating, or masking when performing such activities (*Cryptococcus*) [63].

During the organ donor evaluation process, standard screening procedures for pathogens such as *Toxoplasma*, CMV, and EBV define risk for donor-acquired infection, allowing for posttransplant prophylactic therapies [59, 60, 64]. Unrecognized CNS infection of organ donors poses great risk to recipients due to

Table 17.4UNOS/OPTN Disease Transmission Advisory Committee "warning signs" for unrec-
ognized CNS infection in organ donors [65]

- · Cerebrovascular accident in a donor without traditional risk factors or comorbidities
- · Unexplained fever in a donor at time of presentation of illness or hospital admission
- Altered mental status and/or seizure in a donor at time of presentation of illness or hospital admission
- · Central nervous system imaging findings such as hydrocephalus or infarcts
- Cerebrospinal fluid abnormalities such as pleocytosis, low glucose, and/or elevated protein
- · Environmental or geographic exposures (including homelessness)
- · Immunosuppressed host

high rates of disease transmission resulting in high mortality rates [7, 9, 12]. For geographically restricted or seasonal pathogens such as West Nile virus, organs from donors with virus detected by nucleic acid testing will be excluded from donation. The Disease Transmission Advisory Committee of the United Network for Organ Sharing/Organ Procurement Transplant Network, based on review of donors implicated in unrecognized CNS pathogen transmission, has developed a set of "warning" criteria intended to identify donors that may have meningoencephalitis. These criteria are outlined in Table 17.4 and, when present, suggest that the donor requires further evaluation (such as lumbar puncture) for infection. In the presence of suspected or confirmed infection, the risks and benefits of organ utilization require careful consideration [65]. Organs from donors with known bacterial meningitis, especially if pre-donation treatment of the donor and prophylactic antimicrobial therapy in the recipient are employed, can be utilized safely [66, 67].

17.6 Treatment

Specific therapy of documented infections is presented in Table 17.3. In SOT recipients, it is usually possible to obtain suitable samples for diagnosis before starting antimicrobials. However, sometimes empirical therapy will have to be initiated before the results are available. Treatment of meningitis should be based on the clinical setting (patient characteristics, clinical presentation, skin lesions, etc.) and microscopy of CSF sediment, which helps to predict the most likely pathogen. If meningeal involvement is suspected and the patient is not receiving cotrimoxazole prophylaxis, therapy should include ampicillin to cover *Listeria* which will be administered usually with high doses of a third-generation cephalosporin and vancomycin. The co-administration of corticosteroids in acute purulent bacterial meningitis remains controversial. Dexamethasone (1.2 mg/m² every 6 h for 4 days) appears to be safe in children, although sufficient data is missing in adults. It might be reasonable to consider the use of dexamethasone if a high number of organisms are present in CSF on microscopy or in adults with poor prognostic factors such as coma or stupor.

In the presence of cerebral abscesses in a SOT patient, fungus should always be considered, so, after obtaining appropriate samples for microbiology, L-AMB, voriconazole, or isavuconazole may be initiated. CT-guided stereotactic aspiration or an open craniotomy and drainage are recognized as adjunctive to medical therapy for diagnosis and therapeutic purposes.

Sulfonamides are effective if rapidly administered for patients with a nonfungal brain abscess and should be initiated empirically until a specific etiology is established in cases not suspected of being caused by fungi.

17.7 Summary

CNS infections, although not very prevalent in SOT recipients, may result in very severe morbidity. The etiologic considerations are different from those in the general population, with a higher importance of viral and fungal pathogens. Noninfectious etiologies should be always considered. Management should always include consultation with a multidisciplinary team including a neurologist and an infectious diseases/clinical microbiologist expert.

References

- 1. Dhar R, Human T. Central nervous system complications after transplantation. Neurol Clin. 2011;29:943–72.
- Feltracco P, Barbieri S, Furnari M, et al. Central nervous system infectious complications early after liver transplantation. Transplant Proc. 2010;42:1216–22.
- Munoz P, Valerio M, Palomo J, et al. Infectious and non-infectious neurologic complications in heart transplant recipients. Medicine (Baltimore). 2010;89:166–75.
- Senzolo M, Ferronato C, Burra P. Neurologic complications after solid organ transplantation. Transpl Int. 2009;22:269–78.
- Singh N, Husain S. Infections of the central nervous system in transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2000;2:101–11.
- Fishman JA, Issa NC. Infection in organ transplantation: risk factors and evolving patterns of infection. Infect Dis Clin N Am. 2010;24:273–83.
- Iwamoto M, Jernigan DB, Guasch A, et al. Transmission of West Nile virus from an organ donor to four transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2003;348:2196–203.
- Macneil A, Stroher U, Farnon E, et al. Solid organ transplant-associated lymphocytic choriomeningitis, United States, 2011. Emerg Infect Dis. 2012;18:1256–62.
- Srinivasan A, Burton EC, Kuehnert MJ, et al. Transmission of rabies virus from an organ donor to four transplant recipients. N Engl J Med. 2005;352:1103–11.
- Vora NM, Basavaraju SV, Feldman KA, et al. Raccoon rabies virus variant transmission through solid organ transplantation. JAMA. 2013;310:398–407.
- 11. Sun HY, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, et al. Unrecognized pretransplant and donor-derived cryptococcal disease in organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;51:1062–9.
- Kaul DR, Covington S, Taranto S, et al. Solid organ transplant donors with central nervous system infection. Transplantation. 2014;98:666–70.
- 13. Farnon EC, Kokko KE, Budge PJ, et al. Transmission of Balamuthia mandrillaris by organ transplantation. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63:878–88.
- 14. Centers for Disease Control and Prevention. Balamuthia mandrillaris transmitted through organ transplantation --- Mississippi, 2009. MMWR Morb Mortal Wkly Rep. 2010;59:1165–70.
- Conti DJ, Rubin RH. Infection of the central nervous system in organ transplant recipients. Neurol Clin. 1988;6:241–60.

- Lopez Roa P, Alonso R, de Egea V, Usubillaga R, Munoz P, Bouza E. PCR for detection of herpes simplex virus in cerebrospinal fluid: alternative acceptance criteria for diagnostic workup. J Clin Microbiol. 2013;51:2880–3.
- Pergam SA, Limaye AP, Practice ASTIDCo. Varicella zoster virus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):138–46.
- van de Beek D, Patel R, Daly RC, McGregor CG, Wijdicks EF. Central nervous system infections in heart transplant recipients. Arch Neurol. 2007;64:1715–20.
- Lau JSY, Low ZM, Abbott I, et al. Epstein-Barr virus encephalitis in solid organ transplantation. New Microbiol. 2017;40:212–7.
- Babik JM, Katrak S, Miller S, Shah M, Chin-Hong P. Epstein-Barr virus encephalitis in a renal transplant recipient manifesting as hemorrhagic, ring-enhancing mass lesions. Transpl Infect Dis. 2015;17:744–50.
- Mateen FJ, Muralidharan R, Carone M, et al. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in transplant recipients. Ann Neurol. 2011;70:305–22.
- Loyaga-Rendon RY, Taylor DO, Koval CE. Progressive multifocal leukoencephalopathy in a heart transplant recipient following rituximab therapy for antibody-mediated rejection. Am J Transplant. 2013;13:1075–9.
- Le J, Gantt S. Human herpesvirus 6, 7 and 8 in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):128–37.
- Fernandez-Ruiz M, Kumar D, Husain S, et al. Utility of a monitoring strategy for human herpesviruses 6 and 7 viremia after liver transplantation: a randomized clinical trial. Transplantation. 2015;99:106–13.
- Pruitt AA, Graus F, Rosenfeld MR. Neurological complications of solid organ transplantation. Neurohospitalist. 2013;3:152–66.
- Basavaraju SV, Kuehnert MJ, Zaki SR, Sejvar JJ. Encephalitis caused by pathogens transmitted through organ transplants, United States, 2002-2013. Emerg Infect Dis. 2014;20:1443–51.
- Munoz P, Rojas L, Bunsow E, et al. Listeriosis: an emerging public health problem especially among the elderly. J Infect. 2012;64:19–33.
- Mizuno S, Zendejas IR, Reed AI, et al. Listeria monocytogenes following orthotopic liver transplantation: central nervous system involvement and review of the literature. World J Gastroenterol. 2007;13:4391–3.
- Clark NM, Reid GE, Practice ASTIDCo. Nocardia infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):83–92.
- Minero MV, Marin M, Cercenado E, Rabadan PM, Bouza E, Munoz P. Nocardiosis at the turn of the century. Medicine (Baltimore). 2009;88:250–61.
- Lebeaux D, Freund R, van Delden C, et al. Outcome and treatment of nocardiosis after solid organ transplantation: new insights from a European study. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64:1396–405.
- Munoz P, Palomo J, Munoz R, Rodriguez-Creixems M, Pelaez T, Bouza E. Tuberculosis in heart transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 1995;21:398–402.
- Munoz P, Rodriguez C, Bouza E. Mycobacterium tuberculosis infection in recipients of solid organ transplants. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40:581–7.
- 34. Aguado JM, Torre-Cisneros J, Fortun J, et al. Tuberculosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: consensus statement of the group for the study of infection in transplant recipients (GESITRA) of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology. Clin Infect Dis. 2009;48:1276–84.
- Nelson CA, Zunt JR. Tuberculosis of the central nervous system in immunocompromised patients: HIV infection and solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2011;53:915–26.
- Baddley JW, Salzman D, Pappas PG. Fungal brain abscess in transplant recipients: epidemiologic, microbiologic, and clinical features. Clin Transpl. 2002;16:419–24.
- Kantarcioglu AS, Guarro J, de Hoog GS. Central nervous system infections by members of the Pseudallescheria boydii species complex in healthy and immunocompromised hosts: epidemiology, clinical characteristics and outcome. Mycoses. 2008;51:275–90.
- Levin TP, Baty DE, Fekete T, Truant AL, Suh B. Cladophialophora bantiana brain abscess in a solid-organ transplant recipient: case report and review of the literature. J Clin Microbiol. 2004;42:4374–8.

- Smith RM, Muehlenbachs A, Schaenmann J, et al. Three cases of neurologic syndrome caused by donor-derived microsporidiosis. Emerg Infect Dis. 2017;23:387–95.
- Selby R, Ramirez CB, Singh R, et al. Brain abscess in solid organ transplant recipients receiving cyclosporine-based immunosuppression. Arch Surg. 1997;132:304–10.
- Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of Candidiasis: 2016 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62:e1–50.
- Wu G, Vilchez RA, Eidelman B, Fung J, Kormos R, Kusne S. Cryptococcal meningitis: an analysis among 5,521 consecutive organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2002;4:183–8.
- Shih RY, Koeller KK. Bacterial, fungal, and parasitic infections of the central nervous system: radiologic-pathologic correlation and historical perspectives. Radiographics. 2015;35:1141–69.
- 44. Perfect JR, Dismukes WE, Dromer F, et al. Clinical practice guidelines for the management of cryptococcal disease: 2010 update by the infectious diseases society of america. Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50:291–322.
- 45. Singh N, Lortholary O, Alexander BD, et al. An immune reconstitution syndrome-like illness associated with Cryptococcus neoformans infection in organ transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;40:1756–61.
- Torre-Cisneros J, Lopez OL, Kusne S, et al. CNS aspergillosis in organ transplantation: a clinicopathological study. J Neurol Neurosurg Psychiatry. 1993;56:188–93.
- 47. Kourkoumpetis TK, Desalermos A, Muhammed M, Mylonakis E. Central nervous system aspergillosis: a series of 14 cases from a general hospital and review of 123 cases from the literature. Medicine (Baltimore). 2012;91:328–36.
- 48. Patterson TF, Thompson GR 3rd, Denning DW, et al. Practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of Aspergillosis: 2016 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63:e1–e60.
- Reinwald M, Spiess B, Heinz WJ, et al. Aspergillus PCR-based investigation of fresh tissue and effusion samples in patients with suspected invasive Aspergillosis enhances diagnostic capabilities. J Clin Microbiol. 2013;51:4178–85.
- 50. Imbert S, Brossas JY, Palous M, Joly I, Meyer I, Fekkar A. Performance of Aspergillus PCR in cerebrospinal fluid for the diagnosis of cerebral aspergillosis. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2017;23:889 e1–4.
- Gavalda J, Meije Y, Fortun J, et al. Invasive fungal infections in solid organ transplant recipients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2014;20(Suppl 7):27–48.
- Schwartz S, Ruhnke M, Ribaud P, et al. Improved outcome in central nervous system aspergillosis, using voriconazole treatment. Blood. 2005;106:2641–5.
- 53. Park BJ, Pappas PG, Wannemuehler KA, et al. Invasive non-Aspergillus mold infections in transplant recipients, United States, 2001-2006. Emerg Infect Dis. 2011;17:1855–64.
- Lanternier F, Sun HY, Ribaud P, Singh N, Kontoyiannis DP, Lortholary O. Mucormycosis in organ and stem cell transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:1629–36.
- 55. Singh N, Aguado JM, Bonatti H, et al. Zygomycosis in solid organ transplant recipients: a prospective, matched case-control study to assess risks for disease and outcome. J Infect Dis. 2009;200:1002–11.
- 56. Roden MM, Zaoutis TE, Buchanan WL, et al. Epidemiology and outcome of zygomycosis: a review of 929 reported cases. Clin Infect Dis. 2005;41:634–53.
- Miller R, Assi M, Practice ASTIDCo. Endemic fungal infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):250–61.
- Galgiani JN, Ampel NM, Blair JE, et al. 2016 Infectious Diseases Society of America (IDSA) clinical practice guideline for the treatment of Coccidioidomycosis. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63:e112–46.
- Schwartz BS, Mawhorter SD, Practice ASTIDCo. Parasitic infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):280–303.
- Derouin F, Pelloux H, Parasitology ESGoC. Prevention of toxoplasmosis in transplant patients. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2008;14:1089–101.

- Fernandez-Sabe N, Cervera C, Farinas MC, et al. Risk factors, clinical features, and outcomes of toxoplasmosis in solid-organ transplant recipients: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2012;54:355–61.
- Subramanian AK, Morris MI, Practice ASTIDCo. Mycobacterium tuberculosis infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):68–76.
- 63. Kotton CN, Hibberd PL, Practice ASTIDCo. Travel medicine and transplant tourism in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):337–47.
- 64. Len O, Stosor V. Pre-transplantation screening of donors for cardiothoracic transplantation: current standards for infection screening and geographically restricted infections. In: Mooney M, Hannan M, Husain S, Kirklin J, editors. Diagnosis and management of infectious diseases in cardiothoracic transplantation and mechanical circulatory support. Philadelphia: Elsevier Inc; 2011. p. 53–76.
- 65. Guidance for Recognizing Central Nervous System Infections in Potential Deceased Organ Donors. Organ Procurement and Transplantation Network, 2012. (Accessed 19 Apr 2018, at https://optn.transplant.hrsa.gov/resources/guidance/guidance-for-recognizing-central-nervous-system-infections-in-potential-deceased-organ-donors/).
- 66. Trotter PB, Robb M, Hulme W, et al. Transplantation of organs from deceased donors with meningitis and encephalitis: a UK registry analysis. Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18:862–71.
- 67. Bahrami T, Vohra HA, Shaikhrezai K, et al. Intrathoracic organ transplantation from donors with meningitis: a single-center 20-year experience. Ann Thorac Surg. 2008;86:1554–6.
- Tunkel AR, Glaser CA, Bloch KC, et al. The management of encephalitis: clinical practice guidelines by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;47:303–27.
- 69. Vinnard C, Barton T, Jerud E, Blumberg E. A report of human herpesvirus 6-associated encephalitis in a solid organ transplant recipient and a review of previously published cases. Liver Transpl. 2009;15:1242–6.
- Razonable RR. Human herpesviruses 6, 7 and 8 in solid organ transplant recipients. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 3):67–77. quiz -8.
- Ravindra KV, Freifeld AG, Kalil AC, et al. West Nile virus-associated encephalitis in recipients of renal and pancreas transplants: case series and literature review. Clin Infect Dis. 2004;38:1257–60.
- 72. Coussement J, Lebeaux D, Rouzaud C, Lortholary O. Nocardia infections in solid organ and hematopoietic stem cell transplant recipients. Curr Opin Infect Dis. 2017;30:545–51.
- 73. Coussement J, Lebeaux D, van Delden C, et al. Nocardia infection in solid organ transplant recipients: a multicenter European case-control Study. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63:338–45.
- 74. Yu X, Han F, Wu J, et al. Nocardia infection in kidney transplant recipients: case report and analysis of 66 published cases. Transpl Infect Dis. 2011;13:385–91.
- Peleg AY, Husain S, Qureshi ZA, et al. Risk factors, clinical characteristics, and outcome of Nocardia infection in organ transplant recipients: a matched case-control study. Clin Infect Dis. 2007;44:1307–14.
- Stamm AM, Dismukes WE, Simmons BP, et al. Listeriosis in renal transplant recipients: report of an outbreak and review of 102 cases. Rev Infect Dis. 1982;4:665–82.
- Mylonakis E, Paliou M, Hohmann EL, Calderwood SB, Wing EJ. Listeriosis during pregnancy: a case series and review of 222 cases. Medicine (Baltimore). 2002;81:260–9.
- Clauss HE, Lorber B. Central nervous system infection with Listeria monocytogenes. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2008;10:300–6.
- Bumbacea D, Arend SM, Eyuboglu F, et al. The risk of tuberculosis in transplant candidates and recipients: a TBNET consensus statement. Eur Respir J. 2012;40:990–1013.
- 80. Cohen BA, Stosor V. Opportunistic infections of the central nervous system in the transplant patient. Curr Neurol Neurosci Rep. 2013;13:376.



Management of Urinary Tract Infection

Carlos Cervera and Francisco López-Medrano

18.1 Introduction

Urinary tract infections (UTI) are the most frequent infectious complication of kidney transplant recipients (KTR). UTI increase morbidity and mortality of KTR, with additional impacts on graft's outcome, patient's quality of life, hospitalization rates, and cost of transplantation. Other solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients are also at increased risk of UTI, usually early posttransplant and acquired in the hospital.

Prevention of UTI in KTR involves a precise and individualized evaluation of the risk factors, as well as balancing the benefits and disadvantages of antibiotic therapy. The use of antibiotics in clinically irrelevant positive urine cultures may lead to side effects and development of antibiotic resistance. On the other hand, the development of ascending upper UTI may lead permanent damage to the kidney allograft in KTR or even fatal outcomes in all SOT patients.

18.2 Epidemiology

18.2.1 Kidney Transplantation

Drawing from a several studies with significant vast heterogeneity in inclusion criteria, immunosuppression, and definition of UTI used, the prevalence of UTI post renal

C. Cervera (🖂)

F. López-Medrano

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Department of Medicine, Division of Infectious Diseases, University of Alberta, Edmonton, AB, Canada e-mail: cerveraa@ualberta.ca

Unit of Infectious Diseases, Hospital Universitario "12 de Octubre", Instituto de Investigación Hospital "12 de Octubre" (i+12), Department of Medicine, School of Medicine, Universidad Complutense, Madrid, Spain

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_18

transplantation ranges from 23 to 85%. In KTR, UTI is responsible for 42–75% of infections with an incidence rate of 0.45 episodes/1000 transplantation days [1, 2].

The first month posttransplantation is the period at highest risk of UTI for different reasons [3, 4]. KTR usually carry indwelling urine catheters early posttransplant, and the presence of ureteric stent, placed after surgery to prevent ureteric stenosis, may alter the urine flow increasing the risk of UTI. Usually, 6 months after transplantation, the risk decreases considerably, but a small subgroup of KTR may develop recurrent UTI.

A variety of risk factors associated with increased risk of UTI in KTR have been described (Table 18.1) [2]. Most series describe female gender and advanced age as the most important risk factors associated with UTI posttransplant. Posttransplant urinary obstruction not only increases the risk of UTI, but it is also associated with higher rates of antibiotic-resistant bacteria. Patients with end-stage kidney disease secondary to urine reflux are also at increased risk of posttransplant UTI. Other risk factors include the intensity of immunosuppression, diabetes mellitus pre- or post-transplant, the duration of indwelling urinary catheterization, and acute rejection.

18.2.2 Non-kidney Solid Organ Transplant Patients

The incidence of UTI in solid organ transplantation other than kidney is less known. The incidence rate by type of transplant in one study was, in kidney-pancreas, 0.22 episodes/1000 transplantation days; heart, 0.07 episodes/1000 transplantation days; liver, 0.06/1000 transplantation days; and lung, 0.02 episodes/1000 transplantation days; [4]. In this group of patients, the main risk factors for UTI are pretransplant usually related to the use of indwelling urinary catheters (Table 18.1).

The most frequent bacterial genre causing UTI in all SOT patients is *Enterobacteriaceae* and more specifically *Escherichia coli*. Other bacteria include *Klebsiella* spp., *Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, and *Enterococcus* spp. [4–6].

Contraction of the second se
Common for all SOT
Female gender
Advanced age
Intensity of immunosuppression
Need of posttransplant hemodialysis
Repeated episodes of acute rejection
Length of hospitalization
Diabetes mellitus
Length of urinary catheterization
Specific for kidney transplant recipients
Ureteral stents in place
Ureteral stent placement for more than 30 days
Deceased donor kidneys
Reflux kidney disease prior to transplantation
Posttransplant urinary obstruction

 Table 18.1
 Risk factors for UTI in solid organ transplant patients

Current data indicate a rising incidence of multidrug-resistant (MDR) strains of urinary pathogens worldwide, including SOT recipients. In order to optimize the management of these patients, it is very important to have detailed and updated information on the local antimicrobial resistance epidemiology.

18.3 Clinical Manifestations

Urinary tract infection is classified into lower (cystitis) and upper (pyelonephritis) tract infections. Cystitis is characterized by the combination of some of the following symptoms: frequency, urgency, dysuria (pain with micturition), hematuria, and suprapubic pain. Concurrent prostate disease should be ruled out in males with lower UTI symptoms (perineal or low back pain may be the only manifestation). Fever should be considered as a sign that indicates upper UTI. Fever may be the most reliable clinical finding to differentiate upper from lower UTI. Asymptomatic bacteriuria is defined by the combination of the absence of symptoms with the isolation of 10⁵ CFU/mL in a single specimen for men and in two consecutive specimens for women [2].

The clinical picture of pyelonephritis includes the presence of rigors and pyrexia, hematuria, and pain over the affected kidney. Occasionally, symptoms of cystitis are also present, but their absence does not exclude the possibility of pyelonephritis. Renal transplant recipients are at the highest risk of pyelonephritis, and pain is common over the graft instead of the flank [7, 8]. Sometimes the initial clinical manifestations of pyelonephritis include nausea, vomiting, and diarrhea or constipation. Appendicitis, diverticulitis, and other abdominal conditions should be considered in the differential diagnosis. Ectopic pregnancy, pelvic inflammatory disease, and ovarian cyst torsion should also to be considered in the differential diagnosis of the female transplant recipient. Graft rejection is another clinical situation that can rarely produce fever and pain over the transplanted kidney.

After pathogen-directed therapy is initiated, fevers may persist for several days despite clinical improvement. If fever persists beyond 48 to 72 h with adequate antimicrobial therapy, imaging to evaluate for an abscess or other space-occupying lesion should be performed (Table 18.2).

18.4 Diagnosis

A urinary tract infection should be considered in patients with clinical symptoms in addition to urine analysis testing consistent with infection (see below) and positive culture. Urine analysis typically demonstrates leukocyte esterase, nitrites, and bacteria. Microscopic examination demonstrates ≥ 10 white blood cells/mm³ of unspun urine (by a chamber method); absences of pyuria may be suggestive of an alternative diagnosis, such as urethritis or vaginitis. Gram stain of urine is diagnostic if one or more bacterium per oil-immersion field is present as this correlates with at least 10^5 colony-forming units (CFU)/mL. Gram stain may also help guide initial

Lower urinary tract infection (cystitis)	Upper urinary tract infection
- Frequency	(pyelonephritis of a native kidney)
- Urgency	– Fever
– Dysuria	– Loin pain (+/– irradiation to the
- Hematuria	genital area)
 Suprapubic pain 	-+/- hematuria
- Perineal or low back pain (males with prostatitis)	-+/- symptoms of cystitis
	 May begin with digestive tract
	symptoms!

Table 18.2 Clinical picture

Pyelonephritis of the graft in kidney transplant recipients

- Fever

- Pain over the graft (usually right or left iliac fossa)

- Dysuria +/- hematuria
- Consider in the differential diagnosis: appendicitis, diverticulitis, ectopic pregnancy, pelvic inflammatory disease, ovarian cyst torsion, graft rejection

Consider the possibility of an abscess if fever persists for more than 48-72 h despite adequate antimicrobial treatment

therapy; the presence of Gram-positive bacteria suggests the need to cover for *Enterococcus*.

Urine culture is mandatory for any suspected UTI of SOT recipients [2]. A careful clean-catch urine specimen must be collected for culture. Both female and male recipients have to be instructed for the correct collection of the urine sample. In women with dysuria and confirmed pyuria, the threshold for significant bacteriuria is 10² CFU/mL or more of a single or predominant pathogen. When suprapubic bladder aspirates are compared with voided midstream urine in acutely dysuric women, 10² or more CFU/mL in midstream urine have a sensitivity and specificity of 95% and 85%, respectively, for UTI [9]. In dysuric men a growth of 10³ CFU/mL or more should be considered significant. For asymptomatic bacteriuria, the isolation of 10⁵ CFU/mL in a single specimen for men and in two consecutive specimens for women is considered the standard for diagnosis. Colony counts are considered to be significant if greater than 10² CFU/mL for straight catheter or suprapubic aspiration specimens and for samples collected during nephrostomy tube insertion. If fever is present, drawing blood cultures is mandatory for this population.

There is lack of consensus about when to perform a urologic evaluation in KTR with recurrent infections. The goal of imaging studies is to rule out anatomical abnormalities (mainly obstruction) that may predispose to reoccurrence. They are indicated to evaluate persistent hematuria and when urinary stones are suspected or proven. Most experts recommend imaging studies for every SOT recipient developing pyelonephritis, especially for KTR and for those with recurrent infections. Renal ultrasound is useful to assess noninvasively for obstructive uropathy, but computerized tomography (CT) is more sensitive for the detection of stones and abscesses [2].

Some alternative diagnosis should be considered for patients presenting with pyuria but with sterile simultaneous urine culture ("sterile pyuria"). Depending on epidemiological characteristics, tuberculosis, schistosomiasis, infection by Table 18.3 Key points for the diagnosis of UTI in SOT recipients

- The absence of pyuria essentially excludes UTI
- A Gram stain of urine could be a useful tool
- Urine culture is mandatory for diagnosis in this population
- Draw blood cultures if fever is present
- Consider renal ultrasound or CT in severe recurrent infection in order to rule out stones and obstruction abscesses
- "Sterile pyuria": rule out tuberculosis, schistosomiasis, *Corynebacterium urealyticum*, *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, *Mycoplasma hominis*, adenovirus, or tumor

CT computerized tomography

adenovirus, infection by difficult-to-diagnose organisms (*Corynebacterium urea-lyticum* [10], *Ureaplasma urealyticum*, or *Mycoplasma hominis*), or tumor should be ruled out [8] (Table 18.3).

18.5 Treatment of Urinary Tract Infections

18.5.1 Treatment of Lower Urinary Tract Infection

Cystitis is almost always treated with oral antibiotics [2]. Empiric treatment must be immediately started, pending results of urine culture. Antibiotics useful in this clinical situation are listed in Table 18.4. When selecting empirical treatment, local pattern of resistance of the most frequent urinary pathogens must be taken into consideration. Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole is not an appropriate option for SOT recipients who are currently under or who have received prophylaxis with this antibiotic. Review of prior isolates to determine prior colonization or infection with resistant bacteria should be used to inform empiric therapy. Patients reporting a previous allergic reaction to a β -lactam antibiotic should receive appropriate alternative therapies. Quinolones, cephalosporins, and fosfomycin do not interact with immunosuppressive drugs. Short-course or single-course regimens are not recommended for SOT recipients, especially for KTR. Generally patients are treated for 7 days for uncomplicated cystitis. The US Food and Drug Administration (FDA) advised that the serious side effects associated with fluoroquinolones generally outweigh the benefits for patients with uncomplicated urinary tract infections who have other treatment options (these side effects can involve the tendons, muscles, joints, nerves, and central nervous system). For uncomplicated urinary tract infections, the FDA recommended to reserve fluoroquinolones for those who do not have alternative treatment options.

High fluid intake and frequent voiding are complementary maneuvers to antibiotic treatment. Urinary analgesics such as phenazopyridine hydrochloride (200 mg orally three times a day after meals) may be useful to relieve symptoms of dysuria and urethra irritation. It should be stressed to the patient that this drug is not a substitute for an antibiotic and that it should not be used in pregnancy. A follow-up culture of an after-treatment urine sample is recommended in this population to confirm eradication.

Antibiotic	Dose (mg)	Interval
Trimethoprim-sulfamethoxazole ^{d,e}	160/800	q12h
Fosfomycin	3000	q24h
Cefixime	400	q24h
Nitrofurantoin	100	q8h
Amoxicillin plus clavulanate	500/125	q8h
Norfloxacin ^{f, g}	400	q12h
Ciprofloxacin ^{f, g}	500	q12h
Levofloxacin ^{f.g}	500	q24h

Table 18.4 Empiric oral antibiotic treatment for SOT recipients with lower UTI infection (cystitis)^{a,b,c}

^aDose modification may be necessary in renal failure

^bRegimens 7 days long are preferred for SOT recipients

^cTake into consideration previous microbiological results of the patients. Susceptibility of pathogen to selected antibiotic must be confirmed with in vitro susceptibility testing of the urine sample

^dNot appropriate as empirical treatment for SOT under prophylaxis with this antibiotic

^eEmpiric use limited to those geographical areas where frequency of resistance is less than 20%

^fFluoroquinolones should be avoided in pregnancy, nursing mothers, and adolescents younger than 17 years old for lower UTI if an alternative is available

gSee text for FDA warning

18.5.2 Treatment of Upper Urinary Tract Infection

Inappropriate empiric antibiotic treatment is associated with worse outcomes and increased mortality. Selection of the optimal empiric treatment of upper urinary tract infection requires review of prior infections and colonization in the patient as well as review of local resistance patterns in common uropathogens.

For most centers with low rates of MDR bacteria UTI, β -lactams are the preferred empiric treatment as resistance to quinolones for *Enterobacteriaceae* is >20% in most centers. Preferred β -lactams include IV third-generation cephalosporins (such as ceftriaxone) or amoxicillin-clavulanate. In areas of high-level resistance to these agents, carbapenem or piperacillin-tazobactam should be considered. If *Enterococcus* spp. is suspected, based on history of urine gram stain, coverage with an active penicillin, vancomycin, or daptomycin should be used. In general, nephrotoxic drugs, such as aminoglycosides, should be avoided unless the patient has septic shock and local resistance patterns favor the use of these agents over alternative drugs, including carbapenems.

In most cases, the duration of antibiotic treatment should be prolonged to 14–21 days depending on the evolution of the patient (Table 18.5).

18.6 Approach to Asymptomatic Bacteriuria

The treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria is only recommended for pregnant women and for those whose urinary tract is going to be surgically manipulated (e.g., for transurethral prostatectomy). The same recommendations apply to SOT with the exception of kidney transplant recipients [2].

Antibiotic	Dose (mg)	Interval
Ceftriaxone	1–2 g	Q24h
Amoxicillin plus clavulanate	1000 mg/200 mg	Q8h
Piperacillin-tazobactam	3.375 g	Q6h
Meropenem	1 g	Q8h
Imipenem	500 mg	Q6h
Ertapenem	1 g	Q24h

Table 18.5 Empiric intravenous β -lactams for SOT recipients with upper UTI infection (pyelone phritis)^{a,b,c}

^aThe choice of empiric treatment should be guided by the local epidemiology of antibiotic resistance and by previous patients' bacterial isolations

^bDose modification may be necessary in renal failure

°Regimens 14-21 days long are preferred for SOT recipients

Table 18.6 Key messages about asymptomatic bacteriuria in SOT recipients

- Excluding kidney transplantation, asymptomatic bacteriuria should not be systematically screened or treated in SOT recipients except when indicated for the general population (pregnancy and surgical urinary tract manipulation)
- Asymptomatic bacteriuria may be systematically screened and treated in kidney transplant recipients within the first 1–2 months after transplantation (very low level of evidence)
- In a clinical trial, no benefit has been demonstrated for the systematic screening and treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria in kidney transplant recipients beyond the first 1–2 months after transplantation (other studies ongoing)

Despite a very low level of evidence, systematic treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria is suggested for kidney transplant recipients within the first 1–2 months after transplantation [2].

There are controversies about the necessity of monitoring and treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria in renal transplant recipients beyond the immediate post-transplantation period. The association between repeated episodes of asymptomatic bacteriuria and the development of pyelonephritis has been reported [11]. Nevertheless, a prospective randomized controlled clinical trial did not show any benefit of the systematic screening and treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria in terms of reduction in the development of subsequent pyelonephritis [12]. Other prospective comparative studies are ongoing (Table 18.6).

18.7 Approach to Recurrent Urinary Tract Infection

Recurrent UTI is one of the complications that worsen the quality of life of KTR. Recurrent UTI are defined as at least three episodes of symptomatic UTI in a 12-month period or two episodes within 6 months documented by culture [2]. The incidence of this complication varies from 3 to 30% of all KTR depending on the definition of recurrence [13–15]. The incidence of recurrent UTI in non-kidney SOT is less known but probably much lower than for KTR. For this reason, we will refer to the management of recurrent UTI in KTR.

Recurrent UTI in KTR may be secondary to anatomical abnormalities of the urinary tract. Urinary obstruction or reflux should be always ruled out in the management of recurrent UTI in KTR. Usually, these complications are associated with worsened kidney function and in most cases are easily diagnosed by ultrasound. It is important to emphasize that it is not uncommon to see recurrent UTI in KTR without urinary abnormalities and excellent kidney function.

Another significant issue regarding recurrent UTI is the association with multidrug-resistant bacteria [14]. Whether antibiotic resistance is a cause or a consequence of recurrent UTI has not been well established, although it seems reasonable to think that the overuse of antibiotics in this scenario may lead to the development of resistance.

The association between recurrent UTI and deterioration of the kidney function is controversial [3, 5, 16]. Although it is common to see recurrent UTI in KTR with allograft dysfunction in the clinical practice, causality has been less established. As previously stated, it is not uncommon to see recurrent UTI in KTR with excellent graft functioning.

As there are no clinical trials evaluating the optimal strategy to prevent recurrent UTI in KTR, the strategies should be extrapolated from the general population. The five strategies to prevent recurrent UTI in women with published clinical trials comprise daily antibiotic prophylaxis with nitrofurantoin, daily estrogen prophylaxis, daily cranberry prophylaxis, acupuncture prophylaxis, and symptomatic self-treatment. Daily antibiotic prophylaxis is the most effective strategy to prevent UTI [17]. Chronic prophylaxis with nitrofurantoin in KTR is contraindicated in many centers because of potential pulmonary interstitial disease. Fosfomycin and sulfamethoxazole-trimethoprim (if the patient is not on active prophylaxis with this drug) are good options for prophylaxis. Chronic use of antibiotic resistance or in situations in which daily antibiotic treatment is contraindicated (e.g., recurrent *Clostridium difficile*-associated diarrhea or Norovirus infection), symptomatic self-treatment may be considered.

Other strategies for the management of recurrent UTI with variable success include urine acidification with L-methionine [18], topical estrogens in postmenopausal female transplant patients [19], and daily cranberry juice [18] (Table 18.7).

Table 18.7 Key messages about recurrent UTI in SOT recipients

- The first approach for the management of recurrent UTI in KTR is to exclude anatomical or functional abnormalities of the urinary tract
- To decide antibiotic prophylaxis for recurrent UTI in KTR, we should take into account the clinical impact of previous UTI, the kidney allograft function, antibiotic sensitivities of previous isolated uropathogens, and colonization with multidrug-resistant bacteria. Chronic nitrofurantoin use is contraindicated for KTR in many countries, and chronic quinolones use should be used with caution
- Symptomatic self-treatment may be considered for patients with previous hospitalizations for UTI and chronic allograft dysfunction or when antibiotic prophylaxis is contraindicated (e.g., recurrent *C. difficile*-associated or Norovirus diarrhea)

References

- Alangaden GJ, Thyagarajan R, Gruber SA, Morawski K, Garnick J, El-Amm JM, West MS, et al. Infectious complications after kidney transplantation: current epidemiology and associated risk factors. Clin Transplant. 2006;20:401–9.
- 2. Vidal E, Cervera C, Cordero E, Arminanzas C, Carratala J, Cisneros JM, Farinas MC, et al. Management of urinary tract infection in solid organ transplant recipients: Consensus statement of the Group for the Study of Infection in Transplant Recipients (GESITRA) of the Spanish Society of Infectious Diseases and Clinical Microbiology (SEIMC) and the Spanish Network for Research in Infectious Diseases (REIPI). Enferm Infecc Microbiol Clin. 2015;33:679. e671–21.
- Bodro M, Sanclemente G, Lipperheide I, Allali M, Marco F, Bosch J, Cofan F, et al. Impact of urinary tract infections on short-term kidney graft outcome. Clin Microbiol Infect. 2015;21:1104.e1101–8.
- Vidal E, Torre-Cisneros J, Blanes M, Montejo M, Cervera C, Aguado JM, Len O, et al. Bacterial urinary tract infection after solid organ transplantation in the RESITRA cohort. Transpl Infect Dis. 2012;14:595–603.
- Pelle G, Vimont S, Levy PP, Hertig A, Ouali N, Chassin C, Arlet G, et al. Acute pyelonephritis represents a risk factor impairing long-term kidney graft function. Am J Transplant. 2007;7:899–907.
- Chuang P, Parikh CR, Langone A. Urinary tract infections after renal transplantation: a retrospective review at two US transplant centers. Clin Transplant. 2005;19:230–5.
- de Souza RM, Olsburgh J. Urinary tract infection in the renal transplant patient. Nat Clin Pract Nephrol. 2008;4:252–64.
- Munoz P. Management of urinary tract infections and lymphocele in renal transplant recipients. Clin Infect Dis. 2001;33(Suppl 1):S53–7.
- 9. Stamm WE, Counts GW, Running KR, Fihn S, Turck M, Holmes KK. Diagnosis of coliform infection in acutely dysuric women. N Engl J Med. 1982;307:463–8.
- Lopez-Medrano F, Garcia-Bravo M, Morales JM, Andres A, San Juan R, Lizasoain M, Aguado JM. Urinary tract infection due to Corynebacterium urealyticum in kidney transplant recipients: an underdiagnosed etiology for obstructive uropathy and graft dysfunction-results of a prospective cohort study. Clin Infect Dis. 2008;46:825–30.
- Fiorante S, Lopez-Medrano F, Lizasoain M, Lalueza A, Juan RS, Andres A, Otero JR, et al. Systematic screening and treatment of asymptomatic bacteriuria in renal transplant recipients. Kidney Int. 2010;78:774–81.
- Origuen J, Lopez-Medrano F, Fernandez-Ruiz M, Polanco N, Gutierrez E, Gonzalez E, Merida E, et al. Should asymptomatic bacteriuria be systematically treated in kidney transplant recipients? Results from a randomized controlled trial. Am J Transplant. 2016;16:2943–53.
- Tawab KA, Gheith O, Al Otaibi T, Nampoory N, Mansour H, Halim MA, Nair P, et al. Recurrent urinary tract infection among renal transplant recipients: risk factors and long-term outcome. Exp Clin Transplant. 2017;15:157–63.
- Bodro M, Sanclemente G, Lipperheide I, Allali M, Marco F, Bosch J, Cofan F, et al. Impact of antibiotic resistance on the development of recurrent and relapsing symptomatic urinary tract infection in kidney recipients. Am J Transplant. 2015;15:1021–7.
- Britt NS, Hagopian JC, Brennan DC, Pottebaum AA, Santos CAQ, Gharabagi A, Horwedel TA. Effects of recurrent urinary tract infections on graft and patient outcomes after kidney transplantation. Nephrol Dial Transplant. 2017;32:1758–66.
- 16. Giral M, Pascuariello G, Karam G, Hourmant M, Cantarovich D, Dantal J, Blancho G, et al. Acute graft pyelonephritis and long-term kidney allograft outcome. Kidney Int. 2002;61:1880–6.
- Eells SJ, Bharadwa K, McKinnell JA, Miller LG. Recurrent urinary tract infections among women: comparative effectiveness of 5 prevention and management strategies using a Markov chain Monte Carlo model. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;58:147–60.

- Pagonas N, Horstrup J, Schmidt D, Benz P, Schindler R, Reinke P, van der Giet M, et al. Prophylaxis of recurrent urinary tract infection after renal transplantation by cranberry juice and L-methionine. Transplant Proc. 2012;44:3017–21.
- 19. Perrotta C, Aznar M, Mejia R, Albert X, Ng CW. Oestrogens for preventing recurrent urinary tract infection in postmenopausal women. Obstet Gynecol. 2008;112:689–90.



19

Management of Infections of Devices: Catheter-Related Infections, Pretransplant VAD Infections, Infections of ECMO Devices

Cameron R. Wolfe and Martha L. Mooney

19.1 Definitions and Epidemiology

19.1.1 Central Venous Catheter (CVC) and Extracorporeal Mambrane Oxygenation (ECMO)

The definitions of CVC or ECMO infection are the same in the pre- and posttransplant recipient, though clinical and radiographic signs may be subdued in the posttransplant period, especially when if the patient is still in an intensive care setting (Table 19.1). Firstly, CVC infections can be categorized as either bloodstream infections (BSI) or entry site infections. BSI can be usefully defined as either primary or secondary: primary infections arise from the central catheter itself, which is either a tunneled or non-tunneled device, whereas secondary BSI is a term reserved for when there is a proven or probable distant source, for example, urine or GI tract, yet a culture may have been drawn through the catheter. CVC infections may also be associated with the skin and soft tissue around the entry site.

The definition of an infected ECMO device is variable across the literature, but can be thought of in the same way as CVC infections, with an infection being classified as a primary or secondary ECMO BSI or a skin and soft tissue infection related to the insertion site. Additionally, however, some institutions collect data on infections that arise during an admission where ECMO is deployed, for example, hospital or ventilator-associated pneumonia (HAP, VAP). These are termed ECMO-associated infections.

Critical illness leads to more frequent nosocomial infections in general, but especially when CVC or ECMO support is required, including hospital- or ventilatorassociated pneumonia and catheter-associated urinary tract infections (CAUTI) [1].

C. R. Wolfe (🖂)

© Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

Duke University Medical Center, Durham, NC, USA e-mail: cameron.wolfe@duke.edu

M. L. Mooney Eastern Virginia Medical School, Norfolk, VA, USA

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_19

Routine signs and symptoms of infection	Challenges to routine evaluation for Mechanical Circulatory Support (MCS)
Altered mental status	Sedation, stroke, posterior reversible encephalopathy syndrome (PRES) with transplant medication
Tachypnea, dyspnea	Neuromuscular blockade in ICU, medication side effects
Fever or hypothermia	Core temperature artificially maintained by ECMO, or swings blunted by dialysis
Leucopenia, leukocytosis	SIRS generated not by infection, but by continuous blood flow and blood product consumption from circuit
Thrombocytopenia	Consumption, bleeding, heparin-induced thrombocytopenia
Hemodynamic support level	Circuit flow dynamics and support
ID biomarker evaluation (e.g., CRP, procalcitonin)	Unclear influence of ECMO or VAD circuit— discrimination possible but less sensitive
Alternative signs and symptoms used to co	onsider infection
Signs of increasing metabolism (e.g., CO2 climbing, failing "sweep" trials)	Falling SvO2
Unexplained lactic acidosis	Change in hemodynamic support
Change from baseline in WBC, Plts	Signs of unexplained hypovolemia

Table 19.1 Signs and symptoms of infection

Regarding bloodstream infections, the rates likely vary depending on patient age (adults more frequently infected than children) and type of ECMO support required (venoarterial ECMO more frequently associated with infection than Veno-Venous) and are proportional to the duration of cannulation [2]. Infection also appears more common in urgently deployed extracorporeal cardiopulmonary resuscitation (ECPR), compared to ECMO used for cardiac or respiratory support.

Given the high mortality and morbidity associated with sepsis or tissue-invasive device infections, predicting what microbial flora will predominate is important. Skin and soft tissue colonizers such as coagulase-negative staphylococci and *Staphylococcus aureus* are the most common bacteria affecting both CVCs and ECMO. The types of pathogens affecting ECMO circuits may be slightly different, with a high proportion of candida and pseudomonas isolates likely, 12.7% and 10.5%, respectively, in one study [2]. Aspergillus species have also been seen to occur with greater frequency in a number of retrospective ECMO cohorts, and although it can be difficult to differentiate invasive disease from more indolent airway colonization, the identification still appears to portend a high morbidity [3, 4]. Ultimately, understanding the local flora and antibiogram in a patient hospital and/or ICU remains vital.

19.1.2 Ventricular Assist Devices (VAD) Infections

The definitions of VAD infections have been described in the International Society of Heart and Lung Transplantation (ISHLT), in a multidisciplinary consensus document. Infections can be defined as VAD-specific and VAD-related [5]. VADspecific infections include infection of the pump and/or cannula, the pocket (if present), or the percutaneous driveline (superficial or deep). The ISHLT expert panel suggests driveline infection should be classified into "proven," "probable," and "possible," on the basis of clinical and microbiologic findings. Contrastingly, VADrelated infections involve adjacent tissues and include infective endocarditis of the native valve, bloodstream infections, and mediastinitis.

It is worth remembering that infections resulting from VAD can present in the post-heart transplant period, post device removal. In these circumstances, typically infection arises either because infection was only partially treated when transplant occurred, or infection resisted treatment due to retained material from the partially removed infected VAD, or from other retained foreign bodies present when infected VAD was present (ICD, Pacer, etc.).

Bloodstream infections are not uncommon in VAD patients. Although the rates vary significantly between studies and are dependent on the type of VAD, rates are quoted as 20–27% (0.35–0.42 events per year of LVAD support) [6]. The risk for BSI is highest in the first month after implantation, and when a BSI occurs, there is an increased mortality in LVAD recipients presenting with sepsis syndrome. The majority of BSI in LVAD patients are thought to originate from the driveline.

Prevention of infection remains key to the longevity of any VAD. VAD recipients who have pre-transplant septic episodes are less likely to be successfully bridged to transplantation. Furthermore, VAD implantation itself has been associated with an increased posttransplant rate of infection. Once transplanted, however, several studies have shown that a prior history of VAD infection does not affect posttransplant survival, with 3-year survival rates of up to 80%.

The most common causative organisms in VAD infections are Staphylococcal species (>50%) with *S. aureus* and *S. epidermidis* predominating, followed by gram-negative bacteria with *Pseudomonas* species predominating (up to 28%), but *Serratia* (9%), *Enterobacter* (2%), and *Klebsiella* (2%) also seen. Fungal infections account for <10%, and candida species account for the majority of these [7]. *Aspergillosis* is rare but has been published in case reports, with very significant mortality [8]. Atypical mycobacterial infections have also been reported with significant morbidity, particularly rapidly growing mycobacteria such as *M. abscessus*, although they are fortunately rare [9, 10]. It is likely that the microbial flora seen in VAD infections, as well as their resistance profiles, will vary depending on hospital and community flora. It is also likely dependent on how the VAD was exposed to microbes, with, for example, anecdotally waterborne and environmental organisms more commonly seen in patients with inadequately sterile driveline cleaning practices.

The etiologic pathogens of infections in the posttransplant period from retained material from a partially removed infected VAD or other retained devices (i.e., ICD, pacers) are not well characterized, as few case reports are published. It is tempting to assume that the pathogens in the retained foreign material are the same as the data reveals from infected VADs; however prolonged antibiotic exposure in the perioperative

period, a risk factor for the development of resistant organisms, and the impact of immunosuppression may affect potential pathogens found after heart transplantation (HT).

There are a number of factors that contribute to the development of intravascular infection within VADs and that are similar to risks seen in ECMO and CVC infections. The presence of thrombus is important and increases depending on the virulence of the offending pathogen, as well as device surface characteristics, dynamics of blood flow, internal surface area of the device, and coagulopathy. Older VAD devices have been associated with higher rates of intravascular thrombosis and consequently higher rates of endocarditis. Newer continuous-flow VAD devices are both smaller and possess continuous-flow dynamics, hence may end up with lower incidence of infections. More studies are needed to bear this out.

19.2 Description of Differential Diagnosis

The signs and symptoms of infection in a SOT are variable, so for the transplanted patient presenting with a change in clinical status, infection should always be considered in the differential. That is particularly true in the presence of support devices. Transplanted patients with device-associated infections usually present with fever, leukocytosis, and, in more severe cases, septic shock. Occasionally, patients may present with septic embolization to distant sites or new incompetence of pump inflow or outflow valves.

In the posttransplant period, a patient with a CVC, ECMO, or VAD may have clinical signs and symptoms consistent with SIRS that are blunted due to immunosuppression or even enhanced due to concomitant issues. For example, in the early posttransplant period, the patient's temperature, blood pressure, and wbc and plt count may be increased or decreased due to infection although perhaps more commonly fluctuates due to numerous noninfectious causes such as surgical stress, steroids and other medication, bleeding, hemodynamic instability, etc. Similarly the increased utilization of heating and cooling devices in ICU, not to mention the frequent use of renal replacement therapies in the postoperative period can all mask temperature fluctuations.

Wound dehiscence may mimic infection and be due to infection or non-ID causes such as tissue ischemia, nutritional deficiencies, steroids, or other medications, for example, mTOR inhibitors like sirolimus.

19.2.1 Diagnostic Approach

Given the propensity for clinical signs to be blunted, especially posttransplant, we believe a number of standard investigations are paramount when evaluating

infection. For all patients suspected of having a CVC-, ECMO-, or VAD-associated infection, the following testing should be strongly considered:

All patients:

- White blood cell count.
- Sterile aspirate of driveline at the exit site, if pus present, initially for Gram stain (looking for bacteria) and K-OH stain (for fungal forms), and then for bacterial, fungal, and mycobacterial culture.
- Blood cultures: At least three sets of cultures taken at different times over 24 h; two sets from peripheral sites preferably. At least one central and one peripheral set of blood cultures should be taken at the same time if there is a CVC in situ. Each set including aerobic and anaerobic bottles with at least 10 ml of blood per bottle in adult cases or 1 ml/kg of blood per bottle for pediatric patients (up to a max of 10 kg).
- Chest X-ray

Sputum culture and urine for microscopy and culture (to rule out all other possible causes of the septic episode)

If blood cultures positive, or if further investigations unrevealing but infection still suspected:

• Echocardiogram (optimally a TEE, if a TTE is negative)

If blood cultures positive, or if a fluid collection is suspected, especially related to a pocked infection or retained fragment of previous VAD:

Abdominal US, CT abdomen/thorax, nuclear imaging study (e.g., Indium WBC scan, or positron emission tomography (PET) scan [11])

Additional: Some centers prefer serial C-reactive protein, erythrocyte sedimentation rate, and procalcitonin to infer the likelihood of bacterial infection, when it cannot be proven through other means, although these are not universally performed nor routinely recommended. In particular, the use of procalcitonin, despite being helpful in other infections, may not be as usefully discriminatory in patients undergoing evaluation for infected VAD [12, 13].

For CVC infections with bacteremia, ECMO infection or suspected residual VAD-associated infection post HT with hematologic or soft tissue component, careful physical exam for inflammatory changes or disseminated embolic phenomenon can be vitally important.

Refer to Table 19.2 for the diagnosis of MCS Associated Residual Infection post HT with a history of an infected VAD pre HT.

Table 19.2 Dia	gnostic strategies to dete-	ct VAD infections, pre	- and posttransplan	lt			
	Pump/cannula	VAD pocket	Superficial DL	Deep DL	Infective endocarditis	BSI	Mediastinitis
Microbiology							
Blood culture	Usually +	Rarely +	I	Rarely +	Usually +	+	-/+
Sterile site fluid	-/+	-/+	I	-/+	I	I	-/+
Exit DL drainage	1	I	-/+	+	I	I	1
CXR valuable	+	+	No	Rarely	+	+	+
Extended	Yes, define extent of	Yes, define extent	Only if concern	Only if concern	+ Embolic/-	Rarely	Yes, define extent
radiology necessary?	infection, plan surgical intervention	of infection, plan surgical intervention	tor deep tunnel involvement	tor deep tunnel involvement			of infection, plan surgical intervention
CT chest/	- Fluid collection,	 VAD pocket 	Normal	 Fluid in 	+/- End organ	1	- Anterior and/or
abdo	esp. adjacent to	fluid collection		anterior	emboli (common		posterior
	inflow/outflow	+/- Gas locules		abdominal	sites, spine,		mediastinal fluid
	cannulae			wall,	iliopsoas, spleen,		collection
	 Gas locules 			surrounds DL	sternoclavicular		 Gas locules
	 End organ Emboli 			 Stranding around DL 	joint)		 Thoracic adenopathy
Indium	-/+	-/+	1	No	No	Unhelpful	+/-
nuclear scan							
PET scan	+ Can be helpful to	+	Usually	Usually	Usually	I	+
	differentiate blood from infection		unnecessary	unnecessary	unnecessary		
ECHO	Important to define	Only if bacteremic	1	Only if	Important to	Needed to	Should be done if
	severity and rule out			bacteremic	define severity	rule out	bacteremia
	cardiac abscess				and rule out valvular abscess	I/E	suspected to rule out I/E
BSI bloodstream	i infection, <i>CT</i> computer. it, <i>I/E</i> infective endocard	ize topography, CVC (central venous cath	leter, DL driveline,	ECMO extracorpore:	al membrano	us oxygenation, WBC

19.3 Prevention: Discussion of Approaches to Prevent Onset of Disease

For CVC and ECMO circuits: strict adherence to infection control measures is recommended, both for the placement of such lines and devices, but also for their maintenance. Routine catheter exchange is not recommended.

A bundle of interventions should be introduced and enforced by all hospitals that includes hand hygiene, a maximal sterile barrier at the point of insertion, chlorhexidine skin antisepsis, optimal site selection (with avoidance of the femoral vein in adults where possible), and daily review of the site necessity of the central line [14]. No agreed standard for preventing infection in ECMO circuits exists, over and above that for CVCs. Many centers will perform daily antiseptic cleaning and dressing of cannula sites, as is recommended by the Extracorporeal Life Support Organization, ESLO [15].

For the patient with an infected VAD progressing to heart transplant, removal of the entire VAD at the time of heart transplantation is paramount to a successful course post HT. Antibiotics should be employed in the posttransplant period as directed by ID consultation with considerations of the specific pathogen and type of MCS infection pre-transplantation [7]. Post-HT removal or replacement of other devices that were present at the time the infected VAD was intact, i.e., ICD, pacer, should be considered soon in the post-HT period.

19.4 Treatment of the Different Types of Device Infection

Treatment for recognized CVC or ECMO infection is indicated when an organism is cultured that is not only recognized as a pathogen, but not related to an infection at another site. Management of the CVC itself is the first priority, with removal being optimal and exchange or salvage less so. Indications for removal are severe sepsis, hemodynamic instability, suppurative thrombophlebitis in the affected vein, or evidence of resultant metastatic infection. Persistent bacteremia for more than 3 days should also mandate line removal.

The type of organism is also important—*Staphylococcus aureus, Pseudomonas aeruginosa*, non-tuberculous mycobacteria, and fungi should also require line removal, if at all possible, given their higher pathogenicity and, in some instances, propensity to form biofilm, thereby reducing successful retention of the device.

Salvaging a CVC, and continuing to use it, should only be attempted when alternative modes of access are impossible. Antibiotic lock therapy can be tried for certain low-pathogenicity organisms [16], but there is limited data for its use in the transplant setting. Vancomycin has most commonly been used, although other drugs have been used [17]. Ethanol locks have also been tried without conclusive evidence [18].

Infected ECMO devices pose a much greater challenge, as there is considerably more morbidity associated with exchanging or removing the catheters and circuit. Decisions about catheter and circuit exchange should be discussed with the thoracic surgery and/or transplant team involved, weighing up both patient and pathogen factors. Once again, an ECMO device that can be removed optimally altogether presents the best chance of cure, with exchange next best, and retention least likely to be successful (Table 19.3).

Most VAD-specific infections occur at the exit site of the driveline, or along its tunneled track through the abdominal wall. Depending on the degree of clinical extent, these should be managed with escalating levels of intensity. Exit site infections without signs of bloodstream infection or abscess can be managed with directed antibiotics alone in some cases. We typically try and give IV therapy for at least 2–4 weeks. More extensive driveline infections will require driveline debridement, and optimally the driveline can be moved within the abdominal wall so as not to traverse the previously infected territory. In these instances, antibiotics targeting

Pre heart transplant infection diagnosis	Post heart transplant treatment
VAD-specific infections:	
 Superficial (exit site) DLI 	 Ideally treated to resolution pre transplant If still infected at the time of transplant, provided all driveline material gone, close observation may be sufficient. 10–14 days if superficial infection remains
– Deep DLI/pocket	 Continue directed antibiotics until after HT. There is no available literature regarding this topic, authors typically use 2–4 weeks
 MCS pump and/or cannula 	 Continue directed antibiotics until after HT. There is no available literature regarding this topic, authors typically use 4–6 weeks of therapy, akin to mediastinitis
VAD-associated infection:	
– Bacteremia	 Duration of antibiotics depends on source, organism, and time to clearance of bacteremia CRBSI secondary to <i>Staphylococcus aureus</i> is treated for at least 4 weeks (akin to "complicated bacteremia" in any other clinical circumstance) and the catheter is removed If not <i>S. aureus</i>, and source known, at least 2 weeks from first negative blood culture (e.g., urinary tract source) If no source is identified, treatment may be considered as with MCS pump and cannula infection
 Bacterial mediastinitis 	 Duration of antibacterial therapy is at least 6 weeks after last surgical debridement ID consultation is recommended Consider removal of any hardware in infected space, e.g., sternal wires
 Infective endocarditis 	 Duration of antibacterial therapy is the same as for MCS pump and cannula infection ID consultation is recommended

Table 19.3 Management of heart transplant recipient after extraction of infected VAD

BSI bloodstream infection, *CRBSI* catheter-related bloodstream infection, *DLI* driveline infection, *HT* heart transplantation, *ID* infectious disease, *MCS* mechanical circulatory support, *VAD* ventricular assist device

operative tissue cultures should be administered for 4–6 weeks, and in some instances, continued long-term suppression follows after. There are no firm guidelines as to who should be suppressed, but it is a patient-specific decision based on pathogen, available antibiotics and their long-term tolerability, the risk of relapse, and the likelihood of a deleterious outcome should relapse occur.

If the pump pocket or the VAD device itself is infected, antibiotics alone will not be curative, and extraction is sometimes required. For an infected VAD that is being extracted, one should ideally send the device and/or surrounding tissue for culture. Removal of the infected VAD during transplantation accomplishes source control, but residual infection must be addressed in this now highly immunocompromised host. VAD-specific infections in the pump/cannula or VAD-related infections of IE or BSI have a hematogenous feature, whereas the driveline and mediastinitis infections are primarily soft tissue. Table 19.3 addresses the treatment of these infections. ID consultation should be obtained to direct the specific treatment and duration appropriate for the individual HT. This table was adapted (with permission) from the ISHLT MCS_ID consensus paper [7] and reflects the need for further research in this area.

In the posttransplant patient with VAD-associated infection due to retained fragments of MCS, source control with fragment removal should be accomplished, and empiric antibiotic therapy for drug-resistant gram-positive and gram-negative bacteria and candida species should be considered and then tailored based on subsequent microbiologic results. Microbiologic results will direct ultimate antibiotic selection. Empiric therapy with Vancomycin and a pseudomonal-active gramnegative agent is one preference, with an echinocandin or azole antifungal a suitable choice for the particularly sick individual. A good clinician should understand their local hospital antibiogram, as well as the patient's personal history of colonization and allergy list, in order to help guide any empiric decisions.

If an infection is associated with a retained device (ICD, pacer, etc.), the device should be removed, and antibiotics should continue as for endocarditis—a hematogenous infection of unknown duration. Duration of antibiotic treatment post-device removal is an individualized decision, but 6 weeks is usually given by the authors.

VAD infections that occur in patients waiting for transplant may be managed differently. Given it can take several months to find a suitable heart donor, chronic infection suppression of VAD infections is often tried, although it can be difficult depending on drug needed and route of administration. Some of the older VAD devices also had a soft tissue pocket created for the pump (Heartmate II, etc.), which may be a site for residual infection after any ultimate device removal.

For patients where the VAD cannot be removed (a "destination" device), the device is exchanged, we recommend continuing pathogen-directed chronic suppressive therapy because the new device is placed in a presumably contaminated operative field. Occasionally VAD exchange can be considered, when the infected VAD is replaced by a new device. This is typically only entertained when there is a long anticipated wait until transplant, when infection suppression proves difficult, and the considerable surgical morbidity is considered justifiable.

For those who start chronic suppressive antibiotics, therapy is usually stopped once the heart is transplant and the VAD is removed, as long as all intravascular foreign bodies (e.g., VAD fragments, pacemaker/automatic implantable cardioverter defibrillators, leads) are removed.

Summary of the Approach to an Infected Device

Infections can be difficult to manage in anyone who requires a CVC, an ECMO device, or a VAD. Not only are they more common, typically involve skin and soft tissue organisms, but frequently require complete device removal, or at least exchange in order to affect durable cure.

Keys to management are:

- Recognize many of the usual signs of device infection may be blunted, so be prepared to take more cultures, more frequently if suspicion exists.
- Strict hospital infection control policies, including the deployment of infection control bundles, are crucial to minimize infection risk.
- Understand the most common organisms are skin-colonizing bacteria, so at a minimum, broad gram-positive active agents are appropriate for empiric therapy.
- Ideally remove any device, because device exchange is less preferable. Device retention and suppressive antibiotic therapy are least preferred and often fail.
- Once heart transplant has occurred, if infection persists, consider retained foreign bodies.
- Close engagement with infection disease and thoracic surgery specialists is optimal in complex cases, especially when ECMO and/or VAD infections are involved.

References

- Aubron C, Cheng A, Picher D, et al. Infections acquired by adults who receive extracorporeal membrane oxygenation: risk factors and outcomes. Infect Control Hosp Epidemiol. 2013;34(1):24–30.
- 2. Bizzaro M, Conrad S, Kaufman D, et al. Infections acquired during extracorporeal membrane oxygenation in neonates, children and adults. Pediatr Crit Care Med. 2011;12:277–81.
- Aubron C, Pilcher D, Leong T, et al. Aspergillus sp. Isolated in critically ill patients with extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. Scand J Infect Dis. 2013;45(9):715–21.
- 4. Garcia X, Mian A, Mendiratta P, et al. Aspergillus infection and extracorporeal membrane oxygenation support. J Intensive Care Med. 2013;28(3):178–84.
- Hannan MM, Husain S, Mattner F, et al. Working formulation for the standardization of definitions of infections I patients using ventricular assist devices. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2011;30:375–84.
- Nienaber J, Wilhelm MP, Sohail MR. Current concepts in the diagnosis and management of left ventricular assist device infections. Expert Rev Anti Infect Ther. 2013;11(2):201–10.
- Kusne S, Mooney M, Danziger-Isacov L, et al. An ISHLT consensus document for preventions and management strategies for mechanical circulatory support infections. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2017;36:1137–53.

- Maly J, Szarszoi O, Netuka I, et al. Fungal infections associated with long-term mechanical circulatory support-diagnosis and management. J Card Surg. 2014;29:95–100.
- Baker A, Lewis S, Alexander B, et al. Two-phase hospital-associated outbreak of Mycobacterium abscessus: investigation and mitigation. Clin Infect Dis. 2017;64(7):902–11.
- Balsam L, Louie E, Hill F, et al. Mycobacterium chimaera left ventricular assist device infections. J Card Surg. 2017;32(6):402–4.
- Juneau D, Golfam M, Hazra S, et al. Positron emission tomography and single-photon emission computed tomography imaging in the diagnosis of cardiac implantable electronic device infection: a systematic review and meta-analysis. Circ Cardiovasc Imaging. 2017;10:e005772.
- Holek M, Kettner J, Franeková J, Jabor A. Procalcitonin levels in patients undergoing left ventricular assist device implantation. Crit Care. 2015;19(Suppl 1):P61.
- Brown M, Bishburg E, Nagarakanti S, Divita M. The role of procalcitonin in the diagnosis of bacterial infections in patients with cardiac devices and orthotopic heart transplant. Open Forum Infect Dis. 2015;2(Suppl_1):245.
- Association for Prevention of Infection Control and Epidemiology—Guide to Preventing Central Line Bloodstream Infections. Accessed 15 Oct 2017. https://apic.org/Resources/ Topic-specific-infection-prevention/Central-line-associated-bloodstream-infections.
- ELSO Guidelines for Cardiopulmonary Extracorporeal Life Support Extracorporeal Life Support Organization, Version 1.4 August 2017 Ann Arbor, MI, USA. www.elso.org.
- Zakhour R, Chaftari A, Raad I. Catheter-related infections in patients with haematological malignancies: novel preventive and therapeutic strategies. Lancet Infect Dis. 2016;16(11):e241–50.
- McGhee W, Michaels M, Martin J, et al. Antifungal lock therapy with liposomal amphotericin B: a prospective trial. J Pediatric Infect Dis Soc. 2016;5(1):80–4.
- Wolf J, Connell T, Allison K, et al. Treatment and secondary prophylaxis with ethanol lock therapy for central line-associated bloodstream infection in paediatric cancer: a randomised, double-blind, controlled trial. Lancet Infect Dis. 2018;18:854–63.



Management and Prevention of Skin Infections

20

Nicolas Barros and Ricardo M. La Hoz

20.1 Introduction

The cumulative incidence of skin and soft tissue infections in solid organ transplant (SOT) recipients is estimated at 50–80%; therefore it is crucial for transplant specialists to familiarize themselves with the most common etiologies of these infections [1–3]. The focus of this chapter is to review relevant viral, bacterial, and fungal infections affecting the skin in SOT recipients and to provide a concise practical approach to their evaluation, management, and prevention. The clinical clues that will allow clinicians to construct a differential diagnosis include type of SOT, pre-transplant serologies, time after transplantation (Fig. 20.1), acuity of the presentation, type of primary lesion (Table 20.1), distribution of the lesions (Fig. 20.2), associated symptoms, net state of immunosuppression, and epidemiological risk factors.

20.2 Viral Infections

20.2.1 Herpes Simplex Virus

The majority of herpes simplex virus type 1 and 2 (HSV-1, HSV-2) disease in adult SOT recipients represent reactivation [4]. Regardless of serostatus prior to transplantation, HSV infections should be considered in the differential diagnosis of compatible syndromes as the disease can occur in seronegative patients who recently acquired the infection. Initial studies describe a high incidence of HSV disease during the first 1–2 months post-transplantation [5]. The introduction of antiviral prophylaxis has delayed the onset of HSV disease and decreased the incidence during

N. Barros · R. M. La Hoz (🖂)

Division of Infectious Diseases and Geographic Medicine, Department of Internal Medicine, University of Texas Southwestern Medical Center, Dallas, TX, USA e-mail: Ricardo.LaHoz@utsouthwestern.edu

[©] Springer Nature Switzerland AG 2019

O. Manuel, M. G. Ison (eds.), Infectious Diseases in Solid-Organ Transplant Recipients, https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-15394-6_20



Fig. 20.1 The timeline of infections following organ transplantation. Infections occurring after solid organ transplantation are associated with the net state of immunosuppression and time from transplantation. Antiviral prophylaxis has delayed the presentation of viral infections including (HSV-1, HSV-2 and VZV). However, individual risks of infections vary according to epidemiological exposures

the first post-transplantation period. Currently, most events occur 3 or more months post-transplantation, and the cumulative incidence in the first year post-transplantation is 4% [6]. The most common manifestations of HSV infection are mucocutaneous lesions of the oropharynx and genital regions. Typically, they begin as a cluster of vesicles and pustules that, when ruptured, evolve to shallow ulcers with an erythematous base [7]. In some instances, the early lesions may coalesce leading to large ulcers.

Efforts to develop a vaccine for HSV have been unsuccessful. Therefore, strategies to prevent HSV infection focus on antivirals and behavioral interventions. Antivirals used for prophylaxis of CMV infection also prevent HSV replication. HSV-specific prophylaxis should be considered for all HSV-1 and HSV-2 seropositive SOT recipients who are not receiving antivirals for cytomegalovirus prevention. Mucocutaneous HSV disease is treated with oral acyclovir, valacyclovir, famciclovir, or intravenous acyclovir if unable to take PO [4].

20.2.2 Varicella Zoster Virus

The incidence of varicella zoster virus (VZV) reactivation is approximately 8-11% during the first 4 years post-transplantation [8]. Previous reports describe an earlier onset compared to contemporary studies (median 9 months), likely related to the widespread use of antiviral prophylaxis [9–11]. Older patients and thoracic

Table 20.1 Frequency of skin mage	anifestations	by disease								
Organism/disease	Erysipelas	Desquamative	Folliculitis	Cellulitis	Macules, papules	Vesicular	Ulcers	Nodular	Exophytic lesions	Ecthyma- like
Viral										
HSV-1						++++++	+			
HSV-2						+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+			
HPV									++++	
MC virus	+++++									
Trichodysplasia spinulosa									++++	
VZV						+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+			
Bacterial			-	-						
Actinomyces					+			+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++		
Nocardiosis				+	+			+++++		
Non-Pseudomonal gram negatives			+	+			++++			+
Non-tuberculous Mycobacteria			+		++		++	++++		
Staphylococcus aureus			++++	++++	+					+
Streptococcus spp.	+++		+	++++						
Pseudomonas aeruginosa			++	+			++++			+++++
Fungal										
Aspergillus spp.					+		+	+		
Candida spp.		++		+	+					+
Cryptococcus spp.			++++	‡	+	‡	++			
Dermatophytes		+++	+							
Dimorphic fungi							+	+++++		
Fusarium spp.				+	+		+	+		+
Histoplasma spp.				+	+			+++		
Mucormycosis				+++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++++	+		++			++
Phaeohyphomycosis				+	+		+	++	+	
Pseudallescheria/Scedosporium				‡			+	+		
The frequency of presentations is	represented b	y the sign "+". T	he presence o	f "+++" indi	cates the mo	st common	presentati	on while ".	++" denotes	a less com-

20 Management and Prevention of Skin Infections



Fig. 20.2 Distribution of infections following solid organ transplantation. Although infections in immunocompromised patient can be atypical most presentations have patterns of distribution which are described on the figure. *HSV* Herpes virus simplex, *VZV* Varicella zoster virus, *NTM* Non-tuberculous mycobacteria, *HPV* Human papilloma virus

Fig. 20.3 Large coalescent vesicular rash on a T-5 dermatomal distribution in a patient with varicella zoster reactivation. Note that in SOT patients the vesicles may coalesce to form large ulcers. Image appears with permission of VisualDx



transplant recipients appear to be at increased risk [8]. VZV reactivation most commonly presents as a painful vesicular rash in a dermatomal distribution (herpes zoster) (Fig. 20.3). Herpes zoster ophthalmicus, herpes zoster oticus, and other uncommon presentations have also been described. Complications in SOT are common with about 50%, 20%, and 4% developing postherpetic neuralgia, cutaneous scarring, and recurrent disease, respectively. Disseminated VZV infections were an uncommon event in contemporary reports [9–11].

Prevention strategies for VZV include antiviral prophylaxis, pre-transplant vaccination and infection control measures. Antivirals used for prophylaxis of cytomegalovirus likely prevent VZV reactivation. VZV prophylaxis should be considered for VZV seropositive SOT recipients not receiving antivirals for cytomegalovirus (CMV) prevention [8]. Two doses of live attenuated Oka vaccine at least 2–4 weeks before transplant with a minimal interval of 4 weeks are recommended for VZV seronegative transplant candidates. The herpes zoster live attenuated and recombinant vaccine are recommended for adults >50 years of age, but the impact on reactivation post-transplantation is unknown [8, 12]. VZV live vaccines are not approved for post-transplantation use. The recombinant vaccine is not contraindicated in immunocompromised hosts albeit efficacy data are lacking for this population.

20.2.3 Human Papillomavirus

Cutaneous warts are common following SOT. Multiple reports indicate that by the fourth or fifth year post-transplantation up to 50–92% of SOT recipients will develop cutaneous warts [13, 14]. The different types of presentations include deep plantar warts, common warts, and plane warts. In SOT recipients they predominantly appear in sun-exposed areas and may be recalcitrant and difficult to control. In SOT recipients the lesions tend to be more numerous, extensive, and exuberant [15, 16]. Deep plantar warts (*verrucae plantaris*) characteristically present as painful, hyper-keratotic papules and plaques with disruption of normal dermatoglyphics. Common warts (*verruca vulgaris*) appear as well-demarcated exophytic, hyperkeratotic papules with a rough surface. They occur on the dorsum of the hands, fingers, periungual skin folds, palms, and soles. Plane warts (*verrucae planae*) present as sharply defined, papules in the face and neck.

The prevalence of anogenital warts, also known as condyloma acuminata, is about 2% in SOT recipients [17]. The lesions are flesh or gray colored, hyperkeratotic, and exophytic. They can range from smooth papules to rough acuminata growth. SOT recipients with anogenital warts are frequently infected with high-risk HPV types and thus will require screening for HPV-mediated malignancies [10].

A quadrivalent vaccine is available and has an efficacy above 90% to protect against types 16 and 18 (most commonly associated with cancer) and 6 and 11 (most commonly associated with warts). There are no specific recommendations for HPV vaccination in SOT recipients. Hence, clinicians are encouraged to follow the general population HPV vaccination schedule [14].

20.2.4 Molluscum Contagiosum

Molluscum contagiosum (MC) virus is reported worldwide and mainly affects children, sexually active adults, and immunocompromised hosts [7]. Immunocompetent patients typically present with fewer than 20 lesions. They are small (3–5 mm), firm, shiny, umbilicated papules and in immunocompetent hosts the lesions self-resolve in 3–12 months [16]. However, in SOT recipients the disease may be severe, spread widely, and lesions may coalesce to form a plaque. Giant nodular MC (>10 mm) are also seen in this population [18]. While in children the disease occurs on the face, chest, abdomen, and extremities; in adults, it usually involves the genitalia, lower portion of the abdomen, and upper thighs.

A systematic review of randomized trials that investigated the efficacy of treatments for non-genital MC in healthy individuals indicated that there is insufficient evidence to conclude that any treatment is definitively effective [19]. Nevertheless, intravenous and topical cidofovir has been used in immunocompromised hosts with severe refractory MC [20].

20.2.5 Trichodysplasia Spinulosa

Trichodysplasia spinulosa is a rare but disfiguring disease that appears to occur after primary infection by trichodysplasia spinulosa-associated polyomavirus. It is characterized by follicular papules with or without keratotic spines occurring in the face. However, cases involving the trunk and extremities have been reported. Reduction of immunosuppression, topical cidofovir, and systemic valganciclovir has been used to treat this infection [21].

20.3 Bacterial Infections

20.3.1 Folliculitis

Folliculitis is an infection of the hair follicle and is most frequently secondary to *S. aureus and P. aeruginosa* infections. Non-pseudomonal gram-negative bacteria and fungal etiologies are less common. Given the relatively minor nature of the infection, it is likely to be underdiagnosed. Reports indicate an incidence ranging from 2 to 27% [3, 22, 23]. The majority of episodes of folliculitis occur within the first 3 months following SOT and are characterized by papular or pustular lesions associated with a hair follicle. They appear more commonly on the buttocks and upper legs [5]. There are no effective methods to prevent the development of folliculitis. The management of folliculitis depends upon the etiology. No therapy is required for mild bacterial infections. However, patients with moderate presentations (or recurrent infections) may benefit from topical or systemic antimicrobials.

20.3.2 Erysipelas and Cellulitis

Erysipelas is the manifestation of an infection of the most superficial layers of the dermis and is characterized by dermal erythema with well-defined borders. The incidence of infection is unknown and usually occurs after the first year following SOT [5]. In contrast, cellulitis is an infection of deeper structures of the dermis and can present as purulent or non-purulent lesions. Staphylococcus aureus is the most common organism leading to purulent cellulitis, while streptococcal species are the most common microorganisms leading to non-purulent cellulitis. Less frequently gram-negative rods and several fungal infections can present as non-purulent cellulitis [24]. The frequency of cellulitis in SOT recipients is not well described. While recent reports indicate that it occurs in about 2% of SOT recipients, older reports indicated higher incidences of up to 33% [25, 26]. The reduction in the incidence during the recent years may be related to the use of cotrimoxazole prophylaxis and improved health care, though underreporting may be an important factor. Risk factors include skin disruption due to trauma, edema, obesity, skin inflammation (eczema), and preexisting skin infection (i.e., herpes zoster or tinea pedis). Prophylactic antibiotics, such as oral penicillin or erythromycin, should be considered in patients with recurrent cellulitis (3-4 episodes per year) despite attempts to control predisposing factors [24].

20.3.3 Ecthyma

Ecthyma gangrenosum (EG) is a rare skin lesion which was previously thought to be pathognomonic of systemic *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. Lesions initially present as a hemorrhagic papule or plaque but progress into necrotic ulcers that can be surrounded by an erythematous halo (Fig. 20.4). In a recent report, EG was found to be secondary to *P. aeruginosa* in 74% of the cases, while other bacteria

Fig. 20.4 Ecthyma gangrenosum secondary to *Pseudomonas aeruginosa* infection. The lesions present as a hemorrhagic papule or plaque and progress into necrotic ulcers that can be surrounded by an erythematous halo as noted in this patient. Image appears with permission of VisualDx


and fungi were involved in 17% and 9% of the cases, respectively. Septicemia was found in 58% of the patients with pseudomonal EG but only in 43% of those with non-pseudomonal EG. Up to 66% of the cases presented with lesions in the gluteal area or lower extremities with the rest affecting various parts of the body. Given the paucity of reports, the timing of presentation has not been well described. Diagnosis relies on clinical examination and microbiological confirmation of infection. Treatment includes antibiotic or antifungal therapy and often requires surgical debridement [27].

20.3.4 Opportunistic Bacterial Infections

The risk of developing nocardiosis after SOT varies depending on the type of transplanted organ and occurs in 0.04 to 3.5% of SOT recipients. Lung transplant recipients appear to be at a higher risk [28]. A retrospective European study described a median time of presentation of 17.5 months posttransplant and high calcineurin inhibitor levels in the prior month as the most important associated factor [29]. Skin manifestations may be the result of primary inoculation or secondary dissemination. Most skin lesions occur in the setting of nodular pneumonia and central nervous system (CNS) lesions [29]. As such, a SOT recipient with cutaneous nocardiosis, even if asymptomatic, should be evaluated for pulmonary and CNS involvement. Primary lesions present as mycetomas, sporotrichoid lesions, abscesses, ulcerated lesions, or nodules, while secondary lesions present as pustules, abscesses, or nodules [16]. The diagnosis is confirmed by culturing tissue specimens. Nocardia farcinica and nova complex are the most common species isolated from SOT recipients [29]. Although some reports have described a protective effect of TMP-SMX, more recent reports have not found such an association [28, 29]. Empiric therapy is recommended with 2-3 agents depending on the degree of severity and organ involvement [28]. Unfortunately, despite advancements in the diagnosis and treatment of this infection, the mortality remains high ($\sim 20\%$).

The incidence of non-tuberculous mycobacterial (NTM) infection varies according to the geography and type of transplant ranging from 0.04 to 8%. Liver transplant recipients appear to be at the lowest risk while lung transplant recipients at the highest. The median time for the presentation is variable and ranges from 8 to 48 months [30–32]. Cutaneous manifestations of NTM infection are the result of direct inoculation (usually in the extremities) or disseminated disease. More infrequently, patients that are colonized pre-transplantation may develop surgical site infections. Skin infections are currently the second most common clinical presentation of NTM infections after pleuropulmonary infection [32]. The skin lesions characteristically are erythematous or violaceous painful nodules that may ulcerate or form subcutaneous abscesses which spontaneously drain. Skin infections with NTM may be single lesions or multiple lesions associated with dissemination. NTM species associated with skin lesions are *M. fortuitum*, *M. abscessus*, *M. chelonae*, and *M. marinum*. The diagnosis is confirmed by isolating NTM species from the tissue of a compatible skin lesion. Treatment of NTM skin infections is

determined by the isolated species and susceptibility testing [33]. Beyond the recommended strategies for safe living after SOT, there are no proven interventions to prevent NTM infections [34].

20.4 Fungal Infections

20.4.1 Superficial Fungal Infections

Dermatophytes (e.g., Trichophyton spp., Microsporum spp. Epidermophyton spp.) and Malassezia furfur are the most common organisms leading to superficial fungal infections [35]. The incidence of dermatophytosis and Malassezia furfur are increased in patients with SOT and range from 24 to 30% and 9.5 to 14.3%, respectively [3, 25]. Some reports indicate that in tropical climates dermatophytosis may be present in up to 52% of SOT recipients [35]. Infections by dermatophytes usually occur in the late period following SOT with most cases occurring after the first year [5]. Trichophyton spp. (T. rubrum, T. mentagrophytes, and T. tonsurans) are the most commonly isolated dermatophytes. While T. rubrum is associated with tinea corporis and tinea cruris, T. mentagrophytes is associated with tinea unguium. T. tonsurans is associated with tinea capitis [35]. The presentation is similar to immunocompetent individuals. Majocchi's granuloma or trichophytic granuloma is an uncommon condition in which the dermatophyte invades the dermis or subcutaneous tissue. These lesions are described as perifollicular papules, pustules, or small nodules [36]. Pityriasis versicolor, caused by Malassezia furfur, presents as welldemarcated hypopigmented, hyperpigmented, or mildly erythematous macules or patches. The most common localization is the trunk. Malassezia folliculitis has also been described. Unlike dermatophytosis, both presentations of pityriasis are more common in the early post-transplantation period [35].

Candida skin infections occur in 3–10.8% and are predominantly during the first period. The most common presentations include primary superficial involvement (mucocutaneous). Given that most studies report mucosal and cutaneous involvement in aggregate (as mucocutaneous presentations), it is difficult to ascertain the incidence of cutaneous presentations without mucosal involvement [35].

20.4.2 Subcutaneous Fungal Infections

Subcutaneous fungal infections involve deeper layers of the dermis and are usually the result of direct inoculation of the fungal elements into the host tissue [37]. The lack of response to antimicrobials that target the common skin pathogens should prompt the evaluation for non-bacterial opportunistic infections [38].

Although multiple fungi have been implicated in the development of subcutaneous infections, *Sporothrix schenckii*, chromoblastomycosis, and mycetoma (eumycetoma) are the most prevalent [37]. Most of these infections are considered emerging fungal diseases, and their incidence in SOT is unknown. *Sporothrix* *schenckii* can be found in the soil and thorny plants of endemic areas. It can produce fixed sporotrichosis or more commonly a lymphangitic or lymphocutaneous sporotrichosis. Cases of disseminated disease in immunocompromised hosts have been described [39]. Chromoblastomycosis is a disease caused by a variety of dematiaceous fungi including *Fonsecaea* spp., *Rhinocladiella aquaspersa*, *Phialophora verrucosa*, and *Cladosporium carrionii*. It usually presents as a verrucous plaques or nodules but can progress into large hyperkeratotic verrucous plaques [37, 39]. There are no effective prevention strategies, but given that subcutaneous fungal infections are the result of direct inoculation into deeper layers of the dermis, occupational exposures and gardening should be avoided or performed with barrier equipment [34].

20.4.3 Systemic Fungal Infections

A multicentric cohort study, including 16,808 SOT recipients, calculated a 12-month cumulative incidence of first invasive fungal disease of 1.3-11.6% depending on the organ type. Invasive candidiasis (candidemia and disseminated candidiasis) was the most common systemic mycosis among SOT recipients with a cumulative incidence of 1.9%. The risk of invasive candidiasis varies by transplanted organ, with the highest risk among small bowel transplant recipients, followed by pancreas, liver, kidney, heart, and lung [40]. In pancreas recipients, enteric drainage is associated with a higher risk compared to bladder drainage. In liver transplant recipients, factors associated with a higher risk include reoperation, re-transplantation, renal failure, high transfusion requirements, choledochojejunostomy, and Candida colonization at multiple sites [41]. The median time to presentation is 80 days (14-454) [42]. Embolic skin lesions can occur during invasive candidiasis. The lesions are described as erythematous macules, papules, pustules, and ecthymalike lesions. They may be localized or disseminated, single or multiple, and usually involve the trunk and extremities (Fig. 20.5). The diagnosis is confirmed by histopathology and cultures of the lesions. Current guidelines favor empiric treatment with echinocandins, with de-escalation of therapy based on identification to the species level and susceptibility testing [43]. Interventions to ameliorate the risk of invasive candidiasis include infection control measures and prophylactic antifungals in the case of liver transplant recipients [41, 43].

Cryptococcosis is the third most common invasive fungal disease in SOT recipients with a 12-month cumulative incidence of Cryptococcosis post-transplantation of 0.2% [40]. T-cell depleting agents are associated with an increased risk of Cryptococcosis in SOT recipients [44]. Patients receiving a calcineurin inhibitor-based regimen were less likely to have disseminated disease and more likely to have disease limited to the lung [45]. Cutaneous cryptococcosis was the third most common presentation (17.8%) after meningoencephalitis and pulmonary disease and occurred at a median of 27.3 months. Most cutaneous cryptococcosis are the result of disseminated disease and should prompt an evaluation for meningoencephalitis, pulmonary disease, and fungemia. The lower extremities were the most commonly



Fig. 20.5 Generalized pustular lesions characteristic of a patient with disseminated candidiasis. Image appears with permission of VisualDx

affected site (65%), followed by the trunk (26%) and upper extremities (21%). The lesions of cutaneous cryptococcosis are protean, and multiple lesions can present at the same time. The most common include nodule (35%), maculopapular (30%), ulcers/pustules or abscesses (30%), and cellulitis (30%) [37]. Primary cutaneous cryptococcosis can be treated with fluconazole, while cutaneous manifestations of disseminated disease should be treated with amphotericin B formulations as induction and fluconazole for consolidation and maintenance [46]. Routine prophylaxis is not recommended against cryptococcosis in SOT recipients [16].

Although aspergillosis is the second most common invasive fungal disease in SOT recipients with a 12-month cumulative incidence of 0.7%, cutaneous lesions are uncommon [40]. The lesions are described as tender erythematous or purpuric macules or papules that progress to violaceous plaques often with hemorrhagic bullae or may ulcerate or form necrotic lesions.

Mucormycosis and other molds (*Pseudallescheria/Scedosporium* and *Fusarium*) are uncommon invasive fungal diseases that tend to present around 12 months post-transplantation (312 and 465 days median time to presentation) [40]. The lesions are described as erythematous nodules, necrotic ulcers, erythematous-violaceous cellulitis, and ecthyma gangrenosum-like lesions. Mold skin disease is treated with reduction of immunosuppression if feasible, surgical debridement, and antifungals.

Histoplasma capsulatum is a dimorphic fungus which is highly prevalent in Ohio and the Mississippi river valleys. The incidence following transplantation is less than 1% and can be the result of primary infection, reactivation from a prior exposure, or as a donor-derived infection [40, 47]. Up to 25% of patients with disseminated histoplasmosis present with cutaneous involvement, and it portends a poor prognosis [48]. The lesions may present with heterogeneous morphologies including subcutaneous nodules, cellulitis, ulcers, or purpura. Infections usually occur during the late stage following SOT.

20.5 Conclusions

Cutaneous infections are common after SOT and are often the first manifestation of systemic infections associated with high morbidity and mortality. For this reason, it is imperative for transplant specialists to familiarize themselves with the most common manifestations and etiologies of skin and soft tissue infections in this population. The clinical clues that will allow clinicians to construct a differential diagnosis include type of SOT, pre-transplant serologies, time after transplantation, acuity of the presentation, type of primary lesion, distribution of the lesions, associated symptoms, the net state of immunosuppression, and epidemiological risk factors.

Acknowledgments The authors would like to express their gratitude to Ank Nijhawan, MD, MSCS, MPH for her thoughtful review of earlier drafts of the manuscript.

References

- Fishman JA. Infection in organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2017;17(4):856–79. https:// doi.org/10.1111/ajt.14208.
- Naldi L, Venturuzzo A, Invernizzi P. Dermatological complications after solid organ transplantation. Clin Rev Allergy Immunol. 2017. https://doi.org/10.1007/s12016-017-8657-9.
- 3. Ponticelli C, Bencini PL. Nonneoplastic mucocutaneous lesions in organ transplant recipients. Transpl Int. 2011;24(11):1041–50. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1432-2277.2011.01308.x.
- Wilck MB, Zuckerman RA, Practice ASTIDCo. Herpes simplex virus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):121–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12105.
- Hogewoning AA, Goettsch W, van Loveren H, et al. Skin infections in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2001;15(1):32–8.
- Seale L, Jones CJ, Kathpalia S, et al. Prevention of herpesvirus infections in renal allograft recipients by low-dose oral acyclovir. JAMA. 1985;254(24):3435–8.
- Tan HH, Goh CL. Viral infections affecting the skin in organ transplant recipients: epidemiology and current management strategies. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2006;7(1):13–29.
- Pergam SA, Limaye AP, Practice ASTIDCo. Varicella zoster virus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):138–46. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12107.
- 9. Gourishankar S, McDermid JC, Jhangri GS, et al. Herpes zoster infection following solid organ transplantation: incidence, risk factors and outcomes in the current immunosuppressive era. Am J Transplant. 2004;4(1):108–15.
- Manuel O, Kumar D, Singer LG, et al. Incidence and clinical characteristics of herpes zoster after lung transplantation. J Heart Lung Transplant. 2008;27(1):11–6. https://doi.org/10.1016/j. healun.2007.09.028.
- Pergam SA, Forsberg CW, Boeckh MJ, et al. Herpes zoster incidence in a multicenter cohort of solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2011;13(1):15–23. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2010.00547.x.
- Lal H, Cunningham AL, Godeaux O, et al. Efficacy of an adjuvanted herpes zoster subunit vaccine in older adults. N Engl J Med. 2015;372(22):2087–96. https://doi.org/10.1056/ NEJMoa1501184.
- Dyall-Smith D, Trowell H, Dyall-Smith ML. Benign human papillomavirus infection in renal transplant recipients. Int J Dermatol. 1991;30(11):785–9.
- Chin-Hong PV, Kwak EJ, Practice ASTIDCo. Human papillomavirus in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):189–200. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12142.

- Boyle J, MacKie RM, Briggs JD, et al. Cancer, warts, and sunshine in renal transplant patients. A case-control study. Lancet. 1984;1(8379):702–5.
- Grossman ME, Fox LP, Kovarik C, et al. Cutaneous manifestations of infection in the immunocompromised host. New York: Springer Science & Business Media; 2012.
- Euvrard S, Kanitakis J, Chardonnet Y, et al. External anogenital lesions in organ transplant recipients. A clinicopathologic and virologic assessment. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133(2):175–8.
- Mansur AT, Goktay F, Gunduz S, et al. Multiple giant molluscum contagiosum in a renal transplant recipient. Transpl Infect Dis. 2004;6(3):120–3. https://doi. org/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2004.00060.x.
- van der Wouden JC, van der Sande R, Kruithof EJ, et al. Interventions for cutaneous molluscum contagiosum. Cochrane Database Syst Rev. 2017;5:CD004767. https://doi. org/10.1002/14651858.CD004767.pub4.
- Meadows KP, Tyring SK, Pavia AT, et al. Resolution of recalcitrant molluscum contagiosum virus lesions in human immunodeficiency virus-infected patients treated with cidofovir. Arch Dermatol. 1997;133(8):987–90.
- van der Meijden E, Horvath B, Nijland M, et al. Primary polyomavirus infection, not reactivation, as the cause of trichodysplasia spinulosa in immunocompromised patients. J Infect Dis. 2017;215(7):1080–4. https://doi.org/10.1093/infdis/jiw403.
- Salard D, Parriaux N, Derancourt C, et al. Cutaneous complications following liver transplantation: epidemiologic and clinical study in 86 patients. Ann Dermatol Venereol. 2002;129(10 Pt 1):1134–8.
- Lally A, Casabonne D, Imko-Walczuk B, et al. Prevalence of benign cutaneous disease among Oxford renal transplant recipients. J Eur Acad Dermatol Venereol. 2011;25(4):462–70. https:// doi.org/10.1111/j.1468-3083.2010.03814.x.
- 24. Stevens DL, Bisno AL, Chambers HF, et al. Practice guidelines for the diagnosis and management of skin and soft tissue infections: 2014 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2014;59(2):e10–52. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciu296.
- Dicle O, Parmaksizoglu B, Gurkan A, et al. Skin infections in 401 renal transplant recipients in southern Turkey. Exp Clin Transplant. 2009;7(2):133–6.
- Haim S, Friedman-Birnbaum R, Better OS, et al. Skin complications in immunosuppressed patients: follow-up of kidney recipients. Br J Dermatol. 1973;89(2):169–73.
- Vaiman M, Lazarovitch T, Heller L, et al. Ecthyma gangrenosum and ecthyma-like lesions: review article. Eur J Clin Microbiol Infect Dis. 2015;34(4):633–9. https://doi.org/10.1007/ s10096-014-2277-6.
- Clark NM, Reid GE, Practice ASTIDCo. Nocardia infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):83–92. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12102.
- Coussement J, Lebeaux D, van Delden C, et al. Nocardia infection in solid organ transplant recipients: A Multicenter European Case-control Study. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;63(3):338–45. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/ciw241.
- Keating MR, Daly JS, Practice ASTIDCo. Nontuberculous mycobacterial infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):77–82. https://doi.org/10.1111/ ajt.12101.
- Abad CL, Razonable RR. Non-tuberculous mycobacterial infections in solid organ transplant recipients: an update. J Clin Tuberc Other Mycobact Dis. 2016;4:1–8.
- Longworth SA, Vinnard C, Lee I, et al. Risk factors for nontuberculous mycobacterial infections in solid organ transplant recipients: a case-control study. Transpl Infect Dis. 2014;16(1):76– 83. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12170.
- 33. Griffith DE, Aksamit T, Brown-Elliott BA, et al. An official ATS/IDSA statement: diagnosis, treatment, and prevention of nontuberculous mycobacterial diseases. Am J Respir Crit Care Med. 2007;175(4):367–416. https://doi.org/10.1164/rccm.200604-571ST.
- Avery RK, Michaels MG, Practice ASTIDCo. Strategies for safe living after solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):304–10. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12121.

- Virgili A, Zampino MR, Mantovani L. Fungal skin infections in organ transplant recipients. Am J Clin Dermatol. 2002;3(1):19–35.
- 36. Romero FA, Deziel PJ, Razonable RR. Majocchi's granuloma in solid organ transplant recipients. Transpl Infect Dis. 2011;13(4):424–32. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2010.00596.x.
- La Hoz RM, Baddley JW. Subcutaneous fungal infections. Curr Infect Dis Rep. 2012;14(5):530– 9. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11908-012-0275-3.
- Tessari G, Naldi L, Piaserico S, et al. Incidence and clinical predictors of primary opportunistic deep cutaneous mycoses in solid organ transplant recipients: a multicenter cohort study. Clin Transplant. 2010;24(3):328–33. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-0012.2009.01071.x.
- Huprikar S, Shoham S, Practice ASTIDCo. Emerging fungal infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):262–71. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12118.
- 40. Pappas PG, Alexander BD, Andes DR, et al. Invasive fungal infections among organ transplant recipients: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Clin Infect Dis. 2010;50(8):1101–11. https://doi.org/10.1086/651262.
- Silveira FP, Kusne S, Practice ASTIDCo. Candida infections in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):220–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12114.
- 42. Andes DR, Safdar N, Baddley JW, et al. The epidemiology and outcomes of invasive Candida infections among organ transplant recipients in the United States: results of the Transplant-Associated Infection Surveillance Network (TRANSNET). Transpl Infect Dis. 2016;18(6):921–31. https://doi.org/10.1111/tid.12613.
- Pappas PG, Kauffman CA, Andes DR, et al. Clinical practice guideline for the management of candidiasis: 2016 update by the Infectious Diseases Society of America. Clin Infect Dis. 2016;62(4):e1–50. https://doi.org/10.1093/cid/civ933.
- 44. Silveira FP, Husain S, Kwak EJ, et al. Cryptococcosis in liver and kidney transplant recipients receiving anti-thymocyte globulin or alemtuzumab. Transpl Infect Dis. 2007;9(1):22–7. https://doi.org/10.1111/j.1399-3062.2006.00149.x.
- Singh N, Alexander BD, Lortholary O, et al. Cryptococcus neoformans in organ transplant recipients: impact of calcineurin-inhibitor agents on mortality. J Infect Dis. 2007;195(5):756– 64. https://doi.org/10.1086/511438.
- Baddley JW, Forrest GN, Practice ASTIDCo. Cryptococcosis in solid organ transplantation. Am J Transplant. 2013;13(Suppl 4):242–9. https://doi.org/10.1111/ajt.12116.
- 47. La Hoz RM, Loyd JE, Wheat LJ, et al. How I treat histoplasmosis. Curr Fungal Infect Rep. 2013;7(1):36–43.
- Sun NZ, Augustine JJ, Gerstenblith MR. Cutaneous histoplasmosis in renal transplant recipients. Clin Transplant. 2014;28(10):1069–74. https://doi.org/10.1111/ctr.12409.